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PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION

In this Annual Report on Form 20-F, unless the exintrequires otherwise, all references toe", "us',
"Company' or "SQM" are to Sociedad Quimica y Minera de Chile S.A.,open stock corporation (sociedad
anénima abierta) organized under the laws of thmiBl& of Chile, and its consolidated subsidiaries.

All references to $," "US$" "U.S. dollars' and 'dollars" are to United States dollars, referencespgesbs or
"Ch$" are to Chilean pesos, and referencedUB"'are toUnidades de FomentoThe UF is an inflation-indexed,
peso-denominated unit that is linked to, and adgustaily to reflect changes in, the previous man@hilean
consumer price index. As of June 15, 2006, UF fv@¢ equivalent to US$ 33.30 and Ch$ 18,133.27.

The Republic of Chile is governed by a democratiecegnment, organized in twelve regions plus therimilitan

Region (surrounding and including Santiago, thetahpf Chile). Our production operations are camicated in
northern Chile, specifically in the First Regiotsanamed Tarapaca Region, and in the Second Regjsmnamed
Antofagasta Region.

Our fiscal year ends on December 31.

We use the metric system of weights and measurealéulating our operating and other data. TheddnBtates
equivalent units of the most common metric uniesdusy us are as shown below:

1 kilometer equals approximately 0.6214 miles

1 meter equals approximately 3.2808 feet

1 centimeter equals approximately 0.3937 inches

1 hectare equals approximately 2.4710 acres

1 metric ton equals 1,000 kilograms or approxinya?s205 pounds.

We are not aware of any independent, authoritatouece of information regarding sizes, growth ratesnarket
shares for most of our markets. Accordingly, tharkat size, market growth rate and market sharenatsts
contained herein have been developed by us usiegnal and external sources and reflect our besteru
estimates. These estimates have not been conflsnegdlependent sources.

Percentages and certain amounts contained henginblegn rounded for ease of presentation. Anyejismcies in
any figure between totals and the sums of the atequesented are due to rounding.

GLOSSARY

"assay value’s Chemical result or mineral component amount togitains the sample.

"average global metallurgical recoveries Percentage that measures the metallurgical niesat
effectiveness based on the quantitative relatignbletween the initial product contained in the
mine-extracted material and the final product poadlin the plant.

"average mining exploitation factot' Index or ratio that measures the mineral exatmin effectiveness
(defined below), based on the quantitative relatigm between (in-situ mineral minus exploitation
losses) / in-situ mineral.

"Corfo" Corporation of Promotion of Production (Corpadecde Fomento de la Produccion), formed in
1939, a national organization in charge of prongptand facilitating Chile's manufacturing
productivity and commercial development.

"cut-off grade” The minimal assay value or chemical amount ah&anineral component above which
results in economical exploitability.

"dilution" Loss of mineral grade because of contaminatigh barren material (or waste) incorporated in
some exploited ore mineral.

"exploitation losse$ Amounts of ore mineral that have not been ex¢hin accordance with exploitation
designs.

"fertigation” The process by which plant nutrients are appietthe ground using an irrigation system.

"geostatistical analysi$ Statistical tools applied to mining planning,oggy and geochemical data that
allow estimation of averages, grades and quantibésmineral resources and reserves.



"heap leaching pads Padding or filling of rocks from which will bexeracted the soluble mineral by
irrigation with water.

"horizontal layering” Rock mass (stratiform seam) with generally umifchickness that conform to the
sedimentary fields (mineralized and horizontal rockhese cases).

"hypothetical resource$ Mineral resources that have limited geochemieabnnaissance, based mainly
in geological data and samples assays values spatsden 500-1000 meters.

"Indicated Mineral Resourcé' See "Resources—Indicated Mineral Resource."
"Inferred Mineral Resource" See "Resources—Inferred Mineral Resource."

"industrial crops" Refers to crops that require processing aftetvdss in order to be ready for
consumption or sale. Tobacco, tea and seed crepsxamples of industrial crops.

"LIBOR" London Inter Bank Offered Rate.
"limited reconnaissancé Low or limited level of geological knowledge.
"Measured Mineral Resourcé See "Resources—Measured Mineral Resource."

"metallurgical treatment” A set of chemical and physical processes apgiedocks to extract their
useful minerals (or metals).

"old waste ore deposits Ore deposits that have been previously minednbtientirely depleted because
of the low-grade quality of the ore the mine yields

"ore depth' Depth of the mineral that may be economicallgleied.

"ore type' Main mineral having economic value containethia caliche ore (sodium nitrate or iodine).
"ore" A mineral or rock from which a substance hav@mgnomic value may be extracted.

"Probable Mineral Reservé See "Reserves—Probable Mineral Reserve."

"Proved Mineral Reservé See "Reserves—Proved Mineral Reserve."

"Reserves—Probable Mineral Reserv& The economically mineable part of an Indicatktineral
Resource and, in some circumstances, Measured allirResource. It includes diluting of
materials and allowances for losses which may owhen the material is mined. Appropriate
assessments, which may include feasibility studieaye been carried out and include
consideration of and modification by realisticalassumed mining, metallurgical, economic,
marketing, legal, environmental, social and govesnial factors. These assessments demonstrate
at the time of reporting that extraction is readiyngustified. A Probable Mineral Reserve has a
lower level of confidence than a Proved Mineral éves.

"Reserves—Proved Mineral Reserv& The economically mineable part of a Measurednéfal
Resource. It includes diluting materials and a#loees for losses which may occur when the
material is mined. Appropriate assessments, whiely include feasibility studies, have been
carried out and include consideration of and modifon by realistically assumed mining,
metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal, envir@mtal, social and governmental factors. These
assessments demonstrate at the time of reporti@xiraction is reasonably justified.

"Resources—Indicated Mineral Resourc& That part of a Mineral Resource for which togea
densities, shape, physical characteristics, gradk raineral content can be estimated with a
reasonable level of confidence. It is based onloeapon, sampling and testing information
gathered through appropriate techniques from lonatsuch as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings,
and drill holes. The locations are too widely nappropriately spaced to confirm geological
continuity and/or grade continuity but are spadedely enough for continuity to be assumed. An
Indicated Mineral Resource has a lower level offidemce than that applying to a Measured
Mineral Resource, but has a higher level of comfigethan that applying to an Inferred Mineral
Resource.

A deposit may be classified as an Indicated MinBesource when the nature, quality, amount
and distribution of data are such as to allow trem@etent Person determining the Mineral
Resource to confidently interpret the geologicahnfework and to assume continuity of
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mineralization. Confidence in the estimate idfisignt to allow the appropriate application of heccal
and economic parameters and to enable an evaludtezonomic viability.

"Resources—Inferred Mineral Resourc& Is that part of a Mineral Resource for whicltage, grade
and mineral content can be estimated with a lowllef’confidence. It is inferred from geological
evidence and assumed but not verified geological/omngrade continuity. It is based on
information gathered through appropriate technigimes locations such as outcrops, trenches,
pits, workings and drill holes which is of limiteat uncertain quality and/or reliability. An
Inferred Mineral Resource has a lower level of werice than that applying to an Indicated
Mineral Resource.

"Resources—Measured Mineral Resource The part of a Mineral Resource for which tonnadgnsities,
shape, physical characteristics, grade and mirenalent can be estimated with a high level of
confidence. It is based on detailed and reliablplagation, sampling and testing information
gathered through appropriate techniques from lonatsuch as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings,
and drill holes. The locations are spaced clogglgugh to confirm geological and/or grade
continuity.

A deposit may be classified as a Measured MirReglource when the nature, quality, amount and
distribution of data are such as to leave no reslslendoubt, in the opinion of the Competent
Person determining the Mineral Resource, that tmnage and grade of the deposit can be
estimated within close limits and that any variatfoom the estimate would not significantly affect
potential economic viability. This category reegr a high level of confidence in, and
understanding of, the geology and controls of theenal deposit. Confidence in the estimate is
sufficient to allow the appropriate applicationte€hnical and economic parameters and to enable
an evaluation of economic viability.

"wasté' Rock or mineral which is not economical for niketayical treatment.
"waste-to-ore ratid' Relation or ratio between waste/ore.

"Weighted Average Agé In this Annual Report means the sum of the pebdii the age of each fixed
asset at a given facility and its current grosskbealue as of December 31, 2005 divided by the
total gross book value of the Company's fixed assesuch facility as of December 31, 2005.

* The definitions we use for resources and researesbased on those provided by the “Instituto de
Ingenieros de Minas de Chile” (Chilean InstituteMihing Engineers).

SQM will provide without charge to each person teom this Annual Report is delivered, on the writtegnoral
request of any such person, a copy of any or athefdocuments incorporated herein by referendeefdahan
exhibits, unless such exhibits are specificallyonporated by reference in such documents). Writguests for
such copies should be directed to Sociedad Quiynidénera de Chile S.A., El Trovador 4285, Piso @ntago,
Chile, Attention: Investor Relations Department.egBests may also be made by telephone (562-425,2000
facsimile (562-425-2493) and e-mail (ir@sgm.com).



CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS

This Form 20-F contains statements that are or coagtitute forward-looking statements within theamag of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 599 These statements appear throughout this Forf &0d
include statements regarding the intent, beliefcorrent expectations of the Company and its managem
including but not limited to any statements congegn

» the Company's capital investment program and dpuedat of new products;
» trends affecting the Company's financial conditomesults of operations;

» level of production, quality of the ore and brinasg production yields;

» the future impact of competition;

» any statements preceded by, followed by, or thatude the words "believe,

"anticipate," "intend," "estimate," "should," "mayg¢ould" or similar expressions; and

expect," "predict,"

» other statements contained in this Form 20-F tteahat historical facts.

Such forward-looking statements are not guarantéesiture performance and involve risks and undetits.

Actual results may differ materially from those ddised in such forward-looking statements includethis Form

20-F, including, without limitation, the informatiounder Item 4. Information on the Company and It&m
Operating and Financial Review and Prospects. oFathat could cause actual results to differ nmgtgrinclude,

but are not limited to:

 SQM's ability to implement its capital expendityréscluding its ability to arrange financing when
required;

» the nature and extent of future competition in SQMincipal markets;

» political, economic and demographic developmenthénemerging market countries of Latin America and
Asia where SQM conducts a large portion of its hess; and

» the factors discussed below under Item 3. Keyrin&dion—Risk Factors.
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ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AN D ADVISERS

Not Applicable.

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Not Applicable.

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION

3.A. Selected Financial Data

The following table presents selected consoliddieancial information for SQM and one or more of it
subsidiaries, as applicable, for each of the periadicated. This information should be read injaoction
with, and is qualified in its entirety by referentte the Audited Consolidated Financial Statemeritthe
Company as for December 31, 2005 and 2004 andafdr ef the three years in the period ended December
31, 2005. The consolidated financial statementsfaddecember 31, 2002 and 2001 and for the yeans the
ended are not included herein. The Company's Colated Financial Statements are prepared in acooeda
with Chilean GAAP, which differs in certain matdniaspects from U.S. GAAP. Note 29 to the Consaéd
Financial Statements as for December 31, 2005 864 and for each of the three years in the penatbe
December 31, 2005 provides a description of thecjpal differences between Chilean GAAP and U.S.
GAAP and a reconciliation of net income for the ngeanded December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and total
shareholders' equity as of December 31, 2005 a@d 20U.S. GAAP.

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Income Statement Data (in millions of US$) (1)
Chilean GAAP
Total Revenues 896.0 788.5 691.8 553.8 526.4
Operating Income 181.2 124.1 87.3 82.7 73.7
Non-operating results, net (34.4) (17.6) (21.2) .@30 (29.2)
Net income 113.5 74.2 46.8 40.2 30.1
Net earnings per share (2) 0.43 0.28 0.18 0.15 0.11
Net earnings per ADS (2) 4.31 2.82 1.78 1.53 1.14
Dividend per share (3)(4) 0.279 0.182 0.088 0.076 0.056
Weighted average shares Outstanding

(000s) (2) 263,197 263,197 263,197 263,197 263,197
U.S. GAAP (4)
Total Revenues 896.0 788.5 691.8 553.8 526.4
Operating Income 163.9 117.1 76.4 86.4 74.6
Non-operating results, net (6.1) (4.1) (4.0) (25.9) (41.6)
Effect of change in accounting - - - 0.5 -
principles
Net income 125.2 86.8 57.8 46.9 24.4
Basic and diluted earnings per share 0.48 0.33 0.22 0.18 0.09
Basic and diluted earnings per ADS 4.76 3.30 2.19 1.78 0.93
Weighted average shares Outstanding

(000s)(2) 263,197 263,197 263,197 263,197 263,197




Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Balance Sheet Data: (In millions of US$) (1)
Chilean GAAP:
Total assets 1,640.6 1,361.4 1,363.5 1,322.3 4413.
Long-term debt 100.0 200.0 260.0 324.0 412.0
Total shareholders' equity 1,020.4 948.6 890.0 B49. 831.7
Capital Stock 477.4 477.4 477.4 477.4 477.4
U.S. GAAP
Total assets 1,609.0 1,318.5 1,319.4 1,274.6 18354.
Long-term debt 100.0 200.0 260.0 324.0 412.0
Total shareholders' equity 923.4 856.9 794.7 747.3 721.4
Capital Stock 479.3 479.3 479.3 479.3 479.3

Note: The Company is not aware of any materialedéfifices between Chilean and U.S. GAAP that areaddtessed in Note 29 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements of December 3152

1) Except shares outstanding, dividend and neiiregs per share and net earnings per ADS.

) There are no authoritative pronouncementseaélad the calculation of earnings per share in @zoee with Chilean
GAAP. For comparative purposes the calculation been based on the same number of weighted avelsgess
outstanding as used for the U.S. GAAP calculation.

3) Dividends per share are calculated based onl283housand shares for the periods ended Decedihe2001, 2002,
2003, 2004 and 2005.

(4) Dividends may only be paid from net income befamortization of negative goodwill as determimedccordance with
Chilean GAAP; see Item 8.A.8. Dividend Policy. Eividends in Ch$ see Item 8.A.8.Dividend PolicyBividends.

EXCHANGE RATES

Chile has two currency markets, the Mercado Carntbieormal, or Formal Exchange Market, and the
Mercado Cambiario Informal, or Informal Exchangerkéd. The Formal Exchange Market is comprised of
banks and other entities authorized by the Chifeentral Bank. The Informal Exchange Market is caegat

of entities that are not expressly authorized terage in the Formal Exchange Market, such as cefbagign
exchange houses and travel agencies, among otter<hilean Central Bank is empowered to deteritiae
certain purchases and sales of foreign curren@esiyied out on the Formal Exchange Market.

Both the Formal and Informal Exchange Markets aineed by free market forces. Current regulatiorcgune

that the Chilean Central Bank be informed of carteansactions and that they be effected through-thrmal

Exchange Market. For the purposes of the operatidhe Formal Exchange Market, the Chilean Cerieaik

sets a dolar acuerdo, or Reference Exchange Ra¢eR&ference Exchange Rate is reset daily by tlileadh
Central Bank, taking into account internal and edeginflation and variations in parities betweae Chilean
peso and each of the U.S. dollar, the Japanesangthe Euro at a ratio of 80:5:15, respectiveiyoider to

keep the average exchange rate within certaindjntiite Chilean Central Bank may intervene by buying
selling foreign currency on the Formal Exchange Réar

The dolar observado, or Observed Exchange Ratechwilsi reported by the Chilean Central Bank and
published daily in the Chilean newspapers, is cdegplby taking the weighted average of the previous
business day’s transactions on the Formal Exchifagket. On September 2, 1999, the Chilean CentaakB
eliminated the band within which the Observed ExgeaRate could fluctuate, in order to provide great
flexibility in the exchange market. Nevertheledse {Chilean Central Bank has the power to interveyne
buying or selling foreign currency on the FormalcEange Market to attempt to maintain the Observed
Exchange Rate within a desired range.

The Informal Exchange Market reflects transacticasied out at an informal exchange rate, or tlerinal

Exchange Rate. There are no limits imposed on senteto which the rate of exchange in the Informal
Exchange Market can fluctuate above or below thee@ked Exchange Rate.
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Since 1993, the Observed Exchange Rate and therlaf&Exchange Rate have typically been within tess
1% of one another.

The following table sets forth the annual low, higlverage and year-end Observed Exchange Rate.$or U
dollars for each year starting in 2001 as repobiedhe Chilean Central Bank. The Federal Reservek Bé
New York does not report a noon buying rate forl€n pesos.

On June 15, 2006, the Observed Exchange Rate vgs1€51 = US$1.00.

Observed Exchange Rate (1)

Ch$ per US$
Year/Month Low (1) High (1)  Average Year/Month
(2)(3) End
2001 557.13 716.62 634.76 654.79
2002 641.75 756.56 692.32 718.61
2003 593.10 758.21 687.50 599.40
2004 559.21 649.45 612.13 559.83
2005 509.70 592.75 559.27 514.21
December 200 509.70 518.63 514.33 514.21
January 200 512.50 535.36 524.48 524.78
February 200 516.91 532.35 525.70 517.76
March 200¢ 516.75 536.16 528.77 527.70
April 2006 511.44 526.18 517.33 518.62
May 2006 512.76 532.92 520.79 531.11
Source: Central Bank of Chile
(1) Observed exchange rates are the actual higlomndn a day-to-day basis, for each period.
2) The yearly average rate is calculated as teeage of the exchange rates on the last day ofreanth during the period.
3) The monthly average rate is calculated on atdajay basis for each month.

3.B. Capitalization And Indebtedness
Not applicable.

3.C. Reasons For The Offer And Use Of Proceeds
Not applicable.



3.D. Risk Factors

Our operations are subject to certain risk factbiet may affect SQM's financial condition or resudtf
operations. In addition to other information caméa in this Annual Report on Form 20-F, you should
consider carefully the risks described below. Ehesks are not the only ones we face. Additioisks not
currently known to us or that we currently beli@re not significant may also affect our businessrafons.
Our business, financial condition or results ofraiens could be materially affected by any of éhasks.

Risks Relating to our Business

Our sales to emerging markets expose us to riskieteel to economic conditions and trends in those
countries

We sell our products in more than 100 countriesiadothe world. In 2005, approximately 39% of oales
were made to emerging market countries: (i) appnaiely 14% in Central and South America, excluding
Chile, specifically in countries such as Brazilg&ntina, Colombia and Peru; (ii) approximately 1i8%hile;
and (iii) approximately 7% in Asia, excluding JapaiWWe expect to expand our sales in these and other
emerging markets in the future. The results arabgects for our operations in these countries ahdro
countries in which we establish operations canxpeeted to be dependent, in part, on the geneval b
political stability and economic activity and padis in those countries. Future developments inpthiitical
systems or economies of these countries or theemmmtation of future governmental policies in those
countries, including the imposition of withholdiagd other taxes, restrictions on the payment afidivds or
repatriation of capital or the imposition of newviEanmental regulations or price controls, couldséa
material adverse effect on our sales or operatiotisose countries.

Volatility of world fertilizer and chemical priceand changes in production capacities could affeairo
business, financial condition and results of opei@is

The prices of our products are determined prinbigal world prices, which in some cases have been
subject to substantial volatility in recent yeak&/orld fertilizer and chemical prices vary depergdipon the
relationship between supply and demand at any gtirea. Further, the supply of certain fertilizevs
chemical products, including certain products tha provide, varies principally depending upon the
production of the few major producers (includiny assd their respective business strategies.

In particular, world iodine prices declined frompapximately US$18.40 per kilogram for large
purchases in early 1990 to less than US$8.00 pegrkim for large purchases in June 1994. The price
increased to approximately US$18.00 in 1999, armsesyuently it began to decline, reaching approxaipat
US$12.50 during early 2003. By late 2003 and @dugif04 prices reversed the downward trend and biegan
increase. The average price for 2004 reached zippaitely US$14.50 per kilogram and it has continted
increase to an average of approximately US$19.0itegram for 2005. We cannot assure you thag thi
trend will continue.

We started production of lithium carbonate from #tacama Salar brines in October 1996 and started
selling lithium carbonate commercially in JanuaB@71. Our entrance into the market created an opplg
of lithium carbonate, resulting in a drop in pridesm over US$3,000 per ton before our entrandeds than
US$2,000 per ton. Currently, prices are highentt&$3,000 per ton. We believe the increase icepris
mainly due to the high growth in demand that hasbeen fully balanced by the supply of lithium camhbte.
We cannot assure you that this trend will continue.

We expect that prices for the products we manufaciill continue to be influenced, among other
things, by similar supply and demand factors ared ibsiness strategies of major producers. Sontheof
major producers (including us) have increased we lilae ability to increase production. As a reghk prices
of our products may be subject to substantial ilibjat A substantial decline in the prices of ooemore of
our products could have a material adverse effectus business, financial condition and resultspdrations.



We have an ambitious capital expenditure progranaths subject to significant risks and uncertainsie

Our business is capital intensive. Specificalhg £xploration and exploitation of reserves, mining
and processing costs, the maintenance of macharetyequipment and compliance with applicable lamg a
regulations require substantial capital expendituré&Ve must continue to invest capital to maintainto
increase the amount of reserves that we exploitt@@mount of finished products we produce. Wiire
environmental permits for our new projects. Obtajrpermits in certain cases may cause signifidafays in
the execution and implementation of such new ptsjend, consequently, may require us to reassess th
related risks and economic incentives. No asseramn be made that we will be able to maintain our
production levels or generate sufficient cash flowthat we will have access to sufficient invesitsgloans
or other financing alternatives to continue our lesgtion, exploitation and refining activities at above
present levels, or that we will be able to impletnaur projects or receive the necessary permitgired for
them in time. Any or all of these factors may havenaterial adverse impact on our business, fiaanci
condition and results of operations.

Currency fluctuations may have a negative effect our financial results

The Chilean peso has been subject to large dei@igaaind revaluations in the past and may be sulyjec
significant fluctuations in the future. We transacsignificant portion of our business in U.S.lad, and the
U.S. dollar is the currency of the primary economvironment in which we operate and is our fumalo
currency for financial statement reporting purposAssignificant portion of our operating costsweyer, are
related to the Chilean peso. Therefore, an inereagslecrease in the exchange rate between theaBGpeso
and the U.S. dollar would affect our costs of piaun. Additionally, as an international compamenating
in Chile and several other countries, we transagbréion of our business and have assets andifiebiin
Chilean pesos and other non-U.S. dollar currensigsh as the Euro, the South African Rand and teeiddn
Peso. As a result, fluctuation in the exchange oétsuch foreign currencies to the U.S. dollar ratigct our
business, financial condition and results of openat

Sustained high raw material and energy prices inas& our production costs and cost of goods sold

We rely on certain raw materials and various sauafeenergy (diesel, electricity, natural gas and
others) to manufacture our products. Purchaseavoimaterials that we do not produce and energgtitate
a significant part of our cost of sales (approxehatl1.7% in 2005). To the extent we are unablpass on
increases in raw materials and energy prices tacostomers, our business, financial condition asdilts of
operations could be adversely affected.

Our reserves estimates could significantly vary

Our mining reserves estimates are prepared by enlpgists. Estimation methods involve numerous
uncertainties as to the quantity and quality ofdeerves, and these could change, up or downowkward
change in the quantity and/or quality of our reesreould affect future volumes and cost of producand
therefore have a negative impact on our busingsmdial condition and results of operations.

Quality standards in markets where we sell our puats could become stricter over time

Governments and customers in several of the mavketse we do business impose quality standards
on our products. As a result, we may not be ablgetl our products if we cannot meet such starsdaid
addition, our cost of production may increase itleorto meet any such newly-promulgated standafadure
to sell our products in one or more markets ormipdrtant customers could materially affect our ficial
condition or results of operations.



Our business is subject to many operational and asthisks for which we may not be fully covered imro
insurance policies

Our facilities located in Chile and abroad are reguagainst losses, damages or other risks by
insurance policies that are standard for the imgustd that would reasonably be expected to becserit by
prudent and experienced persons engaged in a bssbrebusinesses similar to those of our business.
Nonetheless, we may be subject to certain eveatsntiay not be covered under the insurance polieied,
that could materially affect our financial conditior results of operations.

The continuity of our natural gas supply is dependen Argentinean authorities’ policy

As part of a cost reduction effort, in 2001 we fntnected our facilities to a natural gas network.
The natural gas, which originates in Argentina @ndubject to a 10-year agreement, is used maothhéat
generation at our industrial facilities. Due t@rgy shortages in Argentina, local authorities dedito restrict
exports of natural gas to Chile in order to inceetige supply to their domestic markets. Additignatven
though we have long-term price agreements relateditural gas, the Argentinean government incretesezs
on gas exports and there can be no assurancédyawill not do it again in the future.

We suffered partial shortages of natural gas du2d@4 and 2005, and the shortages have increased

and continued in the second quarter of 2006, ragamore than 50% of the normal supply. Considewhgt
has happened in the second quarter of 2006 arplutiie statements made by Argentina and Boliviaietviin
turn supplies natural gas to Argentina-, we believther cutbacks in the supply of natural gasliedy in the
future. To mitigate this, we have adopted measintended to limit the effects of any further desidn the
natural gas supply. Most of our industrial equipinthat uses natural gas can also operate on ifushad the
remaining equipment can operate on diesel. This afusing fuel oil and diesel are significantighrer than
natural gas.

The extent to which we incur increased costs assaltrof decreases in the natural gas supply will
depend on the volume of such a decrease and attutiadon of the period during which natural gasgigs
are restricted, and therefore, we cannot estimaeeikact economic impact of future natural gas lgupp
reductions. However, further increases in prickgatural gas or a sustained reduction in ouurahigas
supply could have an adverse effect on our busirfesmcial condition and results of operationsuribg
2005, purchases of natural gas represented appt®tnl.4% of our cost of sales.

Decline in the supply of natural gas and increasirgdobal oil prices could negatively affect our etdcity
contracts

As natural gas supply continues to be uncertaindiasussed above, and oil prices continue to
increase, we are faced with potential revisionsuo long-term electricity supply agreements. Wentain
contracts with two main utilities in Chile, Elecardina S.A. and AES Norgener S.A., and both hageeasted
revision of the tariffs involved. As a result afch request we have commenced arbitration betwseand
Electroandina and Norgener.

Although we believe tariffs should not be modifi¢d,the extent that our electricity contracts are i
fact revised and modified, we may suffer increasedts, thereby negatively affecting our results of
operations. During 2005, purchases of electri@fyresented approximately 2.8% of our cost of sales

We are exposed to labor strikes and liabilities tltauld impact our production levels and costs

Of our permanent employees in Chile, 72% are reptes by 31 labor unions, which represent their
members in collective bargaining negotiations wite Company. Accordingly, we are exposed to labor
strikes that could impact our production levelshodd a strike occur and extend for a sustainegeof
time, we could be faced with increased costs aet éisruption in our product flow that could haveaterial
adverse effect on our financial condition or resoftoperations.
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The Chilean Congress has amended the Labor Codesand of such amendments will be soon
clarified or re-amended through a Presidential .vBiievertheless, the new wording will contemplatet tine
work-owner shall be jointly liable for some bengfitf the subcontractor’'s employees being hiredtlier
performance of such work and thus increasing theeo\s responsibilities and costs.

Our water supply could be affected by regulatoryaciges and/or natural problems

Although we have not experienced significant diffies obtaining the necessary water to conduct our
operations, there can be no assurance that waetilhave problems in securing our water supply tdugew
environmental regulations or natural depletion atev resources that could affect our operationgatnesly
affecting our business, financial condition andutessof operations.

Pending lawsuits could adversely impact us

We are party to lawsuits and arbitrations involvcwmmercial matters. Although we intend to defemnd o
position vigorously, our defense of these actiorsy mot be successful. Some judgment in or settlermien
these lawsuits may have a material adverse effecuo financial condition or results of operatiorSee Item
8.A.7. Legal Proceedings and Note 22 to the Codatdd Financial Statements. Furthermore, our glyabté
being a world leader includes carrying out comnadr@nd production alliances, joint ventures anduesitions
to improve our global competitive position. As thasperations increase in complexity and are caoigdn
different jurisdictions, our Company might be subjto legal proceedings that, if settled againstmey have
a significant impact in the Company's financial dition or results of operations.

Risks Relating to Chile

As we are a Chilean-based company, we are expaséthtlean political risks

The prospects and results of operations of the @osnpould be affected by changes in policies of the
Chilean government, other political development®iraffecting Chile, and regulatory and legal clemngr
administrative practices of Chilean authoritiesgrowhich the Company has no control.

Changes in mining and water rights laws or in regulons affecting port concessions could affect our
operating costs

We conduct our mining (including brine extractiaoperations under exploitation and exploration
concessions granted pursuant to judicial procesdm@ccordance with provisions of the Chilean @iartgon
and the Constitutional Mining Law and related dtgu Our exploitation concessions essentially tgean
perpetual right to conduct mining operations in #ieas covered by the concessions, provided thgtaye
annual concession fees (with the exception of ttec#@ma Salar rights, which have been leased tantils u
2030). Our exploration concessions permit us fogr for mineral resources on the land coveretethefor
a specified period of time, and to subsequentlyiestja corresponding exploitation concession. e fzold
water rights obtained from the Chilean Water Auitlyoior a supply of water from rivers and wells near
production facilities, which we believe is suffinoteto meet current and anticipated operational ireqents.
We operate port facilities at Tocopilla, Chile, tbe shipment of our products and the deliveryestain raw
materials, pursuant to concessions granted by &hilegulatory authorities. These concessionsesr@wvable
provided that we use such facilities as authoreed pay annual concession fees. Any significaahghs to
these concessions could have a material adversacingm our business, financial condition and resaft
operations.

The following recent changes in Chilean law are &lly to affect our operations:

The Chilean Congress recently approved a modifinatd Chilean laws relating to water rights (the
“Water Code”). The changes to the Water Code delestablishing annual fee payments for ownersabémv
rights that do not use the water associated wémthThis fee does not affect the holder’s righige aquifers.
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The criteria used to determine what rights or wdsat of such rights would be subject to this anriealrelate
to whether the resource is consumed or re-injeittedthe stream after its use (defined as the wadgit's
“consumptive condition”), whether the use of theowrce is sporadic or permanent (frequency of asd)the
geographical location of the intake points relativean area’s overall water supply. The referreginges will
not have a material adverse effect on our businéisancial condition and results of operations.
Nevertheless, as the Company maintains water riphatsare key to its business development, furthanges
to the Water Code could have a material adversadinpn our business, financial condition and resaft
operations.

On May 18, 2005, the Chilean Congress approved New?0,026, also known as the “Royalty Law,”
which established a royalty to be applied to mirdagjvities developed in Chile, levied on miningrqmanies
whose sales are equal to or greater than the dgoivealue of 12,000 metric tons of fine copper (MFas
determined according to the London Metal Exchangad& A copper cash quotation. This new mining
royalty, which will be applied from 2006 onwards,lévied on the “taxable operating income” (as taisn is
defined in Law No. 20,026) of the mining compantya aate that varies from 0.5% up to 5%, dependimthe
consolidated annual sales.

If similar changes are enacted in the future thay imave a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition and results of operation.

Environmental laws and regulations could expose tashigher costs, liabilities, claims and failure tmeet
current and future production targets

Our operations in Chile are subject to a variety nafional and local regulations relating to
environmental protection. The main environmergad in Chile are the Health Code and Law No. 19,300
which we refer to as the “Chilean Environmentalrresvork Law.” The Chilean Environmental Framework
Law created the Comision Nacional del Medio Amiger{National Environmental Commission or
CONAMA), which is the governmental agency in chaojesupervising the due compliance with the Chilean
Environmental Framework Law. Under this law, we egquired to conduct environmental impact studfes
any future projects or activities (or their sigo#fint modifications) that may affect the environment
CONAMA evaluates environmental impact studies suteahifor its approval and oversees the implemeortati
of projects. The Chilean Environmental Framewoakvlalso enables private citizens, public agendidsaal
authorities to challenge projects that may affbet énvironment, either before these projects aeew®d or
once they are already operating. Enforcement rezseaailable include temporary or permanent closir
facilities and fines.

Chilean environmental regulations have become &singly stringent in recent years, both in respect
of the approval of new projects and in connectidth whe implementation and development of projects
already approved. This trend is likely to continud-urthermore, recently implemented environmental
regulations have created uncertainty because andsnforcement procedures for these regulations hat
been fully developed. Given public interest in iemvmental enforcement matters, these regulatiortbeir
application may also be subject to political coesidions that are beyond our control.

We continuously monitor the impact of our operadian the environment and have, from time to
time, made modifications to our facilities to miriz@ any adverse impact. Except for particulatetendevels
exceeding permissible levels in Maria Elena faesit{see “Business—Chilean Government Regulatians!’
“Business—Environmental Regulations”), we are auifye in compliance in all material respects with
applicable environmental regulations in Chile thet are aware of. Future developments in the cneadr
implementation of environmental requirements, athigir interpretation, could result in substaryiaticreased
capital, operation or compliance costs or othervadeersely affect our business, financial conditaord
results of operations.

In connection with our current investments at thecAma Salar we have submitted an environmental
impact assessment study. The success of thesstrimgts is dependent on the approval of said ssoniby
the pertinent governmental authorities. Failureltain approval of this submission could seriousipair
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our ability to maintain our current production lésser increase production capacities in the nearéy thus
having a material adverse effect on our finanaigdition or results of operations.

Additionally, in connection with our future investmts in the nitrate and iodine operations, we have
submitted and expect to submit several environnhéntpact assessment studies. The success of these
investments is dependent on the approval of saimnssions by the pertinent governmental authorities
Failure to obtain approval for one or more of thegbmissions could seriously impair our abilitynaintain
our future production levels or increase productiapacities in the near future, thus having a ristedverse
effect on our financial condition or results of ogt#ons.

Furthermore, the future development of the Compdepends on our ability to sustain future
production levels, which require additional investits and the submission of the corresponding
environmental impact assessment studies. Againyeiffail to obtain approval, our ability to maintai
production at specified levels will be seriouslypmired, thus having a material adverse effect arfinancial
condition or results of operations.

Our worldwide operations are also subject to emvirental regulations. Since laws and regulations in
the different jurisdictions in which we operate ne@nange, we cannot guarantee that future lawshamges to
existing ones, will not materially impact our firca condition or results of operations.

Our financial statements are reported, and our diends are declared, based on Chilean GAAP, which
generally differs from U.S. GAAP

There are important differences between Chilean 8/khd U.S. GAAP. As a result, Chilean financial
statements and reported earnings generally difiem fthose that are reported based on U.S. GAAP. In
particular, our earnings and the amount of dividetiht we declare under Chilean GAAP may be suljeat
higher degree of fluctuation as compared to U.S.ABAdue to accounting pronouncements or other
modifications required under Chilean GAAP. Note t@9%the consolidated Financial Statements incluaes
description of differences and a reconciliationtlod net income and shareholder’s equity amountsrieg
under Chilean GAAP to U.S. GAAP.

Risks related to our financial activities

Interest rate fluctuations may have a material imgteon our financial results

We maintain short and long-term debt priced at Lilptus a spread. As we do not have derivativeungents

to hedge the Libor, we are subject to fluctuatiagmsthis rate. As of December 31, 2005, we had
approximately 47% of our financial debt priced #bdr, and therefore significant increases in the ould
impact our financial condition.

Risks related to our shares and to our ADSs

The price of our ADSs and the U.S. dollar value ariy dividends will be affected by fluctuations ing U.S.
dollar/Chilean peso exchange rate

Chilean trading in the shares underlying our ADSednducted in Chilean pesos. The depositaryrackive
cash distributions that we make with respect tostares in pesos. The depositary will convert giegos to
U.S. dollars at the then prevailing exchange matmake dividend and other distribution paymentsespect of
ADSs. If the value of the peso falls relative te J.S. dollar, the value of the ADSs and any ithistions to
be received from the depositary will decrease.

Developments in other emerging markets could maéyi affect our ADSs value

The Chilean financial and securities markets aveyarying degrees, influenced by economic and ntarke
conditions in other emerging market countries @imes of the world. Although economic condition® a
different in each country or region, investor r@actto developments in one country or region cameha
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significant effects on the securities of issuersother countries and regions, including Chile aratin
America. Events in other parts of the world mayéhan adverse effect on Chilean financial and $éesir
markets and on the value of our ADSs.

The volatility and low liquidity of the Chilean seiities markets could affect the ability of our aheholders
to sell our ADSs

The Chilean securities markets are substantiallgllem less liquid and more volatile than the maecurities
markets in the United States. The volatility aod liquidity of the Chilean markets could incredke price
volatility of our ADSs and may impair the ability a holder to sell our ADSs into the Chilean marikethe
amount and at the price and time he or she wighde s0.

Our share price may react negatively to future agsjtions and investments

As part of our strategy as world leaders in ouedmusinesses, we are constantly looking for oppiigsg that
will allow us to consolidate and strengthen our petitive position. Pursuant to this strategy, wayrnfrom
time to time, evaluate and eventually carry outuitions in any of the businesses in which we are.
Depending on our then current capital structuremag need to raise significant debt and/or equityctv will
affect our financial condition and future cash flowAny change in our financial condition couldeaff our
results of operations, negatively impacting ourstmice.

You may be unable to enforce rights under U.S. Sgties Laws.

Because we are a Chilean company subject to Chigegnthe rights of our shareholders may diffemirthe
rights of shareholders in companies incorporatethénUnited States, and you may not be able toreafor
may have difficulty enforcing rights currently iffect on U.S. Federal or State securities laws.

Our Company is a "sociedad andénima abierta" (opeckscorporation) incorporated under the laws @& th
Republic of Chile. Most of SQM's directors andiadfs reside outside the United States, princigall¢Zhile.
All or a substantial portion of the assets of thesesons are located outside the United Statesa vesult, if
any of our shareholders, including holders of oudS&, were to bring a lawsuit against our officers o
directors in the United States, it may be diffidialt them to effect service of legal process wittfie United
States upon these persons. Likewise, it may Heuiffor them to enforce against them in UnitethtSs
courts judgments obtained in United States couatsedh upon the civil liability provisions of the &dl
securities laws of the United States.

In addition, there is no treaty between the Unii¢ates and Chile providing for the reciprocal ecéonent of
foreign judgments. However, Chilean courts havieread judgments rendered in the United Statesjiged
that the Chilean court finds that the United Staiegrt respected basic principles of due procedspaiblic
policy. Nevertheless, there is doubt whether aiomcould be brought successfully in Chile in tirst
instance on the basis of liability based solely rupize civil liability provisions of the United Sest federal
securities laws.

As preemptive rights may be unavailable for our AD8lders, they have the risk of being diluted iew
issue new stock

Chilean laws require companies to offer their shalgers preemptive rights whenever selling new eshaf
capital stock. Preemptive rights permit holdersntintain their existing ownership percentage company
by subscribing for additional shares. If we inseaur capital by issuing new shares, a holder suagcribe
for up to the number of shares that would prevdatidn of the holder's ownership interest.

If we issue preemptive rights, United States haldgrADSs would not be able to exercise their sgimless a
registration statement under the Securities Acteweffective with respect to such rights and theresha
issuable upon exercise of such rights or an exemgdtom registration were available. We cannougss
holders of ADSs that we will file a registratioratgment or that an exemption from registration \w#l
available. We may, in our absolute discretion,idkeaot to prepare and file such a registratiotestant. If
our holders were unable to exercise their preemapights because SQM did not file a registratiaieshent,
the depositary would attempt to sell their rightsl alistribute the net proceeds from the sale tnfhafter
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deducting the depositary's fees and expensese dépositary could not sell the rights, they wangire and
holders of ADSs would not realize any value froranth In either case, ADS holders' equity interess@M
would be diluted in proportion to the increase @NMEs capital stock.
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ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

4.A. History And Development Of The Company

Historical Background

Sociedad Quimica y Minera de Chile S.A. "SQM" isapen stock corporation (sociedad andnima abierta)
organized under the laws of the Republic of Chilthe Company was constituted by public deed issured
June 17, 1968 by the Public Notary of Santiago, $4rgio Rodriguez Garcés. Its existence was apgrby
Decree No. 1.164 of June 22, 1968 of the Ministrfinance, and it was registered on June 29, 10684
Business Registry of Santiago, on page 4.537 N®@21. SQM's headquarters are located at El Trov4285,
Piso 6, Las Condes, Santiago, Chile. The Compaeigishone number is 562-425-2000.

Commercial exploitation of the caliche ore depositaorthern Chile began in the 1830s, when sodiitrate
was extracted from the ore for use in the manufactf explosives and fertilizers. By the end loé t
nineteenth century, nitrate production had becohee I¢ading industry in Chile and the country was th
world's leading supplier of nitrates. The accattacommercial development of synthetic nitratethé1920s
and the global economic depression in the 1930secha serious contraction of the Chilean nitratnass,
which did not recover significantly until shorthetore the Second World War. After the war, theegjgread
commercial production of synthetic nitrates regulire a further contraction of the natural nitrateustry in
Chile, which continued to operate at depresseddeént» the 1960s.

SQM was formed in 1968 through a joint venture leetw Compafia Salitrera Anglo Lautaro S.A. (“Anglo
Lautaro”) and Corporacion de Fomento de la Producdi'Corfo”), a Chilean state-owned development
corporation. Three years after our formation, iW1L.9Anglo Lautaro sold all of its shares to Corfalave
were wholly owned by the Chilean Government ur@83. In 1983, Corfo began a process of privatipalip
selling our shares to the public and subsequeisting such shares on the Santiago Stock Exchd)g&988,

all of our shares were publicly owned. Our Serie&BRs have traded on the NYSE under the ticker fmb
“SQM” since 1993.

Between the years 1994 to 1999, we participatetdrbiggest non-metallic mining project ever catrogit in
Chile, the development of the Atacama Salar prajeobrthern Chile. During this period, the prajesguired
an investment of approximately US$300 million, whigas used in the construction of a 500,000-tomciap
potassium chloride plant, a 22,000-ton capacitigidin carbonate plant, a close to 200,000-ton capaci
potassium sulfate plant and a close to 10,000-&pacity boric acid plant. The potassium chloridbjum
carbonate, potassium sulfate and boric acid pknetsurrently in operation.

To help finance the above projects, we accessemtimmational capital markets by issuing more ARiRshe
New York Stock Exchange in 1995 (Series B ADR issgd and in 1999 (by issuing our Series A ADRs on
the NYSE under the ticker symbol “SQM-A”").

During the period from 2000 through 2004 we priatlip consolidated the investments carried out i@ th
preceding five years. We focused on reducing @rstisimproving efficiencies throughout the orgatiora
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Capital Expenditure Program

We are constantly reviewing different opportunitigs improving our production methods, increasing
production capacity of current products and devielpmew products and markets. Additionally, sigaint
maintenance of capital expenditures are requireslyeyear in order to sustain our production cagacitVe
are focused on developing new products in resptmsdentified customer demand and products thatbean
derived as part of our existing production. Ouitzd expenditures in the past five years were iyaielated

to the acquisition of new assets, constructionest facilities and renewal of plant and equipment.

SQM's capital expenditures in the 2003-2005 penietk the following:

20054) 20043) 20032)
(in millions of US$)
Expenditures (1) 198.1 91.4 57.4
1) Includes investments in related companies. &la@sounts will not match the consolidated statesnehtashflows, as the
Company does not consolidate development stageatieg
2) Includes acquisition of La Corufia. (US$13 miilio
3) Includes acquisition of PCS Yumbes (US$35 mil)i The Yumbes mine is not currently being mined ae expect that

part of the facilities will be relocated to thestiRegion, to be used in the development of thrate expansion project.

(4) Includes acquisition of Kefco in Dubai (US$®ndlion)

We have developed a capital expenditure prograimgaior investments totaling approximately US$660
million (not including acquisitions) between 200868 of which approximately US$190 million was spent
2005. The main purpose of our capital expenditumgm@am is to increase production capacity of iodiye
approximately 25% (without giving effect to the DSMdine business acquisition), natural nitrates by
approximately 25%, and lithium carbonate by mor@nti80%. Depending on market conditions, the capital
expenditure program may be increased during 20@7 2008 by up to a total of approximately US$140
million to further expand capacity.

Most of our expansion capital expenditure prograquires environmental approval after completion of
environmental impact studies. We currently have eancbnsideration with the environmental authorities
environmental impact studies for production capacdicreases at the Atacama Salar and Nueva Victoria
Capital expenditures for 2005 were approximately$18® million (not including the Dubai acquisition
described below) primarily for (i) iodine produgatiincreases at the Nueva Victoria facility, a pcojiat we
expect to put online during the first half of 20@®} a new granular and prilling facility located Coya Sur,
which will allow us to replace the old Pedro de diala facility, to increase capacity, improve qtaland
develop new products; (iii) the purchase, replacgnmand upgrade of mining equipment, reflecting our
decision to operate with new equipment in ordeloter our maintenance costs in the future and toeise
capacity; (iv) a new lithium hydroxide facility lated at Salar del Carmen near our lithium carbofezaiéty;

(v) the completion of the capacity increase atlaghium carbonate facility; (vi) the initial invesient in the
Maria Elena project oriented to replace our curpenshing facilities and to develop a new miningaarand
(vii) various projects designed to maintain capadiicrease yields and lower costs. Additionallyiag 2005,

we bought a urea-phosphate facility in Dubai fopragimately US$9.3 million to expand our produdieoihg

of specialty plant nutrition in the Middle East.

For 2006, we have budgeted total capital experaitwf approximately US$210 million (not includiriget
DSM iodine business acquisition mentioned belovimarily for (i) the completion of the Maria Eleneoject
described above; (i) the initial investment in&gssium nitrate production facility at Nueva Vido (iii) the
completion of the granular and prilling facilitydated at Coya Sur; (iv) a new drying facility fasluble
potassium nitrate at Coya Sur; (v) the developmé&mew mining areas at Pedro de Valdivia; and aiious
projects designed to maintain capacity, increasédgiand lower costs, and to develop new NPK( géng
phosphate and potassium), soluble blending faasliti

Additionally, we bought the iodine business of D&M approximately US$72.0 million in January 2006.
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For 2007 and 2008, we estimate total capital exjemed of approximately US$260 million, which caa b
increased depending on market conditions, primdoly (i) the increase in lithium carbonate prodomti
capacity at the Atacama Salar; (i) the complet@inthe potassium nitrate production facility at MNae
Victoria; (iii) the upgrade of our railroad systetim handle expanded capacity; (iv) the replacemérin®
iodine facilities at Maria Elena to improve tectowy in order to lower costs and increase yieldst @)
various projects designed to maintain capacityrease yields and lower costs, and to develop neW-NP
soluble blending facilities.

4.B. Business Overview

The Company

We believe we are the world’s largest integratestipcers of potassium nitrate, iodine and lithiumboaate.
We also produce other specialty plant nutritiondpicis, iodine and lithium derivatives, and cerfaitustrial
chemicals, including industrial nitrates. Our prouare sold in over 100 countries through our ewide
distribution network and we generate approxima&3%o of our revenues from countries outside Chiler O
products are mainly derived from mineral depositsnfl in the first and second regions of northerileCh
where we mine and process caliche ore and brinesitsp The caliche ore in northern Chile contaims t
largest known nitrate and iodine deposits in theldvand is the world’s only commercially exploitedurce

of natural nitrates. The brine deposits of the Ataa Salar, a salt-encrusted depression within theatna
Desert in northern Chile, contain high concentragicof lithium and potassium as well as significant
concentrations of sulfate and boron.

From our caliche ore deposits, we produce a widgeaaf nitrate-based products, used for specidiptp
nutrition and industrial applications, as well adine and iodine derivatives. At the Atacama Salar extract
brines rich in potassium, lithium and boron, anddoce potassium chloride, potassium sulfate, lithiu
solutions, boric acid and bischofite. We produtleidm carbonate and lithium hydroxide at a plararrie
city of Antofagasta, Chile, from the solutions bgbt from the Atacama Salar. We market all theselyrcts
through an established worldwide distribution netwo

Our products are divided into five main categorsggecialty plant nutrition products, iodine andickives,
lithium and derivatives, industrial chemicals arntthen products. Specialty plant nutrition is comedisof
specialty plant nutrition products that are fexélis having certain characteristics that enablendes to
improve yields and quality of certain crops. lodifithnium and their derivatives are used in humaitrition,
pharmaceuticals and other industrial applicati@pecifically, iodine and its derivatives are mainked in x-
ray contrast media and biocides industries andowigg application is in the production of polarigifilm,
which is an important component in Liquid Crystasfdays (‘LCDs") screens, and lithium and its datives
are mainly used in batteries, greases and fritgofoduction of ceramics. Industrial chemicals havevide
range of applications in certain chemical processash as the manufacturing of glass, explosives and
ceramics. Other products include potassium chlaiti other commodity fertilizers that are bougbtrfrthird
parties and sold mostly in Chile and Mexico.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we had reseafi approximately US$896.0 million, operating
income of approximately US$181.2 million and netome of approximately US$113.5 million.

Specialty Plant Nutrition We produce five principal types of specialty ntlanutrients: sodium nitrate,
potassium nitrate, sodium potassium nitrate, patassulfate and specialty blends. All of thesecsey
plant nutrients are used in either solid or ligtedm mainly in high value crops such as fruits, etadples,
industrial crops (mainly tobacco and coffee), clsreand cotton, and are widely used in crops thableyn
modern agricultural techniques such as hydropogienhousing, fertigation (where fertilizer issditved in
water prior to irrigation) and foliar applicationAccording to the type of use or application thedurcts are
marketed under the brands: Ultrasol™ (fertigatio@rop™ (field application), Speedfol™ (foliar
application), Allganic™ (organic farming) and Niake™ (acquaculture). Specialty plant nutritions ha
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certain advantages over commodity fertilizers, sashrapid and effective absorption (without reagjri
nitrification), superior water solubility, alkalinpH (which reduces soil acidity) and low chlorinentent.
These advantages, plus customized specialty bibatisneet specific needs and the technical seprizéided
by us, may be considered as plant nutrients solsitaalding value to crops through higher yields lagiter
quality production. Because our products are aator derived from natural nitrate compounds omredt
potassium brines (in the case of potassium sujfttey have certain advantages over syntheticatigyced
fertilizers, such as the presence of certain beia¢trace elements and their organic nature, whiekes them
more attractive to customers who prefer producteatfiral origin. As a result, our specialty plantrients
enable our customers to achieve higher yields attgtbquality crops. Consequently, specialty plasttients
are sold at a premium price compared to commoditylizers.

lodine: We are the world's leading producer of iodind amine derivatives, which are used in a wide eang
of medical, pharmaceutical, agricultural and indakapplications, including x-ray contrast mediatiseptics,
biocides and disinfectants, human and animal et supplements, in the synthesis of pharmacastic
herbicides, electronics, pigments, dye componemseat stabilizers.

Lithium: We are the world's leading producer of lithiuanhonate, which is used in a variety of applicatjon
including batteries, frits for the ceramic and erhindustries, heat resistant glass (ceramic glasshary
aluminum, lithium bromine for air conditioner eqoipnt, continuous casting powder for steel extrysion
pharmaceuticals, and lithium derivatives. We dse a leading supplier of lithium hydroxide, whishused
primarily as a raw material in the lubricating ggeandustry.

Industrial Chemicals We produce four industrial chemicals: sodiurtraté, potassium nitrate, boric acid
and potassium chloride. Sodium nitrate is usechamily in the production of glass, explosives, coait
briquettes and metal treatment. However, othes,um&ch as adhesives and wastewater treatmerd@leant
for important sales volumes. Potassium nitrateilevlso used in the manufacture of specialty gliss
consumed primarily in cathode ray tubes for TV'sl @dmputer monitors. In addition, potassium nitrigtan
important raw material for the production of fritg the ceramics and enamel industries. Boric &cigsed in
the manufacture of frits for the ceramics and edadnthustries, glass, and fiberglass. Potassiuroricid is
used as an additive in oil drilling as well ashe production of carragenine.

Other Products We produce and market granular potassium chdorighich is distributed through our
subsidiary Soquimich Comercial S.A. in Chile. Wavé close to 100% of the market share for this ycbah
Chile. In addition, we import fertilizers that adéstributed through Soquimich Comercial S.A. inil€and
Fertilizantes Olmeca S.A. de C.V. in Mexico, offeyia complete fertilizing service to our customers.

The following table sets forth the percentage bdealn of our revenues in the 2001-2005 period adogrth
our product lines:

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Specialty Plant Nutrition 54% 54% 52% 51% 49%
lodine and derivatives 17% 14% 12% 15% 16%
Lithium and derivatives 9% 8% 7% 7% 7%
Industrial Chemicals 8% 9% 11% 13% 13%
Other Products 12% 15% 18% 14% 15%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Business Strateqy

Our general business strategy is to:

(2) participate in businesses where we are or Wil a cost leader supported by strong
fundamentals;
(2) differentiate ourselves from commodity prodsceby manufacturing, marketing and

distributing specialty products that sell at higtue;

3) continually increase the efficiency of our puotion processes and reduce costs in order to
increase our productivity;
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4 maintain leadership in our principal businessaa — specialty plant nutrients, iodine and
lithium — in terms of installed capacity, costspghiction, pricing and development of new
products; and

(5) vertically integrate towards more value addextkets.

We have identified market demand in each of ouomajoduct lines, both within our existing custorbese
and in new markets, for existing products and fidittonal products that can be extracted from catural
resources. In order to take advantage of thesertprties, we have developed a specific strategyeéch of
our product lines, as set forth below:

Specialty Plant Nutrition

Our strategy in our specialty plant nutrition besig is to (i) continue expanding our sales of shnitrates by
continuing to exploit the advantages of our prosuster commodity nitrates and ammonia-based nitr@gpel
potassium chloride fertilizers; (ii) increase oafes of higher margin specialty plant nutrition gwots based
on natural nitrates, particularly soluble potassinitnate and NPK-soluble blends; (iii) pursue irvesnt
opportunities in complementary businesses to isergmoduction, reduce costs and add value to aptbira
the marketing of our products; (iv) emphasize dgwelent of locally produced new specialty nutrielenids
and customized products intended to meet localifspetistomer needs in all of our principal markdts)
focus more on the soluble and foliar plant nutriexarket in order to establish a leadership posit{®n)
further develop our global distribution and markgtsystem directly and through strategic alliangits other
producers and global or local distributors; and) (duce our production costs through improvedcpsses
and higher labor productivity so as to compete nadiectively.

lodine

Our strategy in our iodine business is to (i) nmaimtour leadership in the iodine market by encomgg
demand growth and expanding our production capanitine with the demand growth; (ii) develop new
iodine derivatives and participate in the iodineyaing projects; and (iii) reduce our productiarsts through
improved processes and higher labor productivitgssto compete more effectively.

Lithium

Our strategy in our lithium business is to (i) ntain our leadership in the lithium industry as thegest
producer and distributor of lithium carbonate amtlidm hydroxide; (ii) selectively pursue downstrea
opportunities in the lithium derivatives businessid (iii) reduce our production costs through inved
processes and higher labor productivity so as topede more effectively.

Industrial Chemicals

Our strategy in our industrial chemical busines®i§) maintain our leadership position in sodinitrate and
potassium nitrate; (ii) develop new industrial megkfor our current products; (iii) focus our satésboric
acid in industrial niche markets; and (iv) reduce production costs through improved processeshigiter
labor productivity so as to compete more effectivel

New Business Ventures

From time to time we evaluate opportunities to expaur business, both within and outside Chile, aed
expect to continue to do so in the future. We mawgidk to acquire part or all of the equity of, edartake
joint ventures or other transactions with, othanpanies involved in our businesses or in othemasses.
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Production Process

Our integrated production process can be classifgedrding to our natural resources:
. Caliche ore deposits: contain nitrates, ioding sodium sulfate.

. Atacama Salar brines: contain potassium, lithisatfates and boron.

Caliche Ore Deposits

We mine caliche ore from open pit deposits locétedorthern Chile. Caliche deposits are the largaswn
source of natural nitrates in the world. The ggimal origin of caliche ore deposits in northernil€hs
uncertain, there being a number of different geicligformation theories. The most agreed uporhig &
volcanic formation of deposits was followed by watenoff, leaching and depositing in existing seelins.

Caliche deposits are located in northern Chile, revhee currently operate four mines: Pedro de Vadi
Maria Elena, Pampa Blanca and Nueva Victoria (dialy Iris operation, formerly the DSM lodine busiee
mine)

Caliche ore is found under a layer of barren ovetbn, in seams with variable thickness from twenty
centimeters to five meters, with the overburderyivar in thickness from half a meter to one andlarmaters.

Before proper mining begins, a full explorationggtas accomplished, including full geological recaissance
and dust recovery drill holes to determine theuesst of each deposit and its quality. Drill holmples
properly identified are tested at our chemical tabaries. With the exploration information on asgd grid
pattern of drill holes the ore evaluation stagevighes information for mine planning purpose. Mplanning

is done on a long-term basis (10 years), medium-taasis (3 years) and short-term basis (1 year)nie
production plan is a dynamic tool that details Waweekly and monthly production plans. Followitige
production of drill holes, information is updated offer the most accurate ore supply schedule & th
processing plants.

Generally, bulldozers first rip and remove the bweden in the mining area. This process is folldvioy
production drilling and blasting to break the daéicseams. Front-end loaders load the ore on aff-taicks.
In the Pedro de Valdivia mine, trucks deliver the  stockpiles next to rail loading stations.e®tockpiled
ore is later loaded on to railcars that take theemal to the processing plant. In the Maria Elerirae, trucks
haul the ore and dump it directly to a primary bing installation, after which a 14-kilometer longerland
conveyor belt system delivers the ore to the pinglant.

The ore in Pedro de Valdivia and Maria Elena plétsushed and leached to produce concentratet s

carrying the nitrate, iodine and sodium sulfatdéie Trushing of the ore delivers two products, asmé&action
that is leached in a vat system and a fine fradtiat is leached by agitation. These are followgdiquid-

solid separation, where solids precipitate as sediirand liquids concentrated in nitrate and iodire sent to
processing.

In Pampa Blanca and Nueva Victoria the run of mime is loaded in heaps and leached to produce
concentrated solutions.

Caliche Ore-Derived Products

Caliche ore derived products are: sodium nitratgagsium nitrate, sodium potassium nitrate, sodsuifate
and iodine and iodine derivatives.

Sodium Nitrate

Sodium nitrate for both agricultural and industrglplications is produced at the Maria Elena andtdPde
Valdivia facilities using the Guggenheim method,ishhwas originally patented in 1921. This clos@dugt

method involves adding a heated leaching solutiathé crushed caliche in the vats to selectivedgalve the
valuable contents. The concentrated solutionés ttooled, causing the sodium nitrate to crystalliPart of
the unloaded solution is then recycled to the legckats. The other part of the solution is steigppf its
iodine content at the proper treatment plants. drigstallized sodium nitrate is separated fromréraaining
solution by centrifuging. The residue resultingnfr the crushing of the caliche ore is leached dtiemh

17



temperature with water, producing a weak solutfat ts pumped to solar evaporation ponds at ouaCy
facilities, nearby Maria Elena, for concentratioihile the process of extracting sodium nitratarfrcaliche
ore is well established, variations in chemicalteah of the ore, temperature of the leaching smhstiand
other operational features require a high degrémodv-how to manage the process effectively andieffitly.

The remaining materials from the sodium nitratestalization process are vat leach tailings andeakwv
solution. The ore tailings are unloaded from tbaching vats and deposited at sites near the pioduc
facilities. The weak solution is re-cycled forther leaching and for the extraction of iodine.

Crystallized sodium nitrate is processed furthePatlro de Valdivia and Maria Elena to produce ettill
sodium nitrate, which is transported to our portilfises in Tocopilla for shipping to customers and
distributors worldwide. Our current crystallizeddgum nitrate production capacity at Pedro de MWaddand
Maria Elena is approximately 770,000 metric tonsymar. A significant part of the sodium nitrateguced
at Maria Elena and Pedro de Valdivia is used ingragluction of potassium nitrate at Coya Sur, sodiu
potassium nitrate at Maria Elena and a highly egfimdustrial grade sodium nitrate at Coya Sur.

Potassium Nitrate

Potassium nitrate is produced at our Coya Suritiadilsing production methods developed by us. The
solutions from the leaching of the fine fractionté ore, once the iodine is extracted, is pumpettié Coya
Sur plant. These solutions loaded with nitratecamgcentrated in solar evaporation ponds. Oncadaquate
level of concentration is reached, the solutiorcasnbined with potassium chloride to produce potessi
nitrate and discard sodium chloride. The resultie potassium nitrate in solution is crystallizesing a
cooling and centrifuging process. The crystallipedassium nitrate is either processed furtherramyrce
prilled potassium nitrate or used for the producttad sodium potassium nitrate. The weak solutibrihe
process is re-used for further production of patessiitrate. A portion of the potassium nitrataugsed in the
production of a high purity technical grade potasshitrate.

As explained in Item 4.A. History and Developmefittte Company - Capital Expenditure Program, the
operation of our potassium nitrate plant in Yumisdsalted. We are currently planning to relocate phant to
Coya Sur.

Concentrated nitrate salts are produced at Pamgrac8lby leaching caliche ore in leach pads fronchviie
extract rich iodine and nitrate solutions that seat to iodine plants for iodine extraction. Aftedine has
been extracted, the solutions are sent to solgroeation ponds where solutions are evaporated, eviieh
nitrate salt is produced. These concentratedtaigalts are sent to Coya Sur or other of ourpaltessing
facilities where they are leached and the resulticlg nitrate solution is used in the productionpotassium
nitrate.

Our current potassium nitrate production capacttfCaya Sur is more than 650,000 metric tons per,yea
including 260,000 metric tons per year of techngralde potassium nitrate. We expect by the end6¥ 20
increase that capacity by approximately 250,00Gim&ns per year.

Crystallized or prilled potassium nitrate produetdCoya Sur and Maria Elena is transported to Tidadpr
shipping to customers and distributors worldwide.

Sodium Potassium Nitrate

Sodium potassium nitrate is a mixture of approxetyatwo parts sodium nitrate per one part potassium
nitrate. We produce sodium potassium nitrate at Maria Elena facilities using standard, non-paent
production methods developed by us. Crystallizediisn nitrate is mixed with the crystallized poiass
nitrate to make sodium potassium nitrate, whictthisn prilled. The prilled sodium potassium nitrée
transported to Tocopilla for bulk shipment to castos.

The production process for sodium potassium nitietbasically the same as that for sodium nitratd a
potassium nitrate.

Our aggregate current production capacity is 1@ metric tons per year. With certain productiestraints
and following market conditions we may supply sodinitrate, potassium nitrate or sodium potassiunatei
either in prilled or crystallized form.
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Sodium Sulfate

Although we have the capability to produce sodiwtfiage at our facility in Coya Sur, we are not euntty
doing so, due to a current company decision tarifide the production of nitrates over sodium stdfaVe are
currently importing product from third parties tatisfy our customers’ needs. When our plant isradpction,
we extract crystallized sodium sulfate decahyd(@tauber salt) from the leaching solutions after ibdine
production process at Pedro de Valdivia and Makéad& The salt is transported to Coya Sur, wheresicts
with sodium chloride salt harvested from the s@waporation ponds to produce anhydrous sodiumtsulfa
The sodium sulfate is shipped in 1 metric tons ivag$ directly to customers and distributors in €hiThe
remaining solution is recycled back to the solaparation pond system.

lodine and lodine Derivatives

We produce iodine at our Pedro de Valdivia, Nuewetdvia and Iris production facilities, extractiiitgfrom
the solutions resulting from the leaching of cadiare at the Pedro de Valdivia, Maria Elena, NUéetoria,
Iris and Pampa Blanca facilities. As in the caspitwate, the process of extracting iodine frora tialiche ore
is well established, but variations in the iodined eother chemical contents of the treated ore ahdro
operational parameters require a high level of kihow to manage the process effectively and efftbjen

The solutions from the leaching of caliche will garodine in iodate form. Part of the iodate inuion is
reduced to iodide using sulfur dioxide, which isguced by burning sulfur. The resulting iodidedsnbined
with the rest of untreated iodate solution to re¢ealemental iodine. The solid iodine is themetithrough a
smelting process and prilled. We have obtainedntatin Chile and in the United States for ournedbrilling
process.

Prilled iodine is tested for quality control purpssthen packed in 20 or 50 kilogram drums, 350gkdm or
700 kilogram maxibags and transported by truck mbofagasta or Iquique for export. Our iodine aodine
derivative production plants have qualified under ISO-9002 program, providing third-party cerifion of
the quality management system and internationditguantrol standards that we have implemented.

Our total iodine production in 2005 was approxiraté7 thousand metric tons: approximately 2.6 gz
metric tons from Pedro de Valdivia, 1.4 thousandriméons from Maria Elena, 1.5 thousand metricstimom
Pampa Blanca and 2,2 thousand metric tons fronvé\Meéctoria. The Nueva Victoria facility is alssed for
tolling iodine delivered from Pampa Blanca and MdEiena. We have the flexibility to adjust ourguotion
according to market conditions.

We also produce iodine at our recently acquiredlifipan Iris, adjacent to Nueva Victoria. The &bt
production capacity at this facility is slightlygher than 2.0 thousand metric tons per year.

As we had anticipated, the various projects orntesignificantly increase our iodine producticapacity,
together with the recent DSM iodine business adiuis have allowed us to have, from the secondtquaf
2006 onwards, an aggregate production capacityehitftan 11,400 metric tons per year, which is highan
our expected sales for 2006. This will allow ud&ve the capability to respond to sudden changdsmand
and the expected future demand growth. Consist#ghtSQM strategy, during the first half of 2006 Wwave
been using our facilities at maximum capacity idesrto recover our operational inventories, whiek been
reduced in the past two years. During the secatigl inowever, we expect to reduce our productidasrdo
levels more in line with our expected sales, legnapproximately 2,000 metric tons per year on standWe
are currently evaluating different alternativescéwry out this reduction in our production facdgilocated in
the first Region.

We use a portion of the produced iodine to manufacinorganic iodine derivatives, which are intediage
products used for manufacturing agricultural anttitional applications, at facilities located neBantiago,
Chile, and also produce inorganic and organic dierivative products together with Ajay North Ainar
L.L.C., "Ajay," a U.S.-based Company that purchasedime from us. We had in the past primarily netek
our iodine derivative products in South Americaried and Asia, while Ajay and its affiliates hadnparily
sold their iodine derivative products in North Amcarand Europe.
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Atacama Salar Brine Deposits

The Atacama Salar, located approximately 250 kilenseeast of Antofagasta, is a salt-encrusted dsjore
within the Atacama Desert, within which lies an ergtound deposit of brines contained in porouswsudi
chloride rock fed by an underground inflow of wafiemm the Andes Mountains. The brines are estithade
cover a surface of approximately 2,900 square lékens and contain commercially exploitable depaosits
potassium, lithium, sulfates and boron. Conceiginatvary at different locations throughout theasaOur
production rights to the Atacama Salar are purst@ar contract with the Chilean government, exgirin
2030.

Brines are pumped from depths between 1.5 and @8rsnbelow surface, through a field of wells theg a
located in areas of the salar that contain reltikiigh concentrations of potassium, lithium, stéfeboron and
other minerals.

We process these brines to produce potassium dgjolithium carbonate, lithium hydroxide, potassium
sulfate, boric acid and bischofite (magnesium dt&)c

Potassium Chloride

We use potassium chloride in the production of g&itan nitrate. Production of our own supplies dabpsium
chloride provide us with substantial raw materidtcsavings.

In order to produce potassium chloride, brines ftbemAtacama Salar are pumped to solar evaporptods.
Evaporation of the brines results in a complex talimed mixture of salts of potassium chloride aodium
chloride, of which one portion is harvested andestoand the other portion of which is reprocessatl the
remaining salts are transferred by truck to a psiog facility where the potassium chloride is safzl by a
grinding, flotation, and filtering process. Potass chloride is sent approximately 300 kilometer®tr Coya
Sur facilities via a dedicated dual transport ays(eail/truck), where it is used in the productioinpotassium
nitrate. We sell potassium chloride produced atAtacama Salar and in excess of our needs to phairties.
Our production facilities currently have a prodanticapacity up to 650,000 metric tons per year.tuélc
capacity will depend on volumes and quality of tiaeing resources pumped from the Salar.

The by-products of the potassium chloride producfioocess are (i) brines remaining after removathef
potassium chloride, which are used to produceulthcarbonate as described below, and the excessrof
needs is reinjected into the Atacama Salar, (iiljisn chloride, which is identical to the surfacetenal of the
Atacama Salar and is deposited at sites near touption facility, and (iii) other salts containimgagnesium
chloride.

Lithium Carbonate

A portion of the brines remaining after the produretof potassium chloride is sent to additionalasol
concentration ponds adjacent to the potassiumidel@roduction facility. Following additional evagation,
the remaining lithium chloride concentrated solatie transported by truck to a production facilibzated
near Antofagasta, approximately 250 kilometers frilie Atacama Salar. At the production facilitye th
solution is purified and treated with sodium cardtento produce lithium carbonate, which is drieenthif
necessary, compacted and finally packaged for gmpmOur lithium carbonate facility production eajty is
approximately 28,000 metric tons per year. A projsccurrently under way to increase our production
capacity to 40,000 metric tons per year and wilcbmpleted by 2008. Future production will dependhe
actual volumes and quality of the lithium solutiaent by the Salar Operations.

Lithium Hydroxide

By the end of 2005 we completed the constructiom girocessing facility for producing lithium hydid&
monohydrate. This facility, with a capacity of 600fnetric tons per year, is located at Salar delhn@ar
adjacent to our existing lithium carbonate operetioRaw material for this operation is lithium cambte
which is reacted with a lime solution to produdbilim hydroxide brine and calcium carbonate sdltictv is
filtered and piled in reservoirs. The brine is ewaped in a multiple effect evaporator and crysadl to
produce the lithium hydroxide monohydrate whiclried and packaged for dispatch to customers.
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Potassium Sulfate and Boric Acid

Approximately 12 kilometers northeast of the patasschloride facilities at the Atacama Salar, wedurce
potassium sulfate and boric acid from the salamdsi The plant stands on an area of the salarewtigher
sulfate and potassium concentrations are foundhénbtine. Brines are pumped to pre-concentrat@ar s
evaporation ponds where waste sodium chloride aedtsemoved by precipitation. After further evigtion,
the sulfate and potassium salts are harvestedaridar treatment at the potassium sulfate pldfdtassium
sulfate is produced using a flotation, concentratiod reaction processes, after which it is criyatal, dried
and packaged for shipment. Boric acid is produgecdcrystallized form by acidulation of the final
concentrated brines, dried and packaged for shipatehe same facility.

The principal by-products of the production of psiam sulfate are (i) hon-commercial sodium chirid
which is deposited at sites near the productioilitigcand (ii) remaining solutions, which are rgated into
the Atacama Salar or returned to the evaporationdgpo The principal by-products of the boric acid
production process are remaining solutions thatr afeatment with sodium carbonate to neutralizéitgc are
reinjected into the Atacama Salar.

Specialty Plant Nutrition

We believe we are the world's largest producersotdssium nitrate. We also produce the followipgcsalty
plant nutrients: sodium nitrate, potassium nitra@gdium potassium nitrate, potassium sulfate, ahtuoron
(ulexite), urea phosphate (since 2005) and spgcid#nds (containing various combinations of nigng
phosphate and potassium and generally known as '"Déts"). These specialty plant nutrients haexisip
characteristics that increase productivity and sobaquality when used on certain crops and soils.
Additionally, these plant nutrients are well suifed high-yield agricultural techniques such as topinics,
fertigation, greenhousing and foliar applicatiortdigh value crop farmers are promted to investgacilty
plant nutrients due to their technical advantagesr commodity fertilizers (such as urea and paiass
chloride), which in turn translate into productsiamops with higher yields and added quality. Gpecialty
plant nutrients have significant advantages fortaberapplications over commodity based nitrogen and
potassium fertilizers, such as the before mentiamed and potassium chloride.

In particular, our specialty plant nutrients:

« are fully water soluble, allowing their use in hgdonics, fertigation, foliar applications and other
advanced agricultural techniques;

e are absorbed more rapidly by plants because thegotlaequire nitrification like ammonia based
fertilizers;

« are free of chlorine content, reducing the riskadrching roots;

» do not release hydrogen after application, avoidtiegeased soil acidity;

e possess trace elements, which promote diseastaresisn plants and have other beneficial effects;
* are more attractive to customers who prefer predofchatural origin; and

« are more efficient than commodity fertilizers besmauhey deliver more plant nutrients per unit of
nutrient applied.

In 2005, our revenues from specialty plant nutsewere approximately US$487.8 million, representing
approximately 54% of our total revenues for tharye
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Specialty Plant Nutrition: Market

The target market for our specialty plant nutrieaits high value crops such as fruits, vegetabled,caops
raised using modern agricultural techniques. Si%0, the international market for specialty plantrients
has grown at a faster rate than the internatiomaket for commodity-type fertilizers. This is migstiue to (i)
the application of new agricultural technologiegtswas fertigation and hydroponics and increasirg afs
greenhousing; (ii) the increase in the cost of lamdch has forced farmers to improve their yiel@s) the

scarcity of water; (iv) the increase of consumpiidrvegetables per capita, and (v) the increaserganhd for
higher quality crops.

Worldwide scarcity of water forces farmers to depehew agricultural techniques such as fertigattoat
minimize water requirements. These applicatiogsire fully water soluble plant nutrients.

Increasing land costs near urban centers also Sdameners to maximize their yields per surface area.
Specialty plant nutrients, when applied to certaiops, help to increase productivity for variouasens. In
particular, since our nitrate-based specialty plantrients provide nitrogen in nitric form, as oppd to
ammonium form provided by urea, they are absorbstef by the crop. Crops absorb nitrogen in nitim;
thus nitrogen in ammonium form has to be conveirtlnitric form in the soil first. This is not ammediate
process and releases hydrogen into the soil, isicrgaoil acidity, which in most cases is harmtukhe soil
and the crop. Nitric nitrogen application faciléa a more efficient application of nutrients te thlant,
thereby increasing the crop's yield and improvisgjuality.

Our potassium-based specialty plant nutrients blerioe free, unlike potassium chloride, which lig tmost
commonly used potassium-based commodity fertilizer.certain crops, chlorine has negative effestsich
translats into lower yield and quality.

The most important agricultural applications of isod nitrate, potassium nitrate, potassium sulfate a
sodium potassium nitrate plant nutrients are: d¢obacoffee, vegetables, fruits, horticulture, sugget, cotton
and other high value crops.

Specialty Plant Nutrition: Our Products

Potassium nitrate, sodium potassium nitrate andiaipe blends are higher-margin products derivesir or
consisting of, sodium nitrate, all of which are gwoed in crystallized or prilled form. Specialtiefds are
produced using our own specialty plant nutrientd ather components at blending plants operatedhby t
Company or its affiliates and related companie<hile, USA, Mexico, United Arab Emirates, Belgium,
Holland, South Africa, Turkey and Egypt.

During 2005, SQM acquired Kemira Emirates Fertiiz€ompany (Kefco), a United Arab Emirates-based
producer of water soluble urea phosphate fertilizer

The following table shows our sales volume of splgciplant nutrient fertilizer products and the eaues
during the 2001-2005 period.

Sales Volume 2005 2004(3) 2003 2002 2001
(in metric tons)

Sodium nitrate 63,300 58,900 62,500 59,500 63,100
Potassium nitrate and sodium 690,200 707,600 696,500 558,600 544,800
potassium nitrate(1)
Potassium Sulfate 178,600 157,700 143,200 161,000 56,600
Blended and other specialty 350,700 374,400 377,100 276,600 241,800
plant nutrients(2)
Revenues (in US$ millions) 487.8 426.8 362.8 281.4 259.1

(1) Includes re-sales of potassium nitrate purah&®en PCS Yumbes.

2) Includes blended and other specialty plantients. It also includes Yara's products sold pamsuo our commercial

agreement.
3) 2004 figures have been restated to reflectciassification affecting specialty plant nutrienB&oducts that used to be

included under SPN were relocated to reflect timgiustrial status.
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Specialty Plant Nutrition: Marketing and Customers

In 2005, we sold our specialty plant nutrients torenthan 100 countries. During the same year,
approximately 91% of the Company's specialty phartients sales in 2005 was exported: approxim&es
was sold to customers in Central and South Ame#i2éo to customers in North America, 20% to cust@mer
in Europe and 20% to customers in other regionsthdt considering any sales to related partiessingle
customer represented more than 3% of SQM's speqkiht nutrients sales during 2005, and our 1Qésir
customers accounted in the aggregate for approgiyn24% of sales during that period.

Sales Breakdown 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Central and South America 29% 29% 26% 30% 24%
North America 22% 22% 18% 17% 18%
Europe 20% 19% 20% 15% 14%
Others 20% 20% 27% 27% 31%
Chile 9% 10% 9% 11% 13%

We sell our specialty plant nutrition products ddegsChile mainly through our own worldwide netwask
representative offices and through our sales, teahsupport and distribution affiliates.

In November 2001 we signed an agreement with Yararnational ASA (“Yara”, ex Norsk Hydro ASA).
This agreement allows us to make use of Yara'sibiigton network in countries where its presencd an
commercial infrastructure are larger than ourdnil&rly, in those markets where our presencengdg both
our specialty plant nutrients and Yara Internatioh8A's are marketed through our offices. Bothtipar
however, maintain an active control in the marlgtif their own products.

We also signed a joint venture agreement (JVA) Wwidina and Israel Chemicals Limited at the end @120
Under this JVA, SQM, Yara, and Israel Chemicals itéh are developing the liquid and soluble plarttieat
blends business through their participation in &ge company called NU3 N.V. (“NU3"), to which SQM
and Israel Chemicals Limited contributed their bieg facility in Belgium, and Yara International AS
contributed its blending facility in Holland. Witkthis JVA, important synergies have been achieved,
particularly in production costs, administrationdathe marketing of soluble blends, strengthening th
development of new products and improving custuseevices.

We maintain stocks of our specialty plant nutrientthe main markets of the Americas, Europe, Midghst
and Africa, in order to facilitate prompt delivesieo customers. In addition, we sell specialtynplautrients
directly to some of our large customers. Salesnaade pursuant to spot purchase orders and shiort-te
contracts.

In connection with our marketing efforts, we pravitbchnical and agronomical assistance and supporir
customers. By working closely with our customevs, are able to identify new higher value added petsl
and markets. Our specialty plant nutrition produate used on a wide variety of crops, particulaigher
value-added crops that allow our customers to asgegield and command a premium price.

Our customers are located in the northern and southemispheres. Consequently, there are no ®@ateri
seasonal or cyclical factors that can materialfgafthe sales of our specialty plant nutrient picis.

Specialty Plant Nutrition: Fertilizer Sales in Cha

We market specialty plants nutrients in Chile tigtmiBoquimich Comercial S.A. which sells these pectsiu
either alone or in blends with other imported prdduy mainly urea, triple super phosphate (TSP) and
diammonium phosphate (DAP). Soquimich Comerciié smported fertilizers to farmers in Chile mairfigr
application in the production of sugar beets, deréadustrial crops, potatoes, grapes and othétsfr Most of

the fertilizers that Soquimich Comercial importge @urchased on a spot basis from different coumninighe
world.

We believe that all contracts and agreements betgeuimich Comercial and third party suppliersthwi
respect to imported fertilizers, contain standard eaustomary commercial terms and conditions. muthe
preceding ten years, Soquimich Comercial has espesd no material difficulties in obtaining adeguat
supplies of such fertilizers at satisfactory pricasd we expect continuing to do so in the future.

23



We estimated that Soquimich Comercial's joint salegertilizers represented approximately 35% dftlto
fertilizer sales in Chile during 2005, of which simgle customer represented more than 3% of tetéliZer
sales revenues, and of which the 10 largest custoiméotal represented less than 12% of revenues.

Revenues generated by Soquimich Comercial andifisidiary Comercial Hydro S.A. — formerly known as
Norsk Hydro Chile S.A. — represented 16.04% of @empany's 2005 consolidated revenues. Soquimich
Comercial's consolidated revenues were approxign&t&i$144 million, US$140 million and US$121 million
in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In 2003, Soquimich Comercial acquired Norsk Hydtal€ S.A., a Chilean subsidiary of Yara Internasibn
ASA. Due to the similar nature of Norsk Hydro @8.A.’'s commercial operations compared to thoggech
out by Soquimich Comercial, this acquisition allalxtbe latter to improve its fertilizer distributidousiness in
Chile. Soquimich Comercial will continue with tlléstribution of fertilizers produced by Yara Intational
ASA and its affiliates in Chile.

Specialty Plant Nutrition: Competition

We believe we are the world's largest producerodfsn and potassium nitrate for agricultural u&C.M.
Virginia, a Chilean nitrate and iodine companym#iely controlled by Inverraz S.A., produces sodnitrate
as raw material for potassium nitrate. S.C.M. Wilgis currently producing small amounts of sodinitnate
for agricultural use. Our sodium nitrate productsmpete indirectly with specialty and commoditydyp
substitutes, which may be used by some customsiesaith of sodium nitrate depending on the type iblasal
crop to which the product will be applied. Sucbstitute products include calcium nitrate, ammonhitrate
and calcium ammonium nitrate.

In the potassium nitrate market we have one siganiti competitor: Trans Resources International, huith
its subsidiary Haifa Chemicals Ltd. in Israel. \&&imate that sales of potassium nitrate by TraesoRces
International and Haifa Chemicals accounted foraximately 37% of total world sales during the y2a05.
The principal means of competition in the sale ofapsium nitrate are product quality, customeriseyv
location, logistic and agronomic expertise andeoric

S.C.M. Virginia produces potassium nitrate fromated ore at a facility in northern Chile. We bebehat we
have certain advantages over S.C.M. Virginia dyeatoong other factors, our greater experience ti¢h
processing of caliche ore, our proven processessite and nature of our caliche ore reservesexpgrience
in marketing fertilizers, our efficient and provkgistics and our own production of potassium ddeiin the
north of Chile, which is an essential raw matdrighe production of potassium nitrate.

ACF, another Chilean producer, mainly orientedadine production, begun production of potassiurmatet
during 2005. We believe that ACF production willlbever than S.C.M. Virginia.

Kemira, a Finnish producer, produces and sellssgaien nitrate jointly with Arab Potash through the
company Kemapco in Jordan.

In December 2004, we acquired the potassium nitaaibties of Potash Corp. in Chile.

In the potassium sulfate market, we have sevenmapetitors of which the most important are Kali udalz
GmbH (Germany), Tessenderlo Chemie (Belgium) anghGBalt Lake Minerals Corp. (United States). We
believe that those three producers account for jarityaof the world production of potassium sulfat&ve
estimate that once we reach full production of gsitam sulfate, we will account for approximately 6%4otal
world sales.

Through a partially owned facility, NU3, we alsooguce soluble and liquid fertilizers using our gstam
nitrate as a raw material. Through this actiwtg, have acquired production technology and margetimow-
how, which we believe will be useful for sellingroproducts to greenhouse growers and for use irainer
high-technology processes such as fertigation gddoponics.

We believe we are the largest Chilean producer utit kpecialty blends. In Chile, our products mginl
compete with imported fertilizer blends that uskican ammonium nitrate or potassium magnesium wilfa
Our specialty plant nutrients also compete indiyeatith lower-priced synthetic commodity-type fdiders
such as ammonia and urea, which are produced by praducers in a highly price-competitive mark&ur
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products compete on the basis of advantages tHat tham more suitable for certain applicationsescdbed
above.

lodine

We believe we are the world's largest producerodfnie. In 2005, our revenues from iodine and iedin
derivatives amounted to approximately US$149.1 ioml representing approximately 17% of our total
revenues in that year. We estimate that our salesunted for approximately 30% of world iodineesaby
volume in 2005. In January 2006, we acquired tlona business of DSM, which represented approxigate
8% of worldwide iodine production in 2005.

lodine: Market

lodine and iodine derivatives are used in a widegeaof medical, agricultural and industrial apgimas as
well as in human and animal nutrition productsdihe and iodine derivatives are used as a raw rakganr
catalysts in the formulation of products, such aaycontrast media, biocides, antiseptics anchfdistants,
pharmaceutical intermediates, polarizing films fdguid Crystal Displays (LCD), chemicals, herbicige
organic compounds, pigment and ink dyes. lodinadded in the form of potassium iodate or potassium
iodide to edible salt to prevent iodine deficienlisorders.

lodine: Our Products

We produce iodine and, through a joint venture Wiflty, organic and inorganic iodine derivativeshrdugh
our joint venture with Ajay, we are also activelgriicipating in the iodine recycling business usioginated
side-streams from a variety of chemical process&sirope and the United States.

Ajay-SQM Group (ASG) was formed in mid 1990s, a@iat venture between SQM and Ajay Chemical, a
U.S.-based company. ASG has currently productiamtp in USA, Chile and France and is the world's
leading inorganic and organic iodine derivativesdoicer. In 2005, approximately 29% of SQM's iodiates
were made to ASG.

Consistent with our business strategy, we are aatigtworking on the development of new applicagidor

our iodine-based products, pursuing a continuingaagion of our businesses and maintaining our rharke
leadership. In January 2006 SQM acquired the iodime iodine derivatives business of DSM Group. The
transaction included DSM’s iodine and iodine detiixes facilities located in the first region of i&hand the
mining reserves located in the first and secon@bregf Chile. Additionally, SQM acquired DSM'’s it and
iodine derivatives commercial operation in Europee agreement involved a base payment of US$ Aibmil
plus all the cash, accounts receivable and finatlyet inventories minus total liabilities. With aoguction
capacity higher than 2.0 th. metric tons, DSMcheal an 8% global market share in 2005.

We manufacture our iodine and iodine derivativeadnordance with international quality standards laawve
qualified our iodine facilities and production pesses under the 1SO-9001:2000 program, providiirg th
party certification of the quality management sgst@nd international quality control standards thathave
implemented.

The following table sets forth our total sales amgenues from iodine and iodine derivatives in2861-2005
period:

Sales Volume

(in metric tons) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
lodine and iodine derivatives 8,100 7,700 6,600 06,4 5,600
Revenues (in US$ millions) 149.1 110.5 684. 84.1 81.4
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lodine: Marketing and Customers

In 2005, we sold our iodine products to more th@@ Bustomers in more than 80 countries. Duringstirae
year, most of our iodine production was exportggairaximately 30% was sold to customers in Euroge¥a

to customers in North America, 13% to customer&entral and South America and 20% to customers in
Asia, Oceania and other regions. Not consideraigssto related parties, no single customer acedufar
more than 10% of the Company's iodine sales in 2@®86l our ten largest customers accounted in the
aggregate for approximately 44% of sales.

Sales Breakdown 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Europe 30% 27% 34% 36% 37%
North America 37% 38% 40% 41% 45%
Central and South America 13% 13% 6% 13% 9%
Others 20% 22% 20% 10% 9%

We sell iodine through our own worldwide networkrepresentative offices and through our sales, atipp
and distribution affiliates. We maintain stocksiofline at our facilities throughout the world tacilitate
prompt delivery to customers. lodine sales areenadsuant to spot purchase orders and short, mealial
long-term contracts. Long-term contracts generapecify annual minimum and maximum purchase
commitments, and prices which vary according tovaiteng market prices and in some cases with prages.

lodine: Competition
SQM and several producers in Chile, Japan and 8% &ie the world's main iodine producers.

Japanese producers extract iodine from undergrduimes, which are mainly obtained together with the
extraction of natural gas. Several Japanese peosliave also recycling facilities where they recdedine
and iodine derivatives from iodine waste streams.

We estimate that eight Japanese iodine produceuated for approximately 31% of world iodine sales
the year 2005. We estimate that the largest Japampeoducer, Ise Chemicals Ltd., accounted for
approximately 9% of such world's iodine sales.

We estimate that iodine producers in the UnitedeStéone of which is owned by Ise Chemicals) actamin
for approximately 6% of world iodine sales in theay 2005, while five Chilean companies, includir@\s
and DSM iodine business, accounted for approximei€Po of such sales (30% by SQM and 29% by the
other Chilean producers including DSM iodine bus#)e

The prices of our iodine and iodine derivative prctd are determined by world iodine prices, which a
subject to market conditions. World iodine prissy depending upon, among other things, the oslaliip
between supply and demand at any given time. Tpelg of iodine varies principally depending updr t
production of the few major iodine producers (imthg us) and their respective business strateghks.a
result of a steady growing demand, iodine pricegehaeen increasing since the end of 2003. Whileepri
were around US$13 per kilogram in 2003, they redicire average of approximately US$19 per kilogram in
2005.

Demand for iodine varies depending upon overaklewf economic activity and the level of demandhie
medical, pharmaceutical, industrial and other ssctioat are the main users of iodine and iodinévatve
products. Prices for iodine and iodine derivapveducts in the future are expected to be infludrmesimilar
supply and demand factors and the business seate§imajor producers, some of whom either haveaar
acquire additional production capacity.

The main factors of competition in the sale of maliand iodine derivative products are reliabiliyice,
quality, customer services and the price and avilitha of substitutes. We believe we have compait
advantages compared to other producers due toizbeos our mining reserves, the installed capaeityl
relatively lower production costs (as most parboff iodine is produced as part of a process fogrgthoducts
-mainly sodium nitrate and potassium nitrate fori@gdtural and industrial purposes). We believe imdine
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is competitive with that produced by other manufests in certain advanced industrial processes. alste

believe we have benefited competitively from thegiderm relationship we have established with angdr

customers. While there are substitutes for iodvelable for certain applications, such as cotppnocesses
and for use as antiseptics and disinfectants, taereno cost-effective substitutes currently awdéldor the

main nutritional, pharmaceutical, animal feed, amain chemical uses of iodine, which together actdomn

most iodine sales.

Lithium

We believe we are the world's largest produceitlufim carbonate and one of the world’s largestipoers of
lithium hydroxide. In 2005, our revenues from lithi sales amounted to approximately US$81.4 million,
representing approximately 9% of our total revenud& estimate that our sales accounted for apmaely
36% of world's lithium units used in productionlitfium chemicals. Lithium is also available in tf@m of
lithium minerals. However, there is virtually noeslapping among the markets demanding lithium nailser
and lithium chemicals.

Lithium: Market

Lithium carbonate is used in a variety of applicasi, including batteries, frits for the ceramic awhmel
industries, heat resistant glass (ceramic glas&nhapy aluminum, air conditioning chemicals, contis
casting powder for steel extrusion, pharmaceuticaisl lithium derivatives. Lithium hydroxide isimparily
used as a raw material in the lubricating greaskisty, as well as in the dyes and battery indesstri
Butyllithium is used as a catalyst in the synthaticsber and pharmaceutical industries.

Lithium: Our Products

We produce lithium carbonate at the Salar del Carfaeilities, near Antofagasta, Chile, from solasowith
high concentrations of lithium coming from the psstiam chloride production at the Atacama Salar.e Th
technologies we use, together with the high comaganhs of lithium we obtain from the Atacama Sakdlow

us to be one of the lowest cost producers worldwide

SQM used to produce lithium hydroxide through tajlioperations in the United States and RussianQuhe
second half of 2005, we began to produce it atlithium hydroxide facility, at the Salar del Carmeext to
our lithium carbonate facility in Antofagasta. Tliteium hydroxide facility has a production capgaitf 6,000
TM/per year and is one of the largest plants inibed.

SQM produces butyl lithium in its own plant located Pasadena, Texas. Curreently, this product id so
principally in the U.S. market. Shipments to ovassmarkets started during the second quarter &.200

The following table sets forth our total sales agdenues from lithium carbonate and derivativeh@2001-
2005 period:

Sales Volume 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

(in metric tons)

Lithium carbonate and 27,800 31,200* 27,400 22,300 21,700
derivatives

Revenues (in US$ millions) 81.4 62.6 49.7 37.3 37.0

* 2004 volumes have been restated to reflect agsification from lithium brines to lithium carbate. Revenues were not affected
by this change.

Lithium: Marketing and Customers

In 2005, we sold our lithium products to approxiemat240 customers in approximately 40 countries.
Virtually all of our lithium products were sold ageas: approximately 33% to customers in Europ& &b
customers in North America, 31% to customers iref@id Oceania and 11% to customers in other regions
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No single customer accounted for more than 11%hef €ompany's sales in 2005, and our ten largest
customers accounted in the aggregate for approgiyna®% of sales.

Sales Breakdown 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Europe 33% 32% 31% 40% 31%
North America 25% 26% 29% 37% 43%
Asia and Oceania 31% 37% 37% 21% 25%
Others 11% 5% 3% 2% 1%

Lithium: Competition

Our main competitors in the lithium carbonate aitdidm hydroxide businesses are Chemetall GmbH
(“Chemetall”, subsidiary of Rockwood SpecialtiesoGp Inc.) and FMC Corporation (“FMC”). We estimate
that they together sold approximately 49% of lithiin the lithium chemicals market (excluding lithiu
minerals) in 2005. Chemetall produces lithium cadie in its operations located in Chile (Sociedaidefa

del Litio Limitada) and Nevada, USA. Its productiohdownstream lithium products is mostly perfornied
the United States, Germany and Taiwan. FMC hasugtamh facilities in Argentina (Minera del Altipla,
where they produce lithium chloride and lithium lmamate. Production of its downstream lithium prddus
mostly performed in the United States and the dritegdom.

Additionally lithium carbonate is being producedGhina and we believe this production will increas¢he
near future.

We estimate that world-wide sales of lithium cheafscexpressed as lithium carbonate equivalent exa
lithium minerals) amounted to approximately 75,08€tric tons in 2005.

Industrial Chemicals

In addition to producing sodium nitrate for agricuél applications, we produce three grades ofisndiitrate
for industrial applications: industrial, refineddatechnical grades. The three grades differ mamlgurity.
Our industrial grades of potassium nitrate alsfedifrom agricultural grade potassium nitrate gdegree of
purity. We enjoy certain operational flexibility hen producing industrial sodium nitrate becauseés it
produced from the same process as its equivalemtuétgral grade, needing only an additional stdp o
purification. We may, with certain constraintsjfisproduction from one grade to the other depegdim
market conditions. This flexibility allows us toaximize yields as well as to reduce commercial. ri$k
addition to producing industrial nitrates, we proéuoric acid. Boric acid is a by-product of theduction of
potassium sulfate. In 2005, our revenues from strial chemicals were approximately US$73.9 million
representing approximately 8% of our total reverfoeshat year.

Industrial Chemicals: Market

Industrial sodium nitrate and potassium nitratewsed in a wide range of industrial applications|uding the
production of glass, ceramics, explosives and d=rbriquettes and various chemical processes astdl m
treatments. Boric acid is mainly used in the glassamics, fiberglass, enamels and as a raw miaiterihe
fabrication of LCDs.

We estimate that our sales of industrial sodiumatet (excluding production in China and India, vwhis
consumed internally) and potassium nitrate in 280&unted for 62%, and 30%, respectively, of vweide
sales in that period.

Industrial Chemicals: Our Products

We produce technical potassium nitrate and thradegr of industrial sodium nitrate in crystallizexl gorilled
form. We market our refined grade sodium nitratder the brand name "Niterox." We produce borid &t
crystalline form.

The following table sets forth our sales volumesnalustrial chemicals and total revenues in thel22005
period:
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Sales Volume 2005 2004(1) 2003 2002 2001
(in metric tons)

Industrial nitrates 176,300 192,800 193,200 187,300 186,999
Sodium Sulfate 25,300 29,900 54,200 63,200 66,742
Boric Acid 6,300 6,120 10,700 11,300 12,822
Revenues (in US$ millions) 74.0 73.1 73.7 70.8 69.6

(1) 2004 figures have been restated to reflectlassification affecting Industrial nitrates. Pratiuthat used to be included under
SPN were relocated to reflect their industrialustat

Our aggregate current sodium nitrate productionaci#p is approximately 740,000 metric tons per year
(agricultural and industrial grades). Within certproduction constraints, we may use our productiapacity

to produce either agricultural or industrial sodinitrate. We have a plant capacity to produce @pprately
260,000 metric tons per year of technical potassiitrate and 10,000 metric tons per year of barid.a

Industrial Chemicals: Marketing and Customers

We sold our industrial nitrate products in approxiaty 50 countries in 2005. Approximately 42% aof o
sales of industrial chemicals were made to custsnmeNorth America, 28% to customers in Europe, 18%
customers in Central and South America and 13%us$tomers in Asia, Oceania and other regions. Nglesi
customer accounted for more than 7% of the Compasales of industrial chemicals in 2005, and oor te
largest customers accounted in the aggregate foorimately 37% of such sales.

Sales Breakdown 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
North America 42% 38% 39% 31% 37%
Europe 28% 23% 25% 17% 20%
Central and South America 17% 24% 12% 24% 27%
Others 13% 15% 24% 28% 16%

We sell our industrial chemical products mainlyotigh our own worldwide network of representativiiceb
and through our sales and distribution affiliaté¥e maintain inventories of our industrial sodiuitraie and
technical potassium nitrate products at our faedliin Europe, North America and South Americadbieve
prompt deliveries to customers. Industrial sodinitnate and technical potassium nitrate sales amdem
pursuant to spot purchase orders. Our ResearchDeandlopment department, together with our foreign
affiliates, provide technical support to our custosnand work with them to develop new products or
applications for our products.

Industrial Chemicals: Competition

We believe we are the world's largest producendtistrial sodium nitrate. We estimate that we antaxd for
approximately 62% of world production of industrsddium nitrate in 2005 (excluding China and Indi,
which reliable estimates are not available). Gampetitors are mainly in Europe and Asia. Theselpcers
together represent 38% of total production and predsodium nitrate as a by-product of other pradoct
processes. In the refined grade sodium nitrate&kehaBadische Anilin und Soda Fabrik AG (BASF), a
German corporation, and several producers in Jépariargest of which is Mitsubishi & Co. Ltd.),eahighly
competitive in the European and Asian markets. @dustrial sodium nitrate products also compete
indirectly with substitute chemicals, including 8od carbonate, sodium hydroxide, sodium sulfatégiwan
nitrate and ammonium nitrate, which may be usedeiriain applications instead of sodium nitrate anel
available from a large number of producers worldwid

Our main competitor in the technical potassiumatémarket is Haifa Chemicals Ltd., which we estérteas
a 30% market share. We estimate our market shajgeoximately 30% for 2005.

Producers compete in the market for industrial wodinitrate and technical potassium nitrate based on
reliability, product quality, price and customemagee. We believe that we are a low cost produaier
industrial sodium nitrate and are able to produgh huality products.
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Raw Materials

The principal raw material we require for the prciittn of nitrate, sulfate and iodine products icte ore,
which is obtained from surface mines. The prinkcipa material for the production of potassium clue,
lithium carbonate, potassium sulfate and boric &cttie brine extracted from the Atacama Salar.

We require water (for the leaching process and mmmirposes), sodium carbonate (soda ash, irutithi
carbonate production and for neutralization of medsolutions), anti-caking, sulfur (in iodine pratian),
ammonium nitrate (in the preparation of the anfattis used in explosives for mining operationsgsdl
(mainly in mining equipment), natural gas (in hgaheration and fusion processes) and electricidyieed
from electric utilities (to supply the power need<Pedro de Valdivia, Maria Elena, Coya Sur, PaBlpaca,
Nueva Victoria, Atacama Salar and the lithium cadie plant in Salar del Carmen). Our raw matedsks
(excluding caliche ore and salar brines) represkeapproximately 11.7% of our cost of sales in 2005.

Most of our raw materials, especially energy-relataw materials, have experienced significant price
increases in the last year.

The main sources of water for our nitrate, sulfatd iodine facilities at Pedro de Valdivia, Marikerta and
Coya Sur are the Loa and San Salvador rivers, whicear our production facilities. Water for ®tampa
Blanca, Nueva Victoria and Atacama Salar facilitesbtained from wells near the production faeiit We
have permits from the Chilean Water Authority tglexe for additional non-potable water and perrtotsise
granted water rights for an indefinite period afei (based on specified maximum volumes) withoutgda
In addition, we purchase potable water from loddlityy companies. We have not experienced sigaific
difficulties obtaining the necessary water to cartdwr operations.

In 1998 we entered into a long-term (fifteen yeactricity supply agreement with Norgener, a majo
Chilean electricity producer. During 1999, we eeteinto a long-term (ten years) electricity supgpdyeement
with Electroandina S.A., also a major Chilean eleity producer. Since April 2000, the Company baen
connected to the Sistema Interconectado del Noréadg, (SING), which is our current electricity pligr
and is the supplier for most cities and industfadilities in northern Chile. We are currently fyato
arbitration proceedings with Electroandina and dogg. For a discussion of risks related to eldttrgupply,
see Item 3. Key Information—Risk Factors.

In May 2001, we entered into a 10-year gas supphtract with Distrinor S.A., which we have estinthte
covers approximately 3,850,000 million Btu per yediis gas supply is sufficient to satisfy theuiegments
for the facilities that are connected to a gas kupplonetheless, we are currently facing importstmtrtages
in the supply of natural gas. For a discussiorrisis related to natural gas supply see Item 3.y Ke
Information—Risk Factors.

We obtain ammonium nitrate, sulfur and soda asin fseveral large suppliers, principally in Chile,n@da
and the United States, respectively, under longrteontracts or general agreements, some of whiokato
provisions for annual revisions of prices, quaaditand deliveries. Currently we acquire potassihtoride
from Sociedad Chilena del Litio Limitada, a locdlil@an supplier, pursuant to a contract that expine2009.
Diesel fuel is obtained under contracts terminaljen specified notice by either party and whichegalty
provide for sales of fuel at international markecgs.

We believe that all of the contracts and agreentestiseen SQM and third-party suppliers with respeatur
principal raw materials contain standard and cuatgraommercial terms and conditions.

Government Regulations

We are subject to the full range of government legns and supervision generally applicable to ganies
engaged in business in Chile, including labor lasaggial security laws, public health laws, consumer
protection laws, environmental laws, securitiesdaamd anti-trust laws. These include regulatiansrtsure
sanitary and safe conditions in manufacturing glant

We conduct our mining operations pursuant to expion concessions and exploitation concessionstepan
pursuant to applicable Chilean law. Exploitatimncessions essentially grant a perpetual rightotadact
mining operations in the areas covered by the amioes, provided that annual concession fees ade(\wih
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the exception of the Atacama Salar rights, whichehaeen leased to us until 2030). Exploration cssioas
permit us to explore for mineral resources on #rellcovered thereby for a specified period of tiavgd to
subsequently request a corresponding exploitatioeession.

We also hold water rights obtained from the Chileater regulatory authority for a supply of watesn

rivers or wells near our production facilities scifnt to meet our current and anticipated openalio
requirements. See Item 3. Key Information foriscalssion under "Risk Factors" of how changes inimgi

and water rights laws could affect our operatingt€o We operate port facilities at Tocopilla forpsnent of

products and delivery of certain raw materials pargé to maritime concessions, under applicablee@hil
laws, which are normally renewable on applicatiprgvided that such facilities are used as authdremed

annual concession fees are paid.

Under Law No. 16,319, the Company has an agreemithtthe Chilean Commission of Nuclear Energy (the
“CCHEN") regarding the exploitation and sale ofilitm from the Atacama Salar. The agreement setdyygaotas
for the tonnage of lithium authorized to be solddach year of the Atacama Salar, as determinedebgigreement.

The following recent changes in Chilean law areljiko affect our operations:

The Chilean Congress recently approved modificationthe Water Code. The changes to the Water @otlede

establishing annual fee payments for owners of mridats that do not use the water associated thigm. This fee
does not affect the holder’s right to use aquif@itse criteria used to determine what rights or whet of such
rights would be subject to this annual fee relatavhether the resource is consumed or re-injectedthe stream
after its use (defined as the water right’'s “congtive condition”), whether the use of the resourceporadic or
permanent (frequency of use) and the geograplocalibn of the intake points relative to an area/erall water

supply.

On May 18, 2005, the Chilean Congress approved Naw20,026, also known as the “Royalty Il Law,” whi
established a royalty to be applied to mining atitis developed in Chile, levied on mining companihose sales
are equal to or greater than the equivalent valu&2¢000 metric tons of fine copper (MFT), as deii@ed
according to the London Metal Exchange Grade A eomgash quotation. This new mining royalty, whicii \ve
applied from 2006 onwards, is levied on the “tagadgberating income” (as this term is defined in Uda: 20,026)
of the mining company, at a rate that varies froB%®up to 5% depending on the consolidated anrales s

There are currently no material legal or admintateaproceedings pending against the Company \e#pect to any
regulatory matter, except as discussed under “Bnmiental Regulations” below, and we believe thatane in
compliance in all material respects with all apglite statutory and administrative regulations wéspect to our
business.

Environmental Regulations

Our operations in Chile are subject to both nali@nd local regulations related to the environrsent
protection. The fundamental environmental laws imle€Care the Health Code and the Chilean Enviroraten
Framework Law.

The Chilean Environmental Framework Law createdN@®A, which is the governmental agency in
charge of supervising the due compliance with thiée@n Environmental Framework Law. Under the Girile
Environmental Framework Law, we are required todemt environmental impact studies of any future
projects or activities (or their significant modditions) that may affect the environment. CONAMAlerates
environmental impact studies submitted for its appl and also oversees the implementation of pimjdhe
Chilean Environmental Framework Law also enablégate citizens, public agencies or local authasitie
challenge projects that may affect the environmeitlher before these projects are executed or thegeare
already operating. Enforcement remedies availaidtude temporary or permanent closure of facilitesl
fines.
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Chilean environmental regulations have becomesasingly stringent in recent years, both in respect
of the approval of new projects and in connectidth whe implementation and development of projects
already approved. This trend is likely to continaled, furthermore, recently implemented environnienta
regulations in Chile have created uncertainty bgeaules and enforcement procedures for theseatéms
have not been fully developed. Given public interesenvironmental enforcement matters, these ediguils
may also be subject to political considerations #na beyond our control.

On August 10, 1993, the Ministry of Health pubéighn the Official Gazette a determination pursuant
to applicable air quality standard regulationsistpthat atmospheric particulate levels at our pobidn
facilities in Maria Elena and Pedro de Valdivia esated quality standards for breathable air affgctive
nearby towns. The high particulate matter levetsmincipally from dust produced during the prceieg of
caliche ore, particularly the crushing of the oefdbe leaching. Subsequently, residents of thentofsPedro
de Valdivia were relocated to the town of MariarEgepractically removing Pedro de Valdivia from duepe
of the determination of the Ministry of Health. @lan to reduce the atmospheric particulate levelsvb
permissible levels by July 2000 was approved, wéhain amendments, by Decree N°164/2000. Althaugh
followed the plan and reduced substantially theoafvheric particulate levels at our principal prdouc
facilities, as a result of the investments and @sees implemented, we were not able to fully comytly the
July 2000 timetable. Resolution N°384, publishedhie Official Gazette on May 16, 2000, initiatdub t
revision and reformulation of the plan. The newanplvas published by Decree N°37/2004 on March 2004,
and it demands to reduce 80% of the emissionstioospheric particulate material in two years. Vésigh a
new project that modifies the milling and screensygtems used in the processing of the calichabkéaria
Elena facilities, which should allow for the neaass reduction of particulate material emissions. An
environmental impact study for the project was @nésd to the Environment Commission and it was @apgat
through Resolution N°270 on October 2005. Uponingsthe approval for the environmental impact sfutig
Environmental Commission issued Decree N°53975¢chvhiuthorizes this project as the one through which
we will comply with the emission reductions askemt fn Decree N° 37/2004. The project is under
construction and its start up is scheduled fodthinarter 2006.

We continuously monitor the impact of our openagi@n the environment and have made, from time
to time, modifications to our facilities trying teliminate any adverse impact. Also, over time, new
environmental standards and regulations have beewcted, which have required minor adjustments or
modifications of our operations for full compliancg/e anticipate that additional laws and regufeiwill be
enacted over time with respect to environmentalter&t While we believe that we will continue to ibe
compliance with all applicable environmental regjolass of which we are now aware, there can be no
assurance that future legislative or regulatoryettgyments will not impose material restrictions ounr
operations. We are both committed to complyinchveil applicable environmental regulations and gipgl
an Environmental Management System (EMS) to coatisly improve our environmental performance.

We have submitted and will continue to submit savenvironmental impact assessment studies

related to our projects to the governmental autlesti We require the authorization of these subiois in
order to maintain and to increase our productigracay.
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4.C. Organizational Structure

All of our principal operating subsidiaries are exgally wholly-owned, except for Soquimich Comaelgi
which is 61% owned by SQM and whose shares amxliahd traded on the Chilean Stock Exchanges, and
Ajay SQM Chile S.A., which is 51% owned by SQM. eMollowing is a summary of our main subsidiaries a
of March 31, 2006. For a list of all our consolethtsubsidiaries see Note 2(a) to the ConsolidaieahEial
Statements

SQM Beneficial

Main subsidiaries Activity Country 9f Ownership
Incorporation Interest
(Direct/Indirect)
SQM Nitratos S.A. Extracts and sells Caliche ore to Chile 100%
subsidiaries and affiliates of SQM
SQM Industrial S.A. Produces and markets the Cogipan Chile 100%

products directly and through other
subsidiaries and affiliates of SQM

SQM Salar S.A. Exploits the Atacama Salar to preduc Chile 100%
and market the Company’s products
directly and through other subsidiaries
and affiliates of SQM

Minera Nueva Victoria Produces and markets the Company’s Chile 100%
S.A. products directly and through other
subsidiaries and affiliates of SQM
Servicios Integrales de | Owns and operates a rail transport Chile 100%
Transitos y system and also owns and operates the
Transferencias S.A. (SIT) Tocopilla port facilities
Soquimich Comercial Markets domestically the Company’s Chile 61%
S.A specialty plant nutrition products and
imports fertilizers for re-sale in Chile
Ajay-SQM Chile S.A. Produces and markets the Comsan Chile 51%
iodine and iodine derivatives
Sales and distribution Market the Company’s products Various

affiliates in the United throughout the world
States, Belgium, Brazil,
Venezuela, Ecuador,
Peru, Argentina, Mexico,
South Africa and other
locations.
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4.D. Property, Plants And Equipment

Discussion of our mining rights is organized belaacording to the geographic location of our mining
operations. SQM's mining interests located througlhe valley of the Tarapaca and Antofagasteoregof
northern Chile (el Norte Grande), referred to atilely as the "Caliche Ore Mines" are discussest.fi
Second are the company's mining interests wittenAttacama Desert in the eastern region of el Nerende
(the "Atacama Salar Brines") are then dicussed.

DESCRIPTION OF THE CALICHE ORE MINES

As of December 31 2005, we hold exploration rigtitexploitation rights to mineral resources repnésg
approximately 2,082,000 hectares. We have six snaowering an area of approximately 380,700 hestare
Of these six mines, four are being exploited and are without current operations. We have also #tdxin
applications for exploration and exploitation rigior more than 358,500 additional hectares. Adidily, at
the beginning of 2006 we incorporated the Iris naralescribed below.

Pedro de Valdivia

The mine and facilities that we operate at PedroVaédivia are located 170 kilometers northeast of
Antofagasta and are accessible by highway. Theslkties have been in operation for approxima@dyyears
and were previously owned and operated by Anglotdrau The area currently being mined is located
approximately 25 kilometers west of the Pedro dilivVea production facilities. Our mining faciliteeat Pedro
de Valdivia have a Weighted Average Age of appratety 9.1 years. Electricity, diesel and natuis,gand
fuel oil are the primary source power for this Giemn.

Maria Elena

The mine and facilities that we operate at Marianilare located 220 kilometers northeast of Anasfegand
are accessible by highway. These facilities hawenbin operation for approximately 81 years andewer
previously owned and operated by Anglo Lautaroe &tea currently being mined is located approxiipdié
kilometers north of the Maria Elena production lfaes. The power source utilized is mainly elatty,
diesel, natural gas and fuel oil. The WeightedrAge Age of the Company's mining facilities at Métiena

is approximately 11 years.

Pampa Blanca

We currently conduct caliche ore operations at RaBianca, which is located 100 kilometers northedst
Antofagasta and is accessible by highway. Beg@minl1987, the output from Pampa Blanca was derived
from old waste ore deposits. In 1997 we beganngimew caliche ore deposits at Pampa Blanca. 1©ne f
this mine is transported by truck to nearby heagheng pads where it is used to produce iodineraindte
salts. Various companies conducted mining operatet the site in the late 1920s. The Weighted dger
Age of the ore recovery facilities at Pampa Blaiscapproximately 11.5 years. The power sourcézatllis
mostly electricity, produced by diesel mobile gexers.

Nueva Victoria

At the end of 2002, we restarted our caliche orerajons at Nueva Victoria. This site is locate®D 1
kilometers north of Maria Elena and is accessilylehighway. Ore from Nueva Victoria is transporteyl
truck to heap leaching pads where it is then usegraduce iodine. The Weighted Average Age of the o
recovery facilities at Nueva Victoria is approxielgt 4.6 years. The power source utilized is mostly
electricity, obtained from the SING.

Mapocho—Inactive

The Mapocho mine is located 67 kilometers northefdguique in the First Region and is accessible b
highway. During its years of operation, Mapochwaned for caliche ore. Production started inGl88m
old waste deposits and then shifted to new calarkedeposits in 1997. The ore in Mapocho was tremsg
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by truck to heap leaching pads and then used wupmiodine. We shut down the plant and dismaritlad
1999. This mine represents a future extension @vidlictoria mining operations

Soronal—Stand By

We have proven and probable reserves at Soronathw located 35 kilometers to the north of Nueva
Victoria and is accessible by highway. This area hat been exploited yet, but represents a futaiension
of Nueva Victoria mining operations.

Iris

Formerly the mine used by DSM, it is not currentyoperation. This mine was in operation during fingt

half of 2006 and it is not expected to be in operatiuring the rest of the year. This area hasheen further
explored by us since its acquisition at the begigrdf 2006, therefore we have not carried out éimason of

proven or probable reserves. This mine represefuttige extension of Nueva Victoria mining operatipor a
continuity of operations of the Iris iodine opeoas.

Description of the Atacama Salar Brines

Atacama Salar Brines

We hold rights to exploit the mineral resourcesinarea covering approximately 196,000 hectardsnof in
the Atacama Salar in northern Chile, and have agpfor additional rights to exploit and explore
approximately 975 hectares and 141,000 hectarspecévely. The Weighted Average Age of our mining
facilities at Atacama Salar is approximately 7.anrge The main source of power used by the operagio
electricity.

Additional Mining Operations Leased in the Atacan®alar Region

SQM Salar S.A. holds exclusive rights to exploi tmineral resources in an area covering approxiynate
196,000 hectares of land in the Atacama Salar itham Chile. These rights include 147,000 hestdnat

are owned by Corfo and leased to SQM Salar S.Asyaunt to a lease agreement between Corfo and SQM
Salar S.A., (the Lease Agreement). Corfo may mdaterally amend the Lease Agreement and thegight
exploit the resources cannot be transferred. Hasé Agreement provides that SQM Salar S.A. iresble

for the maintenance of Corfo’s exploitation rightsd for annual payments to the Chilean governmedt a
expires on December 31, 2030. SQM Salar S.A. quired to make lease-royalty payments to Corfo
according to specified percentages of the valuprofluction of minerals extracted from the AtacanadaS
brines. In the years 2005, 2004 and 2003, roy@édtyments amounted to approximately US$ 6.8 million,
US$4.9 million and US$4.0 million, respectively.

In addition to the mining rights leased to SQM $&aA. described above, Corfo has exclusive mimights
covering a total area of approximately 58,000 aoicl hectares in the Atacama Salar. Under thagef the
Atacama Salar Project Agreement between Corfo @M Salar S.A., (the Project Agreement), Corfo has
agreed that it will not permit any other personetplore, exploit or mine any mineral resourceshase
58,000 hectares of the Atacama Salar. The Pragaement expires on December 31, 2030.

Concessions, Extraction Yields and Reserves for th@aliche Ore Mines and Salar Brines

Concessions Generally

Caliche ore We hold our mineral rights pursuant to one ob ttypes of exclusive concessions granted
pursuant to applicable law in Chile:

(1) "Exploitation Concessions" These are concessibereby we are legally entitled to use the landrider
to exploit the mineral resources contained themina perpetual basis subject to annual paymentheto
Chilean government; or
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(2) "Exploration Concessions" These are concesstereby we are legally entitled to use the landriter to
explore for mineral resources for a period of tweang, at the expiration of which the concession tmay
extended one time only for two additional yeatthd area covered by the concession is reducedlby ha

An Exploration Concession is generally obtaineddorposes of evaluating the mineral resources iaraa.
Generally, after the holder of the Exploration Gesgion has determined that the area contains &dgki
mineral resources, such holder will apply for arpléiation Concession for the area. Such appbcatiill
give the holder absolute priority with respect tets Exploitation Concession against third partidé.the
holder of the Exploration Concession determined tha area does not contain commercially exploiabl
mineral resources, the concession is usually atfoiwdapse, although it is our policy to conversiantially
all Exploration Concessions to Exploitation Conaass. An application also can be made for an Eiqtion
Concession without first having obtained an ExgloraConcession for the area involved.

Concessions for the Caliche Ore Mines and Salar s

Approximately 72% of our total mining concessioms held pursuant to Exploitation Concessions arfh 28
pursuant to Exploration Concessions, not includirgpas within the Atacama Salar Mines. Of the atqilon
concessions, approximately 84% have been alreadptayt pursuant to applicable Chilean law, and
approximately 16% are in the process of being @dnOf the exploration concessions, approximatél 9
have been already granted pursuant to applicablleadhlaw, and approximately 5% are in the proaass
being granted. Chile owns substantially all thefase land covering our Exploration and Exploitation
Concessions.

We made payments to the Chilean government for Bxploration and Exploitation Concessions of
approximately US$4,924 million in the year 2005.

The following table sets forth our exploitation aaploration concessions on December 31, 2005:

Exploitation Concessions Exploration Concessions
Total Total Total

Mines(*) number hectares number hectares number hectares
Pedro de Valdivia 698 93,252 15 619 713 93,871
Maria Elena 651 126,000 29 1,102 680 127,102
Pampa Blanca 513 96,908 5 340 518 97,248
Nueva Victoria 63 8,128 7 1,369 70 9,497
Mapocho 61 8,240 11 367 72 8,607
Soronal 311 42,605 18 1,824 329 44,429
Atacama Salar 133 197,708 487 141,000 620 338,708

Sub total mines 2,430 572,841 572 146,621 3,002 719,462
Other caliche areas 5,277 1,425,147 2,401 635,429 7,678 2,060,576
Salars and other areas 267 50,008 126 33,500 393 83,508

Sub total other areas 5,544 1,475,155 2,527 668,929 8,071 2,144,084

Total 7,974 2,047,996 3,099 815,550 11,073 2,863,546

(*)As Iris was acquired at the beginning of 200@, lnave not included its concessions

36



Extraction Yields
The following table sets forth certain operatingadalating to each of our mines (1):

(Values in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2005 2004 2003
Pedro de Valdivia
Metric tons of ore mined 12,362 12,029 11,583
Average grade Nitrate (% by weight) 7.2 7.2 6.9
lodine (parts per million (ppm)) 402 378 391
Metric tons of Crystallized Nitrate Produced 476 458 430
Metric tons of lodine Produced 2.6 2.3 2.0
Maria Elena (2)
Metric tons of ore mined 5,917 5,835 5,783
Average grade Nitrate (% by weight) 8.0 8.6 8.5
lodine (ppm) 428 485 468
Metric tons of Crystallized Nitrate Produced 479 480 440
Metric tons of lodine Produced (Eq. 97%) 14 15 14
Pampa Blanca
Metric tons of ore recovered 5,309 4,976 4,838
lodine (ppm) 520 560 560
Metric tons of lodine Produced 15 1.4 1.3
Nueva Victoria
Metric tons of ore recovered 7,140 6,776 5.010
lodine (ppm) 504 505 549
Metric tons of lodine Produced 2.2 2.0 1.6
SQM Salar
Metric tons of Lithium Carbonate Produced 27 27 24
Metric tons of Potash Produced 632 638 651
Metric tons of Potassium Sulfate Produced 162 178 157
Metric tons of Boric Acid 9 9 9

(1) Note that because the Mapocho and Soronal naireesot currently being mined, there is no datepmrt with respect to
extraction Yields. Additionally the DSM iodine buosss acquisition was not included.

(2) Includes production at Coya Sur from treatnwdrfines and nitrates from pile treatment at PaBlzenca, Maria Elena and
Pedro de Valdivia.
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Reserves

Caliche ore

Our in-house staff of geologists and mining engisgarepares our estimates of caliche ore reservds
proven and probable reserve figures presented batewestimates, and no assurance can be giverththat
indicated levels of recovery of nitrates and iodiik be realized. See Item 3. D. Risk factors.

We estimate ore reserves based on engineeringagiegisl of assay values derived from sampling df-dri
holes and other openings. Several drill-hole sppdiave been used for recognizing mining resources.
Normally, we start with 400 x 400 meters and thenreduce spacing to 200x200 meters and 100x100snete
and 50x50 meters. The geological occurrence otlwalimineral is unique and different from other diieta
and non-metallic minerals. Caliche ore is foundhairge horizontal layers at depths ranging froro 4 tneters
and has an overburden between 0 to 2 meters. hbhisontal layering is a natural geological coratitiand
allows the Company to estimate the continuity & taliche bed based on surface geological recasaraie
and analysis of samples and trenches. Mining ressican be calculated using the information frobendrill-

hole sampling.

According to our experience in caliche ore, thel grattern drill-holes with spacing equal to or l&éssn 100
meters produce data on the caliche resourcesstzaffficiently defined to consider them measuessburces
and then, adjusting for economic and legal aspestqroven reserves. Similarly, the informatiotaoted
from detailed geologic work and samples taken fgrid pattern drill-holes with spacing equal to esd than
200 meters can be considered indicated resouragshem, adjusting for economic and legal aspeds, a
probable reserves. The degree of certainty ofgiigbreserves, although lower than that of proesenmves, is
high enough to assume continuity between pointsheérvation.

The updated estimates of our proven reserves iwheabre at each of our mines, as of December 28@5as

follows:

Proven Reserves Nitrate Average Grade lodine Average Grade
Mine (millions of metric tons) (percentage by weight (parts per million)
Pedro de Valdivia 144.0 7.2% 387
Maria Elena 146.8 7.3% 415
Pampa Blanca 81.4 6.3% 546
Nueva Victoria 95.3 4.2% 467
Mapocho 4.6 5.3% 436
Soronal 158.9 7.1% 405

In addition, the updated estimates of our probatderves of caliche ore at each of our principalesias of
December 2005, are the following:

Probable Reserves Nitrate Average Grade lodine Average Grade
Mine (millions of metric tony (percentage by weight) (parts per million)
Pedro de Valdivia 134.7 6.9% 441
Maria Elena 97.6 7.3% 380
Pampa Blanca 423.1 6.0% 526
Nueva Victoria 66.0 3.7% 443
Soronal 59.1 7.6% 362

Additionally, Mapocho, an area farther to the nathour current operations in Nueva Victoria hasmeated
probable reserves, based on 400x400 sampling, ppbajnately 234 million metric tons of Caliche witm
average nitrate grade of approximately 6.9% anavanage iodine grade of approximately 524 ppm.

The proven and probable reserves shown above aneesiult of exploration and evaluation in approxeha
15% of the total caliche-related mining propertyoof Company. However, we have explored thosesarea
which we believe there is a higher potential ofifitg high-grade caliche ore minerals. The remgi&5% of
this area has not been explored yet or has limgednnaissance as inferred or hypothetical ressurce

Proven and probable reserves are determined ustegsive drilling, sampling and mine modeling which
attempts to account for restrictions for cut-ofhdgs, ore type, dilution, waste-to-ore-ratio arel aepth from




which economic feasibility has been determined.néllbeless, metric tons of nitrates and iodine doathin
the proven and probable caliche ore reserves angrshefore exploitation losses and prior to angdasfrom
metallurgical treatment.

Considering the normal lower degree of certaintyplinbable reserves compared to proven reservesinand
accordance with caliche ore continuity, samplingl aeserves calculations, it is possible to tramsfdhe
values calculated as probable reserves in ordeshtw them at similar basis of proven reserves. The
transforming factors depend on the different geislegnditions and continuity recognized mine by epibut

on average are higher than 60%.

Additionally, proven and probable reserves couldafiected by mining exploitation methods which tesu

differences between reserves estimates that aikaldeafor exploitation in the mining plan and rgeoable

material that is finally transferred to the leachirats or heaps. The average mining exploitatatof for our
different mines ranges between 80% and 90%. Aauitly, the average global metallurgical recovenés
processes for nitrate and iodine contained in¢lcevered material varies between 55% to 65%.

Exploration Program We maintain a permanent program of exploratiot @esource evaluation on the land
surrounding the mines at Pedro de Valdivia and Md&tiena and at other sites for which we have the
appropriate concessions. In 2005, we continueds& ieconnaissance program on the new mining pgiepe
including a geological mapping of the surface gmacsd drill-holes campaign covering approximatedy0@0
hectares. Additionally, we conducted general exgtions based on a closer grid pattern drill-hatea total
area of approximately 3,938 hectares and, in amdittarried out in-depth sampling of approximat8®i
hectares (627 hectares at Pedro de Valdivia, 4tatescat Maria Elena, 202 hectares at Pampa Blarid#
exploration and development program in 2006 calfsaf basic reconnaissance program over a total agirea
150,000 hectares, general exploration over a tatah of about 1,257 hectares and, in addition,etid
sampling of approximately 1,659 hectares.

Reserves and Concessions for the Atacama Salar Bes

Reserves for the Atacama Salar Brines

Our in-house staff of geologists and mining engiageepares our estimates of potassium, sulfétéyrn and
boron reserves at the Atacama Salar. We have rexp2% of the land (to a depth between 40 and 100
meters) to which we hold exploitation rights in tAtacama Salar mines and estimate that our prowen a
probable reserves, based on economic restrictgmstatistical analysis and brine sampling up tiepth of

30 and 50 meters, are as follows:

Proven Reserves Probable Reserves
(millions of metric tons) (millions of metric tons)
Potassium 39.8 5.0
Sulfate 35.9 1.6
Lithium 2.0 1.4
Boron 1.1 0.2

The proven and probable reserves are based oimglritirine sampling and geo-statistic reservoir aliog in
order to estimate brine volumes and their compositi This procedure considers process restrictiom
which economic feasibility has been determined todpce commercial products like potassium chloride,
potassium sulfate, lithium carbonate and boric .adibnetheless, metric tons of potassium, sulfiétgum
and boron considered in the proven and probabrves are shown before losses from evaporatiorepses
and metallurgical treatment.

The recoveries of each ion depend on brine composivhich changes in time, and the process appbted
produce the desired commercial products. Pondsragtdllurgical recoveries for potassium vary fron¥6i
29% while for sulfate vary from 34% to 28%. Theaeeries for lithium vary from 29% to 25% and farbn
is approximately 30%.
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PORTS AND WATER RIGHTS

We operate port facilities at Tocopilla for shiprheh products and delivery of certain raw materlgsuant
to renewable concessions granted by Chilean regylatuthorities, provided that such facilities aised as
authorized and annual concession fees are paids.bye also hold water rights for a supply of wdtem
rivers and wells near our production facilities fmignt to meet our current and anticipated opereti

requirements.
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The map below shows the location of SQM's principaling operations and land concessions.
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PRODUCTION FACILITIES

Our principal production facilities are located near mines and extraction facilities in northerhil€. The
following table sets forth the principal productifatilities as of December 31, 2005:

Location Type of Facility Approximate Size(1) (Hectares)
Pedro de Valdivia Nitrate, sulfate and iodine pretdhn 126
Maria Elena Nitrate, sulfate and iodine production 110
Coya Sur Nitrate, sulfate and iodine production 232
Pampa Blanca Concentrated nitrate salts and iodine 86
production
Nueva Victoria lodine production 11
Atacama Salar(2) Potassium chloride, lithium clderi 2,288
potassium sulfate and boric acid
Salar del Carmen, Antofagasta Lithium carbonatelidmdm 28
hydroxide production
Salar del Carmen, Antofagasta Boron production 4
Tocopilla Port facilities 24
1) Includes production facilities, solar evaparatponds and leaching heaps, if any.
) We lease the exploitation rights used at thecAta Salar from Corfo.

We own, directly or indirectly through Subsidiatiedl of the facilities, free of any material lierdedges or
encumbrances, and believe that they are suitaldleadaquate for the business we conduct in themofAs
December 31, 2005, the gross book value of thegptp@mnd associated plant and equipment at theoRklr
Valdivia, Maria Elena, Coya Sur, Pampa Blanca, Mu®ictoria, Atacama Salar, Salar del Carmen and
Tocopilla was approximately US$179.15 million, US8250 million, US$120.99 million, US$16.47 million,
US$137.64 million, US$366.32 million, US$96.84 il and US$59.95 million, respectively.

In addition to the above-listed facilities, we ogera computer and information system linking aumgipal
subsidiaries to our operating facilities throughdCiiile via a local area network. The computer and
information system is used mainly for accountingynitoring of supplies and inventories, billing, titya
control and research activities. The system's maimé computer equipment is located at our offiges i
Santiago.

The Weighted Average Age of our production fa@btiat Pedro de Valdivia, Maria Elena, Coya Sur,vidue
Victoria, Atacama Salar and Salar del Carmen is@apmately 9.1 years, 11.0 years, 6.7 years, 4a88sye/.7
years and 5.6 years, respectively. The Weightedr@ge Age of our iodine facilities at Pampa Blaiga
approximately 11.5 years. Our railroad line between production facilities and Tocopilla was origlity
constructed in 1890, but the rails, locomotives anilihg stock have been replaced and refurbistsedegded.
The Tocopilla port facilities were originally constted in 1961 and have been refurbished and erplasidce
that time. The Weighted Average Age of the Tocapilbrt facilities is approximately 12.5 years. Vasider
the condition of our principal plants and equipnterite good.

We maintain different projects to improve our protifon methods, to increase production capacityunfent
products and to develop new products and markdiserefore, we have developed a capital expenditure
program calling for investments totaling approxiahatUS$660 million. For further discussion see itérA
History And Development Of The Company - Capitap&mxditure Program.
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TRANSPORTATION AND STORAGE FACILITIES

We own and operate railway lines and equipmentyelsas port and storage facilities, for the tramsmnd
handling of finished products and consumable nelteri

The main center for our production and storageawof material is the hub composed by the facilitte€oya
Sur, Pedro de Valdivia and Maria Elena. Our SdirAtacama facilities constitute the second largest
concentration of plants and raw material stora@eher facilities include Nueva Victoria, Pampa Rlanthe
Yumbes nitrates plant and the finished product tplari Boron, Lithium Carbonate and Lithium Hydrosid
The Tocopilla Port Terminal, which we own, is thaimfacility for storage and shipment of our progudn
Juanuary 2006 the company acquired, a new fadailityis, near Nueva Victoria, containing nitratexldodine
ores as well as iodine and iodine derivatives fiedsproduct plants.

Nitrates raw materials are produced and first st@tour Pampa Blanca, Pedro de Valdivia and Maldaa
mines, and then transported by rail (Pedro de Viyiconveyor belt (Maria Elena) and truck (otheesthe
plants described in the next paragraph, for furtheyduction processes.

Nitrates finished products are produced at oullifiesi in Pedro de Valdivia, Maria Elena and Coya &nd
then transported by our rail system to TocopillatPierminal, where they are stored and shippedierit
bagged or in bulk.

Potassium chloride is produced at our facilitiethi; Salar de Atacama and transported either tofilhe Port
Terminal or Coya Sur by a dedicated dual transpgstem (rail/truck) owned by a third party dedidate
contractor. Product going to Coya Sur is usedaas material for the production of potassium nitratefor
potassium chloride finished product.

Potassium sulfate and boric acid are both prodatedur facilities in the Salar de Atacama and them
transported to Tocopilla Port Terminal to follovettrest of the process. Potassium sulfate is toatespby the
same dual mode system as potassium chloride, amc dxxid is transported, already bagged at therStda
Atacama, by contracted truck company.

Lithium solutions, produced at our facilities iretlsalar de Atacama, are transported to the littgarbonate
facility in the Salar del Carmen area where fingsHighium carbonate is produced. Part of the lithiu
carbonate is fed to the adjacent lithium hydroxptent, where finished lithium hydroxide is producé&these
two products are bagged and stored in the preraisgsire subsequently transported by truck to Ttadport
Terminal or to the Antofagasta Terminal for shiptriarcharter vessel or container vessels.

Boron raw material (ulexite) is produced in thegBale Ascotan near Ollague and then transportdtieto
boron facility 15 km north of the lithium compler Balar del Carmen. In this plant our boron prislace
produced and then handled in the same way asthiieni products.

Sodium Sulfate production was stopped mid 2005radyttion efforts were focused on the more impdrtan
nitrates products.

lodine raw material, obtained in the same minesitaates, is processed, bagged and stored exclysivéhe
facilities of Pedro de Valdivia, Iris and Nueva ¥ida, and then shipped by truck to Antofagastdgaique
for container vessel transport or by truck to Saytj where iodine derivatives are produced.

The facilities at Tocopilla Port Terminal are loaétapproximately 186 kilometers north of Antofagaahd
approximately 124 kilometers west of Pedro de Waddi84 kilometers west of Maria Elena and Coya &ut
372 kilometers west of the Atacama Salar. SIT aigsr the facilities under maritime concessions tgrhn
pursuant to applicable Chilean laws. The port alsmplies with ISPS (International Ship and Portilitg
Security Code) regulation. The Tocopilla Port Tiah facilities include a railcar dumper to transfaulk
product into the Conveyor Belt system used to saokship bulk product.

Storage facilities consist of a six silo systenmthvd total capacity of 54,000 metric tons, and penostorage
area for approximately 180,000 metric tons. A haggtation capable of bagging both small and rbaxjs,
is also connected to the conveyor system.

For shipping bulk product, the conveyor belt systxtends over the coast line to deliver productaliy
inside bulk carrier hatches. Using this systera,ltfading capacity is 1,200 tons per hour. Bagdaaded to
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bulk vessels using barges that are loaded in Thadpbrt Terminal dock and unloaded by vessel gan®

the hatches. Both bulk and bagged trucks are tb@delocopilla Port Terminal for transferring pradu
directly to customers or for container vessels@hip from another port, mainly Antofagasta, Sanohit and
Iquique.

Bulk carrier loading in Tocopilla Port Terminal arestly contracted by us to transfer the produauohubs
around the world or for shipping to customers, \Whit very few cases use their own contracted vedsel
delivery. Trucking is provided by a mix of spobntracted and customer owned equipment.

A fuel oil storage facility at Tocopilla, owned I8QM, was closed and dismantled during February 288
part of a rationalization plan for the terminal.eThpace was destined for bag storage and a newimment
loading facility.

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable
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ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECT S
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Critical accounting policies are defined as thdss are reflective of significant judgments and ertainties,
which would potentially result in materially difiemt results under different assumptions and canditi

We believe that our critical accounting policiestli® preparation of our Chilean GAAP financial etagnts
are limited to those described below. It shouldnioéed that in many cases, Chilean GAAP specificall
dictates the accounting treatment of a particukamdaction, with no need for management's judgiimetiteir
application. Additionally, significant differencesan exist between Chilean GAAP and U.S. GAAP, as
explained below in the Notes to the Financial $tatats at Note 29—Differences between Chilean aritetn
States Generally Accepted Accounting Principledier€ are also areas in which management's judgiment
selecting available alternatives would not prodowerially different results. For a summary ofndfigant
accounting policies and methods used in the préparaf the financial statements, see Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statemends 6f December 31, 2005 and 2004, and for the trears in the period ended
December 31, 2005

Allowance for doubtful accounts

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts fdmested losses resulting from the assessed inabilibur
customers to make required payments. If the fimhnoondition of our customers were to deteriorate
unexpectedly, impacting their ability to make paytse additional allowances may be required. Weimely
review the financial condition of our customers amake assessments of collectibility.

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance

Our Company and each of its subsidiaries computk gy tax on a separate basis, except for the U.S.
subsidiaries. We estimate our tax exposure aresagemporary differences resulting from differireatment

of various items for tax and accounting purposisese differences result in deferred tax assetdiaitities,
which are reflected in our consolidated balanceshe

We record a valuation allowance to reduce defaiardsset to the amount that we believe is mosdylithan
not to be realized. The valuation of the defereeddsset is dependent on, amongst other thingghiliy of
the Company to generate a sufficient level of fatiaxable income.

Inventories

Inventories of finished products and work in pracaee valued at average production cost. Raw ratend
products acquired from third parties are statedvatage cost and materials-in-transit are valuezbstt We
regularly review inventory for impairment and ret@n obsolescence provision so that carrying vadoesot
exceed net realizable values.

Staff severance indemnities

We have significant staff severence indemnity liabs, which are recognized on accrual basis. etaht in
the valuations of these obligations are key assiomgtincluding discount rates and expected retamglan
assets. We are required to consider current madatitions, including changes in interest ratesselecting
these assumptions. Changes in the related bepiefit liabilities may occur in the future due to sbes
resulting from fluctuations in our related headdonmto changes in the assumptions.

Mining development costs

Expenses associated with mineral reserves unddoietjpn are capitalized as part of productiontctms
inventories. Expenses associated with future researe presented within Other long-term assetsaaad
amortized according to estimated reserves of minera
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Long-lived assets and their impairment

We estimate the useful lives of property, plant aqdipment in order to determine the amount of @gption
expense to be recorded during any reporting pefib@. estimated useful lives are based on the faator
experience with similar assets taking into accamiicipated technological or other changes. If netbgical
changes are expected to occur more rapidly ordiffarent way than previously anticipated, the uséifres
assigned to these assets may need to be reduseltingin the recognition of increased depreciatapense
in future periods.

We evaluate the recoverability of our long-livedsets (other than intangibleand deferred tax assets) in
accordance with Technical Bulletin No. 33 “Accougtitreatment of Property, Plant and Equipmentldsis

by the Chilean Association of Accountants, and SIS 144 "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposél
Long-Lived Assets". Long-lived assets are reviewed impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amountamfasset may not be recoverable. The rules require
recognition of impairment of long-lived assets lie tevent that the net book value of such assetedsche
future undiscounted net cash flows attributablsuoch assets. Impairment, if any, is recognizedhénperiod

of identification to the extent the carrying amoohtan asset exceeds the fair value of such ag&ebelieve

that the accounting estimate related to asset mmait is critical because it requires us to maleimptions
about future cash flows generated from the ushefssets over their estimated useful lives.

Impairment of goodwill

We have intangible assets related to goodwill. Wn@hilean GAAP, goodwill should be reviewed for
impairment when events or circumstances, suchcasrent losses for two or more periods, indicap@ssible
inability to realize the carrying amount. Under S§-No. 142, goodwill must be allocated to reportimits
and tested for impairment at least annually or nfeequently if events or circumstances, such asisdy
changes in the business climate, indicate thaéethmy be justification for conducting an interimatteThe first
part of the test is a comparison, at the repouinig level, of the fair value of each reportingtuei its carrying
amount, including goodwill. If the fair value isskethan the carrying value, then the second patteofest is
needed to measure the amount of potential goodwikirment. The implied fair value of the reportingit
goodwill is calculated and compared to the carnangpunt of goodwill recorded in the Company’s ficiah
records. If the carrying value of reporting unitogwill exceeds the implied fair value of that godtvthen
we would recognize an impairment loss in the amadirthe difference, which would be recorded as argh
against net income.

The fair values of the reporting units are detesdirusing discounted cash flow models based on each
reporting unit’'s internal forecasts.

The impairment analysis requires management to reakgective judgments concerning estimates of Huaw t
assets will perform in the future using a discodntash flow analysis. Additionally, estimated cédshvs
may extend beyond ten years and, by their natweedifficult to determine. Events and factors thay
significantly affect the estimates include, amortlgecs, competitive forces, customer behavior atritian,
changes in revenue growth trends, cost structurdstechnology and changes in interest rates andifispe
industry or market sector conditions. Impairmantscognized earlier whenever warranted.

Accounting Changes

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Coynglaanged the discount rate used for the deteriomat
of staff severance indemnities provision from 9%ligal in the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004
8%. This change gave rise to a higher charge tmiedfor the year ended December31, 2005 of ThU8®67

During the year ended December 31, 2005, our sialogi®QM Industrial S.A. (ex PCS Yumbes SCM that
was acquired in December 2004) changed the methfatkemreciation of certain assets from the unit of
production to the straight-line method based onetemated remaining technical useful lives of diféerent
classes of assets.
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5.A. Operating Results
Introduction

The following discussion should be read in conjigrctvith the Company's Consolidated Financial Statets
and the Notes thereto included in Item 18. Codatéid Financial Statements Certain calculatiomdyding
percentages) that appear herein have been rounded.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are pregaradcordance with Chilean GAAP, which differ irrtagn
material respects from U.S. GAAP. Note 29 to@uwnsolidated Financial Statements provides a qegami

of the material differences between Chilean GAAHR BS. GAAP and a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP of ne
income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 20@4 2003 and of total shareholders' equity as of
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. Our Consotidatencial Statements are prepared in U.S. dollahe
U.S. dollar is the primary currency in which we aye.

We operate as an independent corporation and ar 'flvontrolled corporation”, as that term is defirunder
Chilean law. See Item 6.E. Share Ownership.

Certain segment information by products group anddographical area is provided at Note 29 —Difiees
between Chilean and United States Generally Acdefptzounting Principles— II. k) Industry segmentan
geographic area information.

Overview Of Our Results Of Operations

We divide our operations into the following fouoguct lines:

e Specialty plant nutrition: production and commeizaion of fertilizers with unique characteristics
* lodine and derivatives: production and commerdiin of iodine and derivatives.
« Lithium and derivates: production and commercigigaof lithium and derivatives.

e Industrial chemicals: production and commerciditra of industrial nitrates, sodium sulfate and
boric acid.

Additionally we sell other products, including imped commodity fertilizers that we distribute mginh
Chile and Mexico and potassium chloride, which clemmgnt our product portfolio.

We sell our products through three primary chanrals own sales offices, a network of distributarsl, with
respect to our fertilizer products, through Yargetnational ASA pursuant to a commercial agreement.

FACTORS AFFECTING OUR RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our results of operations substantially depend on:

e Trends in demand for our products. See Iltem S.E&nd Information;
* Our efficiency in operating our facilities as thane generally running at nameplate capacity;

e Our ability to accomplish our capital expendituprsgram in a timely manner, as we are the main
supplier in our core businesses;

* Trends in the exchange rate between the US dalldrGhilean peso, as a significant portion of the
cost of sales is related to the Chilean peso;
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* Logistics, raw materials and maintenance costs;lwhave been increasing in the last two years; and

« Energy costs, which have increased due to the tugh of oil and the potential interruption of our

natural gas supply.

The following table sets forth our revenues (inlionis of U.S. dollars) and the percentage accoufdethy
each of our product lines for each of the periodicated:

Specialty plant nutrition
lodine and derivatives
Lithium and derivatives
Industrial chemicals

Other product®
Total

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
487.8 54 426.8 54 362.8 25
149.1 17 110.5 14 84.6 12
81.4 9 62.6 8 49.7 7
74.0 8 73.1 9 73.7 11
103.7 12 115.5 15 121.0 18
896.0 100 788.5 100 691.8 100

(1) Primarily imported fertilizers distributed irhfe and Mexico and potassium chloride sold toctiparties.

The following table sets forth certain financiafdrmation of the Company (in millions of U.S. da#a for
each of the periods indicated, as a percentagevehues:

Total revenues

Cost of goods sold
Gross margin

Selling and administrative expenses
Operating income

Non-operating income
Non-operating expenses

Income before income taxes
Income tax

Minority interest

Amortization of negative goodwill

Net income

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
uUss % US$ % US$ %
896.0 100.0 788.5 100.0 691.8 100.0
(652.9)  (72.9) (608.7) (77.2) (554.0) (80.1)
243.1 271 179.8 22.8 137.8 19.9
(61.9) (6.9) (55.7) (7.1) (50.6) (7.3)
181.2 20.2 124.1 15.7 87.2 12.6
16.4 1.8 20.8 2.7 18.7 2.7
(50.8) (5.7) (38.4) (4.9) (39.8) (5.8)
146.8 16.3 106.5 135 6.16 9.5
(32.5) (3.6) (27.3) (3.5) (16.0) (2.3)
(1.0) (0.1) (5.1) (0.6) (3.7) %).
0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 40 0.1
113.5 12.7 74.2 9.4 46.8 6.8
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Results of Operations — 2005 compared to 2004

During 2005, we generated total revenues of appratdly US$896.0 million, which is approximately 14%
higher than the US$788.5 million recorded for tearyended December 31, 2004.

The main factors that explain the increase in regerand the operational variations in the diffepmotduct
lines are the following:

Specialty Plant Nutrition
Revenues from sales of specialty plant nutritioodpicts increased 14.3% to US$487.8 million in 260
US$426.8 million in 2004. Set forth below are salelime data in the specified year by product aateg

Year 2005  Year 2004 (1) % Change

Sodium nitrate Th. Ton 63.3 58.9 8%
Potassium nitrate and sodium potassium nitrate  Th. Ton 690.2 707.6 -3%
Blended and other specialty fertilizers Th. Ton 2175 243.3 -11%
Other non — SQM Specialty plant nutrients (2) Th. Ton 133.2 131.1 2%
Potassium sulfate Th. Ton 178.6 157.7 13%

(1) 2004 figures have been restated to reflectlassification affecting specialty plant nutrierffisoducts that used to be included
under Specialty Plant Nutrition were relocatedettect their industrial status.

(2) Includes resales of purchased products.

The 14.3% increase in specialty plant nutritiondoict revenues was mainly driven by improved priaingditions.
The increase in prices resulted from two main fiactoncreased demand and the favorable pricing itiond for
potassium-related fertilizers.

Potassium nitrate and sodium potassium nitrates salkimes were slightly lower than in the previgesr with a
different product mix increasing soluble potasshitrate sales volume, consistent with our stratffipcusing on
more profitable markets.

The lower sales volume of blended fertilizers wasnty related to the lower sales in the Chileankaar

Demand for specialty plant nutrition products couaés to be strong, but our sales volume is congttlady current
production capacity. SQM expects to increase ttatai production capacity between 20% and 30% ffmrsecond
half of 2007 onwards.

lodine and iodine derivatives

Revenues for iodine and iodine derivatives incréa34.9% to US$149.1 million in 2005 from US$110.5
million in 2004. Set forth below are sales volunagadin the specified year by product category.

Year 2005 Year 2004 % Change

lodine and derivatives Th. Ton 8.1 7.7 5%

The increase in revenue is due primarily to highrézes related to growing demand combined with i
capacity utilization rates in the industry, whialt pn upward pressure on prices.
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The applications of iodine and iodine derivativieattcontributed to a significant portion of the \gtio in demand
are: x-ray contrast media, the utilization of icglim the production of polarizing film, which is amportant
component in LCD screens and iodo-fluoride compsurgkd in the synthetic fiber industry.

During 2005, SQM increased its volume sales in griopn to the market's growth, which allowed SQMpi@serve
its market share at approximately 30%.

On average, prices for iodine increased by appravaty US$4.00 per kilogram as compared with theiptes year.
Considering the tight supply situation, we beliéivat these positive pricing trends will continugidg 2006.

In January 2006, SQM acquired the iodine and iodieevatives business of the Dutch company DSM Nov.
DSM. The transaction included the iodine and iodifegivatives facilities and the mining reservesated in
northern Chile. Additionally, SQM acquired DSM’'ddine and iodine derivatives commercial operationkEurope.
Currently, DSM’s iodine production capacity is higtthan 2.0 th. metric tons per year.

This acquisition will provide SQM with logistics,ommercial and productive synergies and reflects SQM
commitment to the development and strengtheningsafore businesses and its strategy to be a lemg-teliable
iodine supplier.

The agreement involved a base payment of US$72li@mplus all the cash, accounts receivable andlfproduct
inventories minus the total liabilities of the Ggh and Dutch companies involved in the transaction

Lithium and lithium derivatives

Revenues for lithium and lithium derivatives inged 29.9% to US$81.4 million in 2005 from US$62i8iom in
2004. Set forth below are sales volume data irspleeified year by product category.

Year 2005 Year 2004 % Change

Lithium carbonate and derivatives Th. Ton 27.8 31.2* -11%

* 2004 volumes have been restated to reflect assification from lithium brines to lithium carbdaaRevenues were not affected
by this change.

The increase in revenues in this business line maisly due to better price conditions. The stroegend
during the last few years, with a growth of appnoaiely 5% during 2005, positively affected pricing
conditions and we expect this trend to continue.

During 2005 the most important applications drivingarket growth were batteries, greases and frits.
Regarding lithium-ion batteries, during 2004 certproducers overstocked, leading to a lower denzdritde
beginning of 2005. This situation was reversedrduthe first half of 2005.

The lower sales volume during 2005 was due to prolu capacity constraints. Current production cépas
approximately 28.5 th. metric tons per year. SQMeexs to increase its lithium carbonate produatigpacity
from 2008 onwards.

Demand continued to increase for lithium hydroxi@er new lithium hydroxide plant has a total capatd
satisfy approximately 50% of that market.

Industrial Chemicals

Revenues for industrial chemicals increased 1.29%93674.0 million in 2005 from US$73.1 million in @. Set
forth below are sales volume data in the specifesit by product category.
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Year 2005 Year 2004(1) % Change

Industrial nitrates Th. Ton 176.3 192.9 -9%
Sodium Sulfate Th. Ton 25.3 29.9 -15%
Boric acid Th. Ton 6.3 6.1 3%

(1) 2004 figures have been restated to reflectiassification affecting Industrial nitrates. Pratiuthat used to be included under
Specialty Plant Nutrition were relocated to reffldn@ir industrial status.

2004 boric acid volumes have been restated tecteh reclassification from Industrial Chemicats $pecialty Plant
Nutrition. Revenues were also reclassified.

The slight increase in revenues from sales of im@lichemicals was mainly due to a continued iaseein
prices for most of our industrial products, whichrmthan offset lower sales volumes during thisoger

Industrial nitrates saw a reduction in sales volum2005, mainly due to lower demand for potasshitrate
from the CRT industry (TV screens). In spite of% #ecrease in volume, the increased price for inigilis
nitrates led to higher revenues in this produd.lin

Other Products
Potassium chloride

Revenues from sales of potassium chloride decreEz886 to US$32.4 million in 2005 from US$37.2 ioifi
in 2004. Set forth below are sales volume dataérspecified year by product category.

Year 2005 Year 2004 % Change

Potassium Chloride Th. Ton 128.7 211.9 -39%

Lower revenues from potassium chloride are mainig tb the acquisition of PCS Yumbes S.C.M. (tod2g@M
Industrial S.A.) at the end of 2004, which led tderease in third party sales of potassium cteoaiald an increase
in internal consumption for the production of psiam nitrate.
We plan to continue using potassium chloride irayrfor the production of potassium nitrate.

Other commaodity fertilizers
Sales of other commodity fertilizers decreased $$¥1L.3 million in 2005 from US$78.3 million in 2004
The 2005 results of SQM’s subsidiary in charge hed trading of special plant nutrients and commodity
fertilizer in Chile were negatively affected by lewsales volumes and lower margins than in 200& Th
continuous rains that affected the fertilizer seaisoChile and the high inventory of commodity fierérs put
a downward pressure, significantly affecting itsding margins.

Production Costs

Production costs during 2005 were higher than 26@dnly in iodine and nitrate production. The mtators
that affected the production costs were the foltmwi

« higher energy and raw materials costs;

« less favorable exchange rates; and
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» maintenance and depreciation cost increase.
Gross Profit

As a result of the factors described above, gresfitpncreased 35.2% to US$243.1 million in 2006nf
US$179.8 million in 2004.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased ®6WU9 million (6.9% of revenues) during 2005 conepatio
US$55.7 million (7.1% of revenues) recorded duog4.

Operating Income

As a result of the factors described above, opegaticome increased 46% to US$181.2 million in 2®@#n
US$124.1 million in 2004.

Non-Operating Income and Expenses

For 2005, net non-operating expenses amounted ®84J& million, compared to US$17.6 million during
2004. The main changes in non-operating incomeeapdnses were due to the following:

 During 2004, SQM sold its 14.05% stake in Emprédagn S.A., or Empresas Meldn, at a public
auction carried out in the Santiago Stock Exchaymgédugust 18, 2004. The transaction resulted in a
before-tax profit of approximately US$8.2 million.

» The income derived from the investments in relatexhpanies decreased to US$2.6 million in the
year 2005 from US$4.5 million during 2004 (inclugiEmpresas Melon).

e During 2005 there were exchange losses of apprdgiynalS$3.8 million compared to
approximately US$0.5 million during 2004. This whse to the Chilean peso exchange rate and Euro
exchange rate.

 Other losses were approximately US$4.0 million gmeén 2005 than those of 2004, including
writeoff of investments, amortization of goodwitichothers.

Income Taxes

In 2005, income taxes were US$32.5 million, remgltin an effective consolidated tax rate of 22.1%,
compared to income taxes of US$27.3 million andetiactive consolidated tax rate of 25.6% in 2004. |
accordance with Chilean law, SQM and each of itdle@h subsidiaries compute and pay taxes on an
individual basis, not on a consolidated basis. \&f@ tax loss carry-forwards of US$232.6 million &dember

31, 2005, the majority of which have no expiratitates and are expected to be utilized in the future

The corporate income tax rate in Chile was 17%2€#5 and 2004.
The 19.1% increase in income taxes is mainly dubddncrease in our taxable income.

For a more detailed analysis of the Company’s irc@nd deferred taxes see Note 13 to the Consdlidate
Financial Statements.
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Results of Operations - 2004 compared to 2003

During 2004, we generated total revenues of US$%/88llion, which is approximately 14% higher thdret
US$691.8 million recorded for the year 2003.

The main factors that explain the increase in regerand the operational variations in the diffefmoiduct
lines are the following:

Specialty Plant Nutrition

Revenues from sales of specialty plant nutritiaméased 18% to US$426.8 million in 2004 from US$862
million in 2003. Set forth below are sales voludaga by product category.

Year 2004Y  Year 2003® % Change

Sodium nitrate Th. Ton 58.9 62.5 -6%
Potassium nitrate and sodium potassium nitrate  Th. Ton 707.6 696.5 2%
Blended and other specialty fertilizers Th. Ton 243.3 252.1 -3%
Other non- SQM specialty plant nutrients (3) Th. Ton 131.1 125.0 5%
Potassium sulfate Th. Ton 157.7 143.2 10%

()

@

®

2004 figures have been restated to reflectiassification affecting specialty plant nutrierPsoducts that used to be included under
Specialty Plant Nutrition were relocated to refléneir industrial status.

2003 figures have been restated to reflectissification affecting specialty plant nutrien®roducts that used to be included under
Other Productsvere reallocated to reflect their specialty status.

Includes resales of purchased products.

The increase in specialty plant nutrition revenwas mainly driven by a different product mix, otnagegy to
increase our sales volume in markets that offendrigeturns, and generally improved pricing condsiin the

market.

The increase in prices responds mainly to two factthe strong demand, which for the last five geaas
experienced annual growth of approximately 7%, taedight conditions on the supply side. Consiugthis,
we are actively carrying out the necessary investsi® increase our production capacity.

Changes in sales volume were due to the following:

The decrease in sodium nitrate sales only refléwts availability of this product to be sold as
agricultural sodium nitrate, as we have the altéraaof using it to produce potassium nitrate or
industrial sodium nitrate. During 2004 more of thisduct was destined to produce potassium nitrate.

The increase in potassium-related plant nutriegfieats an increase in shipments to Europe, North
America and Latin America, especially to Brazil, ighh was partially offset by lower volumes
delivered to China. The decrease in shipmentshinaCis the result of our decision, facing a tight
supply situation, to focus on markets with higteturns.

The increase in non-SQM product sales reflectsvanatl increase in market demand.

The increase in potassium sulfate shipments wagaloer ability to produce greater quantities and
thereby keep pace with growing market demand.

lodine and derivatives

Revenues from sales of iodine and derivatives aszd 30.7% to $110.5 million in 2004 from US$84.6
million in 2003. Set forth below are sales voludagta.
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Year 2004 Year 2003 % Change

lodine and derivatives Th. Ton 7.7 6.6 17%

The increase both in revenues and sales volumenaady due to the following:

« Sales of iodine to the x-ray contrast media, biesichnd pharmaceutical markets on average
experienced growth of approximately 7%.

 We increased sales to the Chinese markets, maithetpharmaceutical and disinfectant industries.

* We increased our sales of iodine for use in LCDeesgs, a relatively new development in iodine
applications. lodine destined to this market insexl by approximately 50% in 2004. Though iodine
sales to this market constituted only approximaB8ly of iodine sales volume in 2004, we expect that
the demand for iodine for use in LCD screens maytridmute significantly to the worldwide demand
for iodine in the next few years.

During 2004, we slightly increased our market sh&réodine and derivatives. We are currently exjiag
our iodine production capacity.

Full year average prices for iodine, excluding iedisalts that react somewhat slower to iodine rgici
increased by approximately US$1.9 per kilogramapproximately 14%.

Lithium and derivatives

Revenues from sales of lithium and derivativesaased 26.0% to US$62.6 million in 2004 from US$48.7
2003. Set forth below are sales volume data.

Year 2004 Year 2003 % Change

Lithium carbonate and derivatives Th. Ton 31.2* 27.4 14%

* 2004 volumes have been restated to reflect assification from lithium brines to lithium carbdaaRevenues were not affected
by this change.

The increase both in revenues and sales volumenaasy due to the following:

e The increase in revenues in 2004 was mainly d@estoong increase in sales to the lithium ion Ipatte
market, continuing the trend of the previous twarge Lithium carbonate sales destined to this
market accounted for approximately 20% of volurmessa

« Other important lithium carbonate markets were #sta-Pacific markets, where uses related to
infrastructure growth, such as glass, frits anctairditioning, have been growing at higher ratesth
the world economy growth.

e Our lithium hydroxide sales grew in volume by apgmmately 20% during 2004, as a consequence of
the increased global demand for lithium-based tathimg greases.

* Pricing conditions also improved in 2004. The agerincrease in lithium carbonate sales prices was

approximately 8% during 2004. Similarly, lithiunydroxide sales prices increased by approximately
10% during the year 2004.
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Industrial Chemicals

Revenues from sales of industrial chemicals deetkhy 3.4% to US$73.1 million in 2004 from US$73.7
million in 2003. Set forth below are sales voludaga by product category.

Year 2004(1) Year 2003 % Change
Industrial nitrates Th. Ton 192.9 193.2 0%
Sodium sulfate Th. Ton 29.9 54.2 -45%
Boric acid Th. Ton 6.1 10.7 -43%
(1) 2004 figures have been restated to reflecthassification affecting Industrial nitrates. Protiuthat used to be included

under Specialty Plant Nutrition were relocatedetitect their industrial status.

2004 boric acid volumes have been restated tected reclassification from Industrial Chemicabs Specialty Plant
Nutrition. Revenues were also reclassified.

The decrease in revenues from sales of industrexhecals in 2004 was mainly due to the following:

* Industrial nitrates have seen a slight reductiosales volumes, mainly in Asia, due to high logaiti
costs and low prices. Despite a decrease in vduwofe industrial nitrates, an increase by
approximately 10% in industrial nitrates price®akd us to obtain higher revenues for this product.

* The significant decrease in sodium sulfate andcbacid sales was due to lower production. Prices
for these two product lines have increased on geeby approximately 7% due to increased demand
for raw materials in the pulp and paper and detdrigelustries.

« World demand for industrial chemicals is growing aatmoderate pace of 2%, mainly driven by
increased mining activity and infrastructure depeatent.

Other Products

Revenues from other products were US$115.5 millinoluding US$37.2 million from potassium chloride
and US$78.3 million from commodity fertilizers.

Total revenues from other products decreased 4r6fb S$121.0 million in 2003.
Potassium Chloride revenues decreased by 7.1%$8TU3 million in 2004 from US$40.0 million in 2003.

Year 2004 Year 2003 % Change

Potassium Chloride Th. Ton 211.9 284.1 -25%

As sales of potassium chloride are directly relatedts consumption as raw material in the produrctdf
potassium nitrate, the 25% decrease in third psatgs volumes was mainly due to the increase insgsin
potassium nitrate production. The significant @age in prices partially offset this decrease.

Sales of commodity fertilizers remained relativadgnstant during the year, reaching US$78.3 million
compared to the US$81.0 million in 2003.
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales during 2004 was approximately US$6G8illion, an increase of 9.9% compared to the
US$554.0 million recorded during 2003. Cost ofesatonsists primarily of production related expesnse
depreciation, raw material costs, logistics expersel the cost of imported fertilizers and blensisduboth for
resale and in the production of other products. aA®rcentage of revenues, cost of sales were 7in2pe
year 2004 compared to 80.1% in 2003.

The higher costs of sales in 2004 reflect the eed trading of commodity and specialty fertilizasswell as
the trading of lithium hydroxide. We expect to lege the trading of certain specialty fertilizersldithium
hydroxide with our own production within the negif years, increasing the gross margin derived fituose
operations.

The main factors affecting our costs of sales wieedollowing:

» Logistics costs increased by approximately 15% wua worldwide low shipping capacity in the
world and higher oil prices;

* The Chilean peso strengthened against the U.Sardmyl approximately 13% on average (calculated
as the percentage change between the average gectaias for the years 2004 and 2003), thereby
increasing the U.S. dollar amount of our costs denated in Chilean pesos, mainly salaries and
certain local contracts;

* Natural gas shortages, extending through a pefieproximately six weeks in 2004, increased our
operation costs because we had to replace theahghs with higher cost diesel.
Gross Profit
As a result of the factors described above, grasfitpncreased 30.4% to US$179.8 million in 2004nh
US$137.8 million in 2003.
Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses (SG&A) were &% million (7.1% of revenues) in 2004 compared to
US$50.6 million (7.3% of revenues) in 2003. Therdase of SG&A as a percentage of sales resporuls to
efforts to optimize the use of our sales affiliatespecially those acquired during 2003, SQM Mexdod
Mineag.

Operating Income
As a result of the factors described above, op®gaticome increased 42.3% to US$124.1 million 0420
from US$87.2 million in 2003.
Non-Operating Results (net)
The principal components of our non-operating tssukre as follows:
Year ended December 31,

2004 2003
(in millions of US$)

Net Financial income (expense) (1) -15.1 -18.8
Exchange gain (loss) -0.5 6.6
Others -1.9 -8.9
Total Non-Operating -17.6 -21.2

During 2004, we had non-operating expenses of US$difllion, 17% lower than the US$21.2 million of
expenses in 2003. The main reasons for this rexfuict non-operating expenses were:
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e On August 18, 2004, we sold our 14.05% stake in fesgs Meldn at a public auction carried out on
the Santiago Stock Exchange. We recorded a ppteEik of approximately US$8.2 million. This
non-core asset had been held by us since 1998 wheaold our cement project to Empresas Melon.
The sale of our investment in Empresas Melon issistent with our strategy to focus on our core
businesses.

* Net financial expenses decreased from US$(21.0)jomiin 2003 to US$(16.8) million in 2004. The
Company reduced its net financial debt by approtetga)S$106.7 million, partly as a result of the
sale of our stake in Empresas Melén S.A.

- Partially offsetting the positive effects of thedgoing, during 2003 we recorded exchange gains of
approximately US$6.6 million, whereas during 2004 recorded exchange losses of approximately
US$0.5 million.

Income Taxes

In 2004 income taxes were US$27.3 million, resgliman effective consolidated tax rate of 25.6&mpared

to income taxes of US$16.0 million and an effecttemsolidated tax rate of 24.3% in 2003. In acancg
with Chilean law, SQM and each of its chilean sdiasies compute and pay taxes on an individualshasit

on a consolidated basis. We had tax loss carsydats of US$198.2 million at December 31, 2004, the
majority of which have no expiration dates andexgected to be utilized in the future.

The corporate income tax rates in Chile were 1h#186.5% for 2004 and 2003 respectively.
The 71% increase in income taxes is mainly dubedricrease in our net profits.

For a more detailed analysis of the company's imcamd deferred taxes see Note 13 to the Consalidate
Financial Statements

Foreign Exchange Rates — Inflation

We transact a significant portion of our businesdJiS. dollars, and the U.S. dollar is the currentyhe
primary economic environment in which we operatel aur functional currency for financial statement
reporting purposes. A significant portion of oureogting costs is related to the Chilean peso, therean
increase or decrease in the exchange rate betwee@GHhilean peso and the U.S. dollar affects outscof
production. Additionally, as an international compaoperating in Chile and several other countrigs,
transact a portion of our business and have assw®tsliabilities in Chilean pesos and other nonatoll
currencies, such as the Euro, the South AfricandRard the Mexican Peso. As a result, fluctuationthe
exchange rate of such local currencies to the dbfar affect our financial condition and resulfperations.

The following is a summary of the aggregate net etamy assets and liabilities that are subject teifm
exchange gain or loss by currency at December@®15 and 2004:

2005 2004
Th US$ Th US$

Chilean pesos 53,167 66,980
Brazilian real (941) (448)
Euro 19,373 20,069
Japanese yen 6,333 3,693
Mexican pesos 8,101 (2,770)
South African rand 7,529 7,074
Dirhams 11,543

Other currencies 3,282 2,224

We monitor and attempt to maintain our non-dollsseds and liabilities position in balance and masge of
foreign exchange contracts and other hedging im&nis to try to minimize our exposure to the rigks
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changes in foreign exchange rates. As of Dece®be?005, for this purpose we had open forward amngh
contracts and options to buy U.S. dollars and &elign currency for approximately Euros 26 million
(US$30.6 million), South African Rands 50 milliod$$ 7.9 million) and Mexican Pesos 60 million (US#5
million).

The net impact of price level adjustments to nometary assets and liabilities and equity for those
subsidiaries that maintain their accounting recard<Chilean pesos is presented in the Chilean GAAP
financial statements as part of the net foreigrharge gains and losses and is affected by the déweflation

in Chile. Although other income statement accowares not affected by monetary correction adjustsjent
operating expenses that are denominated in UFeolirdeed to inflation in some manner increase thes.
dollar values in the same way inflation increasesgidering that the exchange rate remains unclange

The prospects and results of operations of SQMdcbel adversely affected by changes in policieshef t
Chilean government, other political development®imaffecting Chile, and regulatory and legal chemngr
administrative practices of Chilean authoritiesgrowhich we have no control.

U.S. GAAP Reconciliation

This discussion on our operating and financial liesand condition presented above is based on umap/
financial statements prepared in accordance wiite@in GAAP. Chilean GAAP differs significantly iredain
aspects from U. S. GAAP. The principal differenbesveen Chilean GAAP and U.S. GAAP as they refate t
our Company are (i) the elimination of the effeatsreappraisal of property, plant and equipmertteutaken

in 1988, (ii) the effects of elimination of monetacorrection (price-level restatement) and conwerspf
financial statements of subsidiaries that keep #ggounting records in currencies other than doBars, (iii)
the accounting for derivative contracts, (iv) theatment of the investment in Empresas Meldén J\A.the
treatment of companies in development stage, (v accounting for staff severance indemnities,) (vii
tratament of goodwill, and (viii) the eliminatiaf deferred tax complementary accounts. For furtietails

of these differences between Chilean GAAP and GSAP, see Note 29 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Net income under U.S. GAAP for 2005, 2004 and 2883 US$125.2 million, US$86.8 million and US$57.8
million, respectively, compared to that reportedl@mChilean GAAP of US$113.5 million, US$74.2 naitii
and US$46.8 million, respectively.

Total shareholders' equity under U.S. GAAP at Ddmm81, 2005 and 2004 was US$923.4 million and
US$856.9 million, respectively, compared to thaiorted under Chilean GAAP of US$1,020.4 million and
US$948.6 million, respectively.

5.B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

We operate a capital-intensive business that reggignificant investments in revenue-generatisgtas Our
growth strategy has included the purchase of promudacilities and equipment and has also entaflesl
improvement and expansion of existing facilitiedzunds for capital expenditures and working capital
requirements have been obtained from net cash gegdvby operating activities, corporate borrowinglem
credit facilities and issuance of debt securities.

The current ratio (current assets divided by curliabilities) decreased from 4.4 as of December2D4 to
1.7 as of December 31, 2005, primarily due to ameimse in short-term borrowings and the reclassifin
from long-term to short-term of the US$200 millidebt to be repaid in September 2006.

As of December 31, 2005, we had total debt (skrrtborrowings, current portion of long-term bardbt
and long-term bank debt) of US$390.9 million, ampared to total debt of US$213.6 million as of Deber
31, 2004. Of the total debt of US$390.9 milliorDetcember 31, 2005, US$289.9 million was short-teeint
plus the current portion of long-term bank debil of our long-term bank debt (including the curr@ortion)
as of December 31, 2005 was denominated in U.fardol The following table sets forth the matustaf our
long-term bank debt as of December 31, 2005:
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Years Amount
(millions of US$)

2006 200.0

2010 100.0

We borrowed US$200 million in September 1996, whsctiue in September 2006 and bears interest
at a fixed rate of 7.7%.

In February 2005, our wholly-owned Aruban subsiplidRoyal Seed Trading Corporation A.V.V.,
entered into a loan agreement with Banco BBVA tinamce future debt maturities and part of the tépi
expenditures program. The 5-year loan is for UB$tlllion and bears interest at an initial rateLdjor +
0.325%. SQM is guarantor of the borrower’s oblyad under the loan agreement. The financial canen
include: (i) minimum net worth, (ii) limitation onet financial debt to EBITDA ratio on a consolidhteasis,
and (iii) limitation on interest indebtedness oeogting subsidiaries.

In January 2006 we issued a Chilean bond at afee-gield 4.18% in UF, for a nominal amount of
UF3 million (approximately US$102.6 million), du®26, amortizing on a semi-annual basis from year 2
onwards. The principal and interest payable orbtired are fully hedged in U.S. dollars for botmpipal and
interest (approximately 5.4%). The financial cowets include: (i) limitation on the ratio of tofabilities to
equity (including minority interest) on a consolieid basis, and (i) limitation on the ratio of tdiabilities to
equity (including minority interest) on an indivialubasis.

In April 2006 we issued in the US market a bondJ&$ 200 million with an annual interest rate of
6.125%. The interest will be paid semi-annually &#mel capital will be paid in a single amortizatidaring
April, 2016. This amount will be used by SQM toimahce existing indebtedness at maturity in Sepgmb
2006.

We believe that the terms and conditions of outt @gbeements are standard and customary and that
we are in compliance in all material respects withh terms and conditions.

As of December 31, 2005, we had US$148.0 millioncath and cash equivalents, including
marketable securities. In addition, as of Decembikr 2005, we had unused uncommitted credit lines
amounting to approximately US$469 million.

Shareholders’ equity increased from US$948.6 nniliio 2004 to US$1,020.4 million in 2005. Our
ratio of total liabilities to equity (including mimity interest) increased from 0.44:1 in Decembgr 2004 to
0.61:1 as of December 31, 2005 due to the incrieasar consolidated debt.

Our capital expenditures in 2005, defined as nehcased in investing activities, amounted to
US$188.8 million (excluding the acquisition of Kefin Dubai described in “Business—Capital Expenditu
Program”).

For 2006, we expect total capital expendituresppiraximately US$210 million, plus the acquisition
of DSM's iodine business for US$72.0 million. Wave currently budgeted capital expenditures oftal taf
US$260 million for 2007 and 2008 that can be insegladepending on market conditions.

Our other major use of funds is the payment ofddimds. Our current dividend policy, as adopted by
the shareholders’ meeting, is to pay 65% of ourime&ime for each fiscal year in dividends. Undéil€an
law, the minimum dividend payout is 30% of net imenfor each fiscal year.

For a description of the items included in our tapexpenditures in previous years as well as &utur
plans, see Item 4. Information on the Company—@apitpenditure program.

We evaluate from time to time our cash requiremémtiund capital expenditures, dividend payouts
and increases in working capital. If we find tihesources coming from our internally generated st
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(including depreciation and retained earnings) wilt be enough, we evaluate and choose the besicfad
alternative available for the company. As debtunezments also depend on the increase or decrdase o
accounts receivables and inventories, we cannatraiety determine the amount of debt we will regubut

we believe that cash flow generated by internatatpns, cash balances and available credit liwélsenable

us to meet our working capital, capital expenditamd debt services requirements for 2006, 20072808.

Pension Plan

Our wholly owned subsidiary SQM North America Caigdion has a defined benefit, noncontributory pamsi
plan covering substantially all employees who duals to age and length of service. Plan beneféshased
on years of service and the employee's highestyidae average compensation during the last tensyefar
employment. The plan's assets consist primarilyegbity mutual funds and group annuity contracts.
Assumptions used in determining the actuarial priegalue of the projected benefit obligation aPetember
31 are as follows:

2005 2004
Weighted-average discount rate 7.5% 7.5.%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 0.0% 0.0%
Cost of living 2.5% 2.5%
Long-term rate of return on plan assets 8.5% 8.5%

For further discussion see Note 29 Differences betwChilean and United States Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles—II.m) Post retirement obligas and staff severance indemnities.

Environmental Projects

In 2006 we plan to make disbursements amounting3$5.3 million related to environmental projectgisTl
amout forms part of capital expenditure prograncuised above. Regarding the Maria Elena Progeaiedl
as our other major environmental projects see l@eminformation on the Company—Environmental
Regulations.

5.C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, etc

One of the main objectives of our Research and Dpueent team consists of developing new processés a
products in order to maximize the returns obtaifieth the resources that we exploit. The areagséarch
cover topics such as chemical process design, piesristry, chemical analysis methodologies andsichYy
properties of finished products. This unit, whielports to VP of Technology, provides technical e€vi
to productive, quality and commercial areas.

Our research and development activities are cordugirincipally at our Antofagasta Research and
Development Center. The center has a total stafflqpeople, including seven Ph.Ds, three MScs,threk
professionals in the fields of engineering and de&gnconducting research on various projects. K@gearch
and development policy emphasizes the followingofitimization of current processes in order torease
costs and improve product quality through the impgatation of new technology, (ii) development after-
margin products from current products through eaftintegration or different product specificatiorfsi)
development of new products.

Our research and development activities have bestnumental in improving our production processed a
developing new value added products. As a redutesearch and development activities new methdds o
extraction and finishing have been developed, dioly methods for heap leaching nitrates and a rdetbo
produce mono-granular blends of fertilizers thatnpe the incorporation of different nutrients (inding
micro-nutrients) into one grain. In recent yeave, have also been focusing on the developmentaufegses
for lithium compounds coming out of the brines frime Atacama Salar.

We have patented several production processesitfaten iodine, and lithium products. These paédrave
been filed mainly in the U.S. and Chile, and ottmuntries when necessary.
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For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, ab8i, 2 spent approximately US$ 2.4 million, US$1.8
million and US$1.4 million respectively, on resgaand development activities.

5.D. Trend Information

In 2005, iodine prices continued to increase foltmnthe positive trend of the previous year. Wpest this
trend to continue during 2006 due to sustained tiraw demand accompanied by the relative equilibriu
between production and demand. Additionally, wepeex higher sales volume due to the acquisition of
DSM's iodine business in January 2006.

We expect the increased demand for lithium carleoéiserved in the past years to continue. Demand i
mostly driven by lithium batteries. Further pricereases are forecasted during 2006. We areairesdt,
however, from increasing our sales volume duedéddbmpany’s production capacity constraint.

Potassium nitrate and sodium potassium nitrates sadkimes slightly decreased during 2005 comparidid w
2004. However, prices increased during 2005, am@xpect higher average prices during 2006.

During 2005, production costs were higher than 2004inly due to the higher cost of energy and raw
materials, together with the increase in mainteaaartd depreciation costs. Additionally, sincegmigicant
portion of our costs is related to the Chilean pgsmduction costs were negatively affected by the
appreciation of the Chilean peso. Consideringcilmeent energy market and exchange rate expecsation
expect that 2006 production costs will be highantin 2005.

5.E. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any transactions with nsalidated entities whereby we have financial gotaes,
retained or contingent interests in transferregtasslerivative instruments or other contingenarsgements
that would expose us to material continuing rigksjtingent liabilities, or any other obligationsanig out of a
variable interest in an unconsolidated entity firavides financing, liquidity, market risk or credsk support
to us or that engages in leasing, hedging or relBeard development services with us.

5.F. Tabular Disclosure Of Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our material expdoadbligations and commitments as of December 30520

Less Than 1-3 3-5 More Than

Total 1 year years years 5 years

ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThuSss$ ThUS$
Long- and Short-Term Debt 389,902 289,902 - 100,000 -
Capital lease obligations 1,249 184 416 490 159
Operating leases (*) 98,630 3,945 7,890 7,890 78,905
Purchase commitments 64,046 64,046 - - -
Staff severance indemnities 16,415 - - - 16,415
Total Contractual Obligations and Commitments 570,242 358,077 8,306 108,380 95,479

(*) See Note 29 1l. €)
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ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

6.A. Directors And Senior Management

We are managed by our executive officers underdtrextion of our Board, which, in accordance witfe t
Company's By-laws, consists of eight directors \ah® elected at the annual ordinary shareholderstimge
The Board consists of seven members elected byhsblders of the Series A shares, and one membeteele
by shareholders of the Series B shares. The d@biaed of Directors is regularly elected every ¢hyears at
our ordinary shareholders meeting. Cumulativengpis allowed for the election of directors. Therent
members of the Board of Directors were elected pril 9, 2005 and their terms expire in 2008. Bward
of Directors may appoint replacements to fill amcancies that occur during periods between electidha
vacancy occurs, the entire Board must be electerb-@lected at the next regularly scheduled meating
shareholders. Our Chief Executive Officer is apped by the Board of Directors and holds officethe
discretion of the Board. The Chief Executive Gifiappoints our executive officers. There are legtyu
scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors ongaoath. Extraordinary meeting may be called by the
Chairman when requested by (i) the director elebiediolders of the Series B shares, (ii) any otherctor
with the assent of the Chairman or (iii) an abslotajority of all directors. The Board has a Dioes
Committee and its regulations are discussed below.

Our directors and executive officers as of June2R06 are as follows:

Directors
Name Position Current position held since

Julio Ponce L. (1) Chairman of the Board and Doect September 1987

Mr. Ponce is a Forestry Engineer from the

Universidad de Chile. He joined the Company in

1981. He is also Chairman of the Board of the

following corporations: Sociedad de Inversiones

Pampa Calichera S.A., Sociedad de Inversiones Oro

Blanco S.A., Norte Grande S.A. and Soquimich

Comercial S.A. He is the brother of Luis Eugenio

Ponce.

Wayne R. Brownlee Vice Chairman of the Board ane:&or May 2002

Mr. Brownlee is Executive Vice-President, Treasurer

and Chief Financial Officer of Potash Corporatioh o
Saskatchewan, Inc. Mr. Brownlee earned degrees in
Science and Business Administration from the
University of Saskatchewan. He is on the Board of

Great Western Brewing Company as well as
PhilomBios, an agricultural biotechnology company.

He became director at SQM on December 2001.

Herné&n Buichi B. Director April 1993
Mr. Buchi is a Civil Engineer from the Universiddd
Chile. He served as Vice Chairman of SQM's Board
from January 2000 to April 2002. He is currently a
Board member in Quifienco S.A., P y S S.A., Alto
Palermo S.A., S.A.C.l. Falabella and Madeco S.A.,,
among others.
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José Maria Eyzaguirre B.

Daniel Yarur E. (2)

Wolf von Appen

José Antonio Silva B.

Director December 2001
Mr. Eyzaguirre is a lawyer, partner of the Chilelv
firm Claro y Cia. He obtained his law degree frim
Universidad de Chile and was admitted to the Cinlea
Bar in 1985. In 1987, he obtained a Master's Degre
from New York University School of Law. He was
admitted to the New York Bar in 1988. He is also a
member of the board of directors of Gasoducto del
Pacifico S.A., a transandean gas pipeline, and
Chairman of the Board of directors of Club de Golf
Valle Escondido.

Director April 2003
Mr. Yarur is an Information Engineer from the
Universidad de Chile and holds an MSc in Finance at
the London School of Economics and an AMP at
Harvard Business School. He is a member of the
Board of Banco de Credito e Inversiones, Antofagast
P.L.C. (based in London), Antogasta Minerals and
Invertec Pesquera Mar de Chiloe S.A. Mr Yarur was
Chairman of the Chilean Securities and Exchange
Commission from 1994 to 2000 and was also
Chairman of the Council Organization of the
Securities Regulators of America. He is also a
Professor at the Faculty of Economic and
Administrative Sciences, Universidad de Chile.

Director May 2005
Mr. Von Appen is an entrepreneur. He is curreiatly

Board member of Sociedad de Fomento Fabril and
Vice president of Centro de Estudios Publicos.

Director December 2001
Mr. Silva is a lawyer from the Pontificia Univeraid
Catolica de Chile and holds a Master's Degree v la
at Harvard Law School. Currently, he is Senior
Partner of the Chilean law firm Silva, Rencoret,
Schultz & Lehuedé Abogados. He is also a sustitute
member of the board of directors of HQI Transelec
Chile S.A. and Embotelladora Andina S.A.
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Kendrick T. Wallace

Director December 2001
Mr. Wallace is a lawyer who graduated from Harvard
Law School. He is now Senior Vice President and
General Counsel of Yara International ASA in Oslo,
Norway. Prior to the spin-off of Yara Internatidna
ASA from Norsk Hydro ASA, he was the chief legal
counsel of Norsk Hydro ASA for North and South
America in Tampa, Florida. Before that he was a
partner in the law firm of Bryan Cave LLP in Kansas
City, Missouri.  Mr. Wallace is a member of the
Board of Directors of Adubos Trevo S.A. in Brasil,
OAO Minudobreniya (Rossosh) in Russia and of a
number of subsidiaries of Yara International ASAe
is also on the Board of Directors of Norte Grande
S.A., Sociedad de Inversiones Oro Blanco S.A. and
Sociedad de Inversiones Pampa Calichera S.A.
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Executive Officers
Name Position Current position held since

Patricio Contesse G. (2) Chief Executive Officer réhal1990
Mr. Contesse is a Forestry Engineer from the
Universidad de Chile. He joined the Company in
1981 as CEO, a position he held until 1982, andiraga
in 1988. In the past, he was CEO of Celco Limifada
Schwager S.A. and Comparniia de Aceros del Pacifico
S.A. He has also served as Operations Senior
Executive Vice President of Codelco Chile, Prediden
of Codelco USA and Executive President of Codelco
Chile. Mr. Contesse is also a member of the Badrd
Soquimich Comercial.

Patricio de Solminihac T. (2) Chief Operating Odfiand January 2000
Executive Vice President
Mr. de Solminihac is a Chemical Engineer from the
Pontificia Universidad Catdlica de Chile and holds
Master in Business Administration from the Univgrsi
of Chicago. He joined the Company in 1988 as
Business Development Vice President. In 1989, he
became General Manager and later on he became
Vice Chairman of the Board of SQM, a position he
held from 1989 through January 2000. Mr. de
Solminihac was Country Manager for Raychem
Corporation. Currently he is a member of the Board
of Empresas Melon S.A. and CEM. Mr. de Solminihac
is also a member of the Board of Soquimich
Comercial.

Matias Astaburuaga S. (2) General Counsel Febnes9
Mr. Astaburuaga is a lawyer from the Pontificia
Universidad Catodlica de Chile. He joined the
Company in 1989. Before that, he was Regional
Counsel of The Coca Cola Export Corporation,
Andean Region and Regional Counsel of American
Life Insurance Company, Latin America Region.

Ricardo Ramos R. (2) Chief Financial Officer and November 1994
Business Development Senior Vice President
Mr. Ramos is an Industrial Engineer from the
Pontificia Universidad Catdlica de Chile. He jothe
SQM in 1989 as an advisor in the Finance area. In
1991, he moved to the Sales department, where fie wa
in charge of the coordination between operationd an
sales. In 1993, he returned to the Finance depamtm
and became deputy CFO. Mr. Ramos is also a
member of the Board of Soquimich Comercial.
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Jaime San Martin L. (2) Mine Affairs and Interdaidit Senior Vice PresidentJune 2005
Mr. San Martin is a Transportation Engineer frone th
Pontificia Universidad Catélica de Chile. He jothe
the Company in 1995 as Project Manager. He
became Metallic Mining Development Manager in
1997, and Development Manager in 1998, Business
Development and Mining Property Vice President in
1999 and Technical Senior Vice President in 2001.

Luis Eugenio Ponce L. Corporate Commercial Seviioe President March 1999
Mr. Ponce is a Mechanical Engineer from the
Universidad Catdélica de Valparaiso. In 1981, he
joined the Company as a Sales Manager. He became
Commercial Manager in 1982, Commercial and
Operations Manager in 1988 and Chief Executive
Officer of SQM Nitratos S.A. in 1991. In the phast
was member of the Board of IANSA. Currently Fee is
member of the board of Ceramicas Florencia S.A. Mr
Ponce is also a member of the Board of Soquimich
Comercial. He is the brother of Julio Ponce.

Carlos Nakousi S. (2) Salar-Lithium Operations BeNice President May 2003
Mr. Nakousi is an Industrial Engineer from the
Pontificia Universidad Catdlica de Chile and a
Harvard Business School alumni, after completing th
Advanced Management Program in 2002. He joined
the Company in 1989 as Head of Process
Development. He became Deputy Development
Manager in 1993, Development Manager of SQM
Salar S.A. in 1995, Senior Vice President Salar
Operations of SQM in 1999 and Operations Senior
Vice President in 2003

Camila Merino C. (2) Human Resources and Admirtistna March 2001
Senior Vice President
Mrs. Merino is an Industrial Engineer from the
Pontificia Universidad Catdlica de Chile and holds
Master in Business Administration degree from the
Sloan School of Management at MIT. She joined the
Company in 1991, and after a two-year period at MIT
she re-joined the Company in 1998 as Nitrates
Operations Manager. In the same year she became
Finance and Administration Manager of SQM
Nitratos S.A. and later on, in 1999, Corporate
Services Manager.
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Mauricio Cabello. Nitrates-lodine Operations SeNe President June 2005

Mr. Cabello is a Mechanical Engineer from the
Universidad de Santiago de Chile. He joined the
Company in 2000 as Maintenance Superintendent of

SQM Salar. He became Maintenance Manager of

SQM Nitratos- Yodo in 2002 and  Production
Manager of SQM Nitratos-Yodo in 2004. He
previously worked in various engineering-related
positions in Pesquera San José S.A., Pesquera €olos

S.A. and Cintac S.A.

Pauline de Vidts S. (2) Safety, Health & Environtngmd Technology Senior June 2005
Vice President
Mrs. De Vidts is an Industrial Engineer from the
Pontificia Universidad Catdlica de Chile and holds
Ph.D. in Chemical Engineering from Texas A&M
University. She joined the company in 1996 to work
process development for the Salar de Atacama
Operations, becoming Development Manager for this
operations in 1998, and later on, in 2001, she beza
Corporate R&D and Environmental Issues Vice

President.
(1) Mr. Julio Ponce’s ownership interest in SQMiplained in Item 6.E. Share Ownership.
2) The individual beneficially owns less than gegcent of the Company’s shares.

6.B. Compensation

Directors are paid a monthly fee (UF 300 to the ihan and UF 50 to each of the remaining seven
Directors), which is independent of the number o&Rl sessions held per month. In addition, theddrs
receive additional compensation (in Chilean pesash year based on a profit-sharing program apgdrbye
the shareholders in an amount equal to 0.65% oh#héncome (after amortization of negative gootjvidr

the Chairman of the Board and of 0.65% of the nebrine (after amortization of negative goodwill) foe
remaining seven Directors, divided equally amongséhDirectors. Profit-sharing payments are paith@
year following the fiscal year in respect of whitley are earned.

67



During 2005, the total compensation paid to eaabuofdirectors under the foregoing was as follows:

Total per subsidiaries Ch$ Annual Total Ch$

SQM S.A. sSQMC

Name Meeting Committee Meeting Committee
Ponce Lerou, Julio 343,650,861 63,194,463 406,845,324
Biichi Buc, Hernan 50,597,279 50,597,279
Brownlee, Wayne R. 50,597,279 10,530,061 61347y,
Eyzaguirre, José Maria 50,597,279 50,597,279
Silva, José Antonio 50,597,279 10,530,061 6134y
Wallace, Kendrick T. 50,597,279 50,597,279
Yarur, Daniel 50,597,279 8,804,534 59,401,813
Von Appen Wolf 7,081,298 7,081,298
Milstein, Avi (1) 40,931,363 864,145 41,795,508
Total 695,247,196 30,728,801 63,194,463 0 789,170,460

(1) On January 18, 2005 Mr. Avi Milstein presentesiresignation to the Board of Directors.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, the aggregatpensation paid to our 82 main executives based
Chile was approximately Ch$ 5,405.2 million. We migt disclose to our shareholders or otherwise make
available public information as to the compensatibaur individual executive officers.

We do not maintain any pension or retirement pnogréor the members of the Board or our officer€imle.

6.C. Board Practices

Information regarding the period of time each of MB® current Board of Directors has served in their
respective office is provided in the discussioreath member of the board above at Item 6.A Direcamd
Senior Managers.

The date of expiration of the term of the curremtai®l of Directors is April 2008. The contracts aafr
executive officers are indefinite.

The members of the Board are remunerated in acooedaith the information provided above in Item 6.B
Compensation. There exist no contracts between S@Mny of its subsidiaries, and the members ef th
Board providing for benefits upon termination oéithterm.

Directors’ Committee — Audit Committee

As required by Chilean Law, we have a Comité dee@ores (Directors' Committee) composed of three
directors, which performs many of the functiongaofAudit Committee.

The members of our Directors' Committee are Heachi B., José Antonio Silva B. and Daniel Yarur E.
This Committee operates in accordance with artlile bis of Law N°18.046, which provides that the
Committee shall:

(a) Examine and issue an opinion regarding thereat auditor's report including financial statetsen
prior to its final presentation for approval at thedinary Shareholders Meeting

(b) Propose to the Board of Directors the exteaualitors and the rating agencies that will be priesk
to the Ordinary Shareholders Meeting

(c) Examine and elaborate a report concerning therations covered by articles 44 and 89 of Law
N°18.046

(d) Examine the remuneration and compensatiorspéthe senior management
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Pursuant to the above, these were the main aet\iti our Directors' Committee during 2005:

a) Analysis of un-audited reports and financialdibons.
b) Analysis of audited reports and financial coiodis.

¢) Analysis of external auditors’, accounts inspegitand risk analysts’ reports, and the proposal
to the Board of Directors of the external auditangl risk analysts that could be designated by the
respective Shareholders Meeting.

d) Analysis of functions, objectives and workinggrams of the Internal Auditing Department.
e) Analysis of the Company’s Top Executives rematien and compensation plans.
f) Analysis of contracts with related people, sdizsiy and allied companies in Chile and abroad.

g) Analysis of subjects related to the rules of'tharbanes-Oxley Act" of the U.S.A., especially
to Section 404.

h) Investment Analysis.

On April 29 2005, the SQM S.A. Shareholders Genbteéting agreed to pay a monthly remuneration of
50UF to each member of the Directors Committeeat,Timdependent of the number of sessions helchby t
Board of Directors during the period between thentne of May 2005 and April 2006, both months ineldd
This remuneration is also independent from whatBbard members obtain as members of the Company’s
Directory. In this same meeting, an operationalgatidor the Board of Directors of 1.800UF was apprth

Article 50 bis states that the Committee shouldsginof three directors, of which the majority shibu
preferably be independent from the controller (agy person or entity who “controls” the company fo
Chilean law purposes), if any, and that their fiord are remunerated. Considering the effectivaresh
structure up to December 31st, 2005, the Compagyg dot have a controller; therefore, the three neesbf
the Directors Committee stand as independents.

The activities carried out by the Committee, aslaslthe expenses incurred by it, are to be diedl@ the
General Shareholders Meeting. During year 2005, Divectors Committee did not incur any consulting
expenses.

On June 21, 2005, the Board of Directors approkecestablishment of an audit committee to compti e
requirements of the NYSE corporate governance rules

The members of the audit committee are Hernan BBichlosé Antonio Silva B. and Daniel Yarur E. Eaf
the three members meets the NYSE independenceegwrits for audit committee members.

Under the NYSE corporate governance rules, thetaahmittee of a U.S. company must perform the
functions detailed in the NYSE Listed Company Mdrirales 303A.06 and 303A.07. Non-U.S. companies
are required to comply with Rule 303A.06 beginnindy 31, 2005, but are not at any time requiredatmply
with Rule 303A.07.

Comparative Summary Of Differences In Corporate Goernance Standards
The following table provides a comparative summafydifferences in corporate governance practices

followed by us under our home-country rules andéhapplicable to U.S. domestic issuers pursuaieation
303A of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) Listeah@pany Manual.

Listed Companies that are foreign private issustgh as SQM, are permitted to follow home country
practices in lieu of the provisions of Section 30&&cept that such companies are required to comiphythe
requirements of Section 303A.06, 303A.11 and 303)land (c),
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Section NYSE Standards SQM practices pursuant to Glean regulations
303A.01 | The majority of the listed company direstonust be| There is no legal obligation to have a majority |of
independent. independent directors on the Board.
303A.02 | Independence Test A Director is considéndependent if he would have
been elected without the vote of the controlling
shareholder and related persons and entities.
303A.03 | Non-management directors must meet at aegul These meetings are not needed given that diredtors
scheduled executive sessions without management.| not also serve as executive officers.
303A.04 | Listed companies must have a nominatingfmate | This committee is not contemplated as such in |the
governance committee composed entirely | Ghilean regulations. Pursuant to Chilean regutatip
independent directors, and must have a writtentehar| SQM has a Directors' Committee (see Board practices
above).
303A.05 | Listed companies must have a compensationmittee | This committee is not contemplated as such in [the
composed entirely of independent directors, andtm@hilean regulations. Pursuant to chilena regulatipn
have a written charter SQM has a Director's Committee (see Board practices
above) that is in charge of reviewing managemept's
compensation.
303A.06 | Listed companies must have an audit committee. This committee is not contemplated as such in |the
Chilean regulations. On june 21, 2005, the Bodrd o
directors approved the establishment of an audit
committee to comply with the requirements of the
NYSE corporate governance rules.
303A.07 | The audit committe must have a minimum loke | Pursuant to Section 303A.00, SQM is not required to
members. Each of them must satisfy requirementscomply with requirements in 303A.07. Pursuant|to
independence and the committee must have a wrjt@hnilean Regulations SQM has a Director’ Committge(
charter. see Board practices above) with Certain requiresnehn
independence.
303A.08 | Shareholders must have the opportunityote wn all| SQM does not have equity compensation plans.
equity-compensation  plans involving  directof®irectors and executives may only acquire SQM share
executives, employees, or other service providers. | by individual purchases. The purchaser must give
notice of such purchases to the Company and|the
Superintendence of Securities and Insurance.
303A.09 | Listed companies must adopt and disclogpocate | Chilean law does not require that corporate goverea
governance guidelines. guidelines be adopted. Directors' responsibilitesl
access to management and independent advisors are
directly provided for by applicable law. Directbts
compensation is approved at the annual meeting of
shareholders, pursuant to applicable law.
303A.10 | Listed companies must adopt and disclosmmde of | Not contemplated in the Chilean regulations. SQA4 h
business conduct and ethics for directors, offi@erd | adopted and disclosed a Code of Business Conddct an
employees. Ethics, available at the company's websijte,
WWW.Sgm.com.
303A.11 | Listed foreing private issuers must diseloany | Pursuant to 303A.11, This table sets forth a coatpar
significant ways in which their corporate govermansummary of differences in corporate governance
practices differ from those followed by domestipractices followed by SQM under Chilean regulations
companies under NYSE listed standards. and those applicable to U.S. domestic issuers patsu
to Section 303A.
303A.12 | Each listed company CEO must (a) certiftheoNYSE | Not contemplated in the Chilean regulations. TG0

each year that he or she is not aware of any ooldty
the company of NYSE corporate governance list
standards.(b) promptly notify the NYSE in writinfjea
any executive officer becomes aware of any mate
nor- compliance with any applicable provisions

must only comply with Section 303A.12 (b) and (c).
ing

rial
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Section NYSE Standards SQM practices pursuant to Glean regulations
Section 303A; (c) must submit an executed Written
Affirmation annually to the NYSE.

6.D. Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had 3,672 permanentognegs, of whom 322 were employed outside of Chile.
The average tenure of our full time employees fgaximately 8.6 years.

2005 2004 2003 2002
Permanent employees 3,672 3,418 3,455 3,050
Employees in Chile 3,350 3,138 3,154 2,869
Employees outside of Chile 322 280 301 181

Of our permanent employees in Chile, 72.2% areessprted by 31 labor unions, which represent their
members in collective bargaining negotiations vitie Company. Compensation for unionized persormel i
established in accordance with the relevant callecbargaining agreements. The terms of most such
agreements currently in effect are three years,expitation dates of such agreements vary fromraonto
contract. Under these agreements, employees eeeesalary according to a scale that depends ugmn j
function, seniority and productivity. Unionized ployees also receive certain benefits providedbfotaw

and certain benefits, which vary depending uponténms of the collective bargaining agreement, sagh
housing allowances and additional death and disabinefits.

In addition, the Company owns all of the equitylétitucion de Salud Previsional Norte Grande Laml,
(Isapre Norte Grande), which is a health mainteeanganization that provides medical services milyngo
our employees. We make specified contributionsapre Norte Grande in accordance with Chilean lamds
the provisions of our various collective bargainiamgreements but we are not otherwise responsiblésfo
liabilities.

Non-unionized employees receive individually negietil salaries, benefits provided for by law andager
additional benefits provided by us.

We provide housing and other facilities and sess/foe employees and their families at the Marian&lsite.

We do not maintain any pension or retirement pnogréor our Chilean employees. Most workers in Chile
subject to a national pension law, adopted in 198fich establishes a system of independent pensanms
that are administered by the corresponding Sociddidinistradora de Fondos de Pensiones, (AFP). We
have no liability for the performance of any ofghepension plans or any pension payments to be toaune
employees. We however sponsor staff severance mtdemplan for employees in our Chilean subsidsri
whereby we commit to provide a lump sum paymengdoh employee at the end of his/her employment,
whether due to death, termination, resignatioretrament.

We have experienced no strikes or significant wstdppages in the last eleven years and consider the
relationship with our employees to be good.

6.E. Share Ownership

Mr. Julio Ponce L., Chairman of the Board of SQMgd aelated persons control Inversiones SQ Holdidg S
Inversiones SQ Holding S.A. and Yara InternatioA8lA beneficially own 51% and 49%, respectively, of
Inversiones SQYA S.A. Inversiones SQYA S.A. indilg controls and beneficially owns Sociedad de
Inversiones Pampa Calichera S.A., which in turn ®400% of Global Mining Investments (Chile) S.A.
Therefore, Mr. Ponce and related persons bendyiaimin through the above entities 65,702,424 Sehies
Shares, constituting 46% of the outstanding S&ki€hares and 24.96% of the total shares of SQM: 1®&en
7.A. Major Shareholders.

Pursuant to the Company's By-laws, as amended,ay?25, 2005, no holder of Series A or SerieshBres
will have the right to exercise for itself or onhiadf of other holders of Series A or Series B shdhe right to
vote more than 37.5% of the outstanding sharesdi such class entitled to vote. For purposeslofiating
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such percentage, shares owned by persons relatehoshareholder shall be added to shares hetidly
shareholder.

The following table shows the combined stakes lthatJulio Ponce and Yara International ASA havedlhal
SQM as of December 31:

% Beneficial ownership
2006 (1) 24.96%
2005 24.96%
2004 22.63%
2003 20.35%

(1) As of June 15 2006

On June 3, 2006, Sociedad de Inversiones Pampeh€ali S.A. announced its intention to acquire up%o
of the series B shares (approximately 0.91% ofdked shares) in a public tender offer. As the oote of the
tender offer will be known in July, we may not aigate whether it will succeed or not. Neverthelasssuld
the tender offer be carried out in the amount glipknnounced, Mr. Julio Ponce and Yara Internaliét8A
would have a combined beneficial ownership of apipnately 25.87%. In addition, pursuant to Chileaw|
Sociedad de Inversiones Pampa Calichera S.A. waitieemed to control SQM.

No other director or executive officer owns morarth% of each share class of the Company as of 1kine
2006. See Item 6. Directors, Senior ManagemedtEmployees—footnote (1). Individual ownership has
not been publicly disclosed. Directors and exe&eutifficers as a group own 0,453% of total shares

We do not grant stock options or other arrangerrergdlving the capital of SQM to directors, managers
employees.
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ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSA CTIONS

7.A. Major Shareholders

Taking into account the ownership structure of skackholders, the Company does not have a comigolli
entity. The following table sets forth certaindnmhation concerning beneficial ownership of thei€&e”
shares and Series B shares of SQM as of June 05, \&ith respect to each shareholder known by us to
beneficially own more than 5% of the outstandinge&3eA shares or Series B shares and with respezt of

our directors and executives officers as a grotipe following information is derived from our redsrand
reports filed by certain of the persons named beldgth the Superintendencia de Valores y Seguros (th
Superintendency of Securities and Insurance or $¥i8)he Chilean Stock Exchange.

Number of Number of
Series A Series B
Shares Beneficially % Shares Beneficially %
Owned Series A Owned Series B % Total
Shareholder Shares Shares Shares

Sociedad de
Inversiones Pampa 52,434,256 36.71% 1 0.00% 19.92%
Calichera S.A. (1) (2)
Inversiones EIl Boldo
Ltda. (3) 43,861,795 30.71% 1 0.00% 16.67%
\T(g'kaa”k of New 146,370 0.10% 32,924,920 27.35% 12.57%
Inversiones RAC
Chile Ltda. (3) 19,200,242 13.44% 2,699,778 2.24% 8.32%
A.F.P. Habitat S.A. - 0.00% 8,426,384 7.009 3.20%
(4)
él')F -P. Provida S.A. - 0.00% 8,325,985 6.929 3.16%
Larrain Vial S.A. 3,005,558 2.109 4,725,709 3.93% .94%
Global Mining
Investments (Chile ) 7,123,076 4.99% - 0.009 2.71%
S.A.
'S”"Aer(sl';mes SQYA 6,145,002 4.30% . 0.009 2.33%
A.F.P. Cuprum S.A.

- . (1] s s . . (0}
@) 0.00% 5,167,609 4,299 1.969

(1) Mr. Julio Ponce L., Chairman of the Board ofNs(and related persons control Inversiones SQ Hgl@.A, which in turn, together with
Yara International ASA beneficially own 51% and 49éspectively, of Inversiones SQYA S.A. InvergenSQYA S.A. indirectly
controls and beneficially owns Sociedad de InversgoPampa Calichera S.A., which in turn owns 100%lobal Mining Investments
(Chile) S.A. Therefore, Mr. Ponce and related pesdmeneficially own through the above entities 63,424 Series A Shares, constituting
46% of the outstanding Series A Shares and 24.9a%edotal shares of SQM. This stake resulted fsaiccessive purchases carried out in
the Santiago Stock Exchange during the last pa206# and the first months of 2005. The stake hgliflb Ponce and related parties as of
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 was, respecti4196%, 20.35% and 20.35% of the total shar& Q.

(2) Pampa Calichera is an open stock corporatioosetshares are traded on the Santiago Stock Exchadgeinally, the shareholders of
Pampa Calichera were employees of SQM. Pampah@adiovas formed to hold the capital stock of SQMtitbuted by such employees
or later acquired in the open market. Approxima&d of our employees are shareholders of Pampeh@ad, either directly or indirectly.

(3) Potash Corporation of Saskatchewan Inc. owrG%d0f Inversiones el Boldo Limitada and 100% ofdrsiones RAC Ltda., being
therefore the beneficial owner of 65,761,810 SMQares that represent 24.99% of SQM's total sh@hés stake resulted from successive
purchases carried out in the Santiago Stock Exchduogag the last part of 2004 and the first mordh2005. The stake held by Potash
Corporation of Saskatchewan as of December 31,,2088, and 2002 was respectively 24.99%, 20. 3&f6 20.35% of the total shares
of SQM.

(4) A.F.P.s are legal entities that manage peniinds and are the registered holders of Seriesakeshand Series B shares acquired with
pension funds resources.

Series A and Series B shares have the same econghtie (i.e. both Series are entitled to sharealtyguin
any dividends declared on the outstanding stockl) \asting rights at any shareholders meeting, whethe
ordinary or extraordinary. One share equals ore, woith the sole exception of the election of Bward of
Directors, in which the Series A shareholders esesten members and the Series B shareholdersoglect
member. Additionally, Series B shares cannot ex&B96 of our issued and outstanding stock, shadehsl
of at least 5% of this Series may call an ordinaryextraordinary Shareholders Meeting and the tiirec

73



elected by this Series may request an extraordiBaard of Directors Meeting without the authoripatiof

the Chairman of the Board of Directors. These pegfees will remain until 2043. Maximum individuadting

power personally and/or in representation of offiereholders per Series is 37.5% of the subscsbarks of
each Series with voting rights and 32% of the tetdiscribed shares of the Company with voting sighb

calculate these percentages, shares that belothg teoting shareholder’s related persons must beddn
addition, the director elected by the Series Beshaannot vote in the election of the ChairmarmefRBoard of
Directors after a tie vote has occurred in therpviating process. There are currently 142,819,56eS A
shares and 120,376,972 Series B shares outstanding.

7.B. Related Party Transactions

Article 89 of Law No. 18,046, or the Chilean Corgtions Act requires that our transactions with tesla
parties be on a market basis or on terms simildhdee customarily prevailing in the market. Diogs and
executive officers of companies that violate Adi@9 are liable for losses resulting from suchatiohs. In
addition, Article 44 of the Chilean CorporationstAwovides that any transaction in which a diredtes a
personal interest or is acting on behalf of a tipiadty may be implemented only after the same fsaed by
the Board of Directors under terms similar to thgsevailing in the market. Resolutions approvingts
transactions must be reported to the Company'skblgiers at the next shareholders' meeting. \tooladf

Article 44 may result in administrative or crimirgdnctions and civil liability may be sought by thempany,
shareholders or interested third parties that sldfses as a result of such violations. We beltbat we have
complied with the requirements of Article 89 andiéle 44 in all transactions with related parties.

Accounts receivable from and payable to relatedpzories are stated in U.S. dollars and accrue meoeistt
Transactions are made under terms and conditiasitk similar to those offered to unrelated thiadies.

We further believe that we could obtain from thpadrties all raw materials now being provided byated
parties. The provision of such raw materials by sappliers could initially entail additional exsers.

For additional information concerning our transasi with affiliates and other related parties, Ne¢e 5 of
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

7.C. Interests Of Experts And Counsel
Not applicable

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

8.A. Consolidated Statements And Other Financial Inforrian

8.A.1 See Item 18. Consolidated Financial Statementsdpconsolidated financial statements.
8.A.2 See Item 18. Consolidated Financial Statements.

8.A.3 See Item 18. Consolidated Financial Statements-efRepIndependent Registered Public Accounting
Firm.

8.A.4 Not applicable.
8.A.5 Not applicable.
8.A.6 Export Sales

We derive most of our revenues from sales outsid€lile. The following is the composition of the
consolidated sales for the periods ending on Deeef3ib
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Th. US$ 2005 2004 2003

Foreign sales 739,924 629,671 534,651
% of foreign sales 82.6 79.9 77.3

8.A.7 Legal Proceedings

We are or were during 2005 a party to the followleggl proceedings:

During the first quarter of 2001, the Company fikedarbitration claim against its insurers, ACE8eg S.A.

and Chubb de Chile Compafiia de Seguros Generadlesf@. payment of ThUS$36,316 in indemnifications
related to the leak of brines from the pre-conegiun ponds that were built by the Company in th&aSde
Atacama, which caused losses to the Company ohbdithium, potassium sulfate and other salts therte to

be obtained from such ponds and used in productibhe insurance companies argued that the leak was
caused by a defect in the design of the ponddatable to SQM and, therefore, have denied paymieal
amounts. During 2005, the Santiago Court of Appealed in favor of the insurance companies. This
litigation is not subject to further appeal.

During the last quarter of 2002, the French comgmrompagnie Du Guano de Poisson Angibaud S.A.
("Angibaud") and Generale de Nutrition VegetaleSSBGNV" -in which Angibaud and the Company had a
50% share ownership-) filed an arbitration claimdem French arbitration laws (Association Francaise
d'Arbitrage) against the Company requesting indéoation for the alleged early termination of a tawt
with GNV, through which the latter held the distrilon rights to certain of the Company's productEriance.
Angibaud -GNV have since then filed additionkims against the Company for payment of GNV's glebt
recovery of invoiced amounts and other matterse Tdtal amount demanded was Euro$ 30.3 million,
approximately US$40 million. On July 27, 2005 SQMsanotified about the ruling of the French Arbitat
Association, wich requested SQM to make a net tpwiment to Angibaud and GNV, including the cestd
expenses of the process, of approximately US$6omilAs SQM had provisioned expenses associatéugo
judgement for approximately US$1.5 million, the nen-operating accounting charge before tax, whiek
reflected during the second quarter of 2005, wasaqimately US$4.5million.

In October 2004, Tallepsen Services Company L.Paneenced an arbitration proceeding against SQM
Lithium Specialties Limited Partnership LLP seekang award of Th. US$900 for professional fees allihg
owed. In June 2005 the three-member arbitratiarrtadesignated by both parties ruled that SQM wats n
required to make any payment to Tallepsen.

In September 2005, Electroandina, one of our migictricity suppliers, commenced an arbitration peding
against us. The complaint mainly seeks the earlyit@tion, partial amendment or temporary suspensio
the electricity supply agreement entered into betwElectroandina and SQM on February 12, 1999 tlaad
revision of the tariffs agreed to in such electyigupply agreement. The basis of Electroandinaisncis that
certain unforeseen events have restricted the puppland increased the price of gas from Argentina.
Currently, this proceeding is in the stage of enadecollection.

A similar claim was announced by Norgener at thé @nh2005, our other main electricity supplier, g&hd
related arbitration proceeding has begun earh0062
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The Company is party to various other lawsuitsirggisn the ordinary course of business. We beliive
unlikely that any losses associated with such l#wswill significantly affect the Company’s results
operations, financial position, and cash flows.

8.A.8. Dividend Policy

As required by Chilean law and regulations, ourid#ind policy is decided upon from time to time hy o
Board of Directors and is announced at the Annudir@ry Shareholders' Meeting, which is genera#idtin
April of each year. Shareholder approval of thed#ind policy is not required. However, each ytbarBoard
must submit to the annual ordinary shareholdergtimg for approval the declaration of the finalidand or
dividends in respect of the preceding year, comsisvith the then-established dividend policy. iBénds are
not price-level adjusted between the end of thequtimg year and the date of the declaration offithed
dividend. As required by the Chilean Companies, Acaless otherwise decided by unanimous vote of the
holders of issued shares, we must distribute a dagstend in an amount equal to at least 30% of our
consolidated net income for that year (determined €hilean GAAP basis), unless and except toxteneit

has a deficit in retained earnings.

The Board of Directors has followed a policy of paya single dividend ranging from 50 to 65% of our
consolidated net income for the year (determined @hilean GAAP basis), and dividends for each Yaae
been paid not later than May of the following yedburing 2006, and considering our capacity to \axli
increasing cash flows, at the Annual Ordinary Shalders' Meeting held on April 28, 2006, the shatéérs
approved a single dividend with respect to 200%8%0.27981 per share, equal to 65% of the net iecom
before amortization of negative goodwill for thatay, which was paid on May 11, 2006. The Board of
Directors also reaffirmed for 2006 a dividend pglihat authorizes distribution of cash dividendsaim
amount equal to 65% of our net income before amwatitin of negative goodwill for the year. The Bbaf
Directors currently expects to recommend that slicidend be paid in a single distribution in May0Z0

We generally declare dividends in U.S. dollars (lmaty declare dividends in Chilean Pesos), and pak s
dividends in Chilean Pesos. If a dividend is dexlan U.S. dollars, the exchange rate to be usesbhvert
the dividend into Chilean Pesos is decided by tmreholders at the meeting that approves the didide
which has usually been the Observed Exchange Rateeadate the dividend is declared.

Although the Board of Directors has no current planrecommend a change in the dividend policy, the
amount and timing for payment of dividends is sabfe revision from time to time, depending upom then-
current level of sales, costs, cash flow and chpitguirements, as well as market conditions. Adicmly,
there can be no assurance as to the amount ogtivhideclaration or payment of dividends in theufat Any
change in dividend policy would ordinarily be etige for dividends declared in the year followindoation

of the change, and a notice as to any such changelioy must be filed with Chilean regulatory aothies
and would be publicly available information.

Dividends are paid to shareholders of record orfitthebusiness day preceding the date set for matrof the
dividend. The applicable record dates for the paytnof dividends to holders of ADRs will be detemed by
the Depositary.

Dividends

Each Series A Share and Series B Share is entitieshare equally in any dividends declared on the
outstanding capital stock of SQM.

The following table sets forth the U.S. dollar eglént of dividends per share and per ADS paidarheof the
years indicated, based on the Observed Exchangef@ahe date on which the dividend was declared.
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Dividends Per Share Per ADS Per Share Per ADS
Declared for

the business Paid on Ch$ Ch$ uss$ uss$
year
2001 2002 37.03 370.3 0.056 0.56
2002 2003 53.31 533.1 0.076 0.76
2003 2004 55.05 550.5 0.088 0.88
2004 2005 106.56 1,065.6 0.182 1.82
2005 2006 145.11 1,451.1 0.279 2.79

Dividends payable to holders of ADRs will be pait of conversion expenses of the Depositary andbeil
subject to Chilean withholding tax, currently impdsat the rate of 35% (subject to credits in centaises).

As a general requirement, a shareholder who ismesident of Chile must register as a foreignstaeunder
one of the foreign investment regimes contemplatehilean law to have dividends, sale proceedstloer
amounts with respect to its shares remitted outSidée through the Formal Exchange Market. Undher t
Foreign Investment Contract, the Depositary, oralfetf ADR holders, will be granted access to tluenfal
Exchange Market to convert cash dividends fromé2imlPesos to U.S. dollars and to pay such U.Sarddth
ADR holders outside Chile net of taxes, and no isgpaegistration of ADR holders is required.

8.B. Significant Changes
No significant change has occurred since the dateedinancial statements set forth in Item 18.
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ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
9.A Offer And Listing Details

Price History

The table below sets forth, for the periods indidathe reported high and low closing prices farghares on
the Santiago Stock Exchange and the high and losing prices of the ADSs as reported by the NYSHha

two main Exchanges on which our shares are traded.

€)) Last 5 years
Santiago Stock Exchange NYSE
Per Share (2) per ADS
Series A Series B (1) Series A (3) Series B (1)

High Low High Low High Low High Low

Chs$ Chs$ Ch$ Ch$ uss$ uUs$ USss$ uss
2001 1,940 1,310 1,635 1,150 28.55 22.60 24.20 0016.
2002 3,000 1,620 1,660 1,305 44.75 23.00 24.44 4118.
2003 3,050 1,630 2,995 1,580 47.10 22.00 46.26 6021.
2004 3,900 2,350 3,580 2,160 68.00 37.05 62.75 32.98
2005 7,000 3,600 7,170 3,269 129.40 66.80 133.37 57.50

(b) Last 10 quarters
Santiago Stock Exchange NYSE
Per Share (2) per ADS
Series A Series B (1) Series A (3) Series B (1)
High Low High Low High Low High Low
Chs$ Chs$ Ch$ Ch$ Uss$ Us$ Us$ uUs$

2004
First quarter 2,500 2,350 2,610 2,229  43.99 40.25 44.10 37.25
Second quarter 2,600 2,380 2,590 2,160 42.75 37.05 41.10 32.98
Third quarter 3,000 2,575 2,935 2,530 48.25 40.90 48.20 39.23
Fourth quarter 3,900 3,000 3,580 2,955 68.00 48.75 62.75 43.51
2005
First quarter 4,900 3,600 4,760 3,269 83.50 66.80 80.55 57.50
Second quarter 6,010 4,900 5,900 4,597 103.00 84.95 101.75 78.98
Third quarter 7,000 6,000 7,170 5,889 127.25 101.50 128.38 101.45
Fourth quarter 6,800 5,600 6,989 5,382 129.40 103.18 133.37 104.23
2006
First quarter 6,000 5,599 6,390 5,540 115.50 105.02 122.53 109.88
Second quarter
(through May 31) 5,950 5,599 6,001 5,390 109.01 95.70 120.31 100.58
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c) Last 6 months

Santiago Stock Exchange NYSE
Per Share (2) per ADS
Series A Series B (1) Series A (3) Series B (1)
High Low High Low High Low High Low
Ch$ Chs$ Chs$ Chs uss uss uss uss
December 2005 6,450 5,600 6,168 5,382 115.05 103.18 120.10 104.23
January 2006 6,000 5,599 6,251 5,540 112.02 105.02 119.82 109.88
February 2006 5,901 5,860 6,390 6,050 115.50 108.04 122.53 114.28
March 2006 5,955 5,901 6,300 6,050 11351 109.53 120.95 113.50
April 2006 5,950 5,730 6,001 5,640 109.01 103.01 116.25 109.30
May-06 5,800 5,680 5,951 5,390 104.10 95.70 116.03 100.58

(1) Series B shares began trading on the New York Stackange on September 1993.
(2) Pesos per share of Common Stock reflect nomine¢ @t trade date.
(3) Series A shares started trading on the New YorkkSExchange in April 9, 1999.

As of June 15, 2006, there were 14,637 Series A3a2R,492 Series B ADSs (equivalent to 146,37(eSe&
shares and 32,924,920 Series B shares respectiwgitanding held by 3 holders of record for SefiesDSs
and 11 holders of record for the Series B ADSs.ofA%une 15, such ADSs represented approximateh7¥2
of the total number of issued and outstanding shaffeur Company.

9.B Plan Of Distribution

Not Applicable
9.C Markets

The Series A shares and the Series B shares aentiyrtraded on the Santiago Stock Exchange, thieaB
Electronica de Chile Bolsa de Valores S.A., (thecEbnic Stock Exchange), and the Bolsa de Core=sdor
Bolsa de Valores S.A., (the Valparaiso Stock Exghan Each series also is traded on the New YookkSt
Exchange in the form of ADSs, each representinGé@es B and 10 Series A shares respectively. BEm&

of New York (the Depositary) is the Depositary aftlo Series. The ADSs representing Series A shaes
traded on the NYSE since April 9, 1999; the ADSgreeenting Series B shares have traded on the NYSE
since September 21, 1993.

9.0 Selling Shareholders

Not applicable
9. Dilution

Not applicable
9.F Expenses Of The Issue

Not applicable

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

10.A. Share Capital
Not applicable
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10.B. Memorandum And Articles Of Association

SQM, headquartered at El Trovador N° 4285, PisBahitiago, Chile, is an open stock corporatsociedad
anonima, abiertaorganized under the laws of the Republic of Chiléne Company was constituted by public
deed issued on June 17, 1968 by the Notary Publ@antiago Mr. Sergio Rodriguez Garcés. Its eriste
was approved by Decree No. 1.164 of June 22, 19@88adMinistry of Finance, and it was registeredJome
29, 1968 in the Business Registry of Santiago,agept.537 N° 1.992.

Corporate purposes

Our specific purposes, which appear on article 4uwfBy-laws, are to:(a) perform all kinds of chemical or
mining activities and businesses and, among otlihose related to researching, prospecting, extigact
producing, working, processing, purchasing, dispgsif, and commercializing properties, as applieabf all
metallic and non-metallic and fossil mining subs&sand elements of any type or nature, to berwatdrom
them or from one or more concessions or mining siépoand in their natural or converted state, or
transformed into different raw materials or mantdeed or partially manufactured products, and bfights
and properties thereor(p) manufacture, produce, work, purchase, transfereostnip, import, export,
distribute, transport, and commercialize in any walf kinds of fertilizers, components, raw matksia
chemical, mining, agricultural, and industrial puots, and their by-product&;) generate, produce, distribute,
purchase, transfer ownership, and commercializeaninway, all kinds of electrical, thermal, or atltigpe of
power, and hydric resources or water rights in ganél) request, manifest, claim, constitute, explore,kwor
lease, transfer ownership, and purchase, in any alakinds of mining concession&) purchase, transfer
ownership, and administer, in any way, any kindetécommunications, railroads, ships, ports, andraeans

of transport, and represent and manage shipping&oies, common carriers by water, airlines, andesin
general;(f) manufacture, produce, commercialize, maintainairepssemble, construct, disassemble, purchase
and transfer ownership, and in any way, any kinéle€tromechanical structure, and substructuresirersl,
components, parts, spares, or parts of equipmemd, raachines, and execute, develop, advice, and
commercialize, any kind of electromechanical or lsng activities; (g) purchase, transfer ownership, lease,
and commercialize any kind of agroindustrial andnfdorestry activities, in any wayh) purchase, transfer
ownership, lease, and commercialize, in any way,kémd of urban or rural real estat€g; render any kind of
health services and manage hospitals, privatecsliror similar facilitiesyj) construct, maintain, purchase,
transfer ownership, and manage, in any way, ang kinroads, tunnels, bridges, water supply systemd,
other required infrastructure works, without angitation, regardless of whether they may be public
private, among others, to participate in bids amigreinto any kind of contracts, and to be the lleyener of
the applicable concessions; il purchase, transfer ownership, and commercializany way, any kind of
intangible properties such as stocks, bonds, detegtfinancial assets, commercial papers, shargghts in
corporations, and any kind of bearer securitiesnstruments, and to administer such investmentsngac
always within the Investment and Financing Policesproved by the applicable General Shareholders
Meeting. We may comply with the foregoing actingselves or through or with other different legalitees

or natural persons, within the country or abroaih ygroperties of our own or owned by third partiaad
additionally, in the ways and territories, and witle aforementioned properties and purposes, we aisay
construct and operate industrial or agriculturailifdes or installations; constitute, administgrurchase,
transfer ownership, dissolve, liquidate, transformodify, or form part of partnerships, institutions
foundations, corporations, or associations of aimg lor nature; perform all actions, enter into @htracts,
and incur in all obligations convenient or necegsar the foregoing; perform any business or attivelated

to its properties, assets, or patrimony, or witht @f its affiliates, associated companies, orteelaompanies,
and render financial, commercial, technical, legalditing, administrative, advisory, and other iperit
services.
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Directors

The Company's By-laws, in articles 16 and 16 bisentially establishes that the transactions irchwiai

Director has a material interest must comply with provisions set forth in articles 44 and 136 afvLN°

18.046 and the applicable regulations of such Ladatwithstanding the above, the said operationst rheas
approved by two thirds of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors' duties are remuneratedstated in article 17 of the Company's By-laws, &mal
amount of that compensation is fixed yearly by @eneral Ordinary Shareholders Meeting. Therefore,
Directors can neither determine nor modify theimpensation.

Directors cannot authorize Company loans on thefialf.

As stated in article 10 of the Company's By-lawse&lors can be reelected indefinitely; thus, thereo age
limit for their retirement.

As stated in article 9 of the Company's By-laws tlossession of shares is not a necessary condition
become a Director of our Company.

Shares

Dividends are annually distributed to the Serieamndl Series B shareholders of record on the fifgirtmss day
prior to the date for payment of the dividends.e By-laws do not specify a time limit after whiclvidend
entitlement elapses but Chilean regulations estabhat after 5 years, unclaimed dividends arestddnated
to the Fire Department.

Article 5 of the Company's By-laws establishes ®aties B shares may in no case exceed fifty pecfeyur
issued, outstanding and paid shares. Series Bsharve a restricted right to vote as they can elagt one
Director of the Company, regardless of its capgiick's share and the preferences. An Ordinary or
Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting may be calleenwtihe shareholders of at least 5% of Series Bedssu
shares request so and an Extraordinary Board afcidirs Meeting may be called without the Chairman's
authorization when it is requested by the Direefected by the shareholders of the Series B sh&@eses A
shares have the option to exclude the Directortedeby Series B shareholders from the voting podes
which the Chairman of the Board is to be electkethare is a tie in the first voting process. Heoere articles

31 and 31 bis establish that in General Sharet®lilieretings each shareholder will have a right te wote

for each share he owns or represents and thatamehsbider will have the right to vote for himseifan behalf

of other shareholders of the same Series A or S&ighares representing more than 37.5% of théamdiiang
shares with right to vote of each Series. In caking a single shareholder's ownership of Series B shares,
the shareholder's stock and those pertaining td darties related to them are to be added.

Article 5 bis of the Company's By-laws establistiest no person may directly or by means of reldléd
persons, state-owned companies, decentralizedh@utmis, municipal, or other institutions, conceetraore
than 32% of our total shares with right to vote.

Each Series A Share and Series B Share is ertitlebare equally in the Company's profits, i.eeythave the
same rights on any dividends declared on the qwdstg shares of SQM.

Our By-laws do not contain any provision relatimg (i) redemption provisions, (ii) sinking funds @)
liability to capital calls by the Company.

As established in Article 103 of Law 18.046, a camyp subject to the supervision of the Chilean Stesr
and Exchange Commission may be liquidated in theviing cases:

(a) Expiration of the duration term, if any, atagdished in its By-laws;

(b) All the shares end up in the possession ofimdigidual;

(c) By agreement of an Extraordinary Shareholtiéesting;

(d) By abolition, pursuant to applicable lawstlué decree that authorized its existence;

(e) Any other reason contemplated in its By-laws.
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Article 40 of the Company's By-laws states thatha event of liquidation, the Shareholders Meetivily
appoint a three-member receiver committee that halle the authority to carry out the liquidatiorogess.
Any surplus will be distributed equally among tiheusholders.

The only way to change the rights of the holderswfshares is by modifying the By-laws, which caty be
carried out by an Extraordinary Shareholders Meetas set forth in article 28 of the Company Bydaw

Shareholders meetings

Article 29 of the Company's By-laws states that ¢dadl to a Shareholders Meetings, either Ordinary o
Extraordinary, will be by means of a highlightedbfici notice that will be published at least thregmes, and

on different days, in the newspaper of the legaress determined by the Shareholders Meeting, rarldei
way and under the conditions indicated by the Ragurs. Additionally, a notice will be sent by inia each
shareholder at least fifteen days prior to the détdhe Meeting, which note shall include a refeesiof the
matters to be addressed thereat. However, thosénge with the full attendance of the shares wiight to
vote may be legally held, even if the foregoingniat notice requirements are not met. Notice of any
Shareholders Meeting shall be delivered to thedgahilSecurities Commission (SVS), at least fifteaysdn
advance of such meeting.

Any holder of Series A and/or Series B shares teigd in the Company's shareholder registry oneforb
the fifth business day prior to the date of the tngewill have a right to participate at that meeti

Foreign shareholders

There exists no restriction on ownership or sharecentration, or limiting the exercise of the rethtight to
vote, by local or foreign shareholders other tHarsé discussed under Item 10.B. Memorandum andlésti
of Association -Shares above.

Change in Control

Our Company By-laws provide that no shareholder owycentrate more than 32% of our shares, unless th
by-laws are modified at an extraordinary sharehsldeeeting. Moreover, on December 12, 2000, the
government published the Ley de Oferta Publica deighes (Public Share Offering law) or (OPA lawatth
seeks to protect the interests of minority shaiddrsl of open stock corporations in transactionslinng a
change in control, by requiring that the potentiav controller purchase the shares owned by theirémg
shareholders either in total or pro rata. The épplies to those transactions in which the corntiglparty
would receive a material premium price comparech wiite price that would be received by the minority
shareholders.

There are three conditions that would make it meorgldo operate under the OPA law:
(2) When an investor wants to take control of ajgany's stock.

(2) When a controlling shareholder holds two-thioishe company's stock. If such shareholder
buys one more share, it will be mandatory to offeacquire the rest of the outstanding stock
within 30 days of surpassing that threshold.

3 When an investor wants to take control of apooation, which, in turn, controls an open
stock corporation that represents 75% or more ef dbnsolidated assets of the former
corporation.

Parties interested in taking control of a compamginti) notify the company of such intention in tivg, and
notify its controllers, the companies controlledibythe SVS and the markets where its stocksradet and
(i) publish a highlighted public notice in two nspapers of national circulation at least 10 busimagys prior
to the date of materialization of the OPA.
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Disclosure of share ownership

The Company's By-laws do not provide for a minimthineshold at which share ownership must be disdlose

10.C. Material Contracts

As mentioned elsewhere in this document, we coedeatir production facilities in the north of Chitethe
SING power grid with the purpose of reducing ouwppgeneration related costs. As a result, weredtieito
three long-term supply contracts with two elecprmver companies: Electroandina S.A. and Norgenar S.
Additionally, we replaced the fuel oil used in hegneration and in fusion processes by connecting o
facilities to international natural gas pipelinés, which there is also a long term supply contradte believe
that the terms and conditions of these contraetsi@ndard for the industry.

The following summarizes the terms and conditiohthe main contracts to which SQM or any subsidiarg
party:

« On February 12, 1999, SQM S.A. entered into an tEte¢ Energy Supply contract with
Electroandina S.A. The term of this contract rtim®ugh February 12, 2009 and the anticipated
termination is subject to payment of non amortimegstments.

e On March 21, 1997, SQM Salar S.A. entered into lactEcity Supply agreement with Norgener S.A.
The term of this contract runs through July 31,722GInd anticipated termination is subject to fifors
un-received income.

e On January 13, 1998, SQM Nitratos S.A. entered amcElectrical Energy Supply agreement with
Norgener S.A. The term of this contract runs tgtowanuary 31, 2013 and the anticipated
termination is subject to payment of non amortiregstments.

« On May 22, 2001, SQM S.A. entered into a Naturas Gapply agreement with Distrinor S.A. The
term of this contract runs through May 21, 2011 Hredanticipated termination is subject to payment
of non amortized investments.

We are currently in arbitration processes with Etsndina and Norgener and face risks regarding the
continuity of natural gas supply. For further infa@ation see Item 3. D. Risk factors.

In addition, our Company, during the normal cowkéusiness, has entered into different contracteme of
which have been described herein — related tordadystion, commercial and legal operations. Alltioése
contracts are standard for this type of industrg aane of them is expected to have a material effleche
Company's results of operations.

10.D. Exchange Controls

The Central Bank of Chile is responsible for, amotiter things, monetary policies and exchange ot:in
Chile. Appropriate registration of a foreign intrasnt in Chile permits the investor access to tbar@l
Exchange Market. Foreign investments can be exgidtwith the Foreign Investment Committee under
Decree Law N°600 of 1974 or can be registered thighCentral Bank of Chile under the Central Bank, Ac
Law N°18840 of October 1989. The Central Bank iscan organic constitutional law requiring a "spéci
majority" vote of the Chilean Congress to be meudifi

Our 1993, 1995 and 1998 capital increases werdedagut under and subject to the then current legal
regulations, whose summary is hereafter included:

A 'Convencion Capitulo XXVI del Titulo | del Compendie Normas de Cambios Internacionales'
Compendium of Foreign Exchange Regulations of teeti@l Bank of Chile, "Foreign Investment Contract"
was entered into and among the Central Bank ofeCbillr Company and the Depositary, pursuant tacl&rti
47 of the Central Bank Act and to Chapter XXVI b&tCompendium of Foreign Exchange Regulationsef th
Central Bank of Chile, "Chapter XXVI", which addses the issuance of ADSs by a Chilean company.
Absent the Foreign Investment Contract, under agple Chilean exchange controls, investors woutdbeo
granted access to the Formal Exchange Market fomptirposes of converting from Chilean Pesos to U.S.
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dollars and repatriating from Chile amounts recagtiirerespect to deposited Series A or B shareedeSA

or B shares withdrawn from deposit on surrendekdRs (including amounts received as cash divideards
proceeds from the sale in Chile of the underlyirgri€s A and Series B shares and any rights arising
therefrom). The following is a summary of the nnafleprovisions contained in the Foreign Investment
Contract. This summary does not purport to be derm@nd is qualified in its entirety by referetoceChapter
XXVI and the Foreign Investment Contract.

Under Chapter XXVI and the Foreign Investment Cactirthe Central Bank of Chile has agreed to giant
the Depositary, on behalf of ADR holders, and ty arvestor not residing or not domiciled in Chiléhav
withdraws Series A or Series B shares upon delivdnADRs (such Series A and Series B shares being
referred to herein as "Withdrawn shares") accesbed-ormal Exchange Market to convert Chilean éso
U.S. dollars (and remit such U.S. dollars outsideChile) in respect of Series A and Series B shares
represented by ADSs or Withdrawn shares, includingunts received as (a) cash dividends, (b) preceed
from the sale in Chile of Withdrawn shares, or frehares distributed because of the liquidation,gereor
consolidation of the Company, subject to receipth®y Central Bank of Chile of a certificate frone tholder

of such shares (or from an institution authorizgdhe Central Bank of Chile) that such holder'sdesce and
domicile are outside Chile and a certificate fror€@llean stock exchange (or from a brokerage ourstezs

firm established in Chile) that such shares weild en a Chilean Exchange, (c) proceeds from tie isa
Chile of preemptive rights to subscribe for additib Series A and Series B shares, (d) proceeds fnem
liquidation, merger or consolidation of the Compamd (e) other distributions, including without ifation
those resulting from any recapitalization, as alltesf holding Series A and Series B shares repiteseby
ADSs or Withdrawn shares. Transferees of Withdr&hares will not be entitled to any of the foregpin
rights under Chapter XXVI unless the Withdrawn S®samre redeposited with the Depositary. Investors
receiving Withdrawn Shares in exchange for ADR$ e the right to redeposit such shares in exgphdor
ADRs, provided that the conditions to redepositdbed hereunder are satisfied.

Chapter XXVI provided that access to the Formaltaxge Market in connection with dividend payments
will be conditioned upon certification by the Comgato the Central Bank of Chile that a dividend rpant
has been made and any applicable tax has beeneldthfChapter XXVI also provides that access to the
Formal Exchange Market in connection with the s#léVithdrawn Shares or distributions thereon widl b
conditioned upon receipt by the Central Bank ofl€bf certification by the Depositary that suchrgisahave
been withdrawn in exchange for ADRs and receiptiofvaiver of the benefit of the Foreign Investment
Contract with respect thereto until such Withdre®irares are redeposited.

Chapter XXVI and the Foreign Investment Contracivjited that a person who brings certain types iifm
currency into Chile, including U.S. dollars, to pase Series A shares and/or Series B sharesheitbenefit
of the Foreign Investment Contract must convemtid Chilean Pesos on the same date and has 5Snganki
business days within which to invest in Series Areh and/or Series B shares in order to receivbdhefits
of the Foreign Investment Contract. If such perdeaides within such period not to acquire SerieshAres
and/or Series B shares, he can access the Formladiige Market to reacquire foreign currency, predithat
the applicable request is presented to the Cegnak within 7 banking business days of the initahversion
into pesos. Series A shares and/or Series B sharpsred as described above may be deposited B@sA
and receive the benefits of the Foreign Investriamttract, subject to receipt by the Central BanCbile of

a certificate from the Depositary that such depbsa# been effected and that the related ADRs haea b
issued and receipt by the Custodian of a declardt@mm the person making such deposit waiving thieefits
of the Foreign Investment Contract with resped¢htodeposited Series A shares and/or Series Bsshare

Access to the Formal Exchange Market under anyhefcircumstances described above is not automatic.
Pursuant to Chapter XXVI, such access requiredayaprof the Central Bank of Chile based on a reques
presented through a banking institution establishe@hile. The Foreign Investment Contract wilbpide

that if the Central Bank of Chile has not actedsanh request within seven banking days, the requiidbe
deemed approved.

Under current Chilean law, foreign investments igjdy the Foreign Investment Contract cannot kengkd
unilaterally by the Central Bank of Chile. No asswce can be given, however, that additional Chilea
restrictions applicable to the holders of ADRs, tligposition of underlying Series A shares and/erieS B
shares or the repatriation of the proceeds fronh slisposition could not be imposed in the future;, can
there be any assessment of the duration or impacich restrictions if imposed.
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As of April 19, 2001, Chapter XXVI of Title | of hhCompendio de Normas de Cambios Internacionafes
the Central Bank of Chile was eliminated and nevedments in ADR's by non-residents of Chile, aye/ n
governed by Chapter XIV of the Compendio de Norm@sCambios Internacionales of the Central Bank of
Chile. This was made with the purpose of simplifyand facilitating the flow of capital to and fraGhile.
According to the new regulations, such investmentst be carried out through Chile's Formal Exchange
Market and only reported to the Central Bank ofl€hiForeign investments may still be registerethwhe
Foreign Investment Committee under Decree Law &009G4, as amended, and obtain the benefits of the
contract executed under Decree Law 600.

The Central Bank is also responsible for contrgllincurrence of loan obligations to be paid froml€hand
by a Chilean borrower to banks and certain otheanftial institutions outside Chile. The following a
summary of the relevant portions of Chapter XIVamting the incurrence of loan obligations and doets
purport to be complete and is qualified in its \=iti by reference to the provisions of Chapter XIV.

The Central Bank must be informed of any incurreatéoan obligations to be paid from Chile and by a
Chilean borrower to banks and certain other firgnoistitutions outside of Chile. As of Decembér, 2005,
we had one long-term loan outstanding obtainedhéniniternational markets ( through a Rule 144Aerirfig

of US$200 million). Additionally Royal Seed TradinGorporation, a wholly owned subsidiary fully
guaranteed by us, has a US$100.0 million syndidagedoutstanding that is fully guaranted by us.

The Central Bank authorized our 144A long-term Joamd was duly informed about the guaranty given to
Royal Seed. Additionally, on April 2006 we inforththe Central Bank about the issuance of new R4JiA
bonds for an amount of US$200 million. Accordingll purchases of U.S. dollars in connection with
payments on these loans will occur in the Formalharnge Market. There can be no assurance, howtbgér,
restrictions applicable to payments in respechefloans could not be imposed in the future, nartbare be
any assessment of the duration or impact of susthigions if imposed.

10.E. Taxation

Chilean Tax Considerations

The following describes the material Chilean inca@me consequences of an investment in the ADRsrby a
individual who is not domiciled or resident in Ghibr any legal entity that is not organized untierlaws of
Chile and does not have a permanent establishroeated in Chile, a "foreign holder." This discossis
based upon Chilean income tax laws presently igefomcluding Ruling No. 324 (1990) of the Chilean
Internal Revenue Service and other applicable atigmis and rulings. The discussion is not intenaedax
advice to any particular investor, which can bedezad only in light of that investor's particulax tsituation.

Under Chilean law, provisions contained in statuigash as tax rates applicable to foreign investtirs,
computation of taxable income for Chilean purpcmed the manner in which Chilean taxes are imposed a
collected may only be amended by another statiiteaddition, the Chilean tax authorities issuengdi and
regulations of either general or specific applmatand interpret the provisions of Chilean tax la@hilean tax
may not be assessed retroactively against taxpayevsact in good faith relying on such rulings, ulegions
and interpretations, but Chilean tax authoritiesy nehange said rulings, regulations and interpratati
prospectively.

Cash Dividends and Other Distributions

Cash dividends paid by the Company with respetitécshares, including shares represented by AD8dbke

a U.S. holder will be subject to a 35% Chilean titlding tax, which is withheld and paid by the Camyp,

the "Withholding Tax.” If the Company has paid porate income tax, the "First Category Tax", on the
income from which the dividend is paid, a credit foe First Category Tax effectively reduces thie raf
Withholding Tax. When a credit is available, thatholding Tax is computed by applying the 35% rate
the pre-tax amount needed to fund the dividend taed subtracting from the tentative withholding &x
determined the amount of First Category Tax actyadlid on the pre-tax income. Under Chilean incdaxe
law, dividends are assumed to have been paid cutrobldest retained tax profits for purposes dgédaining
the rate at which the First Category Tax was paid.

The effective Withholding Tax rate, after givindesft to the credit for First Category Tax, gengrait
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(Withholding Tax rate) - (First Cateqgory Tax efigetrate)
1 - (First Category Tax effective rate)

The effective rate of Withholding Tax to be imposeddividends paid by the Company will vary depegdi
upon the amount of the First Category Tax paidHey @ompany on the earnings to which the dividemds a
attributed. From 1992 through 1997, the Comparigt past Category Tax at an effective rate below 5%
statutory rate then valid. The effective rateref Withholding Tax on dividends paid from incomeibtitable

to those years therefore will be higher. During ylears 1999 and 2000, the Company distributedielinds
from income qualified under Chilean law as non-bkd&awhich is why the Company did not withhold any
taxes. The dividends distributed by the Companyesponding to the business year 2005 were divilend
considered taxable, and the total tax retentiomwets approximately 22%.

Dividend distributions made in property (such astribution of cash equivalents) would be subjedhtnsame
Chilean tax rules as cash dividends. Stock diddeare not subject to Chilean taxation.

Capital Gains

Gains from the sale or other disposition by a fymeholder of ADR outside Chile will not be subjdot
Chilean taxation . The deposit and withdrawalha shares in exchange for ADSs will not be sulieetny
Chilean taxes.

The tax basis of the shares received in exchang@B@&s (repatriation) will be the acquisition valaéthe
shares. The shares exchanged for ADSs are vatun dighest price at which they trade on the &zimil
Stock Exchange on the date of the exchange ortberedf the two business days preceding the exe&hang
Consequently, the conversion of ADSs into the sharel the immediate sale of such shares at a gujica to

or less than the highest price for Series A shareSeries B shares on the Chilean Stock Exchangaiom
dates will not generate a gain subject to Chileaatton.

Gain recognized on a sale or exchange of sharedigtimguished from sales or exchanges of ADSs
representing such shares) will be subject to bughRirst Category Tax and the Withholding Tax ther (i)
the foreign holder has held the shares for less tme year since exchanging the ADSs for the shérethe
foreign holder acquired and disposed of the shiarése ordinary course of its business or as alaedtader

of shares, or (iii) the foreign holder and the paser of the shares are related parties withimtbaning of
Chilean tax law. The amount of the First Catedlayx may be credited against the amount of the Wiltihg
Tax. In all other cases, gain on the dispositibthe shares will be subject only to a capital gdax, which is
assessed at the same rate as the First Category Gaix recognized in the transfer of common shdras
have a high presence in the stock exchange, howieveot subject to capital gains tax in Chile,yided that
the common shares are transferred in a localasgd) in other authorized stock exchanges, orirwithe
process of a public tender of common shares gedeby the Chilean Securities Market Act. The camm
shares must also have been acquired either inck sexchange , within the referred process of wblip
tender of a common shares governed by the Chisurities Market Act, in an initial public offerf o
common shares resulting from the formation of gpomtion or a capital increase of the same, ornn a
exchange of convertible bonds. Common sharesargidered to have a high presence in the stockagxeh
when they: a) are registered in the Securities $dggb) are registered in a Chilean Stock Exchanpéave
an adjusted presence equal to or above 25%.

As of June 19, 2001 capital gains obtained in #le sf common shares that are publicly traded #toak
exchange are also exempt from capital gains takhite when the sale is made by "foreign institugion
investors" such as mutual funds and pension fumasjided that the sale is made in a stock exchaoge
accordance with the provisions of the securitiesketdaw (law 18.045), or in any other form autlzed by
the SVS. To qualify as foreign institutional int@s, the referred entities must be formed outsid€hile,
not have domicile in Chile, and they must be arnéstment fund" in according with the Chilean taw |

The exercise of preemptive rights relating to shavél not be subject to Chilean taxation. Anyrgan the
sale or assignment of preemptive rights relatinghi@res will be subject to both the First Categay and the
Withholding Tax (the former being creditable agaihg latter).
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Other Chilean Taxes

No Chilean inheritance, gift or succession taxgdyafo the transfer or disposition of the ADSs bjoeeign
holder, but such taxes generally will apply to ttansfer at death or by gift of the shares by aifpr holder.
No Chilean stamp, issue, registration or similaesaor duties apply to foreign holders of ADSslmarss.

Withholding Tax Certificates
Upon request, the Company will provide to foreigidiers appropriate documentation evidencing theryesny
of Chilean withholding taxes.

United States Tax Considerations

The following discussion summarizes the materi®.Uederal income tax consequences to beneficiaeosv
arising from the acquisition, ownership and disposiof the Series A shares and the Series B sliargsther
the "shares" and the ADSs. The discussion whittbwis is based on the United States Internal Regénde

of 1986, as amended, the "Code", the Treasury adgns promulgated thereunder, and judicial and
administrative interpretations thereof, all as fie@ on the date hereof, and is subject to anygba in these
or other laws occurring after such date. In addjtthe summary is based in part on representatibiise
depositary and assumes that each obligation prdvide in or otherwise contemplated by the Deposit
Agreement or any other related document will bégoered in accordance with its terms.

For purposes of this summary, the term "U.S. Hlldezans a beneficial owner of shares or ADSs #)dbr
U.S. federal income tax purposes, (a) an individdab is a United States citizen or resident, (bpigooration
or partnership (other than a partnership that istreated as a U.S. person under any applicablastirg
regulations and certain partnerships that have anmore partners who are not U.S. persons) created
organized under the laws of the United States grpatitical subdivision thereof, or (c) an estatetroist that
is subject to United States federal income tax omtabasis with respect to its worldwide incomehe Term
"Non-U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of skaneADSs that is, for U.S. federal income tax jpsgs, a
(a) nonresident alien individual, (b) foreign cargition, or (c) nonresident alien fiduciary of adign estate or
trust.

The discussion that follows is not intended asddwxice to any particular investor and is limitedngestors
who will hold the shares or ADSs as "capital assefithin the meaning of Section 1221 of the Codé an
whose functional currency is the United StatesatlollThe summary does not address the tax treath&hS.
Holders and Non-U.S. Holders that may be subjesptrial U.S. federal income tax rules, such agamce
companies, tax-exempt organizations, banks, U.&ldi#® who are subject to the alternative minimury ta
U.S. Holders and Non-U.S. Holders who are broketdeats in securities, who hold the shares or ADSa as
hedge against currency risks, as a position irtraddle” for tax purposes, or as part of a coneersir other
integrated transaction, or who own (directly, iedity or by attribution) 10% or more of the totaintbined
voting power of all classes of the Company's capitack entitled to vote or 10% or more of the eabf the
outstanding capital stock of the Company.

There exist no reciprocal tax treaties betweerRiygublic of Chile and the United States.

The discussion below does not address the effeangfUnited States state, local, estate or giftléax or
foreign tax law on a U.S. Holder or Non-U.S. Holdérthe shares or ADSs. U.S. HOLDERS AND NON-
U.S. HOLDERS OF SHARES OR ADSs SHOULD CONSULT THEM®WN TAX ADVISORS TO
DETERMINE THE CONSEQUENCES UNDER ANY SUCH LAW OF \ESTING IN THE SHARES OR
ADSs.

For purposes of applying U.S. federal income tax lany beneficial owner of an ADS will be treateslthe
owner of the underlying shares represented thereby.

Cash Dividends and Other Distributions
The gross amount of a distribution with respecshares or ADSs (other than distributions in redé@npor
liquidation) will be treated as a taxable dividetodthe extent of the Company's current and accuedila

earnings and profits, computed in accordance with. federal income tax principles. A dividend digition
will be so included in gross income when receivgddr otherwise made available to) (i) the U.S. d¢olin
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the case of the shares or (ii) the depositary éncéise of the ADSs, and in either case will beattarized as
ordinary income for U.S. federal income tax purgos®istributions in excess of the Company's curesm
accumulated earnings and profits will be appliedimgt and will reduce the U.S. Holder's tax basighie
shares or ADSs and, to the extent distributiongedcsuch tax basis, the excess will be treatecdiasipm a
sale or exchange of such shares or ADSs. U.S.drolthat are corporations will not be allowed auéidn
for dividends received in respect of distributiamsthe shares or the ADSs. For example, if theggemount
of a distribution with respect to the shares or ARSceeds the Company's current and accumulatachgsr
and profits by US$10.00, such excess will generatiiybe subject to a U.S. tax to the extent the H&der's
tax basis in the shares or ADSs equals or exce884Q00.

If a dividend distribution is paid in Chilean pestis®e amount includable in income will generallythe U.S.
dollar value, on the date of receipt by the U.Slddoin the case of the shares or by the depositattye case
of the ADSs, of the peso amount distributed, relgasdof whether the payment is actually convenal U.S.
dollars. Any gain or loss resulting from currerexchange rate fluctuations during the period frbm date
the dividend is includable in the income of the WHBIder to the date the pesos are converted irfo dbllars
will be treated as ordinary income or loss.

A dividend distribution will be treated as foreigource income and will generally be classified pasSive
income" or "financial services income" for U.S.dmn tax credit purposes. If Chilean withholdilmgds are
imposed on a dividend, U.S. Holders will be treadechaving actually received the amount of suchgdret
of any credit for the First Category Tax) and agitg paid such amount to the Chilean taxing auttesri As
a result, the amount of dividend income includedyioss income by a U.S. Holder will be greater tttan
amount of cash actually received by the U.S. Holdigh respect to such dividend income. A U.S. Kold
may be able, subject to certain generally appledibiitations, to claim a foreign tax credit or @ddiction for
Chilean withholding taxes (net of any credit foe thirst Category Tax) imposed on dividend paymefiise
rules relating to the determination of the U.S.efgn tax credit are complex, and the calculationJds.
foreign tax credits and, in the case of a U.S. Holihat elects to deduct foreign taxes, the avidithalof
deductions, involve the application of rules thapeind on a U.S. Holder's particular circumstancesS.
Holders should, therefore, consult their own taxisats regarding the application of the U.S. fonetgx
credit rules to dividend income on the shares 068D

Non-U.S. Holders generally will not be subject td&SUtax on a distribution with respect to sharef\DSs
unless such Non-U.S. Holder has certain connectmiise United States.

Capital Gains

A U.S. Holder will generally recognize gain or losstbe sale, redemption or other disposition ofghares
or ADSs in an amount equal to the difference betwtbe amount realized on the sale or exchange lend t
U.S. Holder's adjusted basis in such shares or ADSuus, if the U.S. Holder sells the shares fosU800
and such U.S. Holder's tax basis in such shard$$30.00, such U.S. Holder will generally recogrézgain
of US$10.00 for U.S. federal income tax purpos€sin or loss upon the sale of the shares or AD8dbwi
capital gain or loss if the shares or ADSs aretabpssets in the hands of the U.S. Holder. Clagitas on
the sale of capital assets held for one year grdes subject to U.S. federal income tax at orgliirezome tax
rates. Net capital gains derived with respectdpital assets held for more than one year arebidigor
reduced rates of taxation. Gain or loss realized lJ.S. Holder on the sale or exchange of shardsD&s
will be U.S.-source income. In addition, certamitations exist on the deductibility of capitakkes by both
corporate and individual taxpayers. Any tax imgbbg Chile directly on the gain from such a saleulgo
generally be eligible for the U.S. foreign tax détedowever, because the gain would generally & dource,
a U.S. Holder might not be able to use the creifliérmvise available. U.S. Holders should consiéirtbwn
tax advisors regarding the foreign tax credit iwggions of the sale, redemption or other dispasitiba Share
or ADS.

A Non-U.S. Holder of ADSs or shares will not be jgab to United States income or withholding taxgain

from the sale or other disposition of ADSs or skangless, in general (i) such gain is effectivedyreected
with the conduct of a trade or business within lthréted States or (ii) the Non-U.S. Holder is anivwilal

who is present in the United States for at lea8td#ys during the taxable year of the disposiiondl certain
other conditions are met.
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Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Payments of dividends on the shares or ADSs angrheeeds of sale or other disposition of the share
ADSs within the United States by certain non-cogp®holders may be subject to U.S. information g
and backup withholding. A U.S. Holder generallylwie subject to U.S. information reporting and gz
withholding at a rate of 30% unless the recipignguch payment supplies an accurate taxpayer fagibn
number, as well as certain other information, dreowise establishes an exemption, in the mannecpbed
by law. U.S. information reporting and backup witlding of U.S. federal income tax at a rate of 30fy
also apply to Non-U.S. Holders that are not "exerapipients" and that fail to provide certain infation as
may be required by United States law and applicadgeilations. Any amount withheld under U.S. bgcku
withholding is not an additional tax and is genlgrallowable as a credit against the U.S. Holdésteral
income tax liability upon furnishing the requireddrmation to the IRS.

HOLDERS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORSREGARDING THE
APPLICATION OF THE U.S. INFORMATION REPORTING ANDACKUP WITHHOLDING RULES TO
THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES

10.F. Dividends And Paying Agents

Not applicable

10.G. Statement By Experts
Not applicable

10.H. Documents On Display
Documents referred to in this form 20-F are avéélab the public at:

http://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/companyseard¢tiim!, CIK: 909037.

10.1. Subsidiary Information

See Item 4.C. Organizational Structure.

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET
RISK

As explained elsewhere in this Annual Report, va@geact our businesses in more than 100 counthiessiy
rendering our market risk dependent upon the fatains of foreign currencies and local and inteomai
interest rates. These fluctuations may generatefin the value of financial instruments taketih@normal
course of business.

We, from time to time and depending upon then airmaarket conditions, review and re-establish our
financial policies to protect our operations. Mgement is authorized by our Board of Directorsrigage in
certain derivative contracts such as forwards avaps to specifically hedge the fluctuations in iegt rates
and in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.

Derivative instruments used by us are transacti@tific so that a specific debt instrument or cacttr
determines the amount, maturity and other termghefhedge. We do not use derivative instruments fo
speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk As of December 31, 2004, we had a total findnd&bt of US$ 213.6 million where
approximately 96% was priced at a fixed rate. Dp@005 until March 312006, we issued US$ 100 million
long-term and US$ 61.7 million short-term bank dphted at a variable rate plus US$ 102.1 milliong-
term bond priced at a fixed rate. During April 200& issued US$ 200 million long-term notes uridale
144A bonds at a fixed rate. Therefore as of May &106, 25% of our financial debt was exposed to
fluctuations in Libor.

89



Expected Maturity Date

On Balance Sheet Financial 2010 and Fair
Instruments 2006 2007 2008 2009 thereafter Total Value
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Fixed Rate ($US) 207,700 - - - - 207,700 208,154
Average interest rate: 7.7% 207,700 - - - - 7,200 208,154
Variable Rate ($US) 72,910 5,200 5,200 5,200 1@1,3089,810 167,710
Average interest rate: 5.2% 5,200 5,200 5,200 20®%, 101,300 122,100 101,221
Average Interest rate: 4.7%) 67,710 - - - - 67,710 67,710
Total 280,610 5,200 5,200 5,200 101,300 397,510 &b

(*) Short-term debt.

We maintain the majority of our short-term finanaiabt priced at Libor plus a spread for which veereht
have any kind of derivative contract.

Exchange Rate RiskAlthough the U.S. dollar is the primary currencywhich we transact our businesses,
our operations throughout the world expose us ha&xge rate variations for non-U.S. dollar curresci
Therefore, fluctuations in the exchange rate ohslecal currencies may affect our financial corafitiand
results of operations. To lessen these effectsmaiatain derivatives contracts to protect the difference
between our principal assets and liabilities forrencies other than the U.S. dollar. These cotstrace
renewed periodically depending on the amount tecdav each currency. Aside from this, we do naldee
potential future income and expenses in currenafier than the U.S. dollar with the exception af &uro
and Chilean Peso. We estimate annual sales in &wdexpenses in Chilean Peso and secure the gechan
difference with derivatives contracts.

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004 we had the foligwiet monetary assets and liabilities that argestito
foreign exchange gain or loss fluctuation:

2005 2004
Th US$ Th US$

Chilean pesos 53,167 66,980
Brazilian real (941) (448)
Euro 19,373 20,069
Japanese yen 6,333 3,693
Mexican pesos 8,101 (2,770)
South African rand 7,529 7,074
Dirhams 11,543

Other currencies 3,282 2,224

As of December 31, 2005, we had open forward agyr&xchange contracts and options contracts taahay
sell U.S. dollars in exchange for foreign curreacier approximately Euros 26 million (US$30.6 naifi,
South African Rands 50 million (US$ 7.9 million)daMexican Pesos 60 million (US$5.6 million).. These
contracts are all short-term and a summary of tiieshown in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUIT Y SECURITIES

Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUE NCIES
Not applicable

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SE CURITY
HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

In May of 2005, SQM's by-laws were amended at draexdinary shareholders meeting in order to chahge
method of calculating the total percentage of shaetd by a single individual for voting purposéss a result
of the amendment, shares that are held directlysdades held indirectly by related third parties iacluded
in each shareholders total percentage of ownershipis calculation is used for determining whetlaer
shareholder's voting influence exceeds certaintdimihich are set forth in Article 31 of the By-lawsor
further information see Item 10.B Memorandum antiches of Association — Shares

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Control and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participationtted Company's management, including the Company's
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officewe evaluated the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedypessuant to Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-15(b), fahe

end of the period covered by this Annual Reporaseé®l upon that evaluation, the Chief Executived®ffand
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the @any's disclosure controls and procedures areteiein
providing reasonable assurance that material irdtion is made known to management and that finhaoik
non-financial information is properly recorded, ggssed, summarized and reported.

The procedures associated to our internal controds designed to provide reasonable assurance that o
transactions are properly authorized, assets degusarded against unauthorized or improper use, and
transactions are properly recorded and reportedweder, through the same design and evaluatioogexf

the disclosure controls and procedures, the Compamgnagement, including the Company's Chief Exexut
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, recognizedtttiaere are inherent limitations to the effectivenef any
internal control system regardless of how well giesd and operated. In such a way they can prawidie
reasonable assurance of achieving the desiredotooibjectives and no evaluation can provide absolut
assurance that all control issues or instancesaoflf if any, within the Company have been detected

There were no significant changes in our interoatmwls over financial reporting or in other factdhat could
significantly affect these controls subsequenthe tate of their evaluation. There were no sigaift
deficiencies or material weaknesses in our intecoatrols and procedures requiring corrective astio
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ITEM 16. [Reserved]

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

On June 21, 2005, the Board of Directors approkecestablishment of an audit committee to compti wie
requirements of the NYSE corporate governance .rdiethat meeting, the Board of Directors deterrditieat
the Company does not have an audit committee fiabegpert within the meaning of the regulations@ted
under Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Pursuant to Chilean regulations, the Company hB#rectors’ Committee whose main duties are sintiar
those of an audit committee. Each of the memberth@fDirectors’ Committee is a member of the audit
committee. See 6.C. Board Practices.

Our Board believes that the members of the Direst@ommittee have the necessary expertise andierper
to perform the functions of the Directors' Comnatfirsuant to Chilean regulations.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

We adopted at the beginning of 2003 a Code of RgsiitConduct that applies to the Chief Executivécexf
the Chief Financial Officer and the Internal Audjtas well as to all our officers and employeeaur Code
adheres to the definition set forth in Item 16B~ofm 20F under the Exchange Act.

No waivers have been granted therefrom to theafficnentioned above.

The full text of the code is available on our wébsithttp://www.sgm.comin the Investor Relations section
under “Corporate Governance Framework”

Amendments to, or waivers from one or more prowisiof the code will be disclosed on our website.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The table sets forth the amount of fees billedefach of the last two fiscal years by our independeditors,

Ernst & Young, in relation to audit services, atudiiated services, tax and other services provideds (in
thousands of U.S. dollars).

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004
Audit fees 523.0 446.9
Audit-related fees 11.8
Tax fees 94.4 16.0
Other fees 106.7 -
Total fees 724.1 4747

Audit fees in the above table are the aggregate bdked by Ernst & Young in connection with thedéuof
our annual Consolidated Financial Statements, dsaw¢he review of other statutory filings.

Audit-related fees in the above table are feegdilly Ernst & Young for assurance and related sesvihat
are reasonably related to the performance of tltit au review of our financial statements and ac¢ n
reported under "Audit Fees."

Tax fees in the above table are fees billed by tEnéoung for tax advice and tax planning services.
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Directors' Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Proedures
Chilean law states that public companies are stbjetpre-approval” requirements under which alfliaand

non-audit services provided by the independenttaudiaust be pre-approved by the Directors’ Committe
Our Directors’ Committee approves all audit, audliated, tax and other services provided by Ernsio&ng.

Any services provided by Ernst & Young that are sypecifically included within the scope of the daudust
be pre-approved by the Directors’ Committee pricaty engagement.

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT
COMMITTEES

Not applicable

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND
AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Not applicable

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See Item 19(a) for a list of all financial statentsdiied as part of this Form 20-F annual report.

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

(a) Index to Financial Statements

Report of Independeiitegistered Public Accounting Firm.............cooovvviiiiiimmncnennnnnne F-1
Consolidated Financial StatE@MENTS ..........cccemmmmeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e e e e e e e e e e ee e F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&G023004..............ccccevvvvvvvnnnen. F-2
Consolidated Statements of Income for each ofttreetyears in the period

ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 .......ceueerrrireeeiiiiieeeeennnnnnnnnineieeee F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for eacheoftiree years in the period ended

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003..........ccociiurrrriiiieieieeeee e e e e e F-5
Notes to the Consolidated Financial StatementsS..........ccccceeeeeeeiiiiiiiciiiiiiiecccee e F-6

Supplementary Schedules*

*All other schedules have been omitted becausg #re not applicable or the required informationsiown in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits
Exhibit
No. Exhibit

1.1 By-laws (Estatutos) of the Company**

8.1 Significant subsidiaries of the Company
12.1 Section 302 Chief Executive Officer Certifioat
12.2 Section 302 Chief Financial Officer Certificat
13.1 Section 906 Chief Executive Officer Certifioat
13.2 Section 906 Chief Financial Officer Certifioat

** Incorporated by reference to the Company’s ArlriReport on Form 20-F for the year ended Decemibe2B04 filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2005.
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets aithe requirements for filing on Form 20-F and thdtas duly
caused and authorized the undersigned to sigatimgal report on its behalf.

SOCIEDAD QUIMICA Y MINERA DE CHILE S.A.

(CHEMICAL AND MINING COMPANY OF CHILE INC.)

/s/ Ricardo Ramos

Ricardo Ramos R.
Chief Financial Officer and
Business Development Senior Vice President

Date: June 30, 2006
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Consolidated Financial Statements

SOCIEDAD QUIMICA Y MINERA DE CHILE S.A. AND SUBSIDI ARIES

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004
and for the three years in the period ended DeceB8he2005

Contents
Report of Independent Registered Public ACCOUMEIMQN. ............cceeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiirie e e ereee e e e e e e s es s meavereeeeeas F-1
Consolidated Financial Statements:
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&U02005 ...........ccccvvviiiiiiiieeeees civrirrrreeee e e e e sens F-2
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years@&iecember 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005................. F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeraated December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005.......... F-5
Notes to the Consolidated Financial StatemMeNtS............uvviiiiiieee e cevrrre e e e e e F-6
Ch$ - Chilean pesos
ThCh $ - Thousands of Chilean pesos
uUs$ - United States dollars
ThUuSs$ - Thousands of United States dollars
UF - “Unidad de Fomento”. The UF is an inflatiordéxed, Chilean peso-denominated monetary

unit. The UF rate is set daily in advance, basethe change in the Consumer Price Index of
the previous month
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¥ Huéfanos 770, 5Piso W Teléfono :676 1000
Santiago, Chile Fax 1676 1010

Ell FRNST & YOUNG SO

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Sociedad Quimica y Minera de Chile S.A.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Sociedad Quimica y Minera
de Chile S.A. and subsidiaries (“the Company”) &Pecember 31, 2004 and 2005, and the
related consolidated statements of income andft@ashk for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2005. These financial statenagatthe responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniap on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standargigine that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the cfalastatements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an alithe Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Our audit included considevatof internal control over financial reporting
as a basis for designing audit procedures thaapeopriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectisere the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express nolsopinion. An audit also includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amourdsdetlosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and mignif estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement predemia We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredbove present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of Sociedadr@iaé y Minera de Chile S.A. and subsidiaries
at December 31, 2004 and 2005, and the resultseaf dperations and their cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December2B05 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in Chile, which diffecertain respects from accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Amefsgse Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements).

ERNST & YOUNG LTDA. St o M

Santiago, Chile
February 17, 2006
(Except for Notes 28 and 29 for which the dateuizeJ20, 2006)
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsigiies
Audited Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asted)

As of December 31,

Note 2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents...............ceeeeeieiieieee e 2¢e) 147,956 66,753
Accounts receivable, Nt ............eii e 4 155,836 169,840
Other accounts receivable, Net............cceeeeemrciicieeeieeeviieiiiinnnenn. 4 9,737 8,343
Accounts receivable from related companies .. cccvcveereemm 5 56,459 26,029
INVENTOTIES, NEL....ciiiiiiiieeeeeeiiet i emmmmm e e e e 6 327,232 274,602
Recoverable taxes.........cccvvveiiiiei e 31,212 19,185
Prepaid EXPENSES .....cccviiie it s r e e e e 3,189 2,735
Deferred iNCOME taXeS......ccuvvvveeeeeee s commmmn e e e eeesviviveeneeeeeeemmes 13 2,528 -
Other CUMreNt @SSELS ....uvvviiiiiieeei e i e e e e 8,634 7,963
Total CUITENE ASSELS ...ovveeeeiiiiiee et eeemmee e 742,783 575,450
Property, plant and equipment, NEt ...........uevcecveviiiciie e eeeeene 7 794,647 694,762
Other Assets
Investments in related companies 8 20,676 15,987
GOOAWIll, NBL....cce e 9 27,209 17,470
Negative goodwill, Net.......coooeiiiiiii e 9 (68) (271)
Intangible asSets, NEt. ... e 4,783 4,544
Long-term accounts receivable, Net..........ccceeeiiiiianeeviinennnnn, 4 379 289
Long-term accounts receivable from related comgmni............. 5 2,000 -
Other loNg-term aSSetS.......ccoiiiiiiiieireeeiieee e e 10 48,159 53,141
Total Other aSSetS......oiiiviieieeeeee e 103,138 91,160
TOtal ASSELS...uiviiiieeee ittt 1,640,568 1,361,372

The accompanying notes form an integral part adglensolidated financial statements.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsigiies
Audited Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asted)

As of December 31,

Note 2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term bank debt ..., 11 85,022 7,955
Current portion of long-term bank debt..............cccccceeiiiiiis 11 204,880 4,577
Dividends payable ... 229 183
Accounts payable...........cccciiiiiiiii e 70,292 57,859
Other accounts payable.............cccciviiie 1,036 2,054
Notes and accounts payable to related companies................ 5 7,662 14,025
Accrued liabilities and provisions...........ccccceeviiiiiiiiiieieiieeeenn, 12 23,750 12,267
WithhoIdiNgS ... 13,092 11,103
INCOME TAXES .ot s 20,675 11,641
Deferred iINCOME tAXES ......ocovevveeeeees e e e 13 - 7,933
Deferred income 1,262 441
Other current iabilitieS ........coooeeviviiieee e 368 1,206
Total current liabilities.............ccocooiv i e 428,268 131,244
Long-term liabilities
Long-term bank debt............ccvviieiiiie e 11 100,000 200,000
Other accounts payable..........cccuvuiiiiiiiireiee e 1,065 1,106
Deferred iNCOME taXES ...ovvveeeiiie it a e e e e e e e e e e e ee s 13 38,895 34,089
Staff severance iINdemnities ............ccveeeeeee v e v 14 16,415 11,875
Total long-term liabilities..............cco v e 156,375 247,070
MINOFitY INTEreSt ....ove i e 15 35,509 34,430
Commitments and contingencies ..........ccvceevvvivieeiievenine e, 22 - -
Shareholders' equity 16
Paid-in capital..........ccuuueiiiiiiiee e 477,386 477,386
OtNEI FESEIVES ...uuiiiii it st e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeraanaeane 157,287 150,887
Retained arniNgs .......uuveriiiiiee e cereeee e e e e e e e e 385,743 320,355
Total shareholders’ equity ..........c.ocvviiiiiiiiii i 1,020,416 948,628
Total liabilities and shareholderguéy ...................... 1,640,568 1361,372

The accompanying notes form an integral part adglensolidated financial statements.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Audited Consolidated Statements of Income
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asted)

Operating income

SAlES i
COSt Of SAIES ...vvveiiiiiieeee e
GrOSS MArQiN ..veeveeeeeee e eieceeeer e e e e e e e e e e

Note

Selling and administrative expenses........ccccceeee.....

Operating iNCOME ........cuvvviiiiiiiee e ieeeceeeeeaaienns

Non-operating income and expense

Non-operating iNCOME ..........ccvvvveiriiiieie e
NoON-operating EXPENSES .......cccvveeiiveeereereeaenineens

Non-operating l0SS ........ccccvvvieiiieee e,
Income before income taxes, minority interest and
amortization of negative goodwill..............ccccceeeeennn.

INCOME taX EXPENSE ...ooeevivieeiiie e eeeeeeesiie e
Income before minority interest and amortization of

negative gooawill............ccccooeviiiiiiiiiiiee e,

MiNOrity INtEreSt.......cvvvveeeriieieeee e

Income before amortization of negative goodwill.....

Amortization of negative goodwill............coeeeeeeee.

Net income for the Year..........oooiiveeeeiiiiiiiieieecsiiiieiees

The accompanying notes form an integral part adglensolidated financial statements.
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For the years ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
895,970 788,516 691,806
(652,901) (608,744) (553,964)
243,069 179,772 137,842
(61,878) (55,705) (50,590)
181,191 124,067 87,252
16,433 20,829 18,654
(50,755) (38,420) (39,813)
(34,322) (17,591) (21,159)
146,869 106,476 66,093
(32,527) (27,308) (16,056)
114,342 79,168 50,037
(1,039) (5,139) (3,654)
113,303 74,029 46,383
203 203 370
113,506 74,232 46,753




Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Cash Flow
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asittd)

For the years ended December 31
Note 005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$

Cash flows from operating activities
NELINCOME ...ttt ettt enananeas 113,506 74,232 46,753

Charges (credits) to income not representing caslhofvs

Depreciation expense................ I 4 70,054 62,690 61,728
Amortization of intangible assets...........cocoviiiiiiiiiii, 498 173 298
Write-0ffs @and ACCIUAIS .........uuvviiiiiiiiieeeeeetieeeeeeeee e 17,034 23,584 25,230
Equity participation in net income of unconsolidategetees................... (3,073) (4,897) (5,529)
Equity participation in net losses of unconsolidatectees...................... a77 387 1
Amortization of gOOAWIll...........ccueiiiiiirii e 9 2,070 1,073 1,134
Amortization of negative goodwill .............co i, 9 (203) (203) (370)
(Gains) losses on sales of assets 216 283 (13)
Gain on sale of investment - (8,820) -
Foreign currency translation, Net ...........oeeeeereeeeiieeniee e 18 3,804 475 (6,590)
Other credits to income not representing cash flows.............c.cccoevees (10,109) (1,919) (2,793)
Other charges to income not representing cash flows..................c....... 87,689 59,092 29,433
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in trade accounts receivable............cccooeeveennen. (15,838) (9,447) (18,124)
INCrease iN INVENTOIES ........cocueiiiiiieeemmr et (58,807) (40,665) (12,578)
(Increase) decrease in Other @SSEetS .......cocccevriiiiiieiiiieeeeeee e (10,783) (770) 15,534
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable . (6,520) (6,829) (16,236)
Increase (decrease) in interest payable.. 349 (38) 134
Increase (decrease) in net income taxes payable ........c.cccvvveiiininns (25,620) 1,284 (2,246)
Increase (decrease) in other accounts Payable . ...ccveeeuveiiveiniiennnns (10,517) (2,935) (1,062)
Increase (decrease) in VAT and taxes payable.... (3,282) 137 (2,215)
MINOFILY INTEIEST ...ttt 15 1,039 5,139 3,654
Net cash provided from operating actsti 151,984 152,026 116,143

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from short term bank financing 185,000 83,307 57,324
Loans to related COMPANIES..........couvei ettt - - (5,275)
Payment of diVIdeNdS...........cooiiiiiii it (51,732) (25,706) (21,361)
Repayment of bank financing ..............c.oiememsceeee i, (6,000) (192,696) (82,559)
Net cash used in financing activitieS.............ccooveeiniiiiciene. 127,268 (135,095) (51,871)

Cash flows from investing activities
Sales of property, plant and eqUIPMENL. ..o veeereeenieeiieeeiee e 2,546 741 264
Sales of investments in related COMPANIES. ...cccccevvvveeiieeiiiiiieeeiee e - 69,337 -
Sales of other INVeStMeNtS...........cociiiiiiiiicc i, - 210 542
Other iINVEStING INCOME .....cccuiiiiiiiiie e 1,345 877 7,699
Additions to property, plant and equIPMENt ...coee.vvverieeriiierieeeeeeen (185,603) (51,758) (55,084)
Capitalized interest (5,140) (1,708) (2,149)
Purchase of investments in related companies,frestsh acquired (12,026) (37,079) (11,150)
Purchase of other INVESIMENTS............. oo sveeeiiiie e 2) (13) (210)
Other disbursements (666) (56)
Net cash used in investing activitieS............cccocevveiiiiiiiiicieen, (199,546) (19,393) (60,144)
Effect of inflation on cash and cash equivalents.............c.cccocceveriennne 1,497 (58) (59)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents.........ccccccooeiviiiinienienicnenns 81,203 (2,520) 4,069
Beginning balance of cash and cash equivalents............c.cccocceevenienns 66,753 69,273 65,204
Ending balance of cash and cash equivalents 2e) 147,956 66,753 69,273

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid 20,315 18,986 22,379
22,330 2,466 2,347

- - 98
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asittd)

Note 1 — Company Background

Sociedad Quimica y Minera de Chile S.A. (the “Comyawas registered with the Chilean Superintengeoic
Securities and Insuranc8yperintendencia de Valores y Segwd$VS”) on March 18, 1983. The Company is
regulated by the SVS as well as by the United St8&curities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) sieseing
American Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”) in Decemb@84i.

References herein to “Parent Company” are to Sadi€uimica y Minera de Chile S.A. and referenceeiheo
the “Company” or “SQM” are to Sociedad Quimica ynktia de Chile S.A. together with its consolidated
subsidiaries and the companies in which SocieddchiQa y Minera de Chile S.A. holds significant egunterests.

The Company is an integrated producer and distribot specialty fertilizers, iodine, lithium andhet industrial
chemicals. The Company extracts natural resourcdsdavelops them into products, which it then distes to
more than 100 countries.

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a) Basis for the preparation of the consolidated fiancial statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statemdwatge been prepared in US dollars in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Chfiéhlean GAAP”) and the regulations of the SVS. @ar
accounting practices applied by the Company thafacm with accounting Chilean GAAP do not confornthw
accounting principles generally accepted in thetdédhiStates (“US GAAP”) or International Financiadgorting
Standards (“IFRS”).

The consolidated financial statements include tw@ants of Sociedad Quimica y Minera de Chile &uAd
subsidiaries (companies in which the Parent Compaigs a controlling participation, generally eqteadirect or
indirect ownership of more than 50%). All signifitanter-company transactions and balances have ddgrinated
in the consolidation.

The preparation of financial statements in confoynwith generally accepted accounting principleguiees
management to make estimates and assumptiondfénatthe reported amounts of assets and liakslitiésclosures
of contingent assets and liabilities as of the ddtthe financial statements and the reported atsoohrevenues
and expenses during the reported period. Actualteesould differ from those estimates.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asittd)
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policie¢continued)
a) Basis for the preparation of the consolidated fiancial statements (continued)

The majority-owned subsidiaries of the SQM S.AoBBecember 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

Direct or indirect ownership

2005 2004 2003

Foreign subsidiaries: % % %
Nitrate Corp. of Chile Limited (United Kingdom)...................... 100.00 100.00 100.00
Soquimich SRL (Argentina) ..............ees s ommmmneeseereeeeeeeseennennnnne 100.00 100.00 100.00
Nitratos Naturais do Chile Ltda. (Brazil) ........ccccccvvverereeeeennnn. 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM Europe NV (Belgium)........ccceviiuereeiievmmeieeeeeseieineeeeneeens 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM North America Corp. (USA).....coeveeiiiiiiiceeeeeeeeee e, 100.00 100.00 100.00
North American Trading Company (USA) .......coecccecveveiiineennn. 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM PEIU S.A et 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM Corporation NV (Dutch AntillesS) ...........ommeveereeeemereeennn. 100.00 100.00 100.00
S.Q.l. Corporation NV (Dutch Antilles) 100.00 100.00 100.00
Soquimich European Holding BV (Holland).......commeeeeiereeeennnn, 100.00 100.00 100.00
PTM - SQM Ibérica S.A. (SPaiN)........ccuverrmmmmmereeeeereeeeesnreeaeannns 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQMC Holding Corporation LLP (USA).......ccovimmmmeeeeeie e 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM ECUAAOr S.A. .. .ot 100.00 100.00 100.00
Cape Fear Bulk LLC (USA).......ooiiiiiiee e imeeem e 51.00 51.00 51.00
SQM Investment Corporation NV (Dutch Antilles)................... 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM Brasil Ltda. ....ceveeveiiiiiie e 100.00 100.00 100.00
Royal Seed Trading Corporation AVV (Aruba)........................ 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM Japan K.K. ...t mrere e e 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM Oceania PTY Limited (Australia)..........cmmmeeeeeeeemeeeeenn. 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM France S.A. ...ttt mne e 100.00 100.00 100.00
RS Agro-Chemical Trading AVV (Aruba)..........ccceeeeivivvvicmnnne. 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM Comercial de México S.A. de C.V. ....ccccveeeeeeeeeiieiiiennns 100.00 100.00 100.00
Y@ 1Y [ gTo (0] g1 - P 80.00 80.00 80.00
SQM Virginia LLC (USA) ...ceiieiieee e s mmeiee e senee e snnieeee s 100.00 100.00 100.00
Agricolima S.A. de C.V. (MEXICO)........ccoovirmmmrurrrriimiriereeaeenenns 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM VENEZUEIA S.A. ..ooiiiiiii ettt eeee 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM Italia SRL (ItAlY)..eeeeiiiiiiiee e 95.00 95.00 95.00
Comercial Caiman Internacional S.A. (Cayman Islands.......... 100.00 100.00 100.00
Mineag SQM Africa Limited (South Africa) ........cccceeeeeiiinniinnnnn, 100.00 100.00 100.00
Fertilizantes Olmeca y SQM S.A. de C.V. (MexicQ)................. 100.00 100.00 100.00
Administracion y Servicios Santiago S.A. de C. VeQM:o) .......... 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM Lithium Specialties LLC (USA) ... 100.00 100.00 100.00
SQM Nitratos México S.A. de C.V. (MeX|co) ........................... 51.00 51.00 51.00
SQM Dubai — Fzco (United Arab Emirates). .....cccceeeeiieiieniennnn, 100.00 - -
Fertilizantes Naturales S.A. (Spain) (1) ..oveccceceeeeeeveiiiieeeeeee, - 50.00 50.00

(1) Up to December 31, 2004 the Company exertedraoover Fertilizantes Naturales S.A. and thattgnwas
included in the consolidation for the years endedddnber 31, 2004 and 2003. Beginning January H,206
Company no longer controls this entity and therfbhas been excluded from consolidation for tharyended
December 31, 2005.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asittd)
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policie¢continued)

a) Basis for the preparation of the consolidated fiancial statements (continued)

Direct or indirect ownership

2005 2004
% %

Domestic subsidiaries:

Servicios Integrales de Transitos y Transferen8ids.................cc........ 100.00 100.00
Soquimich Comercial S.A..........uuiiiiiiie s 60.64 60.64
Isapre Norte Grande Ltda....................... 100.00 100.00
Almacenes y Depdsitos Ltda 100.00 100.00
Ajay SQM Chile S.A. et rere e 51.00 51.00
SQM NItrAtOS S.A. ..o 99.99 99.99
Proinsa Ltda. ......ccvvveiiiiiiieie st eeeee e 60.58 60.58
SQM POtaSIO S.A. ettt eeeee ettt e e 100.00 100.00
SQMC International Limitada..............coovveeeeeiiiiiiee e, 60.64 60.64
SQM SAIAI S.A .. ettt mreea e eeeenes 100.00 100.00
SQM Industrial S.A.(eX-PCS YUMDES)..........mmeeeiiieiiimeeevnieneeeeeens 100.00 100.00
Comercial HYdro S.A......coo it emmmm et 60.64 60.64

All significant inter-company balances, transacticend unrealized gains and losses arising fromsaions
between these companies have been eliminated sokdation.

b) Periods presented

These consolidated financial statements are predexg of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and for eattiedhree
years in the period ended December 31, 2005.

c) Reporting currency and price-level restatement

The financial statements of the Company are preperdJS dollars. As a significant portion of ther@pany’s
operations are transacted in US dollars, the USardds considered the currency of the primary ecagino
environment in which the Company operates.

Under Chilean GAAP, the Parent Company and thobsidiaries which maintain their accounting recard&JS
dollars are not required, or permitted, to restia¢ehistorical dollar amounts for the effects dfation in Chile.

In accordance with Chilean GAAP the financial staats of domestic subsidiaries that maintain thegounting
records in Chilean pesos have been restated &ctefie effects of variations in the purchasing @oef Chilean
pesos during the year. For this purpose, and aordance with Chilean regulations, non-monetaryetasand
liabilities, equity and income statement accoumtgehbeen restated in terms of year-end constaos fised on the
change in the consumer price index during the {&&20 and 2.5% in 2005 and 2004, respectively)e f@sulting
net charge or credit to income arises as a restitteogain or loss in purchasing power from thedimg of non-US
dollar denominated monetary assets and liabildiggsed to the effects of inflation.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asittd)

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policie¢continued)

c) Reporting currency and price-level restatementqontinued)

Index-linked assets and liabilities

Assets and liabilities that are denominated in ¥rlifeked units of account are stated at the yeareues of the
respective units of account. The principal indieked unit used in Chile is tHdnidad de Foment¢‘UF"), which
is adjusted daily to reflect the changes in Chile®. Values for the UF are as follows (historiChlilean pesos per
UF):

USss$
December 31, 2003 ............ 28.28
December 31, 2004 ............ 31.07
December 31, 2005 ............ 35.07

d) Foreign currency translations
0] Foreign currency transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in&ztrilpesos and other currencies have been trantiatksi
dollars at the observed exchange rates determipetiecbCentral Bank of Chile as of each year-ence Th
observed exchange rates of Chilean pesos were Th$®Gper US$ 1 at December 31, 2005 and Ch$ 557.40
per US$ 1 at December 31, 2004.

(i)  Translation of non-US dollar financial statements

In accordance with Chilean GAAP, the financial estagénts of foreign and domestic subsidiaries thatato
maintain their accounting records in US dollars @emslated from the respective local currencie®¥/®
dollars in accordance with Technical Bulletin N@l &nd No. 72 issued by the Chilean Association of
Accountants (“BT 64 and BT 72”) as follows:

a) Domestic subsidiaries

For those subsidiaries and affiliates located ifleCthat keep their accounting records in priceslev
adjusted Chilean pesos:

- Balance sheet accounts are translated to USrdldlathe year-end exchange rate without
eliminating the effects of price-level restatemertte assets and liabilities were translated
into US dollars at the exchange rates as of theemive balance sheet dates of Ch$ 512.50
and Ch$ 557.40 per US$ 1 as of December 31, 2002@04, respectively.

- Income statement accounts are translated to UISrslat the average exchange rate each
month. The monetary correction account on thermestatement, which is generated by the
inclusion of price-level restatement on the non-etary assets and liabilities and
shareholders’ equity, is translated to US dollatha average exchange rate for each month.

- Translation gains and losses, as well as pricetlestatement, are included as an adjustment
in shareholders’ equity, in conformity with Circuldo. 1697 of the SVS.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asittd)

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policie¢continued)
d) Foreign currency (continued)
(i)  Translation of non-US dollar financial statements (continued)
b) Foreign subsidiaries

The financial statements of those foreign subsiesathat keep their accounting records in currencie
other than the US dollar have been translatedlasvi

- Monetary assets and liabilities are translategestr-end exchange rates between the US
dollar and the local currency.

- All non-monetary assets and liabilities and shalders’ equity are translated at historical
exchange rates between the US dollar and the ¢ocegncy.

- Income and expense accounts, except for suchiatscthat are calculated using historical rates
(e.g. depreciation and amortization) are translatedverage exchange rates between the US
dollar and the local currency.

- Any foreign currency translation differences areluded in the results of operations for the
period.

Foreign exchange gains (losses) for the years ebdm@mber 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 amounted to ThUS$
(3,804), ThUS$ (475) and ThUS$ 6,590, respectivaig have been charged to the consolidated staternént
income in each respective period.

The monetary assets and liabilities of foreign &liages were translated into US dollars at thehexge rates per
US dollar prevailing as of December 31, as follows:

As of December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Brazilian Real...........ccooevveeeiiiiiiiiiieen. 2.34 2.65 2.89
New Peruvian Sol..........cceevvviieeiiinneennen. 3.34 3.47 3.46
Argenting PeS0O ......cccooevvviiiiiiiiiiiiicieeees 3.03 2.98 2.96
Japanese Yen ..o 118.07 104.21 107.13
U (o 0.85 0.73 0.79
MeXiCan PESO .......ccovvveeviiiiiiiieeeeeeveeeee 10.71 11.22 11.20
Indonesian RUPEEe. ........cccovcvvvvveiiiiiiccenne 9,290.00 9,289.97 8,465.00
Australian Dollar.............cceevieiiiiiiincees 1.36 1.28 1.33
Pound Sterling..........coococviiiiiiiiieeee e 0.52 0.52 0.58
South African Rand............coeeeevveviiiviemen. 6.33 5.80 6.59

The Company uses the “observed exchange rate” hwkithe rate determined daily by the Chilean Géréank
based on the average exchange rates at which lsagdealuct authorized transactions.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asittd)
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policie¢continued)
e) Cash and cash equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investmasith a remaining maturity of less than 90 daysfahe

closing date of the financial statements to be eaglivalents. As of December 31, cash and cashaguot are as
follows:

As of December 31,

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
(0711 13,273 18,559 15,251
Time depoSitS...covueeieiiiei e eeen 1,483 15,854 13,203
MUtUl FUNAS ...vvvveeeeveeeeeeieeeeeeee s eeereeneneeen 132,303 30,797 38,629
Repurchase agreements.................... 897 1,543 2,190
Total. ... eeee s 147,956 66,753 69,273

f) Time deposits

Time deposits are recorded at cost plus accruedesttand UF indexation adjustments, as applicable.
Q) Marketable securities

Marketable securities are recorded at the loweosf plus accrued interest or market value.

h) Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company records an allowance for doubtful astobased on estimated probability of unrecoveatghilf
accounts receivable.

This allowance is presented as a deduction frond€leccounts receivable, Notes receivable and Gtbesunts
receivables.

i) Inventories

Inventories of finished products and work in precese valued at average production cost. Raw makteand
goods for resale acquired from third parties aagestat average acquisition cost and materialsaimsit are valued
at cost. These values do not exceed net realizahles.

Inventories of non-critical spare parts and sugptiee classified as other current assets, excephdse items for
which the Company estimates a turnover period aegx of one year, which are classified as othg~term assets.

)] Income taxes and deferred income taxes

Current income tax provisions are recognized bygttweip companies on the basis of respective taxlaggns in
each jurisdiction where the Company operates.

Prior to 2000, income taxes were charged to resulthe same period in which the income and expemsare
recorded and were calculated in accordance wittettaeted tax laws in Chile and the other jurisditiin which
the Company operated.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asittd)

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policie¢continued)
)] Income taxes and deferred income taxes (contindg

Beginning January 1, 2000, the Company recordsméeféncome taxes in accordance with TechnicaldiullNo.

60 (“BT 60”) and complementary technical bulletthereto issued by the Chilean Association of Actants, and
with SVS Circulars No. 1466 and No. 1560, recogmjziusing the liability method, the deferred tafeefs of

temporary differences between the financial andsédnes of assets and liabilities. As a transélgrovision at the
date of adoption of BT 60, a contra asset or lighlias been recorded offsetting the effects ofdbéerred tax
assets and liabilities not recorded prior to Jandar2000. Such contra asset or liability mustaneortized to
income over the estimated average reversal peciadesponding to the underlying temporary diffeemnto which
the deferred tax asset or liability relates cal@dausing the tax rates that will be in effectrat time of reversal.

Deferred tax assets are further reduced by a vatuatiowance, if based on the weight of availablé&ence it is
more-likely-than-not that some portion of the defdrtax assets will not be realized.

k) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant, equipment and property rightsramrded at acquisition cost, considering in gdremaaverage
residual value of 5%, except for certain assetsuleae restated in accordance with a technicalagglrin 1988.
Depreciation expense has been calculated usingttaight-line method based on the estimated udigksd of the
assets and is charged directly to expenses.

Estimated

years of

useful life
Mining ConcessIions.........cccovvveeeenee, 7-13
Building and infrastructure.................. 3-80
Machinery and equipment.................. 3-35
Other .o 2-30

Property, plant and equipment acquired throughfired lease agreements are accounted for at tisemrealue of
the minimum lease payments plus the purchase optsed on the interest rate included in each adntrdhe
Company does not legally own these assets anddheannot freely dispose of them.

In conformity with Technical Bulletin No. 31 and 38 the Chilean Association of Accountants, the @any
capitalizes interest cost associated with the fimagnof new assets during the construction perfaglioh assets.

Maintenance costs of plant and equipment are cbamgexpenses as incurred.

The Company obtains property rights and mining esains from the Chilean state. The property sigite
usually obtained without initial cost (other thamaonr filing fees) and once obtained, are retaingdhe Company
as long as the annual fees are paid. Such feéshale paid annually in March, are recorded apaiceassets and
are amortized on a straight-line basis over thiviohg twelve months. Values attributable to minicgncessions
are recorded in property, plant and equipment.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asittd)

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policie¢continued)
)] Investments in related companies

Investments in related companies over which the fgzoy has significant influence, are included ireothssets and
are recorded using the equity method of accounfimgccordance with SVS Circulars No. 368 and 166d
Technical Bulletins No. 64 and 72 issued by thel&aini Association of Accountants. Accordingly, then@pany’s
proportional equity share in the net income orlos$ of each investee is recognized in non-operaticome and
expenses in the consolidated statements of incon@@ccrual basis, after eliminating any unredljzefits from
transactions with the related companies.

The translation adjustment resulting from conversiof investments in domestic subsidiaries thantaai their
accounting records and are controlled in Chileasopeto US dollars is recognized in other reservéhirw
shareholders’ equity (cumulative translation adpestt). Direct and indirect investments in foregybsidiaries or
affiliates are controlled in US dollars.

Investments in which the Company has less than p@fticipation, but it has the capacity to exertngigant
influence over the investment, because SQM’s noenfaem part of its Board of Directors, have beelusd using
the equity method.

m)  Goodwill and negative goodwill

Until December 31, 2003, goodwill was calculatedtes excess of the purchase price of companiesradgover

book value of their net assets, whereas negativdwitl arose when the net assets acquired excetbaeplurchase
price. Beginning January 1, 2004, the Company adbpechnical Bulletin No. 72 of the Chilean Asstioia of

Accountants that changes the basis for accountingdodwill and negative goodwill, introducing tfar value of

the acquired net assets as the basis to be compéttegpurchase price in a business combination riteio to

determine goodwill or negative goodwill.

Goodwill and negative goodwill resulting from acsjtions of equity method investments are controitethe same
currency in which the investment to which it retate measured.

Both goodwill and negative goodwill are amortizeaséd on the estimated period of investment rethich is
generally 20 and 10 years for goodwill and negagiwedwill, respectively.

n) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost plus acquisitkpenses and are amortized over a maximum pefié@ years,
in accordance with Technical Bulletin No. 55 of tleilean Association of Accountants.

0) Mining development cost

Expenses associated with mineral reserves undeloi@tipn are capitalized as part of production tcts
inventories. Expenses associated with future reseave presented within Other long-term assetaendmortized
according to estimated reserves of minerals.

p) Staff severance indemnities

The Company calculates the liability for staff sewee indemnities based on the present value oaticeued

benefits for the actual years of service workedetlasn average employee tenure of 24 years andl ameaal
discount rate of 8% (9% in 2004 and 2003).
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asittd)
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policie¢continued)
q) Vacations
The cost of employee vacations is recognized iritfacial statements on an accrual basis.

r)  Reverse repurchase agreements

These operations are registered in Other Curres¢tdsat the amount of the purchase. Since thénasecdate, the
respective interest is recognized on accrual basiscordance with SVS Circular No. 768.

s) Dividends

Dividends are generally declared in US dollarsdratpaid in Chilean pesos.

t) Derivative contracts

The Company maintains derivative contracts to hexgenst movements in foreign currencies, whichracerded
in conformity with Technical Bulletin No. 57 of th€hilean Association of Accountants. Such contraoes
generally recorded at fair value with net gainassks recognized in results.

u) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized on the date goods are pHysiedivered or when they are considered delivesedording
to the terms of the contract.

V) Computer software

Computational systems developed internally usirgg@ompany’s personnel and materials are chargéutctone
during the year in which the expenses are incurhedaccordance with Circular No. 981 issued by 8\S,
computer systems acquired by the Company are red@icost.

w) Research and development expenses

Research and development cost are charged to tlenén statement in the period in which they are rirecl
Property, plant and equipment that are acquiredu$er in research and development activities anerméted to
provide additional benefits to the Company are méeo in property, plant and equipment.

X) Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior years' financial steets have been reclassified to conform to theeaotiryear's
presentation.

Note 3 - Accounting Changes

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Coynphaanged the discount rate used for the deterioimaif
staff severance indemnities provision from 9% agapln the years ended December 31, 2003 and 208% toThis
change gave rise to a higher charge to incoménéoy¢ar ended December 31, 2005 of ThUS$ 678.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the sabgi®QM Industrial S.A. (formerly PCS Yumbes SCM

acquired in December 2004) changed the methodmedmtion of certain assets from the unit of paaun to the
straight-line method based on the estimated remmiegichnical useful lives of the different classtassets.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asittd)

Note 4 - Current and Long-term Accounts Receivable

a) Current and long-term accounts receivable ahdraiccounts receivable as of December 31, ardetbts

follows:
Up to 90 days
2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUSs$
Short-term
Trade accounts receivable......... 105,618 124,724
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Notes receivable......................... 34,950 38,439

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable, net............

Between 90 days
and 1 year

2005 2004

ThUS$ ThUS$

12,570 7,137

14,772 10,517

Total
Short-term (net)
2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$

118,188 131,861
(7,737)  (6,970)
48,844 48,192
(3,459)  (3,243)

155,836 169,840

Other accounts receivable......... 9,454 8,908 999 113 10,453 9,021
Allowance for doubtful accounts (716) (678)
Other accounts receivable, net.. 9,737 8,343
Long-term receivables................ 379 289
b) Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounmtste years ended December 31 are as follows:
2005 2004 2003
ThUuS$ ThUuS$ ThUS$

AtJanuary 1, ....ooooeiiniiiiiee e 10,891 9,985 8,568

Charged to expenses...........ccccvvvvveeev e 1,741 3,537 2,216

Deductions (release)..........ccccceeevvvevmmmns (1,097) (2,937) (1,372)

Exchange rate differences .........cccccceeeeennnn. 377 306 332

Companies not previously consolidated...... - 124

At December 31, ......cooeiiiiiiiiiee e, 11,912 10,891 9,985

F-15



Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsigiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asgtd)

Note 4 - Current and Long-term Accounts Receivablécontinued)

<)

Net current trade
accounts receivable
Balance.................
% of total...............

Net current notes
receivable balance
% of total...............

Net current other
accounts receivable
Balance.................
% of total...............

Total net current
accounts receivable
Balance.................
% of total...............

Long-term accounts
receivable, net
Balance.................
% of total...............

Total current and
long-term accounts
receivable, net
Balance.................
% of total...............

Consolidated Current and Long-term Receivableg Geographic Location as of December 31, ardlddtas follows:

Chile

2005
ThUS$

35,860
32.47%

38,016
83.76%

4,631
47.56%

78,507
47.42%

322
84.96%

78,829
47.50%

2004
ThUS$

31,490
25.21%

39,065
86.91%

3,558
42.65%

74,113
41.59%

199
68.86%

74,312
41.64%

Europe, Africa and
the Middle East

2005
ThUS$

26,345
23.85%

2,826
6.23%

1,504
15.45%

30,675
18.53%

30,675
18.48%

2004
ThUS$

40,914
32.76%

2,524
5.62%

1,943
23.29%

45,381
25.47%

75
25.95%

45,456
25.47%

Asia and
Oceania
2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
7,069 3,489
6.40% 2.79%
563 515
1.24% 1.15%
11 2
0.11% 0.02%
7,643 4,006
4.62% 2.25%
42 -
11.08% -
7,685 4,006
4.63% 2.24%
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USA, Mexico
and Canada
2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
27,433 36,273
24.84% 29.05%
357 120
0.79% 0.26%
3,064 2,591
31.47% 31.06%
30,854 38,984
18.62% 21.88%
30,854 38,984
18.60% 21.84%

Latin America
and the Caribbean

2005
ThUS$

13,744
12.44%

3,623
7.98%

527
5.41%

17,894
10.81%

15
3.96%

17,909
10.79%

2004
ThUS$

12,725
10.19%

2,725
6.06%

249
2.98%

15,699
8.81%

15
5.19%

15,714
8.81%

Total

2005
ThUS$

110,451
100.00%

45,385
100.00%

9,737
100.00%

165,573
100.00%

379
100.00%

165,952
100.00%

2004
ThUS$

124,891
100.00%

44,949
100.00%

8,343
100.00%

178,183
100.00%

289
100.00%

178,472
100.00%



Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsigiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmss
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except agttd)

Note 5 - Balances and Transactions with Related Pes
Accounts receivable from and payable to relatedpzonies are stated in US dollars and accrue neestter
Transactions are made under terms and conditiasth similar to those offered to unrelated tphacties.

a) Amounts included in balances with related partig of December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

Short-term Long-term
2005 2004 2005 2004

Accounts receivable ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
Ajay Europe SAR.L.......ccoovvnnnnnn. 1,948 3,583 - -
Nutrisi Holding N.V. ..................... 1,432 1,653 - -
Generale de Nutrition Vegetale ...... 132 132 - -
Abu Dhabi Fertilizer Ind. WLL ...... 3,354 5,284 2,000 -
NU3 B.V. i 467 607 - -
Doktor Tarsa — SQM Turkey .......... 12,688 4,813 - -
Fertilizantes Naturales S.A. ............ 5,887 - - -
Sales de Magnesio S.A. ................. 72 52 - -
Soc.Inv. Pampa Calichera S/A. ....... 4 - - -
SAC SA. 4 - - -
Ajay North America LLC ............... 2,420 - - -
PCS SalesIncC......ccccccevviiiiiii. - 31 - -
Impronta SRL ... 5,042 2,568 - -
Adubo Trevo S.A...........ooel. 16 16 - -
Yara International Asia Trade......... 1,359 1,682 - -
Yara East Africa Limited................ 681 - - -
Yara Poland Sp. 2 0.0.......cccccceueee. 103 45 - -
Yara Benelux B.V.......ccccccvvvvvvvennnnes 222 237 - -
YaraHellas S.A. ......................... 116 80 - -
Yara International Australia PTY. .. 670 829 - -
Yara UK Ltd. ......ovvevvvnniniiiinininnnnn, 132 144 - -
Yara GMBH & COKG................... 148 96 - -
Yara Colombia Ltda....................... 1,480 355 - -
Yara Fertilizers (Philippines).......... 60 - - -
Yara Fertilizers (New Zealand) ...... 171 - - -
Yara lberian S.A. ....ccoooeiiiiiiiiieee, 1,958 1,565 - -
Yara North America LLC............... 7,727 218 - -
Yara France BU Africa................... 1,025 743 - -
Yara France BU Latin America...... - 1,296 - -
Yara Argentina S.A.......ccoceeriieeenne 43 - - -
Yara Internacional ASA................ 7,098 - - -

0] 7| 56,459 26,029 2,000 -
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asgtd)
Note 5 - Balances and Transactions with Related P@es (continued)

a) Amounts included in balances with related partie of December 31, 2005 and 2004, continued:

Short-term

2005 2004

Accounts payable ThUS$ ThUuS$
SOM Industrial S.A. ..., - 6,645
Charlee SQM Thailand CO. .............ccevvvvieeeeemennnn, 88 -
NUSB NV, i e a e e e e 813 1,319
Rotem Amfert Negev Limited..............cccevieeeeenneeen. - 1,424
Yara Int. Wholesale Sudafrica (South Africa)........ 362 -
Yara Argentina S.A. .....ooooo i - 4
Yara AB ... 1 14
Yara BuSiness SUPOI .......cvvvvieeeieeisiceeeeeeeeeeaeeeeenn 4,130 2,761
Yara Internacional ASA ..........ooovvieeeii e - 446
Yara Fertilizantes Ltda. ............ccccvvvvimmmmmneeeeeeeeeeeens 575 -
Yara France S.A. ... 191 1,412
Yara France BU Latin America.............ccooceeeeennn... 1,502 -
B 10 ] 71 7,662 14,025

There were no outstanding long-term accounts payath related parties as of December 31, 20052804
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asgtd)

Note 5 - Balances and Transactions with Related P@es (continued)

b)  During 2005, 2004 and 2003, principal transastivith related parties were as follows:

Company Relationship
NU3 NV, et Indirect
Doktor Tarsa Indirect
Abu Dhabi Fertilizer WLL................... Indirect
Impronta SRL......ccooevvviiiiiiniiiieieennns Indirect
Ajay Europe SAAR.L...cooviviiiiieniinnns Indirect
NU3B.V. i, Indirect
Fertilizantes Naturales S.A................ Indirect
Ajay North America LLC................... Indirect
Sales de Magnesio Ltda.................... Indirect
Yara UK Ltd....oevveeeiiiiieiieeeeeeiees Shareholder
Yara International Asia Trade Pte Shareholder
1 (o
Yara France BU Africa.........ccceeeunennn Shareholder
Yara Benelux B.V....cccooovvviiiiiininnnnns Shareholder
Yara AB Sweden.........cceeevveiiniininnnnn, Shareholder
Yara International Australia Pty Shareholder
[ (o O
Yara lberian S.A ..o Shareholder
Yara Colombia Ltda....cceccucvnenennennnne. Shareholder
Yara Poland Sp. z o.0... Shareholder
Yara GMBH & Co Kg......cevvuvvvniennnnn, Shareholder
Yara France.....ccuooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaes Shareholder
Yara France S.A....cceeviviiiiiieiieiennns Shareholder
Yara Hellas S.A....ccoeeiiiniiiiiiieineennns Shareholder
Yara France BU Latin America.......... Shareholder
Yara Argentina S.A.....cceevviiiniiniinnnns Shareholder
Adubo Trevo S.A ..o Shareholder
PCS Yumbes SCM (currently SQM
Industrial S.A.) (1) ccvvvvvveeniinniiiieiinns Shareholder
PCS Yumbes SCM (currently SQM
Industrial S.A.) (1) cvvevveieiiiieeieneee Shareholder
Yara Internacional ASA......ccccceevvenn.e. Shareholder
Yara North America.......cevevveveneenennnn, Shareholder
Yara International Wholesale............. Shareholder
Yara Business Support..................... Shareholder
Yara Planta Nutrition, Cis Reg........... Shareholder
Yara East Africa........ccccoeveviiiiinnnnen. Shareholder

Type of Amount of
Transaction Transaction
2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
Sales of products 5,018 5,036
Sales of products 14,977 6,718
Sales of products 3,834 3,932
Sales of products 4,471 4,282
Sales of products 8,017 5,964
Sales of products 6,035 5,904
Sales of products 19 916 -
Sales of products 12,401 8,519
Sales of products - 333
Sales of products 1,2761,060
Sales of products
6,782 6,035
Sales of products 8,748 917
Sales of products 6,6985,593
Sales of products 808 705
Sales of products
2,853 2,530
Sales of products 8,9006,665
Sales of products 5,0043,537
Sales of products 1,6231,525
Sales of products 1,6031,381
Sales of products 7,6227,755
Sales of products 2091,729
Sales of products 1,4481,022
Sales of products 1,1922,296
Sales of products 9,4417,724
Sales of products 3,9915,564
Sales of products - 7,221
Purchases of
products - 29,466
Sales of products 8,250 340
Sales of products  43,3840,491
Sales of products 20,013 -
Services 4,129 2,761
Sales of products - -
Sales of products 1,311 -

2003
Thus
$
4,054
5,086
3,463

6,836
4,735

6,909

5,370

5,384
561

1,722
4,739
2,760
1,082

6,054
1,138

6,425
5,148

13,617
25,558
2,991

2,093
1,070

Impact in income

(charge) credit

2005
ThUS$

1,892
3,872
1,222
1,613
4,743
2,846
6,663
7,031

485

1,984
2,640
2,385

284

999
3,060
1,543

703

635
2,458

73

473

288
2,658
1,746

2,120
13,137

5,733
(4,129)

474

2004
ThUS$

1,521
1,416
1,126

970
2,937
2,276

4,009
152
315

1,284
253
1,345
184

682
1,638
777
512
417
1,908
478
252
680
1,629
1,512

3,414
120
8,317
(2,761)

2003
ThUS$

1,023
1,299
619

2,485
1,944

1,921

1,029

1,002
165

456
801
715

305

1,222
225

1,271
1,816

8,463

195

(2,093)
449

(1) On December 23, 2004, SQM acquired 100% ppation in PCS Yumbes SCM (currentBQM Industrial
S.A)) (see Note 8) and consequently that entity ceasbd telated party and instead is included in cadated

financial statements of SQM.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asgtd)

Note 6 - Inventories

Inventories are summarized as follows:

As of December 31,

2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
Finished products .............cccccvvvvvvvenn.nn. 207,195 165,436
WOrK in ProCess........cccovvvveeresierimnns 102,187 96,616
SUPPIIES .o 17,850 12,550
TOtal. oo 327,232 274,602

Note 7 - Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment as of December &lsanmarized as follows:

2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
Land
(1= 19 o PP OTPRPTPPR 20,003 20,003
MiNING CONCESSIONS ....ciiiiii ittt e e e e ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e s st e e e e e e e s snreeeeeessaneeesanes 44,784 44,223
64,787 64,226
Buildings and infrastructure
BUIINGS - et 174,843 163,075
Installations ..........cccevvvveeiriiee e 173,326 343,168
Construction-in-progress 136,225 47,727
Other 177,141 587
661,535 554,557
Machinery and Equipment
MACHINETY ...t e st e e e e e e s enbbereeas 445,683 415,801
=0 (0] o] 1 41=T 01 SO PPP PRSPPI 121,086 99,417
Project-in-progress 9,832 16,278
(0101 PP OUPRRRPR 17,809 18,671
594,410 550,167
Other property, plant and equipment
LI 1o LS PP PPPPI 8,804 8,019
Furniture and office eqQUIPMENT ..........oiiiii e 12,315 12,339
PrOjECtS iN PrOGIESS .. .uuiviiiiiee e ettt ot et e e e e ettt e e e e essnntareeeeaeeessnaaeaeesssimraneeaaen 14,180 10,876
(0101 S PP UP PRI 7,653 12,836
42,952 44,070
Amounts relating to technical revaluation of propety, plant and equipment
LANA e et 7,839 7,839
Buildings and infrastructure 41,439 41,439
Machinery and eQUIPMENT..........coiiiiiiit e et e e e et e e e e e s s siabeeeessessrereeeeans 12,091 12,091
OB ASSELS ...ttt oerreee et e st e e e e s e e e e e e e e e e tbe e e e e e e, 53 53
61,422 61,422
Total property, plant and eqUIPMENT........oooouiiiiiie e 1,425,106 1,274,442

F-20



Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asgtd)

Note 7 - Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Less: Accumulated depreciation

Buildings and iNfraStrUCTUIE ............oi ittt e e e (257,063) (230,740)
Machinery and equipment................... (319,388) (295,584)
Other property, plant and equipment (18,466) (19,012)
Technical aPPraiSAl ...........ueiiiiiiiiiee e e s e e e e (35,542) (34,344)
Total accumulated depreCiation .............coeeeceeeeeiiriieeee et e e e cmenmr e e e e e (630,459) (579,680)
Net property, plant and eqUIPMENt...........oveeviiiiiiieieee e 794,647 694,762

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenmbh@085, 2004 and 2003 was as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
Buildings and infrastructure ..................ommeeeenn. (30,286) (26,547) (26,492)
Machinery and equipment (37,108) (33,552) (32,022)
Other property, plant and equipment.................. (1,462) (2,300) (1,471)
Technical revaluation............ccceeeeeieiameeeesiinins (1,198) (1,291) (1,743)
Total depreciation ...........ccceeeees e e e eenvvnnnn, (70,054) (62,690) (61,728)

The Company has capitalized assets obtained thrtaaging, which are included in other property,npland
equipment and are as follows:

As of December 31,

2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
Administrative office DUIldINGS ..........cooiiiii e, 1,988 1,988
Leased vehicles...........cccocueeennnne. 98 98
Accumulated depreciation (525) (468)
Total asSets iN1ASING .......cccicuvvvimmcmm e e e e e e e ssre e e e, 1,561 1,618

The administrative office buildings were acquired 230 installments of UF 663.75 each and an annual
contractually established interest rate of 8.5%.

The vehicles were acquired for 36 installmentslitmeto ThUS$ 98.

Note 8 - Investments in Related Companies
a) Information on foreign investments

There are no plans for the foreign investmentsay gividends, as it is the Company’s policy to veist those
earnings.

The Company has not designated any instruments easinwestment hedges of its foreign investments.
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Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asgtd)

Note 8 - Investments in Related Companies (contindg

b) Significant events and transactions involvingted companies in the years 2003-2005

Up to December 31, 2004, the financial statemehiSedilizantes Naturales S.A. (“Fenasa”) in which
SQM has 50% participation were included in consdi@h given that the Company maintained the
control over that entity (managed its financial aperating policies) based on ability to appoinh&eal
Manager. Beginning January 2005, the Company testhility to control Fenasa and consequently s ha
been excluded from consolidation. The Company auteolfor its investment in that entity for the year
ended December 31, 2005 using equity method.

In March 2005, the subsidiary Soquimich Europeaididg B.V. made a capital increase of ThUS$ 411
in its related company Misr Specialty Fertilizelrsaccordance with Technical Bulletin No. 72 issibgd
the Chilean Association of Accountants and the legguns in Circular No. 1697 issued by the Chilean
Superintendency of Securities and Insurance, theatian was performed in consideration of the book
value of the equity of Misr Specialty Fertilizers af December 31, 2004, which does not signifigantl
differ from its fair value determined at that daléiis operation gave rise to no goodwill or negativ
goodwill.

In April 2005, the subsidiary SQM Corporation N.&cquired additional 13% participation in of the
affiliate Abu Dhabi Fertilizers for a sum of ThU¥84. In accordance with Technical Bulletin No. 72
issued by the Chilean Association of Accountantsl &ircular No. 1697 issued by the Chilean
Superintendency of Securities and Insurance thep@oynvalued this investment in consideration of the
book value of equity of Abu Dhabi Fertilizers as@&cember 31, 2004, which does not significantly
differ from its fair value at that date. This ogton gave rise to no goodwill or negative goodwill

On August 9, 2005, SQM Nitratos S.A. and SQM S.éguired 99 and 1 shares, respectively of Kemira
Emirates Fertilizer Company - Fzco for ThUS$ 9,p8#1 in cash at the date of the acquisition. Acsliir
shares represent in total 100% of the capital aif ¢mtity. In accordance with the provisions of Ar@cal
Bulletin No. 72 issued by the Chilean AssociatidrAocountants and Circular No. 1697 issued by the
SVS, the preliminary valuation of identifiable assend liabilities of Kemira Emirates Fertilizer
Company - Fzco as of July 31, 2005 was performadh $aluation indicated that those fair values db n
significantly differ from assets’ and liabilitiesarrying amounts at that date. Goodwill determiordhe
acquisition amounted to ThUS$ 2,058 and will be @ired over a period of 20 years.

The Company will continue to review valuation ofets acquired and liabilities assumed and may make
adjustments to the purchase accounting within I freen the date of the acquisition in accordancthwi
paragraph 66 of Technical Bulletin No. 72 issuedhgyChilean Association of Accountants.

Subsequent to the acquisition Kemira Emirates Iizmti Company - Fzco changed its name to SQM
Dubai - Fzco.

In September 2005, the subsidiary Soquimich Eumogéalding B.V. and Charlee Industries Co, Ltd.
incorporated Charlee SQM (Thailand) Co. Ltd. SodcinEuropean Holding B.V. contributed ThUS$
800 for 40% participation in Charlee SQM (Thailar@). Ltd. This operation did not generate any
negative goodwill or goodwiill.
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Note 8 - Investments in Related Companies (contindg

b) Significant events and transactions involvingtexl companies in the years 2003-2005

At the Fifth General Extraordinary Shareholders’eiieg of SQM Nitratos S.A. held on October 31,
2005, the shareholders unanimously agreed thenfivlgp

- Change the line of business of SQM Nitratos Sath the purpose of limiting it to mining
exploitation operations.

- Spin-off SQM Nitratos S.A. in two companies, SQWNratos S.A., which maintains its name and a
newly incorporated company SQM Procesos S.A.

- This spin-off will be effective on January 1, 00

On December 23, 2004, SQM S.A. and SQM Nitratos. Swequired 43,733,165 and 2,000 shares,
respectively (equivalent to 99.9954% and 0.0046%iqgiaation, respectively), of PCS Yumbes SCM for
ThUS$ 39,707. Subsequent to the acquisition (ineDdxer 2005) PCS Yumbes SCM changed its name
to SQM Industrial S.A.

In accordance with BT 72 the Company began preliimassignation of acquisition costs to assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on theirvidiues. For the purposes of preparation of firdnc
statements as of December 31, 2004 the Companyagstl fair values of net assets acquired at ThUS$
27,070 as presented in the table below and recaydedwill on acquisition amounting to ThUS$ 12,637.
Therefore, the assets, liabilities and equity ipooated in the consolidation at their respectivevialues

as of December 31, 2004 were as follows:

Book value Adjustments Fair value
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
CUIMENt ASSETS...uuvueiiiiiieiee e 10,958 - 10,958
Property, plant and equipment......................... 25,708 (7,954) 17,754
Other asSetS.....cccooiiiiciiiieeeeee e 293 - 293
Current liabilitieS...........ooeeiiiiiiiis e 1,935 - 1,935
EQUILY . 35,024 (7,954) 27,070

The Company continued to review the valuation dur2005 in accordance with the term allowed to
adjust effects of purchase accounting establishgzhiagraph 66 of Technical Bulletin No. 72. Acdsun
that presented major differences comparing to mpiekiry valuation were property, plant and equipment
This resulted from the determination that certadsed#s were in poorer operating conditions that was
previously thought. In addition, in accordance wtiragraph 22 of Technical Bulletin No. 33 issugd b
the Chilean Association of Accountants, the Comphay determined that certain property, plant and
equipment acquired will be disposed of. For theseets, depreciation was suspended and they were
adjusted to net estimated realizable value whepdicable. The new valuation considered background
information obtained in a valuation survey condddig external experts and qualified personnel ftoen
Company, who conducted a full review of the stabfighe assets and determined fair and the net
realizable values.

Adjustments made to assets’ values resulted ire@ser of goodwill to US$ 22,255. Goodwill determined

will be amortized over a term of 20 years. The dination expense for the year ended December 31,
2005 amounted to ThUS$ 1,072.
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b) Significant events and transactions involvingtexl companies in the years 2003-2005

Assets, liabilities and equity of SQM IndustrialASincluded in consolidation at their respectivér fa
values as of December 31, 2005 are detailed asnsil

Book value
ThUS$
CUIMENT ASSELS ...uuiiiiiiiiiie i mremmr e eaaes 28,495
Property, plant and equipment......................... 9,710
Other aSSetS.......ooovvvvvieeeeeeceeeeeeeeeee e 672
Current liabilitiesS...........oeeviiiiiiii e 26,795
Long-term liabilities...........cccccveveeee e 23
EQUILY .o 12,059

. In January, April and October 2004, the subsidi@oguimich European Holding B.V. made a capital
contributions totaling to ThUS$ 1,425 to its afftk Misr Specialty Fertilizers. In accordance vth 72
of the Chilean Association of Accountants and SVi&uWlar N- 1697, the investment in Misr Specialty
Fertilizers was valued using the book value of asgets as of the dates of contributions, whichndid
differ significantly from its fair value determinex of that dates.

e Atthe shareholders’ meeting of Empresas Meldn 8eid on February 25, 2004, the shareholders agreed
its spin-off in 2 companies, Empresas Melén S.Al lnmobiliaria San Patricio S.A. As a result, SQM
S.A. maintained its ownership of 14.05% in Empresbddén S.A. and received the same ownership
percentage in the new company.

On August 13, 2004, SQM S.A. transferred all 658,887 shares held in Inmobiliaria San Patricio S.A.
to Blue Circle South American Holding S.A. Thisrtséer was performed in accordance with the contract
for acquiring shares of Empresas Melén in 1998.

On August 18, 2004, 653,748,837 shares of Empideddn S.A. representing all the shares held at the
time by the Company (14.05% participation) weredsiml a public auction on the Santiago Stock
Exchange for ThUS$ 69,337. The proceeds were regefvcash and a gain on sale of ThUS$ 8,179 was
recorded in income (includes also effect of thagfer of shares in Inmobiliaria San Patricio SaA\Btue
Circle South American Holding S.A.).

e On November 18, 2004, the subsidiary Soquimich geso Holding B.V. contributed ThUS$ 268 to a
joint venture with SQM Eastmed Turkey.

e On January 27, 2003, SQM Comercial de México SEACdV. and SQM Nitratos S.A. acquired 8,750
shares of the related company Fertilizantes Olnye€M S.A. de C.V. which represented 50% of its
share capital. Consequently, Fertilizantes Olme@&QM S.A. de C.V. became a 100% subsidiary of
SQM. This transaction generated goodwill of ThUS®.2Subsequently, SQM Nitratos S.A. acquired
from SQM Comercial de México S.A. de C.V. 8,749rskan Fertilizantes Olmecay SQM S.A. de C.V.
This transaction did not produce goodwiill.

¢« On March 30, 2003, Soquimich European Holding aegub0% ownership of Mineag SQM Africa Ltd.

from Ravlin Investment Limited for ThUS$ 990. Cogsently, Mineag SQM Africa Ltd. became a
subsidiary of SQM. This transaction did not prodgoedwill.
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Note 8 - Investments in Related Companies (contindg

b) Significant events and transactions involvingtexl companies in the years 2003-2005

e On April 28, 2003, SQM Comercial S.A. (“SQMC”) admpd from Norsk Hydro ASA, 819,999 shares in
Norsk Hydro Chile S.A. Simultaneously SQM Comerdiatiernacional Ltda., a subsidiary of SQMC,
acquired the one remaining share in Norsk HydrdeCBiA. and SQMC became the sole owner of 100%
ownership of Norsk Hydro Chile S.A. This transastgenerated goodwill of ThUS$ 1,282. Subsequently
Norsk Hydro Chile changed its name to Comercial idy@8l.A.

¢ On June 30, 2003, SQM Nitratos S.A. acquired tleeshowned by SQM S.A. in Sociedad Energia y
Servicios S.A. The shares amounted to ThUS$ 2,AR. transaction resulted in the consolidationIbf a

the shares of Energia y Servicios S.A. by one stdgg SQM Nitratos S.A. Consequently under Chilean
law, Energia y Servicios S.A. was dissolved and S{Qtvhtos S.A. assumed all its assets and liabditi

¢ On November 10, 2003, SQM Nitratos S.A. and SQM. Siduidated the subsidiary SQM Colombia
Limitada.

e« On November 18, 2003, the subsidiary Soquimich pema Holding BV, provided capital of ThUS$ 676
to initiate a joint venture with the company MigseBialty Fertilizer in Egypt.

¢) Investments with less than 20% participation

Investments in which the Company has less than gaeticipation but the capacity to exert significamftuence,
because SQM forms part of Board of Directors, Haaen accounted for using the equity method.
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Note 8 - Investments in Related Companies (contindg

d) Detail of investments in related companies

Company

Ajay North America LLC.......
SQM Lithium Specialties
LLC (1) eeieeerieeneee e eeeme

Nutrisi Holding N.V................

Misr Specialty Fertilizers......
Ajay Europe S.AR.L.............
Doktor Tarsa...........eeeeeeeennnn,
Abu Dhabi Fertilizer
Industries WLL....................
Charlee SQM Thailand Co.
Ltd. s
Impronta SRL.........ccccccoeeee
Sales de Magnesio Ltda.......
SQM Eastmed Turkey...........
Rui Xin Packaging Materials
Sanhe Co.Ltd..........ccouuueneneen.
Fertilizantes Naturales S.A...
Empresas Mel6n S.A............
Inmobiliaria San Patricio

S A
Asociaciéon Garantizadora
dePensiones........ccccceeeveeenn.

USA
Belgiu
m
Egypt
France
Turkey

UAE
Thaila
nd
Italia
Chile
Turkey

China
Spain
Chile

Chile

Currency

of origin

uss$

uss
uss

US$
US$
Euros

Uss
Uss
Euros

Chs$
Euros

Uss
Euros

Chs

Equity of

Equity participation
investment as

Ownership interest in net income (loss) for

Net income (loss) Carrying value

185

as of December 31, of December 31, for the year ended as the year December 31,
of December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2005 2004 2003
% % % ThuSs ThUS ThuS Thu ThUus$ ThUS  Thus ThUS ThUS Thus
$ $ $ S$ $ $ $ $ $
49.00 49.00 49.00 13,372 11,726 2,810 940 378 6,271 5,746 1,377 461
- - 100.00 - - - - (2,858) - - - -
50.00 50.00 50.00 6,658 5,559 1,609 1,480 1,104 3298, 2,649 805 724 520
47.49 47.49 25.00 4,504 3,803 (708) X789 - 2,139 1,806 (336) (375)
50.00 50.00 50.00 5,086 4,646 1,063 140 - 2,258 2,323 532 70
50.00 50.00 50.00 4,876 2,170 429 590 738 2,438 1,085 214 295 369
50.00 37.00 37.00 3,520 3,227 13 84 174 76, 1,194 6 31 64
40.00 - 2,000 - - - - 800 - - - -
50.00 50.00 50.00 1,778 1,016 (281) 342 755 889 508 (141) 171 377
50.00 50.00 50.00 844 518 259 480 155 2 42 259 130 240 78
50.00 50.00 - 464 536 - - - 232 268 - - -
25.00 25.00 25.00 - 482 - - - - 121 - - -
25.00 - 430 - 37 - - 108 - 9 - -
- - 14.05 - - - - 28,005 - - - 2,905 3,935
- - - - - - - - - - - (12)
3.31 3.31 3.31 908 835 - - - 30 28 - -
20,676 15,987 2,596 4,510

5,528

(1) SQM Lithium Specialties LLC was company in depenent stage up to June 2004 and its net losthéoyear 2003 was included directly in Other resgin equity.
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Note 9 - Goodwill and Negative Goodwiill
Goodwill, negative goodwill and the related amatian is summarized as follows:
a) Goodwill

Amortization for the year ended December 31 Net Balance as of December 31,

Company 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004

ThCh$ ThCh$ ThCh$ ThCh$ ThCh$
Doktor Tarsa ........ccceeeeeeevvvvieeeeeeeeeeeeeees 18 76 69 - 23
Soquimich Comercial S.A..................... 122 150 150 - 122
Empresas Melon S.A.........ccooeeeiiiienine - 324 503 - -
SQM Salar S.A ..., 40 43 43 - 40
SQM México S.A.de CVuccoovinvnnennnnn. 56 56 56 891 947
SQM Potassium S.A........ooocviieeeeeeiiien 144 144 144 1,591 1,735
Comercial Caiman Internacional S.A...... 23 23 23 154 177
Fertilizantes Olmeca S.A. de C.V.......... 56 56 56 111 167
Comercial Hydro S.A.......cccoovieeeieiiim 176 140 90 1,294 1,305
Saftnits Pty Ltd........oooccvieeiieeiiieeeiien, 290 61 - - 317
SQM Dubai - FZCO 73 - - 1,985 -
SQM Industrial S.A. (1)..... 1,072 - - 21,183 12,637
Total oo 2,070 1,073 1,134 27,209 17,470

(1) As described in note 8 b), review of prelinmnastimation of fair values of assets acquired Batdilities
assumed in transaction of purchase of PCS Yumb&$ @Grrently SQM Industrial S.A.) performed during
2005 resulted in adjustments to amounts previodsfermined and in consequence increase in value of

goodwill.
b) Negative Goodwill
Amortization for the year ended December 31 Net Balance as of December 31,
Company 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004
ThCh$ ThCh$ ThCh$ ThCh$ ThCh$

SQM Salar S.A ..., - - 167 - -
Minera Mapocho S.A..... 203 203 203 68 271

203 203 370 68 271

Note 10 - Other Long-term Assets

Other long-term assets are summarized as follove$ Becember 31, 2005 and 2004:

2005 2004
ThUuSs$ ThUS$
Engine and equipment spare-parts, net......ccccceeervveeeeenn... 19,289 24,734
Mine development costs 24,282 23,208
Pension plan.........ccccociiiiiieeeeee 1,133 1,165
Construction of Salar-Baquedano r@ayl............ccccccvveeeennnnn. 1,410 1,650
Deferred loan iSSUANCE COSES.........cooo s o e 323 866
(O 11 1= P SERRRRR 1,722 1,518
TOtAL e 48,159 53,141

(1) Amortized on a straight line basis over a pob30- years.
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Note 11 - Bank Debt

a)

b)

(1)
()

Short-term bank debt as of December 31, islddtas follows:

2005 2004
Bank or financial institution ThUS$ ThUS$
Banco de Crédito e INVersiones...........ccccceceeeriiveeeeeinnenenn. 65,017 -
Banco Santander Santiago............ccvvvvmmcccccc e 20,005 -
Banco de Chile...........ccuiiiiiiiiii e - 6,019
CAM Caja Ahorros Mediterraneo............cc.emeeecceeeeeeeinnnnns - 698
FOrtiS BanK.......cooviiiiiiiiiic e - 836
BBVA banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria .........cccceeevvveenen. - 240
Banco AHANLICO. ......oiueeiiieiiiei e - 162
TOtAl oo s 85,022 7,955
Annual average interest rate..........ccccveeeeeeeeee i, 4.65% 2.48%
Long-term bank debt as of December 31, is dmtaik follows:
2005 2004
Bank or financial institution ThUS$ ThUS$
Union Bank of Switzerland (1) ......ccovveeeevicccce e, 204,577 204,577
BBVA Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria (2) ......ccccevvveeee... 100,303 -
10 ] = | PSR 304,880 204,577
Less: current POrtion ............cceeveiiiiieeeecie e (204,880) (4,577)
LoNg-term portion .........cccvvvveiereeeeee e e e 100,000 200,000

US dollar-denominated loan, interest rate @&4’ per annum, paid semi-annually. The principaltie

on September 15, 2006.

US dollar-denominated loan without guarantesrest rate of Libor + 0.325% per annum, paid teulgr

The principal is due on March 3, 2010.

The maturity of long-term debt as of Decemberi8as follows:

2005 2004
Years to maturity ThUS$ ThUS$
Current portion (due within 1 year) ..........comeeeiiiiinieeeeenn 204,880 4,577
L 10 2 YRAIS uuutii it e ettt - 200,000
210 SYCAIS ..oeiiiiieee ittt - -
B0 D YRAIS ..ottt 100,000 -
TOMAI oo 304,880 204,577
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Note 12 - Accrued Liabilities and Provisions

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, accrued liadslitire summarized as follows:

2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$

Provision for royalties .............cccoevvivevvimee e 1,855 1,360
Provision for employee compensation and legal casts.. 7,145 1,570
Taxes and monthly income tax installment payments... 2,909 861
Vacation aCCrual..........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiicaciiiieiee e 8,126 6,932
Accrued employee benefits .........ceuvvevescommmmme e e e eee e 186 216
Marketing EXPENSES .......ccciiiiriiiee it et e e 246 246
Other aCCruals........coocuviiiiiiiiiiie e 3,283 1,082

Total current liabilities..............ooeoimmmm v 23,750 12,267

Note 13 - Current and Deferred Income Taxes

a) As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Compasythefollowing consolidated balances for distritinlé
retained taxed earnings, income not subject tostaas loss carry-forwards and credits for shardrst

2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
Accumulated tax basis retained earnings with texicr.... 206,777 86,518
Accumulated tax basis retained earnings withouttaxlit. 93,732 -
Tax loss carry-forwards (1) ........eveeeeeerecccciereeeeeeeeeeens 232,644 225,638
Credit for shareholders.............ccuviiiieeeees 42,046 17,355

(1) Income tax losses in Chile can be carried fodwadefinitely.

The Company has recognized deferred income taxesafolosses and the related valuation allowandesrev
applicable, in accordance with Technical Bulletio. €0 issued by the Chilean Association of Accountsta

The corporate income tax rate in Chile was 17%0d52and 2004 and 16.5% in 2003.
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Note 13 - Current and Deferred Income Taxes (contimned)

b) Deferred taxes

The deferred taxes as of December 31, 2005 and gffiésented a net liability of ThUS$ 36,367 and)$%

42,022, respectively, and consisted of:

As of December 31, 2005

Temporary differences

Allowance for doubtful accounts.......................
Other long-term provisions...........c.occvvaccmeeeees.
Vacation aCCrual...........coccuveeeeiier e e e eeiveeenn
Unrealized gain on sale of products..................
Provision for obsolescence of long-term assets
Production eXpenses.......cccccccveeeeeeisveeeneenneeeeens
Accelerated depreciation ...........c..c.oesvmmmennes
Exploration eXpenses............cccvvvvvervmmccceeeens
Capitalized interest..........ccoovvveereivievereeee e,
Staff severance indemnities ..............ccccccceeenenn.
AcCCrued EXPENSES .....cveeiiiiieiee it mmmee e
Tax losses carry-forwards...........ccccoee vmmmmneenen.
Accrued INEeresSt........cueeveiiieiee e

Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax liability

Total gross deferred taxes...........cccoeeveuvvnen.
Complementary accounts..............cooecvvvvvieeenene.
Valuation allowance ............cccceeeenee

Deferred taxes........ccoeeeeeevevvvnnnn.

Total deferred taxes, Net..............cumemmnreeeen.

Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$

1,345 - - -

- 620 - -
1,322 - - -
15,053 - - -
- 2,075 - -

- - 18,123 -
- - - 58,031

- - - 5,375

- - - 6,040

- - - 2,448

- - - 147

- 40,624 - -

149 - - -

- 2,535 - -
1,462 3,834 - 182
19,331 49,688 18,123 72,223
- (4,692) (1,508) (23,850)
(188) (35,518) - -
19,143 9,478 16,615 48,373
2,528 - - 38,895
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Note 13 - Current and Deferred Income Taxes (contimned)

b) Deferred taxes (continued)

As of December 31, 2004

Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax liability

Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUuS$
Temporary differences
Allowance for doubtful accounts....................... 1,324 - - -
Other long-term provisions...........ccccvvvccceeeeee, - 386 - -
Vacation accrual.............ccccvieeriiiismme e 1,165 - - -
Unrealized gain on sale of products.................. 8,748 - - -
Provision for obsolescence of long-term assets - 1,835 - -
Production eXpenses........cccccvveeeeeeisvceeneeneeeeen, 7,872 - 23,044 -
Accelerated depreciation ...............c...wummmmeennes - - - 53,890
Exploration eXpenses.........cccceeeeeeeiiivmeeeeeennnns - - - 5,336
Capitalized interest..........cccccviviviviceeneeieee e, - - - 5,849
Staff severance indemnities.............ccovceeeeeen. - 467 - 2,028
Capitalized eXpenses ......cccccccvveeeeeieveceeeenneeeen, - - - 344
Tax losses carry-forwards............cooeoecemeemnenene. - 36,472 - -
Losses on derivative transactions..................... 85 - - -
AcCrued INtEreSt........c.vveveiiiieere et 130 - - -
Other .. 1,466 1,856 217 179
Total gross deferred taxes.........ccceeeevveniennas 20,790 41,016 23,261 67,626
Complementary accounts..............ccoecvvvvvieeenene. - (5,815) (2,584) (25,955)
Valuation allowance...................uuvvvven o eeeeennn, (8,046) (27,619) - -
Deferred taxes 12,744 7,582 20,677 41,671
Total deferred taxes, Net..............comeevveneen. - - 7,933 34,089
c) Income tax expense for the years ended DeceBih@003, 2004 and 2005 is summarized as follows:
2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
Provision for current inCoOMEe tax ...........c.ceecemevveimesssneeee e, (37,428) (14,435) (2,829)
Effect of deferred tax assets and liabiliti€S....ccvvevrivrrrrmmnnn.. 10,844 (6,613) (7,731)
Adjustment for tax expense (previous year)........cccccveeeeeeeeaee.. (945) (144) 56
Effect of amortization of complementary accounts.................. (3,084) (6,022) (5,917)
Effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities @uehianges in
valuation alloWanCe...........cevvieieeiiii i ceeeee e seeeeees (1,350) - 236
Other tax charges and CreditS.............. oo e eeeeeeveeeieeeiiniinnns (564) (94) 129
Total iNCoOme tax EXPENSE.......cceeeeiieeieeeeeemmeeeeeeeeeeveeeeeen, (32,527) (27,308) (16,056)
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Note 14 — Staff Severance Indemnities

Staff severance indemnities as of December 31swarenarized as follows:

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
OpPENING DAIANCE........covviiiiiiiiii s s ern e e 11,875 10,127 9,143
Increases in Obligation ............ccccuviiiiieieee e 5,193 3,301 2,283
BeNEfitS PAI ......vvviiiiiiiiieie e e e e (3,379) (2,245) (2,802)
Foreign currency translation ................ueeeveeeiiiiiiiiiiiinen e eeeeeaeaen, 1,000 692 1,503
Other ChaNQES. ... .eviiiieie et e e e e e e e e ennes 1,726 - -
Balance as of December 31............oooiioemmmmmmeeeeeeeeee e 16,415 11,875 10,127

Note 15 - Minority Interest

Minority shareholders’ participation in the sharieleos’ equity and results of the Company’s subsie&aas of each
year-end is as follows:

Participation in equity as  Participation in income (loss) for

of December 31, the years ended December 31,
2005 2004 2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
Soquimich Comercial S.A...........oooo i, 32,234 30,741 (84) (4,442) (3,107)
Ajay SQM Chile S.A. ... 3,200 3,313 (827) (488) (250)
Cape Fear BulK LLC .........coccoevreiiieees s 93 146 (118) (144) (94)
SQM Italia S.R.L ..oooviiiiiiiiiiiccieeeeee e 23 20 ?3) 2 -
SQM Nitratos México S.A. de C.V..........c....... (39) (46) @) (37) 86
Fertilizantes Naturales S.A.........cccooevvveeeennn. - 258 - (32) (63)
SQM Indonesia S.A. ..o, (2) (2) - 2 (1)
Mineag SQM Africa Ltda. .........ccccovvvveeiienane - - - - (225)
Total. e 35,509 34,430 (2,039) (5,139) (3,654)
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Note 16 - Shareholders’ Equity

a) Changes to shareholders’ equity consisted of:

Accumulated
deficit of
subsidiaries in

Paid-in Other development Retained Net
Number capital reserves stage earnings income Total
of shares ThUuS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$

Balance as of January 1, 2003 ............cmmmmerniiiinicie 263,196,524 477,386 125,111 (3,661) 210,624 40,202 849,662
Transfer 2001 net income to retained earnings..............ccccceeveveieeennne - R - R 40,202 (40,202) -

Declared dividends 2003 ............ccuueeermmmmmeeesireeseeeseeeeseeessseeesseessseeens - - - - (19,894) - (19,894)
Accumulated deficit from subsidiaries in developtmgage (1) ................. - - - (2,858) - - (2,858)
Other comprehensive income (2) R R 16,309 - - - 16,309
NEt INCOME ... e - - - - - 46,753 46,753
Balance as of December 31, 2003 ..........cccocevennnnnnnnnnnnnnn. 263,196,524 477,386 141,420 (6,519) 230,932 46,753 889,972
Balance as of January 1, 2004 ...........oocemmemininnininn 263,196,524 477,386 141,420 (6,519) 230,932 46,753 889,972
Transfer 2003 net income to retained earningS.......c..cccevvvveereeeriieeeneens - - - - 46,753 (46,753) -

Declared dividends 2004 .............c.eeouemmmmeeesieeeseee s eseee e sneesnieeens - - - - (23,192) - (23,192)
Accumulated deficit from subsidiaries in developtr&age (1) ................. R R - (1,851) - - (1,851)
Other comprehensive iINCOME (2) .......cuviviereeriiierieeeee e - - 9,467 - - - 9,467
Net income fOor the YEar .........cooviviiiiireee e - - - - - 74,232 74,232
Balance as of December 31, 2004 --263,196,524 477,386 150,887 (8,370) 254,493 74,232 948,628
Balance January 1,2005..........ccccoiiuiiimmmenii e 263,196,524 477,386 150,887 (8,370) 254,493 74,232 948,628
Transfer 2004 net income to retained earnings............ccocoeeveeenieienienenn, - - - - 74,232 (74,232) -

Declared dividends 2005 ............ccueeeeemmmmmeeesereeseeesieeeseeessseeesseesnseeens - - - - (48,118) - (48,118)
Other comprehensive iNCOME (2) ........c.coviveeriieiieiieceese e - - 6,400 - - - 6,400
Netincome for the YEar ..o e e R R - - - 113,506 113,506
Balance as of December 31, 2005..........cccooeveeiiiiiniiiniciiniiieinnnn. 263,196,524 477,386 157,287 (8,370) 280,607 113,506 1,020,416

(1) The only subsidiary that was in a developnsage during 2003 and 2004 was SQM Lithium SpeéegltLC and therefore was not included in the ctidation. The
equity value of this investment was recorded urdgation Investments in related companies and tbpgptional share of the accumulated deficit dutimg development
stage was included in Other reserves within shddehsl equity. Since July, 2004 results of thisityrdre included in the consolidated financial staénts.

(2) Movements of Other comprehensive income dutivey years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2@0ide cumulative translation adjustment relatecClhilean
investments measured in Chilean pesos, foreignstments and the effect of changes in the valuaifoihe Company’s pension plan. Details are preseimtepoint b)

below.
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Note 16 - Shareholders’ Equity (continued)

b) Other comprehensive income in the years endse@ibber 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 and othr reserves

balance as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 ardlawdo

For the year ended December 31,

As of December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
Technical appraisal .........ccccccoiiiiiiiiieecieiee s - - - 151,345 151,345
Changes in other comprehensive income related to
investments:

Soquimich Comercial S.A. (1) ...cvvveeeeiniii e, 5,522 3,242 6,421 6,268 746
Isapre Norte Grande Ltda. (1) .............. - 14 - (83) (83)
Inversiones Augusta S.A. (1) cvveeeeeeiiiiieeeeeeinniens - - - (761) (761)
SQM Ecuador SAAL....cooeeiiiiiiiiieee e - - - (271) (271)
Almacenes y Dep0sitos Ltda.(1) ..........evermmmmmeeeeens 78 34 1 22 (56)
Asociacién Garantizadora de Pensiones.(1)......... 2 2 2 (12) (13)
Empresas Melon S.A. (1) ..cooovviiieeeeeiiiiieeemee e - 6,190 9,446 - -
Sales de Magnesio Ltda. (1)....cccccceeeiviivevivennennnnne 7 - 69 59 52
SQM North America Corp. (2)....cceeeeivivrrriemecnennnnn, 792 (15) 370 - (792)
Other Companies (1) ....cccceveereeeiiiirrerimmmmmeveeeeens (2) - - 719 720

Total other comprehensive income..................... 6,400 9,467 16,309 157,287 150,887

(1) Corresponds to translation adjustments anapecel restatement

(2) Corresponds to a change in the valuation oCthepany’s pension plan.

c) Paid-in capital consists of 263,196,524 fullytemized, subscribed and paid shares with no paeydivided
into 142,819,552 Series A shares and 120,376,97@s3# shares.

The preferential voting rights of each series aréolows:

Series A: If the election of the president of thempany results in a tied vote, the Company's
directors may vote once again, without the vot¢hefdirector elected by the Series B

shareholders.

Series B: (1) A general or extraordinary sharehsldeneeting may be called at the request of
shareholders representing 5% of the Company'ssSBranares.

(2  An extraordinary meeting of the Board of Dirgstonay be called with or without the

agreement of the Company's president, at the regfiesdirector elected by Series B

shareholders.
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Note 17 — Derivatives Instruments

Derivative instruments are recorded at their failue as of year-end. Changes in fair value aregrézed in
income with the asset or liability recorded in Qtharrent assets or liabilities. Losses from amgioelate to fees
paid by the Company to enter into such contracssofADecember 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company’vatere
instruments are as follows:

2005

Type of
derivative

Currency Optio
Currency Optior
US dollar

2004

Type of
derivative

US dollar
Forward

US dollar
Forward

US dollar
Forward

US dollar
Forward

US dollar
Forward
Currency Option
Currency Option
Currency Option
Currency Option

Notional or
coverec Expiration
amount
ThUS$

31,27¢ 1% quarter of 20C
5,747 1% quarter of 200
7,72¢ 1% quarter of 20C

44,752

Notional or
covered Expiration
amount
ThUuS$
1,013 1% quarter of 2005
4,629 1% quarter of 2005
399 2" quarter of 2005
10,004 1% quarter of 2005
5,187 1% quarter of 2005
38,721 1% quarter of 2005
43,884 2" quarter of 2005

25,814 3" quarter of 2005
20,651 4% quarter of 2005

150,302

Risk type

Exchangeate
Exchange ra
Exchange ra

Risk type

Exchange rate
Exchange rate
Exchange rate
Arbitration

Exchange rate
Exchange rate
Exchange rate

Exchange rate
Exchange rate
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Position (Liability)Asset Income
Purchase/Sal amount (loss) effec

(P/S; ThUS$ ThUS$

P 62 62

P (49) (49)

P (176, (176;

(163) (163)
Position (Lidility)Asset Income

Purchase/Sale amount (loss) effect

(P/S) ThUS$ ThUS$

P (108) (108)

S 110 110

S 42 42

P (539) (539)

S (207) (207)

P (893) (893)

P (1,012) (1,012)

P (595) (595)

P (476) (476)

(3,678) (3,678)
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Note 18 - Non-Operating Income and Expenses
a) Details of non-operating income for the yeamdegnDecember 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 are as follows

2005 2004 2003

ThUS$ ThUuS$ ThUuSs$

INTErEST INCOME ..coiiiiiiii ettt e 5,530 3,650 2,957
Equity participation in net income of unconsolidhievestees....... 3,073 4,897 5,529
INSUFANCE FECOVEIIES ....uvviiiiiiiieeee e e eeeeeee e e et e e e e e e 213 546 154
Write-off of liabilities...........coovii e, 2,204 388 422
Net foreign exchange gain and price-level restateéme................ - - 6,590
Sale of MINING CONCESSIONS......coiiiiiiii et 298 635 135
Sale of materials and ServiCes...........ooueeeeamiiveee i 438 190 628
Gain on sale of investments in related companies..................... - 8,179 -
Rental of property, plant and equipment .........cccooveeeeiiiiiiiinnnn, 1,015 774 736
Compensation obtained from third parties......cccccceeveeeeiiicenennn. 737 - -
Payment discounts obtained from suppliers ... ..evveiniiniannn.. 1,026 452 606
Other INCOME .......oiiiiiiiiie e 1,899 1,118 879

TOMAL et 16,433 20,829 18,654

b) Details of non-operating expenses for the yeaded December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 are aw#ollo

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$

INTErEST EXPENSE ... e 16,663 18,782 21,777
Net foreign currency exchange loss and price-lexgthtement...... 3,804 475 -
Non-capitalizable exploration project expensesadisions for
damages and liquidation of asSets .........cccccecevv i viviciiiii e, 13,489 9,262 8,965
Equity participation in net losses of unconsolidatesestees 477 387 1
Amortization of goodwill .............cvvveiiiiiiiie e 2,070 1,073 1,134
WoOrk disruption EXPENSES ......ccuuvvvreeees e eeeeeeaaeeesesasssnssssesmmes 584 568 1,640
Increase in provision for employee compensationlegdl costs... 7,986 533 1,442
Change of discount rate for staff severance indgasrprovision.... 678 - -
Allowances for materials, spare parts and supplies................... 1,188 1,628 881
Allowance for doubtful aCCOUNLS..............comeeeeemiiiiiiiieeieaaaenn 151 2,500 687
Non-recoverable taxes..........ccuuuiiiiiii e 647 531 690
CONSUILING SEIVICES. . uueiiiiieeeeeeieieeieeeeee e e e s s e e e s ereereeeeeeee, 314 175 282
[ 0] 0 =i o] SRR 896 533 235
PENAIIES ... 238 161 415
Other EXPENSES ...t eee e e e e e e e e 1,570 1,812 1,664

LIS L= L SRR 50,755 38,420 39,813
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Note 19 — Price-level Restatement
Amounts charged or credited to income relatingriceplevel restatement are summarized as follows:

(Charge) credit to income from operations
for the year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
Property, plant and equipment .............vvceeeeeeieeeeeeeiiiiiiiinn, 239 173 60
Other assets and liabilities ................cmmmmeereeierereree e (248) (286) 193
Shareholders’ @QUILY ........eeieeiiiiiiie e (2,846) (1,577) (459)
Subtotal price-level restatement.........cccceeevvvviiiceeeeeieeeeieis (2,855) (1,690) (206)
Net adjustment of assets and liabilities denomahatdJF.............. - (23) 188
Net price-level restatement ........oouuue«eeeerieenrieeniiiinnnenns (2,855) (1,713) (18)

Note 20 — Assets and Liabilities Denominated in Fergn Currencies and Indexation Units

As of December 31, 2004 and 2005, assets anditiebidlenominated in foreign currency and indexatinits are
as follows:

As of December 31,

2005 2004
ThUus$ ThUuSs$
Assets
Chilean pesos 81,583 81,886
usSdollars......cccceeeviveeennnee. 1,433,629 1,175,983
EUNOS .t 2222 e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eaaaaaaeaaas 24,742 30,996
JAPANESE YN coiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 6,466 3,889
Brazilian Real ... 304 348
MEXICAN PESOS ...vvvvrreeeiiiiiieereeeeeimmmneesereeeeaeesassstereeeeeesasssreseeeeesannnes 11,331 6,926
L RSP PP 57,906 49,785
South AfrICAN RANG ......ooveiiiii e 9,321 9,214
DIFNAMS .. e a e e 11,954 -
Other CUITENCIES......cuviieeiieec ettt 3,332 2,345
Current liabilities
ChilEAN PESOS ....iei ittt ee et s st e e e e e e e r e e e e s s aeberreeeeanaans 65,355 51,877
(0 IS [0] | F= N 347,141 54,437
EUTOS . 222222 e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eaaaaaeeaaas 5,369 10,927
JAPANESE YEN ..ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt 133 75
Brazilian Real .........c.uviiiiiiiieeeeeie e 1,245 796
MEXICAN PESOS ...vvvvviieeiiiiiiiiieeeessmenaestreeeeeessssstereeeeesssnsnreeeeeeesssanes 3,230 9,696
L PSR 3,544 1,177
South African RaNd ............cooiiiiiiicmce e 1,792 2,140
Dirhams ..., 411 -
Other CUITENCIES.....cci i 48 119
Long-term liabilities
ChilEaN PESOS ....ceiiiiiiitiiet e et ettt e e e e s et eeeeeenans 16,358 10,531
L 1S (o] 1= 1= OSSPSR 138,950 235,310
JAPANESE YN coiiiiiiiiiiiii e - 121
L PR 1,065 1,106
Other CUIMENCIES ... uuviiiiee e e it e e e e e e e e e s e e e e e e e ennareees 2 2
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Note 21 — Additional cash flow statement informatia
Amounts included in other investing income in Stagats of cash flows are summarized as follows:

For the years ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
Loans to employees (made) received, net.. (75) 219 3,221
Cash of acquired and newly consolidated entltlgas (1 ............ 911 23 4,343
Sale of MiNING CONCESSIONS ..........cciviiiicreeee e 509 635 135
TOMAL e 1,345 877 7,699

(1) In 2003 corresponds to the consolidation eflpexcquired subsidiaries Mineag SQM Africa Limitdeertilizantes Olmeca
SQM S.A. de C.V. and Comercial Hydro S.A. In 20@tresponds to consolidation of subsidiary previpusing in
development stage (SQM Lithium Specialities LLPJ acquisition of PCS Yumbes SCM (currently SQM Istrial S.A.).
In 2005 corresponds to acquisition of SQM Dubazed:

Note 22 — Commitments and Contingencies

l. Contingencies:

a) Lawsuits and other legal actions

The Company and its subsidiaries are involvedtigalions in the ordinary course of business. Basethe advice
of legal counsel, management believes that theltsesfi these litigations will not have a materidleet on the
consolidated financial statements. Details of thestmimportant litigations of which the Company @&ty to are
provided below:

1. Plaintiff: Miguel Negrete Ubeda
Defendants: Marco Antonio Ortiz Castillo y SQMifdios S.A. and its insurers
Date of lawsuit: May 2004
Court: First Civil Court of Antofagasta
Cause: Work accident
Instance: Evidence provided
Nominal amount: ThUS$ 150
2. Plaintiff: Mario Miles Andrade
Defendants: Constructora Fe Grande S.A. and sabgiand jointly and severally
SQM S.A. and its insurers
Date of lawsuit: June 2005
Court: Labor Court of Antofagasta
Cause: Work accident
Instance: The demand has been contested
Nominal amount: ThUS$ 270
3. Plaintiff: Gabriela Véliz Huanchicay
Defendants: Gilberto Mercado Barreda and subygidiad jointly and severally

Date of lawsuit:

SQM Nitratos S.A. and its insurers
August 2005

Court: 4th Civil Court of Santiago
Cause: Work accident
Instance: The demand has been contested

Nominal amount:

ThUS$ 1,350
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Note 22 — Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Contingencies (continued)

a) Lawsuits and other legal actions (continued):

4,

Plaintiff:
Defendants:

Date of lawsuit:
Court:

Cause:
Instance:

Nominal amount:

Plaintiff:
Defendants:
Date of lawsuit:
Court:

Cause:

Instance:

Nominal amount:

Plaintiff:
Defendants:

Date of lawsuit:
Court:

Cause:
Instance:

Nominal amount:

Marina Arnéz Valencia

Intro Ingenieria Limitada and sulasidand joint and severally
SQM S.A. and its insurers

September 2005

Labor Court of Antofagasta

Work accident

Evidence provided

ThUS$ 475

Electroandina S.A.

Sociedad Quimica y Minera de Chide S.

September 2005

Court of arbitration

Early termination or partial modificatmmtemporary suspension
of the Electrical Supply Agreement entered orbriary 12, 1999 by virtue
of supposedly unforeseen events that would r@sah increase in the cost
of or restricted the supply of natural gas frongeéntina.

Evidentiary stage

The amount has not been detedmniae

Juana Murafia Quispe

Intro Ingenieria Limitada and sulasigiand jointly and severally
SQM S.A. and its insurers

October 2005

25th Civil Court of Santiago

Work accident

Rejoinder

ThUS$ 1,500

b) Models for the Production of the Maria ElenaSit

The Company is currently implementing different jpots related to the Maria Elena Site DecontanonaRlan

(Note 26).

Projects that are being implemented in the Marén&lsite, a priori, do not generate any significdrainges in the
current mining reserves or forecasted productidanaes.

The final execution of these projects is subjectthe approval of environmental impact studies prese in
December 2005 to the respective authorities.
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Note 22 — Commitments and Contingencies (continued)
Il. Commitments:

1. The subsidiary SQM Salar S.A. maintains an agee¢ with a government agency, whereby the
Company must make annual payments until 2030 bas¢de Company’s annual sales. This fee that
is being paid since the beginning of the agreenmeh®96 amounted to ThUS$ 6,752 in 2005 (ThUS$
4,910 in 2004 and ThUS$ 4,024 in 2003).

2. The Company has certain indirect guaranteeg;hwigilate to agreements with no remaining payments
pending. These guarantees are still in effect lzanee been approved by the Company’s Board of
Directors; however, they have not been used bguhsidiaries.

3. Bank debt of SQM S.A. and its subsidiaries hagestrictions or terms other than those that might

usually be found in similar debt instruments isswedthe financial markets, such as maximum
indebtedness and minimum equity among others.

Note 23 — Third Party Guarantees

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004 the Company feefollowing indirect guarantees outstanding:

Debtor Balances outstanding
Beneficiary Name Relationship 2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
Phelps Dodge Corporation...............cc....... SQM Potasio S.A. Subsidiary - 957
BBVA Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria... Royal Seed Trading Corp. A.V.V.  Subsidiary 100,303 -

Note 24 — Guarantees obtained from third parties

Tattersall Comercial S.A. has made several guagardgéup to ThUS$ 1,000 to assure compliance daftitgations
related to commercial mandate agreement for theatision and sale of fertilizers with Soquimich i@ercial S.A.

Note 25 — Sanctions

During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the SVS did not apahctons to the Company, its directors or managers.
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Note 26 — Environmental Projects
Disbursements incurred by the Company during thersyended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 reltting

investments in production processes and compliaiiteenvironmental regulations related to industpeocesses
and facilities are as follows:

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$

Project
Environmental department ...............ovvvvummmmmmeecenrnnniininnnieeeeeeess s eeeeeenns 596 544 383
Risk and security management...............oecemmereeresiireereesnnrneeeessneeeenns 424 - -
DUSE €MISSION CONTIOL.....cciiiiiiii ittt e e 962 - -
Light NOrmalization .............oooiiiiiiiiiicc e 378 - -
Improvement of MINING OPEratioNS ........cccvieviiiiieeiiee i 220 - -
Boratos sewage treatment plant.............cocmemeeeveiiiirieieeee i e - 281 555
e Teto] o] 11 =W o] {0 = ! U - 615 792
Engineering and building of Maria Elena pileS..cccc.uvvveeiiieiiiiime e, - 2,667 2,014
Treatment plant MOP ..........ooviiiii e eee e - 208 208
L@ 01T RS 811 1,242 408

TOMAL s 3,391 5,557 4,360

SQM is currently implementing an Environmental Mg@@ent System, which is based on the ISO 14000 atdn
with which the Company will improve its environmahperformance. The implementation program stigslahat
all the operations maintained by the Company inigtegl and Il of Chile, will have a fully implemesd
Environmental Management System by late 2005.

Processes where sodium nitrate is used as a ragviah@re carried out in geographical areas sucheadesert with
favorable weather conditions for drying solid metisrand evaporating liquids used in solar energlye extraction
of minerals in open pit mines, given their low veagi-mineral ratio, gives rise to waste depositg thave little
impact on the environment. The extraction pro@ss ore crushing produce particles that are camistith the
industry of operation.

On August 10, 1993, the Ministry of Health publidreresolution under the Sanitary Code that estadydi that the
levels of breathable particles present at Marian&l®lant exceeded the level allowed for air quatityd,
consequently, affected the nearby city of Marian&leParticles mainly come from dust that resutismfprocessing
the sodium nitrate, particularly at the crushinggass prior to leaching. The Company has impleadeatseries of
measures that have shown notable improvement iquaility at Maria Elena. A new decontaminationnpleas
published in Decree No. 37/2004 in March 2004, irdémands to reduce 80% of the emissions for gthersc
particulate material in two years. We design a pegyect that modifies the milling and screeningtsyns used in
the processing of the caliche ore at Maria Elemditfas, which should allow for the necessary retthn of
particulate material emissions. An environmentabast study for the project was presented to their&mment
Commission and it was approved through Resolution2¥0 in October 2005, with a construction progamine
months. Upon issuing the approval for the enviromaleimpact study, the Environmental Commissioruéss
Decree N°53975, which authorizes this project as @he through which we will comply with the emisgsio
reductions asked for in Decree No. 37/2004. Tiwgept is under construction and its start up isesluled for
August 2006.

Company’s ore treatment operations, as they artrallmu processes, produce solid residual matetiels are the
non-soluble by product and a certain degree of ton@s
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Note 26 — Environmental Projects (continued)

SQM entered into a contract with the National Foye€orporation (CONAF) aimed at researching thivaies of
flamingo groups that live in the Atacama Salt Miagoons. Such research includes a population cufuthie birds
and wildlife, breeding research, additional behavésearch and the climate phenomena of the area.

Consistent with the Company’s ongoing commitmenthvthe environmental authorities, the Company abtiv
participates in the Joint Monitoring Research prbfer the Atacama Salt Mine watershed along witieo mining
companies that make use of the water resourcestipaly the Atacama Salt Mine. To perform thiddgtuSQM
has involved diverse scientists from prestigiouseaech institutions such as Dictuc of Pontificiaivénsidad
Catolica, the University of Nevada, Cornell Univgrand the University of Binghamton in New York.

Note 27 — Significant Events

On January 19, 2005, the Company’s Board of Dirsdttformed the SVS that, in an Ordinary Sessiothef
Board on January 18, 2005, they accepted the \ayrand irrevocable resignation of Mr. Avi Milstears
Director and appointed Mr. Daniel Yarur E. in hiage.

On February 25, 2005, Royal Seed Trading Corp A.Va\subsidiary of Sociedad Quimica y Minera ddeChi
S.A., entered into a syndicated loan for ThUS$ @00, guaranteed by its Parent Company, with tHeviahg
banks: BBVA Securities Inc., BNP Paribas and Rabkb@uracao N.V. The loan matures in 5 years, with
quarterly interest payments at an initial annutgriest rate of Libor + 0.325%, which could vary eleging on
any possible future modifications in the subsidigxternal debt classification. There are no grelrantees
associated with this loan.

Inversiones El Boldo Limitada, owner of more thadPd of voting right shares issued of SQM S.A. and
subsidiary of Potash Corporation of Saskatchewan, lon April 25, 2005 requested from the Board of
directors of SQM S.A. that it requests an Extrawady Shareholders' Meeting of the Company to vet®dhe
convenience of either eliminating or not Seriesndl 8 shares - and preferences related to thesessein
which the Company's capital is currently dividedotigh the amendment of the pertinent articles ef th
Company's by-laws required to reflect this possiblenination and; alternately, and provided thaé th
shareholders do not approve this elimination, tadifgoarticle 31 of these by-laws with the purpose o
incorporating in this article the concept of “reldt persons” already included in Article 31 Bis bkt
aforementioned by-laws. The Company's Board oé@ars unanimously agreed on its meeting held ol Ap
26, 2005 to summon such a meeting for May 25, 2005.

At the General Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting ofiAp9, 2005, the shareholders, among others, dgite
following:

() Approved the distribution and payment of a fimividend from 2004 net income for a total of Ch$
106.56029 per share in one single payment from 323y2005.

(i) Approved the payment of UF 50 to each memideihe Board of Directors’ Committee regardlesshaf t
number of meetings that this Committee may or rastehduring the respective month and establish an
annual budget for expenses for this Committee &naldvisors of UF 1,800.

(iii) Appoint Wayne R. Brownlee, Hernan Blchi Bas& Maria Eyzaguirre B., Julio Ponce L., José Anton
Silva B., Wolf von Appen, Kendrick T. Wallace anéel Yarur E. as new directors of SQM S.A. and
approved remuneration payable to these membergeddard during the next twelve months, which are
the same as those approved at the Company’s pee@eneral Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting.
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Note 27 — Significant Events (continued)

During July 2005, the French Arbitrage Associat{dAFA”) pronounced its sentence in the process that
Compagnie du Guano de Poisson Angibaud S.A. anér@lende Nutrition Vegetales SAS, which are member
companies of the Angibaud Group (“Angibaud”), filéd Paris, France during 2002 a lawsuit against
Soquimich European Holdings B.V., NU3 and SQM FeafcA., all of which are subsidiaries of SQM for
damages that Angibaud would have experienced dtleettermination of business relationships betwaah
groups of companies.

Angibaud filed a lawsuit for the amount of ThEu®,205 and the AFA in a sentence that partially piEmk
this claim ordered that SQM pays the amount of d@prately ThUS$ 6,000, including expenses and isteie
Compagnie du Guano de Poisson Angibaud S.A. andr@lende Nutrition Vegetales SAS.

With no prejudice of the foregoing, SQM has madeaeerual of ThUS$ 6,000 to pay the amounts inditat
the aforementioned sentence.
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Note 28 — Subsequent Events

At the First General Extraordinary Shareholdersekiteg of SQM Industrial S.A. held on January 9, 0be
shareholders approved the merger of SQM Procegosro SQM Industrial S.A. through the dissolutioh
SQM Procesos S.A. and its incorporation into SQMubtrial S.A., which in effect acquires all assatsl
liabilities of SQM Procesos S.A.

On January 19, 2006, the Company informed the $&8S3ociedad Quimica y Minera de Chile S.A. andesom
of its subsidiaries have acquired, on the same fdate the DSM Group based in the Netherlands, tal t
amount of shares of certain companies that pastieip;y the markets of the production and commegzeitdbn

of iodine and iodine derivatives in Chile and alokoaAccordingly, SQM has acquired the mining rigatsd
water rights, industrial plants, regulatory permatsd other pertinent assets of these companieshwhiic
allow it to have proper installed capacity to proel2,200 additional tons of iodine per year in €hil

The purchase price was ThUS$ 72,000 and it was ipaithsh. This, with no prejudice of certain minor
adjustments that will have to be made in respechit price in the short-term and with no prejudidethe
purchase of accounts receivable and finished ptedacd the charge to the values of these accoumds a
products of certain liabilities that were part bétaccounting records of these three new sub®diafi SQM
S.A. - DSM Minera S.A., DSM Minera B.V. and Exploianes Mineras S.A.

On January 24, 2006, Sociedad Quimica y Minera tieCS.A has placed in the Chilean market an
unguaranteed bond for the nominal amount of UF IBomiwith a term of 21 years and an annual interate
of 4.18% to refinance liabilities and fund invesirtgeprojects for the year 2006.

On January 24, 2006, Soquimich European Holding. BsMl Nutrisi Holding N.V. acquired 334 and 666
shares, respectively of Fertilizantes Naturales. $9AThEuro 75,100 thereby increasing their ownigrab
33.35% and 66.65%, respectively.

On April 5, 2006 SQM placed in the U.S. market adoof US$ 200 million with an annual interest rafe
6.125%. The interest will be paid semi-annually #mel capital will be paid in a single amortizationApril
2016. The funds obtained will be used to refinagsting indebtness maturing in September 2006.

Management is not aware of any other significafisequent events that have occurred after Decenihe2(B5
and that may affect the Company’s financial positio the interpretation of these financial statetsien
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Unitede®&s Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

Accounting principles generally accepted in Chégyin certain important respects from accountirigciples generally
accepted in the United States. Such differencesivia certain methods for measuring the amountsvshia the
financial statements, as well as additional disckes required by US GAAP.

The principal differences Between Chilean GAAP BI®IGAAP are described below together with explanatiwhere
appropriate, of the method used in the determimatdiothe adjustments that affect net income aral stareholders’
equity. References below to “SFAS” are to StatemaftFinancial Accounting Standards issued by tmari€ial

Accounting Standards Board of the United Statenaérica

The preparation of financial statements in configrivith Chilean GAAP, along with the reconciliatidto US GAAP,
requires management to make estimates and assomiiat affect the reported amounts of assets iahiities,
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilitieofathe date of the financial statements and tiperted amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reported perabgalkesults could differ from those estimates.

l. Differences in measurement methods

The principal methods applied in the preparatiorthef accompanying financial statements, which hagealted in
amounts that differ from those that would have wifs®= been determined under US GAAP, are as follows

a) Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

As described in Note 2 k), certain property, plantl equipment are reported in the financial statésnat amounts
determined in accordance with a technical appraiegbrmed in 1988. US GAAP does not allow the Ieation of
property, plant and equipment. The effects of #aeenrsal of this revaluation, as well as of theteelaaccumulated
depreciation and depreciation charge for eacharesset-forth under paragraph | o) below.

b) Deferred income taxes

On January 1, 2000 the Company began applying i@HBulletin No. 60 (“BT 607), and related amendrtg of the
Chilean Association of Accountants concerning deteiincome taxes. These regulations require tbegrdtion of
deferred income taxes for all temporary differenagsing after January 1, 2000, using the liabifitgthod. Prior to
implementation of BT 60 and related amendmentsjaferred income taxes were recorded under ChilgehRGf the
related timing differences were expected to beebfiis the year that they were projected to revegseew timing
differences of a similar nature. In order to naitegythe effects of not recording deferred incormegainder the prior
deferred income tax accounting standard, BT 60igeovfor a period of transition whereby a transgibprovision, a
contra asset or liability (referred to as “completaey”) was recorded, offsetting the effects of tederred tax assets
and liabilities not recorded prior to January 10@0Such contra assets or liabilities must be areokto income over
the estimated average reversal periods corresgpitmithe underlying temporary differences to whioh deferred tax
asset or liability relates.

For US GAAP purposes, the Company applies SFASAD@Bunting for Income Taxes, whereby income taxesalso
recognized using the same asset and liability @gspravith deferred income tax assets and liabiléistablished for
temporary differences between the financial repgitiasis and tax basis of the Company’s assetiahilities based on
enacted tax rates.

The primary differences between Chilean GAAP andGJ&\P relates to the reversal of complementary @etsoand
their amortization recorded in accordance withtthesition provisions of BT 60 as well as to theogmition of the
deferred income tax effect of US GAAP adjustmetiis, effect of which is set-forth under paragrapb) Ibelow.
Additional disclosures required under SFAS 10%atdorth under paragraph Il b) below.

F-45



Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmss
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asstd)

Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Uniteda®és Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimued)
C) Translation of foreign currency financial statenents and price-level restatement

In accordance with Chilean GAAP, the financial estagnts of subsidiaries which do not maintain theirounting
records in US dollars, are translated from localancy to US dollars as described in Note 2 d).

For the purposes of reconciling to US GAAP, the @Gany applies SFAS 52 Foreign Currency TranslatiSfAS
52™), which requires a functional currency transtatapproach. Under SFAS 52 the Company has detednthat the
US dollar is the functional currency of all domessind foreign subsidiaries. Accordingly, financiéhtements of
subsidiaries, which do not maintain their accogntiecords in US dollars, are remeasured into Usrdplafter the
elimination of price-level adjustments, if any falfows:

(i) Balance sheet accounts:

. Monetary assets and liabilities are translateti@tear-end exchange rate; and
. Non-monetary assets and liabilities and sharehsld=uity are translated at historical exchange
rates.

(i) Income statement accounts:

. Depreciation and amortization expense and otheowmts derived from non-monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at historical rates; and

« All other accounts are translated at monthly-averagchange rates, which approximate the actual
rates of exchange at the date the transactionsreccu

Remeasurement gains and losses are includeddetenination of net income for the period.

As described in the Note 2 c) under Chilean GAARurftial statements of domestic subsidiaries thattama their
records in Chilean pesos include effects of thiatioh (price-level-restatement) in Chile. Under GBAP Chile does
not meet definition of highly inflationary econoragd consequently effects of inflation accountingdseto be reversed.

The effect of eliminating price-level restatememd ghe effects of translation of financial statetsesf subsidiaries that
maintain their records in currencies other thardolfar are included in paragraph | o) below.

d) Investment in Empresas Mel6n S.A.

During 1998, the Company purchased a 14.05% paation in Empresas Melon S.A., (“Mel6n”) cement ofanturing
company. Pursuant to a shareholders agreementAuntist of 2004 the Company exerted significafifuénce over
Meldn and thus it accounted for this investmentoth Chilean GAAP and US GAAP under the equityhoet As
mentioned in Note 8 this investment was sold dui8g4. Significant adjustments between Chilean GAshE US
GAAP relating to the investment in Melon are désemtibelow.

d-1) Purchase accounting adjustments
At the time of acquisition of participation in Meldunder Chilean GAAP, the Company recorded gobdwilthe

transaction, calculated as the difference betweemparchase price and the proportionate shareinghassets acquired
at their book values. Such goodwill was being dimext over a period of 20 years.
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Uniteda®és Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimtued)
d) Investment in Empresas Melén S.A. (continued)

Under US GAAP, the Company calculated goodwilllesdifference between the purchase price and tigogionate

participation in the fair values of the assets @eduand liabilities assumed. As a result propogte share in the
Melbn’s net assets measured at fair values excesmipisition cost. In accordance with US GAAP stifference was
allocated to property, plant and equipment acquiredlicing the accounting base, and consequestlgepreciation of
those assets.

The effects of reversing goodwill and its relatecbeization recorded under Chilean GAAP and thegasition of the
new basis of assets and liabilities and subsegiegnéciation are set forth in paragraph | 0) below.

d-2) Accounting for participation in Melén on US GAAP basis

Within the period in which SQM exerted significanfluence over Melén it recognized its participatiaf income (loss)
and net assets of that entity using equity methad.the purposes of the Company’s US GAAP recaticih US
GAAP information of Melon was prepared. The priteidifferences between Chilean GAAP and US GAARI&ion

related to deferred taxes and the elimination icEgevel restatement

In addition under US GAAP the financial statemesftdelén were converted into dollars in accordawith SFAS
52 as described in paragraph c) above. The effercognizing income and net assets under theyeméthod
under US GAAP and effects of conversion to US dslla accordance with SFAS 52 are set forth in graah | 0)
below.

d-3) Sale of investment in Melén on US GAAP basis

As discussed above in 2004 the Company sold itscfpation in Melén. As a result of differences purchase
accounting and subsequent measuring of income fharinvestment as discussed in points d-1) and abdye
value of investment sold was different for Chil&aAAP and for US GAAP. Consequently adjustment & résult
of the sale of participation in Mel6n is includexdthe reconciliation to US GAAP in paragraph | ejdw.

e) Consolidation of subsidiaries in the developmerstage

Under Chilean GAAP subsidiaries in the developn&ate are not consolidated and their results frperations
are not included in the consolidated income staténieor purposes of US GAAP, these subsidiariest rhas
consolidated and their results should be recordethé income statement. Until June 30, 2004, SQMiuun

Specialties LLP was the development stage comp&ing.effects of recognizing its net loss for thergeanded
December 31, 2003 and 2004 is set forth in pardgrap below.

f) Minimum Dividend

As required by the Chilean Companies Act, unlehsratise decided by the unanimous vote of the hsldéissued
and subscribed shares, an open stock corporatishdisiribute a cash dividend in an amount equal teast 30%
of the company’s net income before amortizatiomedative goodwill for each year as determined icoedance
with Chilean GAAP, unless and except to the extaet Company has unabsorbed prior year losses. $imce
payment of the 30% dividend out of each year’s ineas a legal requirement in Chile, a provision basn made
in the accompanying US GAAP reconciliation in paegdp | o) below to recognize the corresponding ese in
net equity at December 31 for each year for thier@ihce between 30% of net income and interim divit$ paid
during the year.

Net income related to the amortization of negagjgedwill can only be distributed as an additionald&nd by the

approval of the shareholders, and accordingly,oisimcluded in the calculation of the minimum dieil to be
distributed.
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Unitede®és Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimtued)

Q) Loans to Employees

During 1989, 1995 and 2000, the Company loanetheéraggregate, ThUS$ 1,452, ThUS$ 8,224 and ThU&E6
respectively, at market interest rates, to certanployees for the purpose of acquiring shareseofCtbmpany in the
open market. In accordance with US GAAP, the remginnpaid balance of such loans, amounting to THhPSs,

ThUS$ 764 and ThUS$ 1,102 at December 31, 2005} 266 2003, respectively, has been treated asuatiewl of

shareholders' equity under paragraph | 0) below.

h) Staff Severance Indemnities

The Company has negotiated certain collective lairga agreements with employees for staff severance
indemnities. Under Chilean GAAP the liability Hasen recorded at the present value of the accremefits which

are calculated by applying a real discount ratthéobenefit accrued over the estimated averageimamgaservice
period.

h) Staff Severance Indemnities (continued)

Under US GAAP, termination indemnity employee béaeshould be accounted for in accordance with SBAS
consistent with that of a defined benefit pensitempmeasuring the liability by projecting the frguexpected
severance payments using an assumed salary priogreate, net of inflation adjustments, mortalitydaturnover
assumptions, and discounting the resulting amotmtbeir present value using real interest ratdwe &ffect of
accounting for the indemnities in accordance wiEAS 87 is set forth under paragraph | o) below. ifioidal
disclosure requirements are presented in paradraphbelow.

i) Marketable securities

The Company’s marketable securities may be solthénshort term if appropriate based on market dimmdi.
Under Chilean GAAP, these securities are valuetha@tlower of cost or market value. Under US GAARKsu
securities are classified as available-for-sale anredshown at market value in the balance shebtamy unrealized
gains or losses recognized in other comprehensigeme. The unrealized gains and losses relateithetse

securities are not material for the periods presknt

)] Derivatives

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standardar@dssued SFAS13&ccounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activitie"SFAS 133"). SFAS 133 requires that all of a @amy’s derivative instruments be
recorded in the balance sheet at fair value anddmanges in a derivative instrument's fair valeerécognized
currently in earnings unless specific hedge acdogrtriteria are met. Special accounting for dyalg hedges
allows a derivative instrument's gains and lossesfset related results on the hedged item irrtbeme statement,
to the extent effective, and requires that a companst formally document, designate, and assessftbetiveness
of transactions that receive hedge accounting

j-1)  Sale of swaps
During 2000, the Company sold three interest rat@pscontracts with original expiration dates in 2@thd 2003,
which generated a gain of ThUS$3,213. Under Chile&®P, the gain was recognized in income at thestoh

sale. Under US GAAP, the gain is deferred and dmeattover the effective life of the instrumentstthiehedged.
The effect of deferring the gain is set forth unplaragraph | p) below.

F-48



Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmss
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asstd)

Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Unitededés Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimtued)
)] Derivatives (continued)
j-2)  Fair value accounting of derivatives

The Company enters into forward exchange and ceyreption contracts principally to mitigate thekressociated
with maintaining certain accounts receivable irefgn currencies. The purpose of the Company'sdoreiirrency-
hedging activities is to protect the Company frdma tisk that cash flows will be adversely affecbgdchanges in
exchange rates resulting from the collection oknegbles from international customers. The effeftaccounting
for derivatives under Chilean GAAP are recordeth@gome.

The Company periodically uses interest rate swapesgents to manage interest rate risk on its figatate debt
portfolio. Interest rate swap agreements are gélgerntered into at the time floating rate dehis®ied, in order to
convert the floating rate debt to a fixed rate. dADecember 31, 2005 the Company had no inteeget swap
contracts in place.

The Company does not have the documentation argeheftectiveness to qualify for hedge accountisgieguired
under SFAS 133. Therefore all derivatives have lmmmounted at fair value with changes in fair vakeorded in

income

The effect of measuring the derivative instrumeaittheir fair value and the corresponding effecintome is set
forth under paragraph | 0) below.

k) Business combinations and Goodwiill
Under Chilean GAAP, goodwill is amortized over tkstimated period of return of the investment made.
Impairment tests are only performed if there iglence of impairment. No impairment has been reeeghior any

of the periods presented under either Chilean GAABS GAAP.

For US GAAP purposes, the Company adopted SFASGotIwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 14243,
of January 1, 2002, and did not amortize goodwlkted to acquisitions made after June 30, 2001.

The Company has performed the required annual mmgai test, which did not result in any impairment.

The effect of reversing the amortization of goodiwilder Chilean GAAP is set forth under paragraphbelow.

) Negative goodwill

Under Chilean GAAP until December 31, 2003, negatioodwill was calculated as the excess of theasgéts
acquired in a business combination transaction thermpurchase price. Beginning January 1, 2004 Ciiapany
adopted Technical Bulletin No. 72 of the Chilearsédation of Accountants that changes the basisadoounting
for negative goodwill, introducing the fair valuétbe acquired net assets as the basis to be cethpath purchase
price in order to determine goodwill or negativedwill.

Negative goodwill recognized under Chilean GAAP waserated on the acquisition of the investmentSQM

Salar S.A. and Minera Mapocho S.A. Under ChileanABAsuch negative goodwill was capitalized as aitte
the balance sheet and is being amortized overiadpef 10 years.
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Uniteda®és Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimued)

)] Negative goodwill (continued)

Under US GAAP, prior to the adoption of SFAS 148gative goodwill was considered as a reductiormeflong-
term assets of the acquired company, and if atcrediained after reducing those assets to zer@tireggoodwill
was recorded and amortized over the period of @égddoenefit. However, in the period of adoptioRAS 141,
Business Combinations requires that unamortizedatheg goodwill be written off and the resulting gabe
recognized as an effect of a change in accountiimiple. The effects of reversing goodwill receddand its
related amortization, the recognition of the nevsibaof assets and liabilities and subsequent digpieat and
writing off the remaining balance of negative godtlare set-forth in paragraph | 0) below as folkyw

I-1:  The reversal of negative goodwill amortizatr@eorded under Chilean GAAP.
I-2:  The effects of reducing depreciation expertige to the allocation of the excess purchase pdce
property, plant and equipment;

m) Capitalized interest

In accordance with Chilean GAAP, only those legdities that have financial expenses may capitafiterests on
debt related to property, plant, equipment undestraction and other projects.

Under US GAAP, the capitalization of interest orelifying assets under construction is required arelgss of
whether interest is associated with debt direclgted to a project. The accounting differencewéeh Chilean and

US GAAP for financing costs and the related detéam expense are included in the reconciliatioV® GAAP
under paragraph | 0) below.

n) Minority interest

The effects on the minority interest of the US GAadjustments in subsidiaries that are not whollyxedvby the
Company have been reflected in Minority interest are included in paragraph | 0) below.
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Uniteda®és Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimued)

0) Effects of conforming to US GAAP

The adjustments to reported net income requir@dndorm to US GAAP are as follows:

Net income in accordance with Chilean GAAR..........ccoooviieiiiieciiiineeien,

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment (pa@lg @) .........cevvveeeeernnnn.
Deferred income taxes (paragraph D) ........coceccceeeeeeeisieiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeensenes
Translation of foreign currency financial statensefparagraph c)...............
Purchase accounting adjustments - Empresas Mefr{(@ragraph d-1) ...
Accounting for participation in Mel6n on US GAAP4dis (paragraph d-2)..
Cost of sale of Empresas Melon S.A. on US GAAPSgsragraph d).......
Consolidation of subsidiaries in the developmeagst(paragraph €)...........
Staff severance indemnities (paragraph ) .cccceeeeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiien,
Derivatives - sale of swaps (paragraph j-1) ...cccceeeeviiiiiiiiiiiieniee e
Derivatives - fair value accounting of derivatiparagraph j-2).................
Goodwill (paragraph K) .......ccoooiiiiiiiiieeeemre e
Negative goodwill (paragraph )
I-1: Reversal of negative goodwill amortipati...............ceeeeviirieeeiennenn.
[-2: Depreciation of property, plant and gument.............cccccceveeeeriinnnns
Capitalized interest (paragraph m) ..........ccoceeeriiiie e
Minority interest (paragraph N) ...........o e e eeeeecinirieee e e

Deferred income tax effect of the above US GAARisiipents...................

For the years ended December 31,

Net income UNAEr US GAAP ......cooveiii i e e e et e s

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Minimum pension liability adjustment..........ccccccvoiiiiiiiii e
Translation adjuSIMENT .............uvuiuriiiier e e e e e aaaeens

Deferred gain from sale of swaps (paragraph j=Ll)me.ccceeeeeeeiiiiicniivnennnn...

Total comprehensive income under US GAAR.............cecccvvvvvneenn.

2005 2004 2003

ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
113,506 74,232 46,753
2,132 4,367 4,580
2,236 6,022 5,917
8,994 5,318 7,455
- (34) (264)
- (467) 250
- 2,336 -
- (1,851) (2,858)
(836) (618) (1,902)
- - 175
1,483 (1,483) 309
1,718 749 631
(203) (213) (370)
113 123 104
(91) (91) -
(3,576) (2,115) (3,041)
(272) 551 35
125,204 86,826 57,774
792 (15) 370
- 6,460 8,802
- - (146)
125,996 93,271 66,800
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Uniteda®és Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimued)
0) Effects of conforming to US GAAP (continued)

The adjustments required to conform shareholéersty amounts under Chilean GAAP to US GAAP are as

follows:
As of December 31,
2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
Shareholders’ equity in accordance with Chilean GAA..........cccooiiiiiiiriieee e, 1,020,416 948,628
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment: dgeaph a)
a-1: Property, plant and eqUIPMENt...........ccuieeieieeoieiiiiieeeee e e e e eneens (133,768)  (133,768)
a-2: Accumulated deprecCiation ...............commeerrerereeeeeeeseiiiiiirreeerreeeeeseaenans 99,729 97,597
Deferred income taxes (paragraph b) ........coeeeeeeeeeeeeeiniiieiiiiier e (26,648) (28,884)
Translation of foreign currency financial statensefparagraph c)
c-1: Property, plant and equipment, Net.......ccccccveveeeeee e (2,377) (1,637)
c-2: Accumulated deprecCiation ..............veceeeeceeieiieee e 921 722
oG T [ 01V =T o1 (o ] Y/ SRR RSPPRR (728) (1,198)
C-4: GOOAWIIL, NMETL ...t e e e e e e e (408) (297)
Minimum dividend (paragraph ) .......ooo e (34,053) (22,270)
Employer loans used to purchase shares (paragyaph.g.......cccccoeeveivvviiiinieeeeeennnn. (288) (764)
Staff severance indemnities (paragraph N) ..cccoeeeooiiieii e (4,926) (4,090)
Fair value of derivatives (paragraph j-2) ......e..uueurieriiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeceeeveeieeeeeeeeenns - (1,483)
GoodWill (PAragraph K) .......cooiiiieiie i ereeee e 3,813 2,094
Negative goodwill: (paragraph I)
I-1: Property, plant and eqUIPMENL..........commmmeeeeeeeieiiiiiiiieieeee e e e e e e e e eeeseeeens (3,156) (3,156)
I-1: Accumulated depreciation of property, plantl @guipment.............cccceeeeneeee 1,796 1,683
[-2: Negative goodWiIll .............eeeiiiieee e e e 3,156 3,156
I-2: Accumulated amortization of negative goodwill............ccccvvveevieeeeeeiiiiicnnns (3,088) (2,885)
Capitalized interest (paragraph M) ..........cceeeeereiiiiiiiii e eeeeeee e
m-1: Property, plant and eqUIpPMENt..........ccccceiviiiiiirieeee e 1,643 1,643
m-2: Accumulated depreciation ..............cccceeeeieeiiiiiiee e (182) (92)
Effect of minority interest on US GAAP adjustme(aragraph n) .......cccccevveeeeeeeiiinnns 1,001 1,009
Deferred income tax effect of the above US GAARISIINENTS..........c.cevvvevevreieeernininns 589 862
Shareholders' equity in accordance with US GAAP.......cccccov i, 923,442 856,871
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Uniteda®és Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimued)
0) Effects of conforming to US GAAP, continued

The changes in the Shareholders’ equity accoutésrdmed under US GAAP are summarized as follows:

ThUuS$
Balance at January 1, 2003.........coiiiiiiiiiiiieeiiceiceeeeeee e e 747,332
Reversal of accrued minimum divided at DecembeR802................ccccecuvveeeennee 11,685
Distribution of final 2002 diVIdENd ...........ccceeieiieiiiiie e (19,894)
Accrued minimum dividend at December 31, 2003...........ccevvveeeeeimmmeeeeeiinennen, (14,026)
Employer loans used to purchase Shares.........ccccccovviiire e 2,801
Other comprehensive INCOME........cooiiii e 9,026
Net inCome fOr the Year............uuiiiii e 57,774
Balance at December 31, 2003...........uoiiiereeeaiiiiiee e neeee 794,698
Reversal of accrued minimum divided at DecembePB8O3..............cceeevuvvereannne 14,026
Distribution of final 2003 dividend ...........cccccei oot e (23,192)
Accrued minimum dividend at December 31, 2004..........cccveveeeeeimmneeeeeeennnenn, (22,270)
Employer loans used to purchase SharesS.......ccccccevveviiciiiiiiiniieee e 338
Other comprenenSIVE INCOME.........cooii it e e 6,445
Netincome for the YEar.............uiiiiiiic e e e 86,826
Balance at December 31, 2004 856,871
Reversal of accrued minimum divided at Decembe2B04 ............cccceeeeeevvvnnne.. 22,270
Distribution of final 2004 dividend ...........cccccee oo (48,118)
Accrued minimum dividend at December 31, 2005.........cccccvvvveeeeimmneeeeeeeieennnn, (34,053)
Employer loans used to purchase Shares..........cccvvvvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin e 476
Other comprehenSIVE INCOME.........cooii i e e e re e e e e e 792
Net iNnCome fOr the YEaAr ..., 125,204
Balance at December 31, 2005...........couuieemm e 923,442
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Uniteda®és Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimued)

Il. Additional Disclosure Requirements

The following disclosures are not generally reqilioce recommended for presentation in the finansiatements

under Chilean GAAP, but are required under US GAAP:

a) Earnings per share

The following disclosure of earnings per share rimfation is not generally required for presentatiorfinancial

statements under Chilean accounting principlessogquired under US GAAP:

2005 2004 2003

(Expressed in single US dollars)
Basic and diluted earnings per share under ChiB®AP ........................ 0.43 0.28 0.18
Effect of accounting change on earnings per shar@........cccccceeeeeveennnn. - - -
Basic and diluted earnings per share under US GAAP...............cc.... 0.48 0.33 0.22
Dividends declared per share (1) ........ccveeeveeeeeiiieeee e 0.28 0.18 0.09
Weighted average number of common shares outstafitiousands)...... 263,197 263,197 263,197

(1) Represents dividends declared and paid inrdacce with Chilean GAAP.

The earnings per share data shown above is detinhiy dividing net income for both Chilean GAAP du8
GAAP purposes by the weighted average number atsha common stock outstanding during each yearthe

years presented the Company did not have conwegéaurities outstanding.

b) Income taxes

The provision for income taxes differs from the amipof income tax determined by applying the amtlie
Chilean statutory income tax rate to pretax acdngnincome on a US GAAP basis as a result of thieviing

differences:
2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$

Consolidated pretax income under US GAAP ....coueeeeeeciiiiiivieeeiiiiiiiian, 160,382 114,815 74,573
STATULOIY TAX TALE....eeiiiiiieiiiiiiire e e e e eeeees 17% 17% 16.5%
Theoretical tax at StatULOry FatE............oummmmssererreieerieeeeeeeeerieeeeeeeeenie.. 7,265 19,519 12,305
NON-dedUCtiDIE ITEMS .......coiiiiii e 892 91 (2,325)
Difference in tax rates in foreign jurisdictions..............cccccvvvvvvvvivvvvnnnnn. 1,056 355 360
Valuation allowance 1,350 572 (236)
L@ 1 1= SO PP TP UPPUUUPPRPN - -
Total income tax under US GAAP ..o 30,563 , 285 10,104
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b) Income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are summarizefbéewvs at December 31 under US GAAP.:

2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$

Deferred Tax Assets
Allowance for doubtful debts..............cccoceeeeennnn. 1,965 1,710
Vacation accrual ............ccoovvvivviees e e e eeeeeeennnns 1,322 1,165
Unrealized gains on sales of products................ 15,053 8,749
Provision for obsolescence ...........cooevviceeeecnnnn... 2,075 1,836
Losses from derivative transactions.................... - 336
Tax loss carryforwards (1) .....cccccvvevvveeeeeeeenenennn. 40,624 36,472
Fair value acquisition adjustments...................... 2,535 -
Other @CCrUAIS .....uuvviiiiieeee e creeee e e ee e e e e e e e 5,445 3,451

Gross deferred tax asSets..........ccoeeeeeeeeeveennen. 69,019 53,719
Valuation allowance ............cccvvveeeeees e eeeeeeenn (35,706) (35,665)

Total deferred tax assets 33,313 18,054
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Production eXpenses ...........ccocevevrireineenneee e (18,123) (15,172)
Accelerated depreciation.................eeevmmmmmereeeeenns, (58,031) (53,890)
Staff severance indemnities ...........ccccvccceeneennn. (1,611) (866)
Exploration eXpenses........cccceeeeeeeeiiv s wceeeeeeevinnns (5,375) (5,336)
Capitalized interest ..........coooveecivvvieeeeieeeeeeeennn (6,288) (6,113)
(1 T OO (329) (740)

Total deferred tax liabilities............cceeeeeeeeenee, (89,757) (82,117)

(1) The Company’s tax loss carry forwards were prim generated from losses incurred in Chile and
Mexico. In accordance with current laws, in Chég losses may be carried forward indefinitely @amd
Mexico they expire after 10 years. For the yeaded December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 the Company
realized benefits from the use of tax loss carmyvéwds amounting to ThUS$ 3,541, ThUS$ 9,324 and
ThUS$ 6,567, respectively.

Tax loss carry forwards relate to the following ntries as of December 31.:

2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
Chil€ e 38,385 31,081
MEXICO .oveeiiiiiiee e - 3,833
(O] 1 1= ST 2,239 1,558
B o] -1 40,624 36,472
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b) Income taxes (continued)

The classification of the net deferred tax assedsliabilities detailed above is as follows:

2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
] 0] 1 o (] 1 1,020 (10,264)
(0] 0T I (=T 1 [ (57,464) (53,799)
Net deferred tax liabilities..........cccccvveeeeiiiicciiinnnee. (56,444) (64,063)

The provision for income taxes in accordance wish@AAP is as follows:

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUuS$
Income tax expense under Chilean GAAP (Note 13).... 32,527 27,308 16,056
Additional deferred tax under US GAAP.........c........ 272 (551) (35)
Reversal of amortization of complementary accounts. (2,236) (6,022) (5,917)
Total tax provision US GAAP.......cccccccviivivcciivnnnee, 30,563 20,735 10,104

In accordance with Chilean Law No, 19,753, whiclsvssued on September 28, 2001, the corporate mdam
rate was 16.5% for the year 2003, and 17% for &z 2004 and thereafter.

US GAAP before tax income related to Chile andifpreperations for the years ended December 34 fisllaws:

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
ChlE ..o 134,411 113,683 59,625
FOIBIGN ... 25,972 1,132 1894
TOMAl oo 160,382 114,815 74,573

The portion of current and deferred income taxesgdd to income statements that related to Chidd@meign
operations for the years ended December 31 in danoe with US GAAP is as follows:

2005 2004 2003
Deferred  Current Total Deferred Current Total Deferred Current Total
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUuSs$ ThUuS$ ThUuSs$ ThUuSs$ ThUS$  ThuUuS$
Chile....... (5,777) 33,537 27,760 5,045 14,001 19,046 7,193 1,301 8,494
Foreign...  (1,088) 3,891 2,803 1,255 434 1,689 711 899 1,610
Total....... (6,865) 37,428 30,563 6,300 14,435 20,735 7,904 2,200 10,104
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Unitedgbés Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimued)

c) Other Comprehensive Income

In accordance with SFAS No. 18&&porting Comprehensive Incontee Company reports a measure of all changes
in shareholders’ equity that result from transawiand other economic events of the period ottesr ttansactions
with owners (“comprehensive income”). Comprehemsicome is the total net income and other non-owgaity

transactions that result in changes in net equity,

The following represents accumulated other comprgikie income balances, net of tax, as of DecembgP@03,

2004 and 2005:

Beginning balance .............cccccvee e
Translation adjustment ...............cccccvieeeeeevnnnnen,
Deferred gain on sale of swaps............cceeeeeeennne

Minimum pension liability adjustment

NEt ChaNgE....covvviieee i
Ending balance ..........ccccccoviiiiniiereeee s

Beginning balance ..........cccccceeeiiiiniiiiccceeee,
Translation adjustment ...............cccccvieeeeeevnnnen,

Minimum pension liability adjustment

Net change..........cccciiiiiiiieiiieeeeeee e
Ending balance ..........cccooviiiiiiii i

Beginning balance ............ccccoviiiiiiiecceece,
Translation adjustment ..............ccccccvviveeeenvennnnn.

Minimum pension liability adjustment

NEt ChaNgE.....cevveieeee i
Ending balance ..........ccccccoviiiiiiereeee s

Year ended December 31, 2003

Before-tax Tax Net-of-tax
amount (expense) or amount
benefit
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
(16,934) 671 (16,263)
8,802 - 8,802
(175) 29 (146)
597 (227) 370
9,224 (198) 9,026
(7,710) 473 (7,237)
Year ended December 31, 2004
Before-tax Tax Net-of-tax
amount (expense) or amount
benefit
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
(7,710) 473 (7,237)
6,460 - 6,460
(24) 9 (15)
6,436 9 6,445
(1,274) 482 (792)

Year ended December 31, 2005

Before-tax Tax Net-of-tax
amount (expense) or amount
benefit
ThUS$ ThUuS$ ThUS$
(1,274) 482 (792)
1,274 (482) 792

1,274 (482) 792
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Unitedgbés Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimued)
d) Credit Agreements

The Company has renewable lines of credit arrangenier short-term US dollar borrowings with vasoGhilean
and foreign banks totaling, in the aggregate to $81854,000 and ThUS$ 449,000 at December 31, 2002@04,
respectively. There was US$ 469 million and US$ 438ion available as of December 31, 2005 and 2004
respectively. The Company pays no commitment feesuzh credit lines and the average rate was LIPOR
0,40%.

e) Lease commitments

The Company leases office facilities by way of pitzd lease payable in installments through 201ith & bargain
purchase option at the end of the lease.

Minimum lease payments under capital leases ameded in Other accounts payable and are as follows:

Minimum
lease
payments
Year ended December 31, ThUS$
2006 ..o 279
2007 e et e e e e e e neees 455
2008 ..o 455
2009 ..o 175
2020 oo 175
TREIEAIEN .....eiiiiiee e 21
Total future minimum lease payments .....ccccccceeeeeeeeeeeennn. 1,560
112 S O RRERURR (311)
Present value of net minimum lease paymenits................ 1,249
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Unitedgbés Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimued)
e) Lease commitments (continued)

SQM Salar S.A., a consolidated subsidiary of then@any, entered into a contract with a governmeehay for
the rental of land for the purpose of exploratiowl @xploitation of certain minerals. Rental payraesie stated in
US dollars and are determined based on actual atisates through 2030 in accordance with specifigels in the
agreement. Based on the agreement the Company ipdi$ 6,752, ThUS$ 4,910 and ThUS$ 4,024 in 22084
and 2003 respectively, including the minimum anmaaltal, which was ThUS$ 4,172, ThUS$ 3,477 and §%U
2,995 for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Futninimum annual rentals are as follows:

Minimum
annual
rentals

Year ended December 31, ThUS$

3,945
3,945
3,945
3,945
3,945
B I (] L (] 78,905

TOtAL. ..o ———— 98,630

f) Foreign exchange gain and losses

For US GAAP presentation purposes, the net foreigihange gains and losses on transactions in foceigencies
and UF amounted to ThUS$ 5,391, ThUS$ 3,000 andS#l#4,036 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Q) Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject tBompany to significant concentrations of creiik,rconsist
principally of cash, investments and trade accoretusivable.

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent&etahle securities, and certain other financiatriments
with various financial institutions, These finardisstitutions are located in Chile and other paftshe world, and
the Company’s policy is designed to limit expostioeany one institution, The Company performs peciod
evaluations of the relative credit standing of ¢éhdmancial institutions as part of the Companyisestment
strategy.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to tradeounts receivable are limited because of thgelaumber of
entities comprising the Company's customer basdtaiddispersion around the world. The Companglcy is to
require collateral (such as letters of credit, gntge clause or others) and/or maintain creditrames for certain
accounts as deemed necessary by management.
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h) Advertising and Research and development costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and medto ThUS$ 1,389 , ThUS$ 1,719 and ThUS$ 1,846k
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 cieshe.

Research and development costs are expensed agdtheand amounted to ThUS$ 2,480 , ThUS$ 1,803TaiE$
1,444 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2002@03.

i) Business combinations and goodwiill
As described in paragraph | k) above the Compaopted SFAS 142 as of January 1, 2002, SFAS 142eaypl

all goodwill and identified intangible assets acgdiin a business combination.
Goodwill under US GAAP as of December 31 is sumpeatias follows:

2005 2004
ThUS$ ThUS$
GOOAWIll...ciiiei e 30,528 19,181
Accumulated amortization and impairment............ (1,425) (1,425)
GOoOAWIll, NEL.....eiiiiiiiie e 29,103 17,756
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)] Reclassification differences between Chilean GAR and US GAAP
(i) Non-operating income and expense under US Ga&Bulated in accordance with Chilean GAAP
The following reclassifications are required to foom the presentation of Chilean GAAP income staeim

information to that required under US GAAP. Thelassification amounts are determined in accordance
with Chilean GAAP.

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$

Non-operating income under Chilean GAAP ... 16,433 20,829 18,654

Less:
Sale of MiNiNG CONCESSIONS..........uuviimmeeeiiiiieeereee e e e e e 298 635 135
Sale of material and Services ..........ccccovvvvvviviieieieeeeeeeeen 438 190 628
INSUFANCE rECOVEIES ....ceeiiiiiiiiiit ettt 213 546 154
Write-off of liabilitieS.......cccoooivvieeeeeeeeee e, 2,204 388 422
Payment discount obtained from suppliers .cccccee.ccc....... 1,026 452 606
Rental of property, plant and equipment......cccccccoo.o....... 1,015 774 736
Compensation obtained from third parties........ccc........... 737 - -
Other iINCOME ........eviiiiiiiieie e 1,899 1,118 897

Non-operating income as classified under US GAAR, b

calculated in accordance with Chilean GAAP...ccu........... 8,603 16,726 15,076

Non-operating expenses under Chilean GAAP ................. 50,755 38,420 39,813

Less:
Amortization of goodwill ...........cccoooiiiieeeiiiii 2,070 1,073 1,134
Work disruption EXPENSES .......cccoevnee o s eevvivvveereeaaaeens 584 568 1,640
Increase in allowance for doubtful accounts.................... 151 2,500 687
Non-capitalizable exploration project expengas a

provisions for damages and liquidation of assets............... 13,489 9,262 8,965
Unrecoverable taXes ... iiiiiceeeeee e 647 531 690
Provision for compensation and legal COStS.mmmmmvveer......... 7,986 533 1,442
Change of discount rate for staff severancenmdiges

0101V (o] PP 678 - -
Allowances for materials, spare parts and supplies........ 1,188 1,628 881
CONSUItING SEIVICES ..vvvviiiiiiiiiiee et 314 175 282
DONALIONS ...ttt 896 533 235
PeNAILIES ....eeiiiiiie e 238 161 415
Other EXPENSES ......uuiiiiiiieiee e 1,570 1,812 1,664

Non-operating expense as classified under US GAAP,

calculated in accordance with Chilean GAAP...coee.uueee.... 20,944 19,644 21,778
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)] Reclassification differences between Chilean GAP and US GAAP (continued)

(ii) Condensed financial statements under US GAAP

The following are summarized balance sheets o€tmapany using a US GAAP presentation and amounts
determined in accordance with US GAAP:

As of December 31,

2005 2004
Assets ThUS$ ThUuS$
Current assetS . 743,692 573,524
Property, plant and equipment.................. 1,287,448 1,137,524
Accumulated depreciatian......................... (528,195) (479,769)
Property plant and equipment, net............ 759,253 657,755
GOOAWIIl ... 29,103 17,756
Other assets.......ccccvevviieie e, 76,947 69,368
Total aSSEetS .......uveeeeeeiieieeiiiiieeeees 1,608,995 1,318,403
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities ...........ccoceeiiiiiees e 464,852 157,328
Long-term liabilities 186,193 270,783
Minority interest........ccccoeveevvvvviivieeemeee e, 34,508 33,421
Shareholders’ equity ........ccccccovvivieeeiieeen. 923,442 856,871
Total liabilities and shareholders’ 1,608,995 1,318,403
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Unitedgbés Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimued)

)

Reclassification differences between Chilean GAR and US GAAP (continued)

The condensed consolidated statements of inconthdoyears ended December 31 under US GAAP ansifidals
in accordance with US GAAP are presented as fotlows

Operating income

Sales
CoSt Of SAlES....uvveiiiiieeee e
GroSS MargiN......ccceeevieieciiiieee e e e e e e eee e

Selling and administrative expense.................
Operating iINCOME...........ccoeciiiiiiiiieee e ee s

For the years ended December 31,

Non-operating income and expense, net..............

INCOME TAXES ......cevviiviiiiieiiiiie e
MINOrity INTEreSt .........vvviiiieieeee e e e
Equity participation in income (loss) of related

COMPANIES, NET ....vviiiiiiiieieeeee e s

NELINCOME....uiiiiiiiiii e s e e s

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Minimum pension liability adjustment ...............
Translation adjustment..............ccceeevieeeeeeeneennn.
Deferred gain from sale of swap..

Total comprehensive income under US GAAP

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
895,970 788,516 691,806
(670,213) (618,213) (564,495)

225,757 170,303 127,311
(61,878) (55,705) (50,590)
163,879 114,598 76,721
(6,093) (1,618) (4,301)
(30,563) (20,735) (10,104)
(4,615) (7,254) (6,695)
2,596 1,835 2,153
125,204 86,826 57,774
792 (15) 370
- 6,460 8,802
- - (146)
1965,9 93,271 66,800

F-63



Sociedad Quimica y Minera De Chile S.A. and Subsidiies
Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statenmts
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except asgtd)

Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Unitedgis Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (comtued)

k) Industry segment and geographic area infmation

The Company provides disclosures in accordance SRHAS 131 Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Informatior{*"SFAS 131"), which establishes standards for répg information about operating segments
in annual financial statements as well as relatsdlasures about products and services and gedgrapeas.
Operating segments are defined as components oénderprise about which separate financial statement
information available is evaluated regularly by tbigief operating decision maker in making decisiam®ut
allocating resources and assessing performancagdardance with SFAS 131, the Company has five eetgn
which are split into geographical areas: Chileji@merican and Caribbean except Chile, Europe, @84 Asia
and other.

The accounting policies of each segment are the santhose described in the “Summary of Signifidéemounting
Policies” (Note 2).

The following segment information is presenteddnadance with US GAAP reporting requirements, hawethe
amounts have been determined in accordance wilkda@hGAAP.

Latin
America
and Asia
Caribbean and
North
Chile except Europe America  other Eliminatio = Consolidated
Chile n
For the year ended December 31, ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThuS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
2005
Sales to unaffiliated customelrs...... 156,086 128,187 258,296 270,006 83,395 - 895,970
Transfers between geographic areas 278,325 15,604 287,129 224,714 38,389  (844,161) -
Total revenues........cccvevveeeviieeieece. 434,411 143,791 545,425 494,720 121,784  (844,161) 895,970
Exports by region...........ccccceveeernnn. - 116,427 243,964 172,060 51,908 - - 584,359
Net aSSetS ....cvevvveeiiiie i 1,731,058 33,188 39,107 91,241 338 (874,516) 1,020,416
GoOdWill ....vvveeviee e, 27,055 154 - - - - 27,209
Long-lived assets.........cccccvvvverennnnn. 2,342,510 71,670 30,870 85,219 237 (1,632,720) 897,786
Expenditures on long-lived assets. 199,242 102 2,159 1,268 - - 202,771
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and Unitedgbés Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (coimued)

k) Industry segment and geographic area informatior(continued)
Latin
America
and Asia
Caribbean and
North
Chile except Europe America other Eliminatio  Consolidated
Chile n
For the year ended December 31, ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThuS$ ThUS$
2004 ThUS$
Sales to unaffiliated customers............. 158,846 111,066 228,287 233,506 56,811 - 788,516
Transfers between geographic areas....202,293 11,231 245,585 175,859 36,689  (671,657) -
Total reVeNUES ........ccevviieieeiiiiieeeee 361,139 122,297 473,872 409,365 93,500 (671,657) 788,516
Exports by region..........cccoeeecvivivennnnn. - 102,266 171,861 142,970 43,124 - 460,221
Net asSetS.....ccovvvvreerriiieeeennnne e 1,862,55 16,005 12,519 92,582 332 (1,035,364) 948,628
GOoOdWill.....ooiiiiei e 16,952 177 341 - - - 17,470
Long-lived assets...........cccccvvvvveennnnnn. 2,478,562 15,255 11,615 91,597 228 (1,811,335) 785,922
Expenditures on long-lived assets........ 87,309 132 2,488 616 13 - 90,558
Latin
America
and Asia
Caribbean and
North
Chile except Europe America other Eliminatio  Consolidated
Chile n
For the year ended December 31, ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUuS$ ThuS$ ThUS$
2003 ThUS$
Sales to unaffiliated customers............. 216,820 36,433 219,239 185,224 34,090 - 691,806
Transfers between geographic areas....167,098 11,671 236,119 129,760 22,614 (567,262) -
Total reVeNUES ........ccoovvieieeiiiiieeeeee 383,918 48,104 455,358 314,984 56,704 (567,262) 691,806
Exports by region.........cccccovviveeiiinnnn, - 79,400 164,072 110,834 31,169 - 385,475
Net aSSetS....cooivieeieiiiieee e 1,682,65 69,481 14,931 66,084 (100) (943,077) 889,972
(€000 /1 13,289 200 98 - - - 13,587
Long-lived assets.........ccccovcuveeeeeennnnen. 2,448,591 17,686 12,853 65,991 134 (1,716,249) 829,006
Expenditures on long-lived assets........ 58,765 1,614 2,856 5,358 - - 68,593
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and United&és Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(continued)

k) Industry segment and geographic area informatior(continued)

Sales by product type to unaffiliated customergtieryears ended December 31 are as follows:

2005 2004 2003
ThUuS$ ThUS$ ThUuS$
Specialty plant nutrition 487,802 426,836 362,7
lodine and derivatives 149,103 110,495 84,557
Lithium and derivatives 81,360 62,623 49,695
Industrial chemicals 73,983 73,050 73,748
Others 103,722 115,512 121,015
Sales to unaffiliated customers 895,970 588, 691,806
) Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments ard Derivative Financial Instruments

The accompanying tables provide disclosure of stienated fair value of financial instruments owigcthe
Company. Various limitations are inherent in thegentation, including the following:

- The data excludes non-financial assets and iligsil such as property, plant and equipment, aadlill.
- While the data represents management’s bestasithe data is subjective and involves significa
estimates regarding current economic and marketittons and risk characteristics,

The methodologies and assumptions used depena derths and risk characteristics of the variousunsents and
include the following:

- Cash and time deposits approximate fair valuabse of the short-term maturity of these instrusient
- Marketable securities with a readily determinahkeket value are recorded at fair value,

- Current liabilities that are contracted at valeabterest rates, are considered to have a fhievequal to
book value.

- For interest-bearing liabilities with an origirantractual maturity of greater than one year féiirevalues
are calculated by discounting contractual cashdlatncurrent market origination rates with simims.

- For forward contracts and swap agreements, &irevis determined using quoted market prices of
financial instruments with similar characteristics.
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Note 29 — Differences between Chilean and United&és Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(continued)

) Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments ard Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

The following is a detail of the Company’s finardistruments’ U.S. GAAP carrying amount and esteddair
value:

As of December 31,

2005 2004

U.S. GAAP U.S. GAAP

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated

Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 147,956 147,956 66,753 6,753
Short-term accounts receivable 222,032 222,032 ,22G4 204,213
Long-term accounts receivable 2,379 2,379 289 289
Liabilities:
Short-term bank debt..............oooooiieee 85,022 85,022 (7,955) (7,955)
Short-term notes and accounts payable......... 78,990 78,990 (73,938) (73,938)
Derivative inStruments ..........cccceeeveves e ene, 163 163 (702) (2,185)
Current and long-term portions of long-term

bank debt..........ccoeiiiiiiiie 304,881 306,102 (204,577) (216,965)

Long-term other accounts payable................ 1,065 1,065 (1,106) (1,206)

m) Post-retirement obligations and staff severancedemnities

The Company’s subsidiary SQM North America Corgorahas a defined benefit, noncontributory pengtan
covering substantially all employees who qualift@sge and length of service. Plan benefits asedvan years of
service and the employee’s highest five-year awe@mpensation during the last ten years of empoynThe
plan’s assets consist primarily of equity mutualds and group annuity contracts.

In September 2002, the Board of Directors of SQMtiNémerica Corporation voted to suspend the plachas a
result after December 31, 2002, participants doeaoh additional benefits for future services. Saction resulted
in a curtailment loss (equal to the amount of uogeized prior service cost) of approximately US$hiBion for
the year ended December 31, 2002.

Assumptions used in determining the actuarial pregalue of the projected benefit obligation adDeicember 31
are as follows:

2005 2004
Weighted-average discount rate .............ccccmemrvvveeerernennnn. 7.5% 7.5%
Rate of increase in compensation levels......................... 0.0% 0.0%
Long-term rate of return on plan assets ... .eeeeeiennns 8.5% 8.5%
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m) Post-retirement obligations and staff severarcindemnities (continued)

The long-term rate of return on assets was detednbased upon past investment experience and peetakion
for future experience.

The following table sets forth the plan’s fundeatss and amounts recognized in the consolidatethbalsheet as
of December 31:

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year .......omeevvvvveeeee.. 5,080 4,831 4,903
SEIVICE COSE ..tiiiiiiiiiiae ettt 16 15 13
INTEIEST COSE ... 369 362 345
Yo (0 = 1 = L 01 RS (37) 115 (186)
Benefits Paid.........uueeiiiiieiiiee e e e (244) (243) (244)
Benefit obligation at end of the year ..........cccccvvvvvevecens 5,184 5,080 4,831
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of yeat............... 4,966 4,713 4,049
Employer contributions ..............cvvvvvvevimmmemcenieeeieeeeeeeeen, - 82 -
Actual return (Ioss) on plan assets........cccceeeeeeieivvmmennns 501 414 908
Benefits paid.........c.cuvviiiiiiieeee i e (244) (243) (244)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year....cccccee.ccovvvees 5,223 4,966 4,713
Funded Status .........uuueiiiiiieiiiee e e 39 (114) (118)
Unrecognized transitional asset ...........ccccoeveveiieeeeniiienn, - -
Unrecognized net actuarial 0SS ...........ccoeeeeeeviiiceeee e, 1,133 1,165 1,137
Adjustment to recognize minimum pension liability........... (1,094) (1,279) (1,255)
Accrued pension (liability)/ prepaid pension cast............. 39 (114) (118)

Net periodic pension expense was comprised ofal@ring components for the years ended DecembgP@13,
2004 and 2005:

2005 2004 2003
ThUS$ ThUS$ ThUS$
Service cost or benefits earned during the periad........... 16 15 13
Interest cost on benefit obligation ............ccccccoiiiimmeeeenns 369 362 345
Actual return on plan assets ........cccccceeeeeeeieeeee i (501) (414) (908)
Amortization of unrecognized transitional asset.............. - - (45)
OthEI e 148 91 682
Net periodic pension eXPENSE.........ccccceeercuvvimereeeeeenns 32 54 87
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m) Post-retirement obligations and staff severarcindemnities (continued)

The plan’s asset allocations by asset category Beacember 31 are as follows:

2004 2005
GIrOWLEN SECUNTIES ...civviiiiii e e e e e e e e 69% 68%
Treasury SECUNLIES ......uuvrririiiieeee e s s ccmmemenrree e e e e e e e e e s rmnne e 2% 1%
INternational SECUNILIES ........ciivueeiiiiieeee e eea e 14% 15%
Growth & iINCOME SECUITIES........ccvvniiie e e e et e e 14% 15%
Money market funNdS .......cooeeeeeeiiiicere e 1% 1%
B o] = | TR 100% 100%

The transition liability (asset) re-established January 1, 1992 is being amortized in level amoonty 11.66
years. As of January 1, 2003, the transition asebeen fully amortized.

The excess of the unrecognized (gain) or lossnfih) @ver the larger of 10% of the projected benalfiigation or
10% of the market related value of assets is ar@attin level amounts over 12-48 years.

All unrecognized prior service costs have been idened fully amortized as a result of the Decentier 2002
curtailment brought about as the result of the brdass 31, 2002 cessation of benefit accruals.

The Company expects the plan to be fully funded2f@®5. As a result no contribution is anticipatedting this
period.
As of December 31, 2005 the pension plan benefjisaed to be paid in the future are as follows:

Uss$
2006 260,500
2007 269,500
2008 288,200
2009 354,600
2010 371,400
Years 2011-2015 2,384,900

n) Cash and cash equivalents

Under Chilean GAAP cash and cash equivalents arsidered to be all highly liquid investments witheanaining
maturity of less than 90 days as of the closing a@ditthe financial statements, whereas, US GAARsidens cash
and cash equivalents to be all highly liquid inmestts with an original maturity date of less th@ndays. The
difference between the balance under US GAAP anl@&@hGAAP of cash and cash equivalents is not radter
the periods presented.

Under US GAAP, the cash movements of subsidianeghe development stage would be included in the

consolidated statement of cash flows, as desciibbgrhragraph | €). The effect on the consolidatatement of
cash flows is not material for the periods presgnte
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0) Recently issued accounting pronouncements
Inventory costs

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement ofri€iiad Accounting Standards No. 13hyentory Costs — an
amendment of ARB No. 43, ChaptdfSFAS 151"), which clarifies that abnormal amouafddle facility expense,
freight, handling costs, and wasted material (syg@) should be recognized as a current period erpémaddition,
SFAS 151 requires that allocation of fixed prodmctoverhead to the costs of conversion be basdtieonormal
capacity of the production facilities. SFAS 151eifective for fiscal years beginning after 15 JW@95. The
Company is in process of analyzing the impact isf §tatement on its results of operations and Gizposition.

Stripping costs

In March 2005, the FASB Emerging Issues Task F@HEETF") issued EITF No. 04-0@.ccounting for Stripping
Costs in the Mining Industrgnd concluded that stripping costs incurred dutiveggproduction phase of a mine are
variable production costs that should be includethe costs of the inventory produced during theopethat the
stripping costs are incurred. EITF No. 04-06 doesanldress the accounting for stripping costs iecliduring the
pre-production phase of a mine. EITF 04-06 is éffecfor the first reporting period in fiscal yeaseginning after
December 15, 2005, with early adoption permittetle effect of initially applying this consensus sldobe
accounted for in a manner similar to a cumulatiffee¢ adjustment. Since the Company have histdyi@lhered to
the accounting principles similar to EITF 04-06e tBompany does not believe that adoption of EITHO®4ill
have a material impact on the Company’s consolitifitancial statements.
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Exhibit 8.1

Significant Subsidiaries of Sociedad Quimica y Mina de Chile S.A.

Name of Subsidiary Country of Incorporation
SQM Industrial S.A. Chile

SQM Nitratos S.A. Chile

SQM Salar S.A. Chile

Soquimich Comercial S.A. Chile

SQM North America Corp. USA

SQM Europe N.V. Belgium

For a complete list of foreign and domestic subsiels see Note 2 a) to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.



Exhibit 12.1

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION
(Pursuant to Section 302)

I, Patricio Contesse, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 2ff-Eociedad Quimica y Minera de Chile S.A.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notagomny untrue statement of a material fact ort éongtate
a material fact necessary to make the statementke,ma light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respebetperiod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in theport,
fairly present in all material respects the finahaiondition, results of operations and cash flafisthe
company as of, and for, the periods presentedsrréiport;

4. The company'’s other certifying officer(s) andré responsible for establishing and maintainisglasure
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangdRAltds 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) for the companyhane:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdarecaused such disclosure controls and procedure
to be designed under our supervision, to ensurentagerial information relating to the company,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is madevkm to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this rep@teing prepared;

(b) [Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release 388238, 34-47986, 33-8545 and 34-51293];

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentdusin t
report our conclusions about the effectiveneshefdisclosure controls and procedures, as of the en
of the period covered by this report based on sweltuation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the camyfs internal control over financial reporting tha
occurred during the period covered by the annyabntethat has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the company’s interrantrol over financial reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) andhdve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuafio
internal control over financial reporting, to thengpany’s auditors and the audit committee of thapany’s
board of directors (or persons performing the egjeivt functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likely ddversely affect the company’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial informator

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedv management or other employees who have a
significant role in the company’s internal contooter financial reporting.

[s/ Patricio Contesse G.
Name: Patricio Contesse G.
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: June 30, 2006




Exhibit 12.2

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION
(Pursuant to Section 302)

I, Ricardo Ramos, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 2@-Eociedad Quimica y Minera de Chile S.A;;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ort dnstate
a material fact necessary to make the statementie,ma light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respdbitperiod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemertd other financial information included in theport,
fairly present in all material respects the finahaiondition, results of operations and cash flafshe
company as of, and for, the periods presentedsrréiport;

4. The company’s other certifying officer(s) andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangdRAtds 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) for the companyhane:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procgdure
to be designed under our supervision, to ensurentagerial information relating to the company,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is madeovkm to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this reptsrteing prepared;

(b) [Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release 388238, 34-47986, 33-8545 and 34-51293];

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentdusin t
report our conclusions about the effectiveneshiefdisclosure controls and procedures, as of tbe en
of the period covered by this report based on sweltuation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the camyfs internal control over financial reporting tha
occurred during the period covered by the annyabntethat has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the company’s interreantrol over financial reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) a Indave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuafi
internal control over financial reporting, to thentpany’s auditors and the audit committee of th@many’s
board of directors (or persons performing the egjent functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likely adversely affect the company’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial informator

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedv management or other employees who have a
significant role in the company’s internal contooter financial reporting.

/s/ Ricardo Ramos R.

Name: Ricardo Ramos R.

Title: Chief Financial Officer and Business Deysteent Senior Vice President
Date: June 30, 2006




Exhibit 13.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Patricio Contesse, Chief Executive Officer ofcldad Quimica y Minera de Chile S.A. (“SQM"), a
corporation incorporated under the laws of theudéip of Chile, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sewt1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarlf@rles- Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Annual Report of SQM on Form 20-F for theedil year ended December 31, 2005, as filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission, fully caesplvith the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in such Annual Repamt Form 20-F fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results @rapions of SQM.

[s/ Patricio Contesse G.
Name: Patricio Contesse G.
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: June 30, 2006




Exhibit 13.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ricardo Ramos, Chief Financial Officer of So@ddQuimica y Minera de Chile S.A. (“SQM"), a
corporation incorporated under the laws of the Répwf Chile, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sentil350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb@rles- Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Annual Report of SQM on Form 20-F for theedil year ended December 31, 2005, as filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission, fully caesplvith the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in such Annual Repomt Form 20-F fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results @rapons of SQM.

/sl Ricardo Ramos R.
Name: Ricardo Ramos R.

Title: Chief Financial Officer and Business Deyaitent Senior Vice President
Date: June 30, 2006




